

## How to decide if a wireless network works for you



### Learn to connect

different computers and devices, choose software, and set up security

ENTERTAIN ME

Use your network to share recorded TV, video, music, photos, and more

www.pcmag.com



The ultimate do-it-yourself guide to building, using, and enjoying a home network

Les Freed

## PC Magazine<sup>®</sup> Home Networking Solutions

**Les Freed** 



## PC Magazine<sup>®</sup> Home Networking Solutions

#### PC Magazine® Home Networking Solutions

Published by Wiley Publishing, Inc. 10475 Crosspoint Boulevard Indianapolis, IN 46256 www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2005 by Wiley Publishing, Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana

Published by Wiley Publishing, Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana

Published simultaneously in Canada

ISBN-13: 978-0-471-74754-3 ISBN-10: 0-471-74754-8

Manufactured in the United States of America

10987654321

#### 1MA/TR/QY/QV/IN

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the Publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, (978) 750-8400, fax (978) 646-8600. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Legal Department, Wiley Publishing, Inc., 10475 Crosspoint Blvd., Indianapolis, IN 46256, (317) 572-3447, fax (317) 572-4355, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: The publisher and the author make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation warranties of fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales or promotional materials. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for every situation. This work is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering legal, accounting, or other professional services. If professional assistance is required, the services of a competent professional person should be sought. Neither the publisher nor the author shall be liable for damages arising herefrom. The fact that an organization or Website is referred to in this work as a citation and/or a potential source of further information does not mean that the author or the publisher endorses the information or website may provide or recommendations it may make. Further, readers should be aware that Internet Websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read.

For general information on our other products and services or to obtain technical support, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at (800) 762-2974, outside the U.S. at (317) 572-3993 or fax (317) 572-4002.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Freed, Les.
PC magazine home networking solutions / Les Freed.

p. cm.

Includes index.
ISBN-13: 978-0-471-74754-3 (paper/website)
ISBN-10: 0-471-74754-8 (paper/website)

1. Home computer networks. I. Title: Home networking solutions. II. PC magazine (New York, N.Y.) III. Title. TK5105.75.F744 2005

004.6'8—dc22

#### 2005021554

Trademarks: Wiley and the Wiley logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and/or its affiliates, in the United States and other countries, and may not be used without written permission. PC Magazine and the PC Magazine logo are registered trademarks of Ziff Davis Publishing Holdings, Inc. Used under license. All rights reserved. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. Wiley Publishing, Inc., is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

## **About the Author**

**Les Freed** has been a contributing editor at *PC Magazine* since 1994 and a frequent contributor since 1990. Before joining *PC Magazine*, Les was founder and CEO of Crosstalk Communications, developers of the popular Crosstalk data communications program for PCs—back in the days before the Internet made communications software obsolete. Prior to founding Crosstalk, Les was a Senior Technician and Videotape Editor at CBS News from 1976 to 1981 and a Cameraman and News Editor at WTVJ-TV in Miami from 1972 to 1976. He graduated from the University of Miami in 1974 with B.A. in Electronic Journalism. Les is the author or co-author of 14 books on networking, computing, and digital photography.

Les and long-time collaborator Frank Derfler shared the 1993 Computer Press Association award for Best How-To Book for their book *How Networks Work*, still in print in its 6th edition.

## **Credits**

#### **EXECUTIVE EDITOR** Chris Webb

**DEVELOPMENT EDITOR** Tom Dinse

**TECHNICAL EDITOR** Barry Press

**PRODUCTION EDITOR** Pamela Hanley

**COPY EDITOR** Susan Hobbs

EDITORIAL MANAGER Mary Beth Wakefield

**PRODUCTION MANAGER** Tim Tate

VICE PRESIDENT & EXECUTIVE GROUP PUBLISHER

Richard Swadley

VICE PRESIDENT AND PUBLISHER Joseph B. Wikert **PROJECT COORDINATOR** 

Erin Smith

#### **GRAPHICS AND PRODUCTION SPECIALISTS**

Sean Decker Lauren Goddard Jennifer Heleine Melanee Prendergast

#### **QUALITY CONTROL TECHNICIANS**

Leeann Harney Jessica Kramer Joe Niesen Dwight Ramsey

PROOFREADING AND INDEXING

**TECHBOOKS** Production Services

## **Contents at a Glance**

	Prefacexv	
	Acknowledgmentsxvii	
Part I	Why You Need a Network	
Chapter 1 Chapter 2 Chapter 3	What Is a LAN?3What Can You Do with a Network?11A Networking Crash Course31	
Part II	Designing Your LAN	
Chapter 4 Chapter 5	Designing Your Network51 Getting the Right Stuff71	
Part III	Installing Your LAN	
Chapter 6 Chapter 7 Chapter 8	Installing an Ethernet LAN95Installing a Wireless LAN111Configuring Your Network133	
Part IV	Using Your LAN	
Chapter 9 Chapter 10 Chapter 11 Chapter 12 Chapter 13 Chapter 14	Sharing Internet Access151Sharing Files on Your LAN171Sharing Printers187Home Media and Convergence211Security247Advanced Networking Topics263	
	Appendix A: Home Networking Cookbook 283	
	Appendix B: Troubleshooting Your LAN	
	Appendix C: Online Resources	
	Glossary	
	Index	

## **Contents**

	Prefacexv	
	Acknowledgmentsxvii	
Part I	Why You Need a Network	_
Chapter 1	What Is a LAN?	
	It's Simpler Than You Might Think    3      A Guided Tour of Les's LAN    5	
	Summary	
Chapter 2	What Can You Do with a Network?	
	Sharing Your Internet Connection11	
	Multiple IP Addresses (Ethernet Switch) 12	
	Using Windows XP's Internet Connection Sharing (Proxy Server) 12	
	Using a Router/Firewall (Router)15	
	Sharing Files and Printers 16	
	File Sharing	
	Printer Sharing	
	Enjoying Multimedia Convergence	
	Using Digital Media on a Home Network	
	Home Media Hubs	
	TiVo Series2	
	Microsoft Media Center PC 27	
	Playing Head-to-Head Games	
	Summary	
Chapter 3	A Networking Crash Course	
	Network Connection Basics	
	Internet Protocol	
	IP Addressing	
	Understanding Client-Server and Peer Networks	
	Client-Server Networks	
	Peer-to-Peer Networks	
	Summary	



#### Part II Designing Your LAN

Chapter 4	Designing Your Network
-	Wired, Wireless, or Both?
	Is Wireless Best for You?
	Should You Stick With a Wired Network?
	"No new wires" Alternatives54
	Evaluating Your Options54
	Ethernet Networks
	Wireless Networks
	Sorting Through the Standards60
	Wireless Architecture
	Wireless Coverage Area65
	Wireless Security
	HomePlug
	Summary
Chapter 5	Getting the Right Stuff71
	Choosing a Network Adapter71
	Desktop Ethernet Adapters
	Desktop Wireless Adapters
	Laptop Ethernet Adapters
	Laptop Wireless Adapters80
	Choosing an Ethernet Switch
	Choosing a Wireless Access Point
	Why Use a Standalone Access Point?
	Wireless LAN Security
	Choosing a Router/Firewall
	How Routers Work
	All-in-One Routers
	Choosing a Print Server
	Summary

#### Part III Installing Your LAN

Chapter 6	
-----------	--

mstannig	IUUI	

ter 6	Installing an Ethernet LAN	
	Installing Ethernet Cables	
	Planning Your Network	
	Cable System Components	
	Installing Your Network Hardware	
	Installing an Ethernet Switch 105	
	Installing Network Adapters	
	Summary	



Chapter 7	Installing a Wireless LAN	111
-	Before You Install	111
	Installing Wireless Adapters	112
	PCI Wireless Adapters	113
	CardBus, PC Card, and USB Wireless Adapters	116
	Configuring Your Wireless Adapter	
	Installing Your Access Point	120
	Surveying Your Wireless LAN	
	Connecting and Configuring the Access Point	123
	Securing Your Wireless LAN	
	Summary	132
Chapter 8	Configuring Your Network	133
-	How Windows Networking Works	133
	Configuring Your Network	135
	How OS X Networking Works	142
	Sharing Files and Printers with Other Macs	
	Sharing Files and Printers with PCs	
	Windows IP Addressing Basics	143
	Automatic IP Addressing	
	Alternate IP Configuration	
	Summary	147

#### Part IV Using Your LAN

Chapter 9	Sharing Internet Access
-	How IP Addressing Works 152
	Configuring Your Router154
	Checking Your PC's IP Configuration 155
	Configuring Your Router 158
	Configuring a Linksys Router159
	Configuring a D-Link Router162
	What's Next?
	Summary
Chapter 10	Sharing Files on Your LAN171
	How File Sharing Works171
	Windows File Sharing 172
	Sharing a Folder
	Sharing a Drive
	Accessing Shared Drives and Folders
	Controlling Automatic Discovery 178
	Mapping a Network Drive
	Mac OS X File Sharing 182
	Summary



Chapter 11	Sharing Printers	. 187
	How Network Printing Works	. 187
	Windows XP Printer Sharing	. 188
	Mac OS X Printer Sharing	. 190
	Using a Print Server	. 191
	Using a Network-Ready Printer	. 194
	Connecting to a Shared Printer	. 196
	Using Shared Printers in Windows XP	. 196
	Using Shared Printers in Mac OS X	. 207
	Summary	. 210
Chapter 12	Home Media and Convergence.	. 211
	Home Entertainment Devices	. 211
	Linksys Wireless Media Adapter	. 212
	TiVo	. 220
	Media Center PCs	. 231
	A Quick Tour of Media Center	. 231
	Media Center Extenders	. 234
	Network Gaming	. 237
	Video on Your LAN	. 239
	D-Link i2eye VideoPhone	. 241
	Summary	. 245
Chapter 13	Security	. 247
_	Protecting Your LAN	. 248
	DoS Attacks	. 249
	Port Scans	. 249
	Backdoor Protection	. 250
	Wireless LAN Security	. 251
	Protecting Your PCs	. 252
	Antivirus Software	. 252
	Spyware Protection	. 255
	Vigilance Is Good Protection Too!	. 257
	Summary	. 261
Chapter 14	Advanced Networking Topics	. 263
	Customizing Your Firewall Configuration	. 263
	Setting Up a Public Server	. 264
	Restricting Internet Access	. 266
	Using a Dedicated File Server	. 269
	Advantages of a Dedicated File Server	. 269
	Setting Up a File Server	. 270
	Server Backup Options	. 270
	Network Attached Storage Servers	. 271
	Linksys NSLU2	. 271
	Installing the NSLU2	. 273
	Using the NSLU2	. 279
	Summary	. 281



Appendix A Appendix B Appendix C	Home Networking Cookbook283Troubleshooting Your LAN327Online Resources343	
	<b>Glossary</b>	
	Index	

## Preface

Home networks are a hot topic. When I installed my first home LAN in the late 1980s, I was the only person on my block—and probably in the entire city—to have a home network. Today, virtually every computer and electronics store has an aisle or two devoted to home networking products.

There are three factors driving the home networking bandwagon. The first is the ever-increasing number of multiple-PC homes, thanks to a drastic drop in PC prices over the past few years. As more people bring home that second or third PC, they often wish that it were possible to share files, printers, and an Internet connection among all the computers in the home. The second factor is the rapid rise in the use of broadband home Internet connections. Broadband cable and DSL Internet connections can easily handle two or more simultaneous users, but you need a network to share the connection.

The third and most important driver for home networking is the arrival of inexpensive, reliable wireless networking equipment. Many potential network users have been put off by the difficulty and expense involved with installing the cables necessary to create a home network. Wireless networks don't need cables at all, and this greatly reduces the effort and expense required to set up a home network.

A home network provides a simple, inexpensive way to share an Internet connection, files, and even printers among all of the computers in your home. Manufacturers have responded to the mushrooming demand for home network products by delivering products that are inexpensive and easy to install and use.

The increasing popularity of home networks has also caught the attention of the home entertainment industry. The result is a new breed of home entertainment devices that operate over a home network.

### Who Should Read This Book?

If you've been thinking about installing a home network, this is the only book you'll need, regardless of your level of computer expertise. In this book, I provide the background you need to understand, purchase, install, and use your own home network.

## What's in the Book?

This book is divided into four parts:

In Part I, I tell you why you need a network and show you how you can use a network to share an Internet connection, files, and printers. I also explain the basics of networking technology.

In Part II, we go on a shopping trip. I walk you through the maze of competing and complementary technologies you can use to build a home network, and I show you when to use wired and wireless networking products to design the perfect network for your home.



Part III shows you how to connect and configure the components of your home network. I show you how to install wired and wireless networks, and I explain what you'll need to do to prepare your computers for use on a network.

Part IV shows you how to use your network to share Internet access, files, and printers. I also introduce you to some interesting new products that extend your network to include video games, home security, and home entertainment devices.

At the end of the book, you'll find lots of useful reference information, including a hands-on Networking Cookbook, a troubleshooting guide, a list of online resources, and a complete glossary. I hope you enjoy reading this book as much as I enjoyed writing it. I think you'll find it a very useful tool for building, using, and expanding your own home network.

## Acknowledgments

Every book is a group effort, although one person gets all of the credit. My heartfelt thanks go to:

Ron and Maria Cordell Frank Derfler Becky Freed Michael Miller Bradley Morse Karen Sohl Chris Webb D-Link Systems, Inc. Linksys Corporation

# Part I

### Why You Need a Network

**Chapter 1** What Is a LAN?

**Chapter 2** What Can You Do with a Network?

**Chapter 3** A Networking Crash Course

## Chapter 1 What Is a LAN?



ot long ago, home local area networks (LANs) were proof of their owner's geekhood. They were expensive, cantankerous, difficult to set up, and useful for only a very few advanced home users (mostly for programmers and writers). Thanks to falling prices and vastly improved software, home LANs aren't just for geeks anymore. In this chapter, you'll find the following:

- A typical home LAN
- Basic LAN building blocks
- The difference between LANs and WANs

As you'll see, building a home LAN isn't rocket science. Thanks in large part to the explosive growth of broadband Internet connections and the proliferation of multi-PC homes, there are hundreds of networking products made specifically for home and small-business users. These products are simple to install and operate, so you don't need a computer science degree to set them up. In fact, many home networking devices simply "plug and play" right out of the box, with little or no setup or configuration required.

#### Note

At PC Magazine, we've been talking about "Media Convergence" for many years, and it's finally here. Network-based home entertainment devices such as TiVo and Microsoft's Media Center PC blur the line between computing devices and home entertainment devices, making a home LAN more useful than ever. I'll show you how home media devices work in Chapters 2 and 12.

## It's Simpler Than You Might Think

What is a network? It's simply two or more devices that communicate with one another over some type of electronic connection. The connection itself can be copper wire, fiber optic cable, or radio waves. There are all sorts of networks in use today, including the broadcast and cable television networks, the public telephone network, several cellular telephone networks, and the Internet. A *local* 



*area network* (LAN) is a network of computers, located physically close to one another. (The Internet, by the way, is a WAN, or *wide area network*, that connects millions of LANs.)

A LAN consists of two or more computers, each equipped with a communications device called a *network interface* or *network adapter*. The network interfaces are connected to one another by some type of communications medium, which provides a pathway for electrical signals that connect all of the computers on a LAN. The most widely used, cost-effective, and highest-performance network medium in use today is twisted-pair Ethernet cable, often called CAT5 or CAT6 cable. (CAT is short for category—several grades of cable can be used for Ethernet LANs.)

A relatively new technology called *wireless Ethernet* uses radio signals instead of copper cable as the communications medium. Early wireless devices were slow, expensive, and unreliable. Worse still, there were no industry standards, so products from one manufacturer didn't always work with products from another. In the late 1990s, most of the wireless equipment manufacturers formed a trade association called the WiFi Alliance to set technical standards and to certify interoperability. The current generation of WiFi devices offers excellent speed and reliability at very low prices, so your LAN no longer requires hardwiring between components. As you'll see in Chapter 6, you can use a mix of wired and wireless Ethernet connections on the same LAN.

Wired Ethernet interfaces are standard equipment on most modern desktops and laptops, and some high-end laptops include wired and wireless Ethernet interfaces as standard equipment. If your computer didn't come with a network adapter, there are several inexpensive ways to add one to your existing computer. There are different types of network adapters for different types of communications media; I cover them in detail in Chapter 4. Figure 1-1 shows a simple two-computer Ethernet LAN.



Figure 1-1: This simple LAN has two computers connected by an Ethernet cable.

The example in Figure 1-1 shows a desktop computer on the left and a laptop computer on the right. The desktop is equipped with an internal Ethernet adapter card, and the laptop with a PC Card Ethernet adapter. The two Ethernet adapters are connected by a single cable. In many cases, you can create such a network simply by connecting an Ethernet cable between the two computers (assuming that the computers came from the factory with Ethernet adapters already installed).

While the LAN in Figure 1-1 is perfectly functional, it is also very limited because it provides connections for only two computers. To add a third computer or other device to the LAN, you would need to add an Ethernet switch to the network. For now, you can think of a switch as a sort of signal splitter for Ethernet connections. I'll explain switches in detail in Chapter 4.

The diagram in Figure 1-1 is deceptively simple because it doesn't show the complex interaction between the PC computer's operating system and the network adapter. Early versions of Windows



(before Windows for Workgroups 3.1) didn't include the software necessary for computers to communicate over a LAN. Fortunately, Mac OS/X, Windows 98, Me, 2000, and XP all include built-in networking features as a standard part of the operating system. These features allow computers to share files, printers, and Internet connections over a LAN. I'll discuss these features in detail in Part IV.

## Note

The step-by-step examples in this book assume that you are using Windows XP or Mac OS/X, but the basic networking concepts are universal and apply to all versions of Windows and the Mac OS. Windows XP and Mac OS/X contain many features designed to make networking simpler, including easier networking installation and setup, and built-in support for wireless networking.

So far, I've only discussed connecting computers to a LAN. If you have a broadband Internet connection, you'll almost certainly want to share that connection among all the computers on your home network.

#### Note

You can connect a cable or DSL (digital subscriber line) modem directly to a LAN, but for security reasons I don't recommend it.

Home networks aren't just for computers anymore. If you have a TiVo, Xbox, or Sony PlayStation, you may want to connect those devices to your LAN too. As you'll see in Chapters 2 and 13, the worlds of computing and home entertainment are converging, with the Internet—and the home network—as their meeting point.

#### A Guided Tour of Les's LAN

As you might expect, my own home is pretty well wired, and I thought you might find it interesting to see what my home LAN looks like. Figure 1-2 shows what's on my network.

So what is all this stuff, and what does it do? The equipment at the center of the diagram (the cable modem, firewall, Ethernet switch, and wireless access point) makes up the core of the network. These four devices provide and manage the connection among the devices on the LAN, and between the LAN and the Internet. The devices at the edge of the network (the PCs, Macs, laptops, TiVo, Media Center Extender, Windows 2000 Server, and printers) fall into two further classes: They either provide services for other devices on the LAN, or they use services that are provided by those devices. As you probably know, devices that provide services are called *servers*, and devices that use services are called *clients*.

For example, the Windows 2000 server (with its attached printer) provides file sharing and printing services for the other computers on the LAN. If I am working on my desktop PC and need to print a photograph, I can send the print job to the photo printer attached to the server. In this example, the Windows 2000 system is a server, and my desktop PC is a client. (Some devices can be both a client and a server, as I'll explain in Chapter 3.)





Figure 1-2: My home LAN has grown from a few desktop PCs to something a little more complex.

#### JOURNEY TO THE CENTER OF THE LAN

The device in the center of the diagram is an *Ethernet switch*, and it is the heart of the network. Ethernet switches have anywhere from a few to a few dozen connectors on them. All of the wired devices on the LAN connect to one of the sockets (called *ports*) on the Ethernet switch. The switch analyzes the data coming in on each port and reroutes the data to the appropriate device connected to another port. This enables any two devices on the LAN to exchange data with each other. Six devices are connected to the switch in Figure 1-2.

The wireless access point, or AP, to the right of the Ethernet switch does for wireless devices what the Ethernet switch does for wired devices. The AP is connected to the Ethernet switch so wireless devices can communicate with any of the wired devices on the LAN, and vice versa.

The cable modem and firewall to the left of the Ethernet switch work together to provide secure Internet access for all of the devices on the LAN. The cable modem provides a fast, always-on connection to the Internet. As you've probably heard, high-speed connections like cable and DSL modems tend to attract hackers and snoopers, so a firewall is an essential item on any Internetconnected LAN.



#### Note

Firewall products designed for the home market are actually two devices—a router and a firewall—in one package. A router directs traffic on a network; a firewall protects the network from outside attacks.

The firewall acts as an electronic gatekeeper between the LAN and the Internet. Outgoing connections (such as Web browser and e-mail client connections) going from the LAN to the Internet pass directly through the firewall unimpeded, just as if the firewall wasn't even there. Incoming connections are blocked to keep intruders out of your home network, unless you specifically configure your firewall to allow incoming connections.

#### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 13 for details about securing your network.

The router portion of the firewall serves another important role: As you'll see in Chapter 3, every device connected to the Internet must have a unique IP address. My cable modem provider (like most broadband providers) only assigns a single IP address to my cable modem, but I have over a dozen devices connected to the LAN. Using a technique called Network Address Translation (NAT), the firewall leverages that single IP address into any number of private IP addresses. The firewall keeps track of all traffic coming from and going to the Internet and routes the traffic to the appropriate device on the LAN.

#### Note

If this seems like a lot of equipment, relax. My network uses a separate Ethernet switch, wireless AP, and firewall, but you don't have to. Most network equipment manufacturers offer products that combine these three functions into a single unit costing less than \$200. Figure 1-3 shows a typical product from D-Link. I prefer the separate units for my own home LAN because I do a lot of product testing and I need to be able to test a new firewall or Ethernet switch without reconfiguring the entire LAN.

#### **OUT ON THE EDGE**

The devices on the outside edges of the LAN diagram (the PCs, Macs, laptops, TiVo, and other devices) are either clients or servers. Most of these devices can communicate with one another, but some can't. Even though two devices may be connected to the same LAN, there's no guarantee that they'll have much to say to one another. What would a big-screen TV and a printer have to discuss?

Different types of devices communicate using different communications protocols. A *protocol* is essentially a digital language that defines the way that devices communicate over a network. There are hundreds of communications protocols in use today, including TCP/IP, NetBEUI, NetWare, and AppleTalk. It is possible—and actually quite common—for a single LAN to use several communications protocols at once.





**Figure 1-3:** D-Link calls its model DI-624 a Wireless Broadband Router. It combines a four-port Ethernet switch, a wireless access point, a router, and a firewall into one compact, inexpensive unit.

For example, Windows PCs share files and printers using the NetBIOS protocol. The Internet (and everything connected to the Internet) uses the IP protocol. Web servers and browsers use the Hypertext Transfer Protocol (http), which is one of hundreds of protocols that define how devices communicate over an IP network.

You may be wondering why I have a Windows 2000 server on my home LAN. I have a mix of PCs and Macs on my home LAN. Before the release of Mac OS/X, Macs couldn't easily share files with Windows-based PCs. Windows 2000 (and its successor, Windows 2003) include support for Appletalk-based file and printer sharing, making it possible to easily move files back and forth between the Mac and Windows universes. Fortunately, Mac OS/X now includes Windows file and printer sharing capabilities as a standard feature. I don't really need the Windows 2000 Server machine any more, but I have thousands of Mac and PC files stored on that system, so it acts as a central repository for my older, inactive files.



### Summary

I hope this first chapter has shown you that you don't need a computer science degree to set up a home network. I'll admit that you'll have to learn some new acronyms, but the most important things to take away from this chapter is a broad idea of what a home LAN does and what kinds of components it links together.

The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- A network is any combination of computers and other devices connected by an electronic communications medium.
- There are two main types of home networks: wired and wireless.
- Vou can mix and match wired and wireless components as your needs dictate.
- Equipment manufacturers have a broad array of products to help get your home networked with a minimum of effort, and at a very low cost.
- A firewall is essential for sharing Internet access on any LAN.

At this point, you now know the basic elements of a LAN. In Chapter 2, I'll show you how these elements work together, and I'll also show you what you can do with a LAN.

### **Chapter 2**

## What Can You Do with a Network?



The majority of new home networks are purchased and installed by people who want to share an Internet connection. After you've installed a home network, you can use it for a more than Internet access. In this chapter, I'll show you some of the things you can do with your new network, including:

- Share your Internet connection
- Share files and printers
- Enjoy multimedia convergence
- Play network games

The list of things you can do with a network continues to grow as equipment makers dream up new ways to harness the power of a home network. For example, several companies, including General Motors, have demonstrated prototype car audio systems that use a wireless network to download new MP3 audio files into a car stereo system. And a new breed of telephones called IP Telephones hit the market in 2004. These telephones use a home network and broadband Internet connection to place and receive telephone calls without a conventional telephone line. This chapter introduces you to some of the more common uses of a home network.

## **Sharing Your Internet Connection**

Although you can connect your home network to the Internet using a dial-up modem, the benefits of a broadband or DSL connection are enormous. After you've used a broadband cable modem or DSL connection, you'll never want to go back to dial-up. Broadband connections are many times faster than dial-up, and they're more reliable. Because they are always connected to the Internet, there's no waiting for your modem to connect. Best of all, broadband connections don't tie up your phone line, so you can still use the phone while you're online.

But there's a dark side to the story too. I call it broadband envy.



The problem is that most home broadband customers have their cable or DSL modem connected to a single PC. As a result, many home users enjoy broadband Nirvana on one PC, while the other users in the home have to wait to use the sole connected PC.

A home network solves broadband envy by allowing all of the PCs on the network to share a single Internet connection. Even if you don't have a broadband connection, you can use a home network to share a dial-up modem connection.

#### Caution

Before you begin sharing your Internet connection on your home network, check with your broadband provider to ensure that you won't violate your provider's acceptable use policy. Some providers specify that you may only connect a single computer to the service, and many providers charge an additional monthly fee for shared connection. Fortunately, the monthly fee is usually reasonable.

There are several ways to share an Internet connection with more than one computer. Figure 2-1 illustrates three options for a shared Internet connection(Ethernet switch, proxy server, and router). The following sections explain each option in detail.

#### **Multiple IP Addresses (Ethernet Switch)**

The left part of Figure 2-1 shows a small LAN directly connected to a modem. As you'll see in Chapter 3, every device connected to the Internet must have a unique *IP address*.

Some broadband Internet service providers (ISPs) can assign multiple IP addresses to a single cable or DSL modem, so users can connect several computers to the modem using a simple Ethernet switch. This approach has one big advantage but several large disadvantages.

The big plus is that each computer on the network can have its own, *fully routable* IP address. This means that each computer can be reached from any other device on the Internet. This is very useful in a business environment, where you might want to have a Web server, e-mail server, or other publicly available server in your office. But most home ISPs prohibit running such servers, so there's no real advantage to having a fully routable address for each computer on your LAN.

The disadvantages of the multiple-IP-address approach outweigh the benefits for home users. First, relatively few ISPs offer multiple addresses for home users, and those that do charge a hefty monthly premium for the extra addresses. Second, because each computer is directly connected to the Internet, the network is open to attacks from hackers. You can circumvent this problem by installing firewall software on each PC or by installing a firewall between the Internet and the LAN. But as I'll explain shortly, there's a better, simpler, cheaper way to accomplish the same thing.

#### Using Windows XP's Internet Connection Sharing (Proxy Server)

The middle illustration in Figure 2-1 shows a method of Internet sharing called a *proxy server*. The availability of inexpensive router/firewall devices has made the proxy server nearly extinct, but it is still a viable Internet-sharing solution for very small networks. Microsoft includes a proxy server called Internet Connection Sharing (ICS) with Windows XP.





**Figure 2-1:** Some ISPs provide multiple IP addresses, so you can share the Internet connection using a simple Ethernet switch (left). A proxy server (middle) shares a connection attached to one PC on your LAN, and a router (right) is your best choice for a shared broadband connection.

ICS is a small piece of software that runs on a PC. The PC running the ICS server is called the *ICS Host*. The ICS Host PC must have two network interface cards installed in it, or one network interface and a dial-up modem connection. In most cases, you'll need to open up your PC and install a second Ethernet adapter (or use a slower external USB Ethernet adapter) before you can use ICS to share a broadband connection.



Microsoft's ICS takes only a few minutes to install, and it is very easy to configure. Figure 2-2 shows the main ICS configuration screen.

Home-DSL Properties			
General Options Security Networking Advanced			
Internet Connection Firewall			
Protect my computer and network by limiting or preventing access to this computer from the Internet			
Learn more about Internet Connection Firewall.			
Internet Connection Sharing			
Allow other <u>n</u> etwork users to connect through this computer's Internet connection			
✓ Establish a dial-up connection whenever a computer on my network attempts to access the Internet			
Allow other network users to control or disable the shared Internet connection			
Learn more about Internet Connection Sharing.			
If you're not sure how to set these properties, use the <u>Network Setup Wizard</u> instead. <u>Settings</u>			

**Figure 2-2:** Microsoft's Internet Connection Sharing (ICS) feature is included with Windows XP and takes only a few minutes to install.

The ICS Host acts as a gateway between the Internet and the local network. The ICS Host uses a single IP address to communicate with the Internet. The computers on the LAN side of the ICS Host use private, nonroutable addresses to communicate with one another and with the ICS Host. (I'll explain more about nonroutable addresses in Chapter 3.)

All traffic coming from and going to the Internet passes through the ICS Host. You can continue to use the ICS Host system for normal computing tasks, with a few caveats. While the ICS software doesn't slow down the host PC, the reverse isn't always true. A resource-intensive program (like a 3-D game or a disk-defragmenter program) running on the ICS Host will slow down the Internet connection for all the users on the network.

As you've probably guessed, the ICS Host must be powered up and running in order for the other PCs to connect to the Internet. If the ICS Host PC crashes, all the other users will lose Internet access until the host PC is restarted.

Despite these limitations, ICS is a handy (and free!) tool if you want to share an Internet connection with a small number of PCs. While most router/firewall devices work only with cable or DSL connections, ICS works with just about any type of Internet connection, including dial-up connections, so you can use it with wireless and FireWire connections as well as traditional wired Ethernet. Because it is based on Windows, ICS is somewhat less secure than a standalone hardware firewall.



The low cost of hardware firewalls (combined with their lower power consumption) makes ICS less of a bargain than you might think. ICS is explained in greater detail in Chapter 9.

#### Note

Although the diagram in Figure 2-1 shows several PCs connected to an Ethernet switch, you don't need even the switch to connect two (and only two) PCs for Internet sharing, but you'll need a special cable called a *crossover cable* to connect the two computers. Most computer and electronics stores carry crossover cables. If you buy one, make sure it is a different color from your other network cables so you'll be able to tell the crossover cable from all of your other cables!

#### **Using a Router/Firewall (Router)**

The diagram on the right side of Figure 2-1 shows several computers sharing an Internet connection using a combination router/firewall/Ethernet switch. Devices such as this one are commonly used on home networks since they combine three functions—router, firewall, and switch—into a single, compact device. These devices are easier to install and take up less space than a separate router, firewall, and switch, but they are functionally identical.

The router is connected to the broadband modem, and the computers are connected to the Ethernet switch built into the router. As with the proxy server, the router uses a single IP address to communicate with the Internet, and it uses a range of private IP addresses to communicate with the devices on the LAN. These devices can include Windows and Linux-based PCs, Macs, TiVo Digital Video Recorders, and any other device that communicates using the IP protocol.

Each computer can access the Internet independently of the others, and all of the computers can connect to the Internet at the same time. Because the computers are all connected to the same Ethernet switch, they can also share files and printers with one another, as you'll see in the next section of this chapter.

#### Tip

Most routers are designed specifically for cable or DSL broadband connections, but a few manufacturers offer models that work with dial-up connections too. These products typically have an RS-232C serial interface in addition to an Ethernet connection, and the serial interface can be used to connect an external modem for dial-up connections.

Some routers—such as Apple's AirPort Extreme—include a built-in dial-up modem so that you can connect the router directly to a phone line. If you do eventually upgrade to broadband, you can still use the modem as a backup connection if the broadband connection goes down.

A router/firewall device is the simplest way to share an Internet connection on a LAN. Most routers offer true plug-and-play operation, so setup usually takes just a few minutes. All home routers provide automatic IP address configuration for all of the computers on the LAN. As you'll see



in Chapter 3, automatic IP addressing is a very nice feature to have on your LAN since it frees you from the task of manually assigning and configuring an address for every device on your network.

In addition to providing a way to share an Internet connection, a router/firewall also provides protection against hackers and intruders for all of the computers on the LAN. The firewall acts as an electronic gatekeeper for the LAN, allowing only authorized traffic to pass through the firewall. Some firewalls provide parental control, content control, and time-of-day filtering features that allow you to control or restrict access to certain Web sites or to restrict access to certain times of day.

#### Tip

Most broadband Internet connections are more than fast enough to share among several users with no noticeable slowdown in connection speed. If you live in a house full of Internet junkies, check with your service provider to see if it offers an upgraded connection package for multiple-PC homes. Many broadband providers offer faster connection speeds for a small monthly premium.

Router/firewalls have become very popular with broadband users thanks to their simple setup, all-in-one convenience, and low price. Manufacturers have responded to market needs with a wide variety of router products, including models with built-in wireless access points, Ethernet switches, and print servers.

### **Sharing Files and Printers**

Home networks are great for sharing an Internet connection, but there are other benefits to having a LAN in your home. When you install the hardware and software necessary for Internet sharing, you've also installed almost everything you need to share files and printers among all the computers in your home.

File and printer sharing is popular in the corporate world, and it is equally useful on a home network. Unfortunately, many home network users aren't aware of the benefits of file and printer sharing, but the next two sections will clue you in.

#### **File Sharing**

Simply put, file sharing lets you use files stored on another computer connected to the LAN. Windows XP and Mac OS/X both provide built-in file-sharing features, so you don't need to purchase any additional software. Any computer on the network can share files with any other computer.

If you routinely work on more than one computer, file sharing can help you keep your files organized. For example, I frequently switch between my desktop and laptop PCs, but the majority of my work-in-progress files reside on my desktop machine. When I'm working on my laptop and need to open a file stored on the desktop PC, I use file sharing to open the stored file from my laptop PC.

#### Note

The machine on which the files reside must be powered up in order to share files on the network.



I also use file sharing on my home network to maintain a backup copy of my important files on a dedicated file server PC. Like many PC users, I dread the inevitable day when my laptop or desktop PC's hard drive dies. Unlike most home users, I'll be prepared (and possibly even a little smug) because I won't lose any of my important files.

Figure 2-3 shows an overview of file sharing on my own network.



**Figure 2-3:** I store frequently used files on my desktop PC (top). File sharing allows me to use those files from my laptop or from other PCs in the house. Older, archived files are automatically moved over to my file server.

If you're concerned that you'll have to learn a lot of new techniques to use your network, you can relax. Windows XP uses the familiar Windows Explorer interface for most networking tasks, and Mac OS/X integrates networking tasks into the Finder. These are the same drag-and-drop user interfaces that you already use for moving, renaming, and deleting files.



## Tip

Windows XP Users: After you install your network, you'll probably want to enable the My Network Places icon on your desktop. Most computer makers ship their systems with this icon turned off. To add the Network Places icon to your desktop, follow these steps:

- 1. Open the Control Panel and double-click on Display.
- 2. Select the Desktop tab at the top of the Display Properties control panel.
- 3. Click on Customize Desktop.
- 4. Check the My Network Places icon and click OK.

While you're adding items to your desktop, you may want to enable the My Computer and My Documents desktop icons too.

On a Windows XP system, shared network files and folders appear in the Explorer interface as objects under My Network Places, as you can see from Figure 2-4.



**Figure 2-4:** You can see shared files and folders on your network using Windows Explorer. The highlighted folder in this example is located on the computer named Marvin.



The left side of the Windows Explorer screen shows a tree view of the shared resources on the network. Each computer on the network must have a unique name, and each network must also have a name. As you can see in Figure 2-4, my network's name is Pcmag. Each computer on the network appears underneath the network's name, and the shared resources on each computer appear below the computer. In the example, I have selected a shared folder called Issue 17 Digital Cameras on the computer named Marvin. Many of the other computers on the network have shared folders, and a few also have shared printers.

Mac OS/X systems integrate network features directly into the Finder. Figure 2-5 shows how networked computers appear on a Mac.

000	🕐 Ne	twork	$\bigcirc$
		Q- everywhere	
Network			
Macintosh HD	BECKY	FOGHORN	
Desktop			
lesfreed			
Applications	MARVIN	Servers	
Documents			
Movies			
🎸 Music			
Pictures			
×	4 iter	ms	11.

**Figure 2-5:** On Mac OS/X systems, available network computers appear as icons when you click "Network" in the finder menu.

In the example shown in Figure 2-5, the computers named Marvin, Becky, and Foghorn are all Windows XP-based systems.

All this sharing is a good thing, but you probably won't want everyone on the network to be able to see or have access to every shared file or folder. Windows XP includes security features that let you keep your files private, and it also includes features to help you keep track of shared files on portable computers. I'll explain these features in detail in Chapter 10.

#### Tip

If you plan to use file sharing, it is vitally important that you have a firewall on your network. Without a firewall, anyone on the Internet can connect to your PC and open, modify, or even delete files on your PC.



#### **Printer Sharing**

Internet sharing can prevent family strife, and file sharing can make your life a little less complicated. But printer sharing can save you money—and valuable desk space too. In most cases, having a multi-PC home means having a multiprinter home as well. And if you have more than one printer, the odds are pretty good that each of your printers takes a different set of ink cartridges.

You can use your home LAN to share each printer with the other computers on the network. And since everyone can use the same printer, you may be able to get rid of a printer or two and reclaim some desk space.

There are three distinct ways to share a printer on a Windows network, as you can see in Figure 2-6.



**Figure 2-6:** You can share a printer attached to a PC (left), or you can add an inexpensive print server device to most any printer (right). Many newer printers are "network-ready" (center), so they can attach directly to the LAN.

The leftmost printer in Figure 2-6 is connected to a Windows-based PC using a high-speed USB (universal serial bus) connection. For most home network users, this is the most effective and least expensive way to share a printer, since it does not require any additional hardware or software. You can share virtually any printer using this method. There are two drawbacks to this approach, though. First, the PC must be running in order for the printer to be available to the other users on the network. If the PC is off, the printer isn't available. Second, because of the limited length of printer cables (usually 10 to 16 feet maximum), the shared printer must be located relatively close to the PC. This limits your options and may require that you place the printer in an inconvenient location like a bedroom.



The middle printer in Figure 2-6 is attached directly to the network. Many midrange and highend printers come with a built-in Ethernet interface and don't require an attached PC for file sharing. These printers are designed to be shared on a network and can accept print jobs from several users at once. Because they don't require an attached PC, you can place them wherever you like. Most network-ready printers work with Windows and Mac PCs, but Mac users should check carefully before buying a network printer, since some printers only work with Windows PCs.

Many newer network printers use a Web browser interface to control and monitor the printer. This is a very nice feature to have because you can check the status of the printer (including ink and paper levels) without leaving your desk. Figure 2-7 shows the status screen from a typical network printer.

The rightmost printer in Figure 2-6 is connected to the network using a device called a *print server*. Print servers are available in a variety of configurations to connect to wired or wireless networks and to printers with USB or parallel connections. Figure 2-8 shows a typical print server.

Print servers like this one can turn almost any printer into a network printer. There are a few exceptions, though. Some very inexpensive printers (often called *controllerless printers*) use the attached PC to generate the printed image and will not work with a print server.



**Figure 2-7:** This status screen from a Hewlett-Packard network printer shows the printer's status at a glance.





**Figure 2-8:** This network print server is about the size of a deck of playing cards and operates with wired or wireless networks. The small connector on the left side of the picture is for a wireless antenna; the rear panel provides connections for wired Ethernet (left), a parallel printer (center), and the power cord.

Server-connected printers work much like their PC-connected counterparts, with two important differences. First, the print server isn't directly attached to each PC on the network, so the Plug and Play driver installation isn't possible. You will need to manually install the printer driver on each PC or Mac that will be using the shared printer. Second, many printers come with a status monitor program that shows the amount of paper or ink, or both, remaining in the printer. As a rule, status monitor programs can only operate over a USB or parallel cable connection, so they won't work through the print server.

## Тір

If your printer has both USB and parallel connections, you'll want to buy a print server with a USB connection. Parallel printer connections are relatively slow and should be avoided when possible. This is especially true for photo printers because of the large amount of data transferred from the PC to the printer during the printing process.



Although print servers provide a high degree of convenience, they can also cause some logistical problems for users. When you're using a printer directly connected to your PC, you can tell at a glance what size and type of paper (if any) is installed in the printer. When you're using a remote network printer, you may not be able to see the printer from your desk. You may think you're printing to that sheet of expensive photo-quality paper you just put in the printer. But by the time you get back to your desk, your son may have decided to print his homework to the same printer—thereby wasting that 50-cent sheet of  $8 \ge 10^{\circ}$  glossy paper.

## Tip

As a rule, I recommend using shared printers for plain-paper printing only. If you have a photo-quality printer, you'll be better off doing all your photo printing from the PC or Mac directly attached to the photo printer (or at least when you're alone in the house).

If you want to print a picture located on another computer elsewhere in the house, you can always use file sharing to open the image file on the remote computer.

Until recently, many printer makers completely ignored the home network market by offering network connections as an option only in their business-class printers. But a few printer makers—notably HP and Epson—now offer network-ready home printers and/or integrated print servers designed specifically for their home market printers. For example, some HP printers can accept a print server module that simply snaps into the rear of the printer.

## **Enjoying Multimedia Convergence**

If you've picked up a copy of *PC Magazine* in the past five years, you've probably seen the term *multimedia convergence*. The basic idea behind convergence is that all of the computing and home entertainment devices in a typical home—including the PC, television, audio, and other electronic devices—will converge into a single, unified system.

Early convergence PCs from Sony and other video-savvy manufacturers simply grafted basic functions like a TV tuner and DVD player into a typical desktop PC. These products used the PC as the viewing platform for multimedia content. The problem is that after spending all day at their computers, most people don't want to come home and watch TV on a computer monitor.

A new wave of true convergence products is turning the tables. Rather than making the PC the center of the entertainment system, these products use the PC as an accessory to your existing home entertainment system . . . so you can relax on the sofa and watch the latest Hollywood blockbuster without having to worry about getting popcorn butter all over your keyboard.

The new convergence products use a home network—often in conjunction with a broadband Internet connection—to transport digital audio, video, and still image data. As we move toward faster, more reliable wireless connection, you can expect to see all sorts of new convergence technologies hitting the store shelves.


### **Using Digital Media on a Home Network**

Over the past few years, we've witnessed an explosion in the use of digital cameras, MP3 players, and digital camcorders. If you own one of these devices, you probably have loads of music, still pictures, and digital video files on your computer.

Thanks to the popularity of Napster, Kazaa, and other file-swapping services, the MP3 digital audio file has become part of mainstream life for millions of users. There are dozens of programs available to record, edit, and play MP3 files. And if you like your music on the run, there are hundreds of portable MP3 players on the market, including tiny wearable models, larger, hard-drive-based products (like Apple's iPod), and even trunk-mounted systems for cars.

The problem with all of these players is that they don't have enough storage space to hold a large music collection. Virtually all MP3 players use a USB cable connection so that users can store their main stash of files on a PC and download selected tracks to a portable or car player. But unless you're lucky enough to have your PC located within an arm's length of your stereo system, there's been no easy way to listen to those MP3 files on your home entertainment system.

#### Tip

An *MP3 file* is simply an audio recording that has been converted to digital form and stored in a standard file format. MP3 became the most popular file format for digital audio because it is part of a larger, public standard developed by the Motion Picture Experts Group, or MPEG. And if the name MPEG rings a bell, it's because they are the same folks who developed a standard method for storing and compressing digital video. MPEG video files are used to store video files on PCs; MP3 is simply an audio-only version of MPEG.

The Motion Picture Experts Group is part of ISO—a network of standards organizations in 147 countries. Visit their interesting Web site at www.iso.org for more information.

Digital still and video camera users face a similar problem: Now that you have all of your family memories committed to digital form, how do you show them to family members—short of having everyone crowd around your computer monitor?

In the next few sections, I'll introduce you to a trio of new products designed to free your media files from the PC and move them out into the real world. Each of these products represents a new class of network-connected consumer electronics devices.

### **Home Media Hubs**

A *home media hub* makes it possible—and easy—to listen to your MP3 files and view your digital still pictures on your home entertainment system. Figure 2-9 shows how a typical media hub works.

There are dozens of media hub products on the market. Most media hubs connect to your home entertainment system using standard analog audio and video cables, and to your home network using a wired or wireless Ethernet connection.

Media hubs have no storage of their own. They can only work with files stored on a PC on your network. As part of the installation process, you must install a small program on your PC. The program watches for requests from the media hub and serves up music and still image files for playback on the media hub. The Linksys media hub uses a remote control and on-screen menus (on the TV, not the PC) to help you navigate through your collection of music and pictures.



**Figure 2-9:** A media hub connects to your home wireless network. The media hub takes MP3 and digital image files stored on the PC and converts them into standard analog audio and video signals that you can connect to your home entertainment system.

The current generation of media adapters works with audio and still image files, but future models will include the ability to play back full-motion video from MPEG and other video file formats.

# **TiVo Series2**

It's hard to explain the concept behind the TiVo system to someone who doesn't own one. Looking at the front of a TiVo recorder, shown in Figure 2-10, it's hard to tell what it is!



**Figure 2-10:** Okay, so it's a big black box, but what does it do? ©2002 TiVo Inc. All Rights Reserved.



The TiVo folks call their product a *digital video recorder*, and that's true enough—but that tells only part of the story. Basically, the TiVo DVR is like a hyperintelligent VCR that uses a large hard drive instead of videotape. Current models can hold up to 140 hours of content. Instead of programming the TiVo DVR using time and channel numbers (like you would on a VCR—if you actually could figure out how to program it), you simply pick a program from an on-screen program guide that shows a list of upcoming programs. You can also get a "season pass" that tells the TiVo system to record every episode of a particular program. The program display is updated daily (here's the home networking tie-in that you knew was coming) over the Internet. Figure 2-11 shows the rear panel of a TiVo recorder.



**Figure 2-11:** The rear panel has connections for your VCR, satellite receiver, cable box, TV set, stereo system, and two USB ports for add-ons like a broadband Internet connection. © 2002 TiVo Inc. All Rights Reserved.

The early model TiVo DVRs used a dial-up telephone line to make their daily (and very timeconsuming) call in to the TiVo mother ship. But the newer TiVo Series2 systems can connect over your home network using a USB-connected Ethernet adapter.

As long as they were building a network connection into the machine, the folks at TiVo decided that it would be nice if you could use the TiVo DVR to play your MP3 files or to view your photo collection on your TV, so they added a new feature called Home Media Option to the basic TiVo service. If you're thinking that this sounds very much like the Linksys Media Adapter in the previous section, you're right.

Similar to the Linksys (and other media hub products), the TiVo DVR installs a program called the TiVo Server on your desktop PC. When you play back an MP3 or still image file on the TiVo DVR, the TiVo DVR fetches the file from your desktop PC.

TiVo Series2 machines also include two neat features that work only with TiVos connected to a home LAN. The first feature, called Multi-Room Viewing, allows you to record programs on one TiVo DVR and then watch them from another TiVo in a different room. Of course, you'll need two or more TiVos to use this feature, but it can help keep the peace in a TV-intensive household.

The second feature, called TiVoToGo, allows you to transfer recordings from your TiVo box onto a desktop or laptop PC. This feature allows you, for example, to record Leno or Letterman at night, transfer the recording to your laptop in the morning, and then watch the recording on the train during your morning commute.



The original TiVo products were offered only as standalone boxes like the one shown in Figure 2.10. TiVo has recently struck deals with several cable TV companies and home electronics vendors, and you can now purchase DVD recorders, satellite receivers, and cable TV set-top boxes with a built-in TiVo DVR.

# **Microsoft Media Center PC**

Media Hubs are handy for sharing MP3 and digital still image files, and TiVo will change the way you watch TV—but the Media Center PC takes home media to the next level. A Media Center PC is a high-powered PC equipped with a large hard drive, large RAM memory, and a network connection. Most Media Center PCs also include a DVD player or recorder, audio and video inputs and outputs, a wireless remote control, and radio and TV tuners. Media Center PCs run a special version of Windows XP called XP Media Center Edition.

A fully-equipped Media Center PC can operate as a digital video recorder, DVD player, digital photo repository, and a digital music center. Most Media Center PCs come equipped with standard audio and video output connectors so you can connect them to a home entertainment system. Media Center uses a simple point-and-click interface that you can operate from your PC's keyboard or from the wireless remote. Figure 2-12 shows the main Media Center screen.



**Figure 2-12:** The main Media Center screen provides access to all of your home media, including TV, videos, digital images, and digital music.



Many Media Center PCs feature ultra-quiet cooling fans and hard drives so you can place them in your living room or home theater room. Some manufacturers even offer PCs packaged in cabinets designed to fit into a standard audio/video equipment rack. Media Center provides digital video recorder (DVR) features that rival TiVo's, but without the monthly fee.

If you don't want a PC in your living room, you can use a Media Center Extender (MCE) instead. An MCE is a small box (shown in Figure 2-13) that connects to your home entertainment system and to your home LAN.



**Figure 2-13:** A Media Center Extender—such as the Linksys model shown here—brings Media Center PC features to any TV in your home. (Photo courtesy of Linksys.)

The rear of the MCE has standard audio, video, and digital audio connectors that connect to your TV and audio amplifier. The MCE acts as a bridge between your home entertainment system and a Media Center PC. You can use the MCE to watch live or recorded TV, play DVDs, listen to MP3 files, and view digital photos stored on your PC.

The user interface on the MCE is virtually identical to the Media Center screen shown in Figure 2-12. Most MCE devices can operate over wired or wireless LANs, so you don't need to run any new cables to connect the MCE box to your home LAN.



# **Playing Head-to-Head Games**

Computer games have come a very long way from Adventure, the text-based role-playing game that wasted much of my time back in the 1980s. Today's games feature realistic animated graphics, stereo surround sound, and head-to-head multiplayer competition, either over the Internet or a LAN.

Not surprising, serious computer gaming requires top-end performance. Many computer makers now offer ultra-high-performance PCs designed specifically for serious computer game players.

The new generation of multiplayer games also requires a fast, responsive Internet connection. If you read any of the dozens of computer gaming discussion boards on the Internet, you'll hear a lot of tech terms like *latency* and *ping time*. These terms describe the amount of time it takes for data to travel over the Internet. Long latency is the kiss of death for gaming. If your opponent has lower latency times, you're toast.

Most home network firewalls are designed to block all incoming connections. This poses a problem for gamers, since many multiplayer games create a direct connection between the two players' computers. If you are into multiplayer games, you'll want to make sure that you purchase a router with a configurable firewall, so that you can customize the firewall's settings to allow incoming connections for specific game programs. Figure 2-14 shows a configurable firewall settings screen from a D-Link router.

ĕ]D	-604 - 1	dicroso	ft Internet Ex	xplorer			- 6 X
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>V</u> iew	F <u>a</u> vorites	Tools	<u>H</u> elp	Address 👜 http://192.168.0.1/adv_appl.html	👻 🏓 😡 🛛 🦓
			D-L Building Netw	ink rorks for Peo	C sple	DI-604 Ethernet Broadband Router	
			Virtue Appli Filt	Li Server cations ters wwall MZ		Home       Advanced       Tools       Status       Help         Special Application         Special Application is used to run applications that require multiple connections.	
é							V Internet

Figure 2-14: Many home firewalls allow you to customize the firewall's settings for computer gaming.



The network computer gaming market has become so hot that many network equipment makers maintain a list of popular games and their necessary firewall settings. If gaming is a big part of your computing life, you may need to do a little research before you purchase a firewall to make sure that you select a firewall that is compatible with your favorite games.

# Summary

Now you know all the cool things you can do with a home network. I hope this chapter has given you some ideas on how to make the most of your home network system.

The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- Home networks aren't just for the Internet anymore.
- You can use file sharing to move, store, and archive files to and from any PC on your home network.
- By using printer sharing, you may be able to reduce the number of printers in your home.
- The worlds of home entertainment and home computing are growing closer because of media convergence.
- Multiplayer game programs place special demands on home network connections.

So now you know what a network can do for you. In Chapter 3, I'll explain the basics of how networks work, and I'll introduce you to some key networking concepts.

# **Chapter 3**

# A Networking Crash Course



he number of small-business and home networks has mushroomed over the past few years. Microsoft, Apple, and the leading network equipment manufacturers have responded to the demand by making networks simpler and easier to use than ever before. In fact, many office workers (and you may be one of them) use networked Macs and PCs every day without even realizing that they're using a network. This is called "seamless" networking, and it is the goal of every corporate network administrator.

Your home network can be just as seamless and as easy to use, but you'll have to be your own network administrator. Fortunately, you don't need a great deal of networking knowledge to set up your network, but you do need to know what a network is, what it does, and the basics of how it works. This chapter covers two major topics:

- The essentials of network communications, including Internet Protocol and IP addressing
- The basics of client-server and peer-to-peer networks

This is one of the more technical chapters in the entire book. After you've finished this chapter, you'll have a good working knowledge of basic networking concepts . . . maybe enough to impress the network guru at your office the next time he or she comes to fix your computer!

# **Network Connection Basics**

If you could see the signals flowing inside an Ethernet cable, you would witness an incredibly complex and perfectly timed ballet of data flowing back and forth through the cable at an almost unimaginable speed. Wireless networks are even more complex because they must carry out the same complex data interchange using radio waves instead of cable.

# **Internet Protocol**

The data traffic on any network is governed by a set of rules called a *network protocol*. A protocol defines the way data travels over the network and how to handle specific situations—like when two computers attempt to "talk" at the same time.

Different types of protocols define different aspects of a network's operation. Network designers often categorize protocols by their closeness to the communications hardware; the lowest-level **31** 



protocols deal directly with the communications hardware, while the highest-level protocols address the interaction between the computer and the users. At the lowest level, protocols like Ethernet define how to move a series of messages called *packets* over the network.

These low-level protocols are primarily concerned with transporting packets of data from one place to another, so they don't attempt to make sense of the data they are carrying. Higher-level protocols address specific tasks once the data arrives at its destination.

There have been dozens of protocols used for computer networking over the years. For many years, Novell's IPX protocol was widely used (usually in conjunction with Ethernet) on corporate LANs that used Novell NetWare file servers. IPX and many other protocols were either proprietary to or at least closely aligned with a specific manufacturer.

The *Internet Protocol* (almost always called *IP*) is the underlying protocol used to carry traffic over the Internet. IP doesn't belong to any specific manufacturer or software vendor, so it can be freely used by anyone. A group called the Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF) develops and maintains standards for IP and the associated protocols to ensure compatibility with existing and future applications.

# Note

The IETF (www.ietf.org) is an international community of network designers, service providers, hardware manufacturers, and researchers. Their primary mission is to ensure and facilitate the continuing evolution of the Internet. The IETF is itself part of the Internet Society (www.isoc.org). Both Web sites contain a treasure trove of information about IP and the Internet in general.

IP is often used in conjunction with another protocol called the *Transfer Control Protocol*, or TCP. In fact, the two protocols are so often used together that network old-timers still refer to them as TCP/IP. TCP enables two devices on the Internet to create a connection between them. TCP contains error-checking and retransmission features to ensure that no data is lost as it travels over the Internet.

The beauty of the IP protocol is that it is *extensible* (that is, it can be extended to add new capabilities). One of the most significant extensions ever made to IP was the *Hypertext Transfer Protocol*, the protocol you know as the "http" at the beginning of a Web address. Other widely used IP-based protocols include the Post Office Protocol (POP3) used to pick up your e-mail, the File Transfer Protocol (FTP) used for file transfers, and the Simple Message Transfer Protocol (SMTP) used to send outbound e-mail. These and other protocols provide a traffic system for all the data crisscrossing the Internet.

### **IP Addressing**

Every single device connected to the Internet—including Web and mail servers, computers of all sizes, and even many Web-enabled phones—must have a unique address; this unique addressing ensures that any two devices on the Internet will be able to communicate with each other. An *IP address* is a series of four numbers between 0 and 255, separated by periods. For example, 192.168.1.2 and 24.2.3.33 are typical IP addresses.

At the time the IP protocol was created, there were only a few hundred thousand computers on the entire planet, and only a tiny fraction of those were connected to the ARPANET (the predecessor to the Internet, constructed by the U.S. Department of Defense). Thanks to the incredible foresight of the Internet's designers, the four-number IP address scheme allows for over 4 billion unique addresses (score one point for engineering overkill!).



While 4 billion sounds like a huge number, it isn't. Because of inefficiencies in the way addresses are assigned, there aren't enough addresses to go around. Experts estimate that the supply of IP addresses will be exhausted in 2008 or 2009. There are two solutions to this address shortage problem. In the long term, the Internet will move to a new addressing scheme called IP Version 6 (IPv6 for short) that will provide a staggering 35 trillion unique addresses. But until the eventual switch to IPv6 takes place, two stopgap technologies called Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP) and Network Address *Translation* (NAT) will get us through. I'll discuss these two technologies later in this chapter.

#### Note

No one knows exactly how long it will take to transition to IPv6, but most experts expect the complete transition to take 10 to 15 years. In the meantime, IPv6 is fully backward-compatible with the existing IPv4, ensuring complete Internet connectivity between different-generation devices. For complete details on IPv6, visit www.ipv6.org.

There are two basic types of IP addresses: public and private. Virtually all small networks (like the home LAN you're about to install) use a single *public* IP address to connect to the Internet and a pool of private IP addresses for the computers on the LAN. The private addresses on the LAN side of the connection are typically supplied by a NAT firewall/router. The major difference between public and private IP addresses is a simple but important one. Public addresses are unique and can be reached from any other computer on the Internet. Private addresses are not unique (although all of the private addresses on a single LAN must be unique) but are not reachable via the Internet. As we'll see in Chapter 9, many home routers allow you to pass connections from the public Internet through to a private address on your LAN.

#### Note

Many universities and private corporations own large blocks of IP addresses. In the early days of the Internet, it was common practice to assign a unique public address to each device on the LAN.

#### PUBLIC IP ADDRESSES

One of the original design goals for the Internet was that any device on the Internet be able to connect directly to any other device. This design goal requires that every computer on the Internet must have a unique IP address. It also requires that public addresses be carefully coordinated so that no two devices have the same address.

Machines are good at remembering numbers, but humans aren't, so each public IP address may have a host name associated with it. For example, when you connect your Web browser to the Web server (host) named www.pcmag.com, you are actually connecting to IP address 63.87.252.186. The conversion from a human-friendly host name to a machine-readable IP address is performed by a Domain Name Server, an online database of host names and IP addresses.

In the early days of the Internet, there were very few personal computers, and the idea of a portable computer was still science fiction. As the Internet grew in the early 1990s, an important transition took place. Suddenly, the majority of computers on the Internet were transient rather than



permanent. Instead of being installed and operated by computer scientists, they were being installed and used by mere mortals with little or no knowledge of IP and its inner workings. The huge increase in demand for Internet access put a strain on the pool of available IP addresses.

#### Note

With over four billion addresses, you'd think there would be plenty to go around—but there aren't. The problem is not with the number of addresses but rather with the way they are assigned. Some North American universities and corporations actually have more assigned addresses than entire large countries such as China and Japan. The transition to IPv6 will fix the address shortage once and for all. For more information on how IP addresses are allocated, visit the Internet Center for Assigned Names and Numbers (ICANN) at www.icann.org.

Most ISPs have temporarily dodged the IP address crunch by distributing reusable IP addresses on demand. The Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP) is an extension to TCP/IP that defines a way for individual devices to request and obtain a temporary IP address. When you use a cable, DSL, or dial-up modem to connect to the Internet, your computer or router requests a public address from your ISP. Each ISP owns a large block of IP addresses, and the ISP assigns your connection an address from that pool of available addresses.

The address assigned by DHCP is unique but temporary, thus allowing ISPs to assign users an IP address from a pool of available addresses. DHCP makes life easier for Internet users because it eliminates the need for each computer to be manually configured with a specific IP address. DHCP users can simply turn on their computers, connect to the Internet, and surf the Web without knowing a thing about IP addresses.

#### **PRIVATE IP ADDRESSES**

DHCP and reusable addresses have helped to deal with the IP address shortage, but they are only a partial solution. If you're setting up a small LAN, you'll need a unique IP address for each computer on your network—but there's a catch. Most ISPs only supply one IP address per connection. If you have a dial-up, cable, or DSL connection to the Internet, your ISP assigns a single IP address to your connection. If you have more than one computer on your LAN, you'll need some more addresses.

The solution is to use a single, public IP address to communicate with the Internet while using a range of private addresses for the computers on your LAN.

Fortunately, the Internet's designers set aside several blocks of IP addresses for use on private networks. When you set up your home LAN, you can use any of these private address ranges for your PCs. Table 3-1 lists the private IP address ranges.

Address	Number of Available Networks and Addresses
10.0.0.0-10.255.255.255	1 network with over 1 billion addresses
172.16.0.0–172.31.255.255	16 networks with 65,535 addresses on each network
192.168.0.0–192.168.255.255	256 networks with 254 addresses on each network

#### Table 3-1Private IP Address Ranges



The 10.0.0.0 network address range allows you to create a single network with a billion addresses. Obviously, you don't need a billion addresses on your private LAN. Most home networking equipment comes from the factory preconfigured to use the 192.168.x.x address range, but you can use any of the three private address ranges for your home LAN.

Routers designed for small networks use a technique called *Network Address Translation* (NAT) to funnel traffic from several private IP addresses into a single public address. I'll explain NAT in detail in Chapter 9.

The majority of home networks use the 192.168.x.x private addresses, primarily because that is the default setting on most home routers. Figure 3-1 shows a typical home LAN using private IP addressing.

The router in Figure 3-1 acts as a DHCP client to obtain a public IP address from the ISP. When the router first powers up, it sends a DHCP request to the ISP. The ISP's router responds with a public IP address, and the router uses that address to communicate with the Internet. The public address remains assigned to that particular connection for a period of time determined by the ISP, usually until the connection or the router is reset.



Figure 3-1: A NAT router provides a simple way to share Internet access using a single public IP address.



The router also acts as a DHCP server for the clients on the LAN. This arrangement allows for hands-off plug-and-play configuration of all the PCs on the LAN. When each PC is powered up, it sends a DHCP request to the router; the router responds with a private IP address for the PC to use. In most cases, the LAN DHCP server also provides the clients with all the information they will need to connect to the Internet. Figure 3-2 shows the information that a Windows XP PC needs to connect to the Internet.

Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Prope	erties	?×
General		
You can get IP settings assigned autor this capability. Otherwise, you need to the appropriate IP settings.	natically if your network supports ask your network administrator fo	r
O Dbtain an IP address automatical	y	
Ouse the following IP address: —		
IP address:	192.168.0.101	
S <u>u</u> bnet mask:	255 . 255 . 255 . 0	
Default gateway:	192.168.0.1	
Obtain DNS server address auton	natically	
• Use the following DNS server add	tresses:	
Preferred DNS server:	207 . 69 . 188 . 185	
Alternate DNS server:	207.69.188.186	
	Ad <u>v</u> anced.	
	OK Can	cel

**Figure 3-2:** You can use the Windows XP TCP/IP Properties screen to manually enter your network's IP configuration.

In the example in Figure 3-2, I have chosen to manually configure the IP settings. If your network has a DHCP server, you can just check the box marked "Obtain an IP address automatically" and let your network's DHCP server do all the work for you.

Mac OS/X computers have a similar network settings dialog box, found in the Network section of the system preferences. Figure 3-3 shows the Mac network settings control panel.

#### Note

If you look closely at the Mac network settings control panel, you'll see that OS/X already has support for IPv6. As you can see from the example, IPv6 addresses are very, very long!

In most cases, it is easier and simpler to use automatic DHCP addressing on a home LAN. If you choose to use manual addressing, you'll need to manually enter the IP address, subnet mask, router address, and DNS server names for each computer on your LAN. You'll also need to keep track of



each computer's IP address, since no two computers can have the same address. In either case, you may find it helpful to know what these settings are and what they do. Table 3-2 explains the IP configuration settings.

000	Network	0
Show All Displays So	Network Startup Disk	
	Location: Automatic : Show: AirPort :	
	AirPort TCP/IP AppleTalk Proxies	
Configure IPv4	: Using DHCP	
IP Address	192.168.0.115 Renew DHC	P Lease
Subnet Mask	255.255.255.0 DHCP Client ID:	
Router	: 192.168.0.1 (If required)	
DNS Servers		(Optional)
Search Domains	2	(Optional)
IPv6 Address	: fe80:0000:0000:0000:0211:24ff:fe2b:2c71	
	Configure IPv6	?
Click the lock to	prevent further changes.	pply Now

Figure 3-3: The Mac OS/X Network settings control panel allows you to select manual or automatic IP addressing for each network connection. This example shows the IP settings for an AirPort wireless network connection.

Table 3-2         IP Configuration Settings					
Setting Name	Contents and Purpose				
IP Address	Assigns an IP address to the connection.				
Subnet Mask	Indicates how many other computers are on the same network. Computers on the same network can be reached directly without going through the router, so this setting is used to let each computer know how to reach other computers on the LAN				
	Continued				



Contents and Purpose
Tells the computer how to reach other IP addresses that are not on the local network. Traffic bound for addresses not on the local network is passed on to this address
Tells the computer which DNS server(s) to use to resolve host names into IP addresses
Contains the address of a backup DNS server to use if the preferred server does not respond

#### Table 3-2 IP Configuration Settings (continued)

Most home network routers use DHCP to obtain a public IP address from the ISP. The majority of ISPs also provide a list of DNS servers to the router along with the IP address.

When the router responds to DHCP requests from clients on the LAN, the router issues a private IP address from its own pool of IP addresses, and it also passes on the DNS information it received from the ISP. Figure 3-4 shows the status screen from a Linksys router.



**Figure 3-4:** This status screen from a Linksys router shows the currently assigned IP and DNS server information.



The screen in Figure 3-4 shows the router's current LAN and WAN (wide area network, or Internet) status. The LAN settings show that the router itself is using an address of 192.168.1.1 and that the LAN DHCP server is enabled. The DHCP settings screen (not shown here) allows the network administrator to choose a range of IP addresses for the computers attached to the LAN.

The WAN settings section of Figure 3-4 shows the current IP address and DNS server as provided by the ISP—in this case, using a DSL modem. The ISP has issued an address of 4.5.216.110, and the ISP has also provided the addresses of three DNS servers.

#### **HOW IP ROUTING WORKS**

So far, I've mentioned routers about a dozen or so times without explaining why they are called routers in the first place. As the name implies, a *router* is a device that routes traffic between two or more networks. On home networks, the router connects your LAN to the Internet. The router's primary job is to watch all traffic coming and going on the local network, and to direct the traffic to the appropriate destination.

TCP/IP traffic travels over the Internet in chunks called *packets*. In addition to the actual data being transferred, each TCP/IP packet contains information to help the packet move through the Internet.

Imagine that you were going to mail a page of information from one place to another. You'd put the page in an envelope, and you'd write your return address at the top and the recipient's address in the middle of the envelope. TCP/IP packets work in much the same way. The packet is the envelope, and the page of information is the data. Each IP packet is preceded by a block of information called a *header*. The IP header contains information about the data being sent, the most important of which are the *source address* and the *destination address*. As you may have guessed, the source address is the IP address of the computer that sent the packet, and the destination address is the IP address of the packet.

Traffic on a small LAN contains a mix of on- and off-LAN traffic. Communications between computers directly attached to the LAN, like the three computers on the right side of the diagram in Figure 3-1, travel directly from the source to the destination address. For example, if you print to a network printer attached to the LAN, the data travels directly from your PC to the printer, and the router does not manage the traffic flow between them.

In contrast, let's say that you've opened your Web browser and typed in the address of a Web server. The Web server's address isn't on the local network, so the PC sends the traffic to the *Default Gateway* address as specified in the computer's TCP/IP settings. The default gateway router determines how to send the data to the destination address. Home LAN routers simply pass the data on to the ISP's router. Larger routers—like the ones at your ISP's data center—are very complex devices that use sophisticated techniques to determine how best to get your data to its destination.

#### **IP SECURITY ISSUES**

The Internet has always been an open platform, both from a technical and a content perspective. In the early days of the Internet, it was common practice for every Internet user to have a shared files folder open to all users on the Internet. Anyone who wanted to could look through the public folder and upload or download files. The early Internet was a very small community of researchers and computer scientists at major universities, so there was really no need for elaborate security measures. As a result, many of the core Internet protocols—including IP and the SMTP mail transfer protocol—have very few inherent security features.



Today, hardly a week passes without a headline-making Internet attack, virus outbreak, or major security breach. A lack of security features in SMTP has made it trivially easy for spammers and scammers to hijack legitimate e-mail accounts in order to propagate millions of spam e-mails every day. Network hacking has become a competitive sport, with some hacker groups even staging hacking contests to see who can break into the most systems in a 24-hour period. If you think that hackers only target large, high-profile computers like the Department of Defense or the White House, think again: The always-on nature of home broadband Internet connections like DSL and cable modems makes them a favorite target of hackers.

#### Note

Technically, a hacker is anyone who scours the Internet looking for security flaws. Many hackers actually perform a public service by detecting and reporting security flaws. A cracker is someone who looks for security flaws as a way to exploit, intercept, or steal data.

Fortunately, the NAT connection sharing technique used by most home broadband routers provides good protection against intruders. Computers connected to a NAT router aren't directly reachable over the Internet, and many NAT routers include "stealth" features that make them appear invisible to hacker probes. When an intruder attempts to connect to one of the computers on your LAN, the NAT firewall refuses the connection.

#### Tip

It is important to remember that a NAT firewall offers no protection at all against computer viruses. Many newer viruses are network-aware, meaning that they actively seek out and infect other computers on the local network. If one user gets the virus, it is often only a matter of minutes before all of the other computers on the LAN are infected. You should plan to install a good, reliable antivirus program on each computer on your LAN—and make sure you keep the antivirus software updated on a regular basis. Most antivirus programs have an automatic update feature to ensure that you always have the latest and most complete virus protection.

# Understanding Client-Server and Peer Networks

Back in the early days of PC networks, hard drives and printers were very expensive. The earliest computer networks were designed to provide a way for many users to share those expensive disks and printers.

Those early computer networks were based on a *client-server* model, meaning that one or more servers on the network provided services for the client PCs on the LAN. Client-server LANs are still



widely used in business networks, but they are overkill for most home users. All later versions of the Mac OS and all versions of Windows since Windows 3.1 include a feature called *peer networking*, which allows users to create a free-form network of clients and servers as necessary. Table 3-3 shows the major differences between server-based and peer networks.

Table 5-5 Server and Leer Metworks compar					
Server Network	Peer Network				
All shared files are located on one or more server computers.	Shared files may be located on any computer on the network.				
Users must provide a user name and password before being granted access to the network.	User authentication is optional at the discretion of the system administrator.				
Network server software can be expanded to offer additional services like e-mail, shared database, and centralized backup services.	Windows peer networking provides file and printer sharing only.				
A server network requires a dedicated server PC; clients cannot provide shared files or printers for others to use.	Any PC may be a server or a client.				
Server software is optimized for high performance.	The server feature is part of the operating system and may impact performance of the PC.				

#### Table 3-3 Server and Peer Networks Compared

The largest practical difference between server and peer networks is one of control. Server-based LANs are typically controlled by one or more system administrators. The administrator exercises tight control over access to the LAN and also determines which users have access to which shared resources. The high level of control is essential in order to protect confidential data stored on the servers. For example, everyone in the human resources department may need access to the employee records database, but the highly sensitive nature of the data demands that it be well protected from snoopers.

In comparison, peer networks are more democratic, even anarchistic. Anyone can share any file on the network without first obtaining permission from a system administrator—if there even is an administrator. Most peer networks—including the file and print sharing features built into Windows—contain user authentication features, but few users bother to use them. In Chapter 10, I'll show you how to use these features to protect your own sensitive files from other users on your home network.

# **Client-Server Networks**

As its name implies, a client-server LAN contains both *clients* and *servers*. A server provides a service for other computers to use; a client is a computer that makes use of those services. There are many types of servers in use today, including file servers, print servers, and database servers. Figure 3-5 shows a simple client-server network.





**Figure 3-5:** This client-server LAN has one server and three PCs. The server provides file and print sharing services for the client PCs on the LAN.

Client-server LANs aren't widely used on home networks but are still very popular in the business world. Most server operating systems include very strong user authentication features, automatic data backup, and redundant data storage capabilities. These features aren't necessary for most home networks but are essential for storing and protecting important business data.

The clients on a server-based LAN can connect to shared resources (drives, printers, and databases) located on the server, but they don't typically provide any shared resources to other clients on the LAN.

Although the client-server concept was first applied to network file sharing, it has since been adopted for other applications. Table 3-4 shows some common (and familiar) client-server systems.

Application	Server	Client
World Wide Web	Web server	Web browser
E-mail	SMTP server (outgoing mail), POP3 server (incoming mail)	E-mail client program (Outlook Express, and so on)
USENET discussion groups	NNTP server	Newsgroup client (Outlook Express, Forte Agent, and so on)

Table 3-4	Common	<b>Client-Server</b>	<b>Systems</b>



Application	Server	Client
Multiplayer games	Game system host	Game software with multiplayer features
Internet Relay Chat	IRC server	IRC client
Dynamic Host Configuration (DHCP)	DHCP server (usually embedded in routers or other network devices)	Any TCP/IP device

# **Peer-to-Peer Networks**

Peer-to-peer networks are very popular with home and small-business network users because they are very flexible. On a peer network, any computer can be a server, a client, or even both at the same time. Windows XP and Mac OS X both have built-in networking that lets each machine share files and printers with the other computers on your network.

# Note

You've probably heard the term *peer file sharing* used to describe Internet-based file swapping services like Kazaa and BitTorrent. While the names are very similar, peer-to-peer LANs and peer file sharing networks are two completely different things.

Peer networking was introduced in Windows with the release of Windows 3.1, and each successive release of Windows has offered substantially improved networking features. With earlier versions of Windows, you often got the impression that the networking features were added into Windows after the fact—because they were. The networking features in Windows 2000 and Windows XP are tightly integrated into the operating system and provide users with a nearly seamless network environment.

#### PEER FILE SHARING IN WINDOWS

Figure 3-6 shows a typical small peer-to-peer LAN with four PCs and one printer.

In Figure 3-6, the computer named Bugs is sharing two directories named Pictures and MP3s. The computer named Daffy is sharing a single directory named Articles. Computer Marvin, on the lower left of the diagram, is using the Pictures folder from Bugs and the Articles folder from Daffy. All of the shared folders on the network appear when you click on the My Network Places icon. To use a shared folder, you open My Network Places and navigate through the list of shared folders until you see the one you want.

If you frequently need access to a shared folder, you may want to use a mapped drive, which creates a virtual disk drive on a client computer that connects to a shared folder on another. Marvin's user has chosen to create mapped drives on Marvin that point to shared folders on Bugs and Daffy. In the example, Drive Z: on Marvin is mapped to the Pictures folder on Bugs, and Drive Y: is mapped to the Articles folder on Daffy.





Figure 3-6: On a peer network, each PC can be a client, a server, or both at the same time.

There are two reasons to create a drive mapping. Some older Windows programs are not *network-aware*. These programs know how to deal with physical drive letters like C:, but they don't understand network drive names such as \\Bugs\Pictures. Drive mapping solves this problem by creating a virtual disk drive that connects to a shared network drive. As far as application programs know, Drive Z: is a local drive on Marvin. The second reason is simply one of convenience. It is a lot simpler to remember "Drive Y:" than "\\Daffy\Articles".

# Naming Your Computers

Each computer on a Windows network must have a unique name (in addition to a unique IP address), so you might as well have a little fun with it. In case you hadn't noticed, most of the computers on my own LAN are named after Warner Brothers cartoon characters.

Other popular naming themes include the following:

- Star Wars, Hitchhiker's Guide, and Star Trek characters
- Greek and Roman gods and goddesses
- Presidents, kings, queens, outlaws, and so on

I'll show you how to change your computer's name in Chapter 8.



You create mapped drives by right-clicking on the My Computer or My Network Places icons on the Windows desktop. Figure 3-7 shows the Map Network Drive dialog box.

Map Network Drive			×
	Window: and assi access t Specify I that you	s can help you connect to a sl gn a drive letter to the conne he folder using My Computer. the drive letter for the connec want to connect to:	hared network folder ction so that you can ction and the folder
	<u>D</u> rive:	Y:	~
	F <u>o</u> lder:	\\Daffy\Articles	Browse
		Example: \\server\share	
		Reconnect at logon	
		Connect using a <u>different u</u>	ser name.
		<u>Sign up for online storage o</u> network server.	<u>r connect to a</u>
		< Back Finish	Cancel

Figure 3-7: You use the Map Network Drive dialog box to create drive mappings.

When you create a mapped drive, you can tell Windows to automatically reconnect that mapping each time you start your computer. This saves you from having to manually map your favorite drives upon startup.

#### PEER PRINTER SHARING

In Figure 3-6, you may have noticed that the computer named Bugs is sharing a printer named SP1280, and the computer named Elmer is using the shared printer. Any computer on the LAN may print to any shared printer as long as the proper printer driver is installed on the computer using the shared printer. I discuss printer sharing in detail in Chapter 11.

#### FILE SHARING WITH MAC OS X

OS X includes built-in file sharing services very similar to those in Windows. In the early days of PC networking, it was very difficult to share files between Macs and PCs. Beginning with version 10.2, OS X now includes Windows-compatible file sharing. This feature provides for simple, easy sharing of files between Macs and Windows PCs on a LAN.

#### Note

There's more to file sharing than simply being able to move files from one machine to another. It is vitally important that both computers share a common file format. Thanks to standardization efforts on both sides of the Mac / PC divide, most PC applications can open files created on a Mac and vice-versa.



To enable file sharing on an OS X system, you click the sharing icon in the Internet & Networking section of System Preferences. You'll see a display like the one in Figure 3-8.

00	S	haring	C
show All	Displays Sound Network Startup	Disk	_
Com	puter Name: Les Freed's Comp Other computers on y computer at Mini-Me. Services F	uter our local subnet can reach your local Edit	
Select	a service to change its settings. Service Personal File Sharing Windows Sharing Personal Web Sharing Remote Login FTP Access Apple Remote Desktop Remote Apple Events Printer Sharing	Windows Sharing On Stop Click Stop to prevent Windows users from accessing shared folders on this computer. This will also prevent Windows users from printing to shared printers.	
Windov	is users can access your computer at	\\localhost\lesfreed	?

**Figure 3-8:** Mac OS X can share files with other Macs as well as with Windows PCs.

As you can see from Figure 3-8, OS X has separate settings to enable Personal File Sharing (for Mac-to-Mac file sharing) and Windows Sharing (for Mac-to-Windows sharing.) This setting only controls the Mac's ability to share files with Windows PCs. It does not need to be enabled to allow a Mac to use shared files stored on a Windows PC.

# Summary

Thanks for sticking with me through this somewhat technical chapter. I hope you've learned a few key concepts about networking. As you've seen, configuring and managing your own home network doesn't really require an IT degree. As you progress through the process of building and using your network, you'll be glad you have these concepts under your belt.



The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- The IP protocol is the heart of the Internet and the basis for most LANs too.
- Vou only need a single public IP address to connect your entire LAN to the Internet.
- Most routers incorporate a DHCP server to automatically configure all the computers on your LAN.
- Network security is a concern for small LANs just as it is for large ones.
- Windows includes very flexible peer-to-peer networking features that are easy to use and understand.

In Chapter 4, I'll take the concepts you learned in this chapter and show you how to use them to design the perfect home network for your needs.

# **Chapter 4**

# **Designing Your Network**



A n almost overwhelming number of networking products are on the market today. During my research for this book, I spent some time browsing the network aisle of my favorite computer and electronics stores, watching customers trying to decide exactly what products to buy to build their home networks. A few customers knew exactly what they wanted and were out of the store in minutes. Others picked up nearly every box on the shelf, trying to make heads or tails out of the diagrams on the backs of boxes. More than a few left the store empty-handed.

Many of the salespeople I encountered weren't much help, either. While some were knowledgeable and helpful, others were nearly as clueless as their perplexed customers. My goal for this section of the book is to give you the information you need to make an intelligent, informed buying decision—so you can be one of those people who know exactly what they need. In this chapter, I cover the following:

- Deciding which networking technology is best for your home
- Designing an Ethernet (wired) network
- Designing a wireless network
- Alternative networking technologies

# Wired, Wireless, or Both?

In a perfect world, we wouldn't need wired networks anymore, and I wouldn't need this section of this book. But although wireless networks have tremendous appeal—including simple installation, good speed, and excellent portability—they aren't the perfect solution for every home network.

Wired Ethernet networks are more difficult to install but offer higher speed and better reliability than wireless networks—at a much lower cost. Running cables can be difficult and expensive, how-ever, which makes Ethernet a nonstarter for many home users.

Before you choose a network technology for your home, you need to know all the advantages and the pitfalls—of each.



# Note

Throughout this book, I'll use the term *Ethernet* to refer to wired networks and the terms *wireless* and *WiFi* when discussing wireless networks. When you're shopping for networking equipment, you may encounter the term *wireless Ethernet*, which may seem to be an oxymoron, but it isn't. WiFi wireless networks use a variant of the Ethernet networking protocol over a wireless communications link.

In many cases, the best networking solution may involve a mix of networking technologies. Fortunately, you can mix and match networking technologies to create a network that works best for your individual needs.

# Is Wireless Best for You?

Wireless networks allow you complete freedom to place your computers wherever you want, without having to worry about how you're going to get a cable from your PC to your network. The newest generation of wireless LANs are faster, more secure, and more reliable than products from just a year or two ago—and they cost less too. They are very popular with laptop computer users because you can surf the Net from your sofa, your back porch, or just about anywhere you like.

Under ideal conditions, the fastest wireless LANs operate at about half the speed of Ethernet LANs. But in real-world conditions, wireless LANs often operate at far less than their theoretical maximum speed.

Many businesses have installed wireless LANs to allow workers to stay connected to the network while attending meetings, giving presentations, or collaborating with colleagues throughout the building. The emergence of wireless LANs has also attracted the attention of retailers and telecommunications providers. Many Starbucks, McDonald's, and independent coffee shops offer fee-based wireless access to customers. You can also get wireless Internet access in many airport departure lounges and hotels. Some large airports even offer free wireless Internet access throughout the terminal building. Thanks to a very well-defined industry standard, you can use your wireless-equipped laptop at home, at the office, and even on overseas business trips.

### Warning: Keep Away from the Pool

Wireless LAN and laptop computer ads often show a happy laptop user sitting by the pool, sipping one of those tall, frosty drinks with an umbrella in it while supposedly doing productive work from home. I live in Florida, I have a wireless LAN in my house, and the wireless coverage even reaches out to the pool area.

There are three realities you'll need to face if you install a wireless LAN:

- 1. You can't see a laptop screen outside in the bright sun. I've tried it.
- You can't get much work done if you're sipping umbrella-festooned drinks by the pool. I've tried that too.
- 3. Large bodies of chlorinated water and delicate laptop computers are a bad mix.



Wireless LANs are still in the evolutionary phase of their development cycle. In just a few years, wireless networks have increased in speed from 2 to 11 and now to 108 megabits per second (mbps). Engineers are always hard at work on the next generation of even faster wireless equipment. Fortunately, each successive generation of wireless equipment has been backward-compatible with previous generations. This allows users to keep much of their older, slower equipment while upgrading to a newer, faster wireless LAN.

Despite their enormous appeal, wireless LANs aren't the best solution for everyone. Because they rely on microwave radio signals, the working range of wireless LANs is very limited. Common electronic devices such as 2.4 GHz telephones and microwave ovens can disrupt the weak radio signal, causing a slowdown or even total blackout of the wireless LAN. Concrete block, stucco, and steel-reinforced construction are major obstacles for wireless LAN signals, as are the metal, interior wall studs used in place of wood 2×4s in many newer homes.

#### Tip

Sometimes, a few dollars worth of Ethernet cable can do the job that a wireless network can't. My neighbor Gene wanted to install a wireless LAN in his home so that he could connect his daughter Elizabeth's computer to their existing broadband connection in Gene's home office. The home office and Elizabeth's room are no more than 75' apart—far less than the 300' to 900' range claimed for most wire-less networks. But when we installed a wireless network in the home office, the wireless signal did not reach Elizabeth's room. The culprit was the steel-reinforced concrete construction of the house, which completely blocked the signal. We solved the problem by running an Ethernet cable under the house from the office to the bedroom.

### **Should You Stick With a Wired Network?**

Wired Ethernet is cheaper, faster, and more reliable than wireless and will continue to be so for some time to come. Ethernet components—the network adapters, switches, and cables you'll need to build a network—are far less expensive than their wireless counterparts. But in many cases, the added expense and inconvenience of getting a cable to each computer or other component makes Ethernet impractical.

This is especially true if you live in a high-rise condominium or co-op apartment. Your city building code, apartment lease, or condominium charter may prohibit you from drilling holes through walls to run your Ethernet cables. Some city building codes may even require that your cables be installed in metal conduits, adding hundreds of dollars to the cost of your LAN.

Installation costs aside, a wired Ethernet network costs about half as much as a comparable wireless network. For less money, you get much better performance and higher reliability. Wired networks are also inherently more secure than their wireless counterparts because a would-be intruder must have physical access to your network cable in order to connect to your network.



### "No new wires" Alternatives

There are two lesser-known network technologies that you can use instead of (or in addition to) wired Ethernet and wireless LANs: HomePlug and phone line networks. These products use the existing telephone or AC power wiring in your house to create a wired network without having to run any new wires.

While these products aren't as fast as 10/100 Ethernet, they can be a lifesaver in situations where wireless won't work and where you can't install Ethernet cable.

#### HOMEPLUG

HomePlug is a relatively new networking technology that transmits data over the existing AC power wiring in your home or office. With a maximum data throughput of only 6 mbps, HomePlug isn't as fast as Ethernet, but it is faster than many wireless networks. HomePlug networking products cost about the same as their wireless counterparts. HomePlug offers better mobility than a wired Ethernet network since you can (at least in theory) plug any HomePlug device into any electrical outlet. But HomePlug doesn't offer the complete freedom of mobility provided by wireless networks.

HomePlug networks are fast and reliable—if they work in your home. While the HomePlug signal doesn't interfere with appliances and other devices plugged into your home's electrical system, the reverse isn't always true. Some appliances and power tools can interfere with the HomePlug system, slowing or completely disrupting the flow of data. In addition, many modern homes use two separate 110 V feeds from the power company. Some circuits in the house are connected to one of the 110V feeds, and the remainder connect to the other feed. The use of two feeds poses a problem for HomePlug networks.

You can use HomePlug in conjunction with conventional wired and wireless Ethernet networks. For example, you may want to put a computer or printer at the far end of your home where it is out of reach of your wireless network. You can use a HomePlug connection to reach that one problem component, and use your wireless network for the rest of the house. I cover HomePlug in more detail later in this chapter.

#### **PHONE LINE NETWORKS**

Phone line networks are similar to HomePlug, but phone line networks use your existing telephone jacks instead of the AC power wiring. I'm not a big fan of phone line networks for several reasons, but the most important reason is also the most obvious: You must have a phone jack near the computer to use phone line networking. If someone were able to get a phone wire into the wall, you could probably get an Ethernet cable to the same location.

I'd like these products a lot better if they were faster and more reliable. I've used them in small homes with decent results, but they often fail to work at full speed (or at all) on certain types of telephone wiring. They are also problematic if you have DSL service on your phone line because the phone line network and DSL signals interfere with each other.

# **Evaluating Your Options**

Now that you have a basic understanding of the four major home networking technologies— Ethernet, wireless, HomePlug, and phone line—you'll need to map out a networking plan for your home. Table 4-1 presents the pros and cons of each networking technology at a glance.



Network Type	Cost	Speed	Pros	Cons			
Ethernet	Low	Best	Excellent security Often built in on new computers	Requires cable to each computer Cable installation can be difficult and/or costly No mobility			
Wireless	High	Slow (802.11b) to medium (802.11a and g) to pretty good (802.11b WiMax)	Very flexible; no cables required Complete mobility	Highest cost Technology Still developing Requires security vigilance			
HomePlug	Medium	Slow	Exceptionally easy installation	Limited speed May not work in some homes or on some power outlets More expensive than Ethernet			
Phone line	Medium	Slow	Simple installation	Requires telephone outlet near computer Limited speed May interfere with DSL service			

Table 4-1 Networking Technologies Pros and Cons

In the following sections, I'll explain how each networking technology works in more detail.

# **Ethernet Networks**

Ethernet is one of the oldest LAN technologies on the planet, and it is still the most widely used. It is fast, reliable, and inexpensive. Many desktop and notebook computers come with an Ethernet connection as standard equipment, as do virtually all wireless access points, cable modems, and DSL modems. Even if you've decided to build an all-wireless network, you'll still have at least one Ethernet connection on your network, connecting your cable or DSL modem to your wireless access point.

Early Ethernet LANs operated at a speed of 10 mbps over several different types of bulky, expensive cable. In the early 1990s, the Ethernet standards committee issued a new standard for a more reliable, less expensive Ethernet cabling system called 10Base-T. Today's Ethernet networks are variations on and improvements of the original 10Base-T technology.



The big attraction of 10Base-T was that it used inexpensive unshielded twisted pair (UTP) cable with an 8-pin modular plastic connector at each end of the cable. The modular connectors are inexpensive and easy to install using a special connector crimping tool.

10Base-T networks were the standard for many years but were made obsolete by 100Base-T networks in the late 1990s. As you've likely guessed, 100Base-T networks operate at 100 mbps, 10 times the speed of 10Base-T. 100Base-T (also called Fast Ethernet) networks use a higher grade of UTP cable called Category 5 or CAT5 cable—so named because it is the fifth generation of UTP Ethernet cable. CAT5 cable looks like standard telephone cable but is slightly thicker.

To maintain backward compatibility with the huge installed base of 10Base-T equipment, most 100Base-T Ethernet equipment can operate at 10 or 100 mbps. You'll likely encounter the term "10/100 Ethernet" when you're shopping for network products. 10/100 devices automatically switch between 10 and 100 mbps operation as necessary. In practical terms, nearly every Ethernet product sold today can operate at 100 mbps. Keep in mind that even the slower 10 mbps Ethernet products are many times faster than a cable or DSL modem connection, so they are still more than fast enough for Internet-sharing applications. If you plan to do a lot of file and/or printer sharing, you may find that 10 mbps is just too slow.

The next-generation Ethernet technology is called Gigabit Ethernet which operates at 10 times the speed of 100Base-T networks. Gigabit products typically cost more than 100 mbps Fast Ethernet, and most Gigabit products are designed for business networks. Unless you really need the additional speed of Gigabit, 100 mbps provides more than enough speed for 99 percent of all home network applications. The remaining 1% of you—the ones who need to move huge, multi-gigabit files (such as large video files) across your LAN—will find the extra cost to be money well spent.

Each device on an Ethernet network is connected to a central point on the network, called a *switch*.

Figure 4-1 shows a typical Ethernet network with a PC, a laptop, a router, and a network printer all connected to an Ethernet switch.

### Which CAT?

When shopping for cable, you'll encounter several cable type designators with names like CAT5, CAT5e, and CAT6. CAT5 cable is the minimum required for Fast Ethernet. CAT5e cable is a highergrade version of CAT5, and CAT6 cable is commonly used for Gigabit Ethernet, an up-and-coming version of Ethernet that operates at 10 times the speed of Fast Ethernet.

There is only a very small pricing differential between CAT5 and CAT5e, so many retailers no longer carry the older CAT5 cable. CAT6 cable costs more than CAT5e but is worth the extra money if you want to future-proof your cable installation.

While I'm on the subject of cable, be sure to get the right type of cable for your installation. If you will be running cable though an attic or crawl space, your local building code may mandate the use of *plenum* cable. This cable is fire-resistant and burns without releasing noxious chemicals, but it is much more expensive than standard cable.



Figure 4-1: An Ethernet switch connects all of the devices on a LAN.

As you can see, the Ethernet switch is the center of the network; all traffic traveling between any two devices on the LAN must pass through the switch. Each network device has its own cable to the switch, so users can connect and disconnect to and from the network without disrupting the network traffic.

Switches come in a variety of sizes, with anywhere from 5 to 24 Ethernet connectors called *ports*. Most home network equipment makers offer two or three models designed for home LANs. Figure 4-2 shows a typical five-port Ethernet switch, with front and back views.





**Figure 4-2:** This compact Ethernet switch from Linksys is about the size of a paperback book. The sixth connector (on the right) can be used to expand the network using a second switch.

One of the first decisions you'll need to make in designing your home network is deciding where to put the switch. Most people simply put the switch where it is the most convenient, usually near their main computer. This is fine, but you should bear in mind that each device on the network will have a cable to connect to the switch, so you may find yourself with a rat's nest of wires underneath your computer desk. If you are designing a network from scratch with components spread out around the house, you may be better off locating the switch in a central location in your home, perhaps in the attic, basement, or garage.

If you will have more than one computer or network device in a room (a home office, for example), you can install a second switch to service that one room and still have only a single cable connecting to the main switch located in the attic or basement. Figure 4-3 shows a typical two-switch network in a two-story home with a basement.

### What's a Switch?

You may hear the terms Ethernet hub and Ethernet switch used interchangeably. They look alike on the outside, but they're very different on the inside.

Hubs are dumb devices that simply repeat everything they hear. When one computer sends a signal to the hub, the hub sends the identical signal back out to all of the other ports on the hub. This wastes network bandwidth because the majority of traffic on the LAN only needs to get from point A to point B (from a file server to a client, for example) without going to points C, D, E, and so on. Because all of the traffic is sent to all of the ports, it is possible (and in fact trivially simple) for an unauthorized user to capture and monitor all of the network traffic. This is a serious security problem for corporate users but not a major issue for home networks.

Switches are much more intelligent devices that analyze each packet coming in. The switch determines where the traffic needs to go and transmits it only on the port connected to the destination computer. This is a much more efficient use of the network's bandwidth, and it also prevents unauthorized users from intercepting traffic on the network.

Until recently, switches were much more expensive than hubs, but recent advances in switch technology have made hubs all but obsolete.





Figure 4-3: This two-switch network avoids cable clutter in the home office.

With only a single switch, the network in Figure 4-3 would have three cables coming from the two bedrooms and the kitchen into the home office. By using a second switch, only a single cable (to the basement switch) is required.



### **Need More Speed?**

If you have several high-traffic devices (such as TiVo DVRs or Media Center Extenders) on your home LAN, you may want to consider Gigabit Ethernet as an alternative to 100 Mbps Ethernet. As the name implies, Gigabit Ethernet operates at 10 times the speed of 100 Mbps Ethernet. Gigabit operates over CAT6 twisted-pair cable, a higher-performance (and more costly) version of CAT5.

Gigabit products are more expensive than standard Ethernet, but gigabit prices are falling rapidly. Gigabit is most often used as the connection between two 100 mbps switches. In the example shown in Figure 4-3, it might make sense to use a gigabit connection between the main switch in the basement and the secondary switch in the home office area.

Ethernet switches are relatively inexpensive, so it often pays to buy a larger switch than you need. Having a few extra ports will cost you a few extra dollars but may save you from having to replace the switch with a larger one as your network grows.

Despite the tremendous advances in the price and performance of wireless networks, Ethernet is still my first choice for home networks.

# **Wireless Networks**

Just a few years ago, wireless LANs were incredibly expensive, slow, and unreliable. Despite the drawbacks—and the well-publicized security issues associated with wireless LANs in the corporate workplace—wireless LAN products have become very popular with corporate and home users alike.

Today, you can buy everything you need to set up a wireless network in your home for just a few dollars more than a comparable Ethernet network. When you consider the potential cost and inconvenience of installing Ethernet cable, a wireless LAN may actually be cheaper.

# **Sorting Through the Standards**

The Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers (IEEE) develops and maintains the standards for wireless networks. A separate industry trade group called the WiFi Alliance performs compatibility testing and issues certification—the WiFi Seal—for compatible products.

The WiFi certification assures buyers that WiFi products from one manufacturer will interoperate with equipment made by another. But many would-be buyers are confused by the maze of wireless products on the market. Much of this confusion is caused by the very similar IEEE standard names used to identify the different classes of wireless products.

Table 4-2 will help you sort out the different types of wireless products on the market.



Table 4-2         Wireless Network Standards								
IEEE Name	Maximum Speed	Range	Radio Frequency	Performance	Price			
802.11b	11 mbps	Good	2.4 GHz	Good	Low			
802.11g	54 mbps	Good	2.4 GHz	Excellent	Medium			
802.11a	54 mbps	Fair	5 GHz	Excellent	High			
MIMO (proposed 802.11n)	108 mbps	Very Good	2.4 GHz	Excellent	Moderate			

### **Structured Wiring**

If you're building a new home, remodeling your existing home, or just looking for a project to keep you busy for a couple of weeks, you should consider installing structured wiring in your home.

Each structured wiring equipment maker has its own definition of exactly what structured wiring is. The basic concept is that every room in a house should have at least one and preferably two CAT5 UTP cables installed, along with one or two RG-6 coaxial cables for TV. All of the cables run back to a central point in the home (sound familiar?) to a device called a *patch panel*. The patch panel contains a jack for each cable, along with connections for telephone, cable or satellite TV, a DSL modem, and possibly other devices like an alarm or home control system. After the structured wiring is installed, you can connect telephones, computers, and televisions anyplace in the home without having to run new cables.

Many people (and companies) associate structured wiring with home automation systems that combine automated control of lights and appliances with a whole-house security system. Most automation systems require structured wiring, but you don't need such a system to take advantage of structured wiring.

Business networks have used structured wiring for many years. It is a great idea for homes too, although I'm not sure that you need two TV cables to every room in the house. But even though I'm a big fan of the concept, I don't have it in my 30-year-old home, and I don't plan to install it anytime soon.

The biggest problem with structured wiring is that it is very difficult to install in an existing home. Unless your home has a large attic above or a basement or crawl space below (my own home has neither), it can be very difficult to get cables to each room, and you'll need to find a place to put the patch panel.

New homes are a different story. You'll have to put telephone and cable TV wiring in your new home anyway, so you might as well do it right. An Internet search on "structured wiring" will provide you with all you could possibly want to know on the subject. Leviton Manufacturing has an excellent "how-to" guide on their Web site at www.levitonvoicedata.com.



802.11b was the first wireless standard to achieve critical mass in the market. As you can see from Table 4-2, 802.11b networks operate at 11 mbps, slightly faster than 10 mbps Ethernet. Thanks to the rapid price decrease of the faster 802.11g products, 802.11b is now essentially obsolete, although many public wireless hotspots still operate at 802.11b speeds.

A newer standard called 802.11g operates at up to 54 mbps, nearly five times the maximum speed of 802.11b. Both 802.11b and 802.11g networks use the 2.4 GHz radio band, and the two standards are compatible with one another.

A new variant of 802.11g, called MIMO, came to market just as we went to press. MIMO stands for Multiple Input Multiple Output, and it essentially uses two 802.11g radio systems working in tandem to deliver connection speeds up to 108 mbps. MIMO access points use two or more antennas to provide a broader coverage area than standard 802.11g access points. Figure 4-4 shows a typical MIMO access point.



**Figure 4-4:** The Linksys WRT-54G wireless router uses three antennas for better coverage. (Photo courtesy of Linksys)

MIMO devices are backwards-compatible with 802.11b and 802.11g devices, so you don't have to toss out all of your old equipment if you upgrade to MIMO; however, if you want to take full advantage of MIMO's increased speed, you'll need a MIMO-capable device at both ends of the wireless connection. If your laptop is equipped with a built-in 802.11g wireless adapter, you'll get better range using a MIMO access point or wireless router, but you won't see an increase in performance. Also, each manufacturer implements MIMO in a slightly different way, so it is a good idea to use the same brand of equipment across your entire network.

# **Wireless Architecture**

Each device that will connect to the wireless network must have a *wireless network card*, also called a wireless adapter card, installed. Wireless adapters are available in a variety of form factors, including PCI cards for desktops, PC cards for portable computers, and external USB adapters for use with any USB-equipped computer.


### "a" versus "g"

802.11a networks operate at 54 mbps. Because 802.11a uses a different set of radio frequencies in the 5 GHz radio band, it is not compatible with 802.11b or 802.11g products. 802.11a also has a much shorter range than 802.11b and g networks. Given their higher price, shorter range, and lack of compatibility with other WiFi devices, I don't recommend 802.11a products for use on a home network.

802.11g is just as fast as 802.11a but costs less and works with legacy 802.11b equipment; however, 802.11a has a few advantages that justify the higher cost. 802.11a's shorter range means that you need more access points to cover a given area. While this may seem like a disadvantage, there will be fewer wireless clients sharing each access point, resulting in higher overall performance for each client.

Because it operates in a different radio band, 802.11a is immune from interference caused by 2.4 GHz cordless phones and microwave ovens, but this will change as new 5.8 GHz cordless telephones become more popular.

The new generation 802.11g MIMO products offer better performance at a lower cost than 802.11a. Unless you're really concerned with interference from 2.4 GHz devices, MIMO is a better choice for home use.

### **Cross-Reference**

Wireless adapters are covered in detail in Chapter 7.

Wireless networks can operate in one of two modes. The first, called *ad hoc mode*, allows wireless devices to communicate directly with one another. Figure 4-5 shows how ad hoc mode works.

Ad hoc mode is most useful for setting up on-the-fly network connections between portable devices. It is often used in business meetings to allow participants to exchange files with one other. Ad hoc mode is best suited for use on very small networks of two to three computers.

The majority of wireless LANs use *infrastructure mode*, where a central device called a wireless *access point* (or AP for short) manages the traffic on the wireless network. There are several types of AP units available for home use, including models with built-in firewalls and Ethernet switches, as you'll see in Chapter 5. The access point acts as an intermediary between the wireless network and a wired LAN, as shown in Figure 4-6.

In many ways, the AP performs the same function on a wireless LAN as a switch does on an Ethernet network. The AP manages the flow of traffic among the devices on the wireless network, and it also directs the traffic between the wired and wireless networks. Most APs are connected to an existing Ethernet network, so wireless devices can communicate with any other device on the wired or wireless networks.

#### **Cross-Reference**

See Chapter 7 for details on the finer points of wireless architecture.





**Figure 4-5:** Computers operating in ad hoc mode communicate directly with one another.



**Figure 4-6:** An infrastructure mode wireless LAN uses an access point to connect wireless devices to an Ethernet LAN.



### Wireless Coverage Area

Wireless LANs use microwave radio signals to communicate. Similar to all radio signals, microwave signals become weaker as the distance between the receiver and transmitter increases. As the signal gets weaker, the wireless connection gets slower. When you reach the edge of the AP's coverage area, you'll lose the signal—and your network connection—entirely.

If you read the box for any wireless product, you'll probably find a manufacturer-provided figure for the range of the AP. Most AP makers claim an indoor range of 300' or so, which would seem to be more than enough for all but the largest houses. Too bad it isn't true.

The problem is that the figures quoted on the box are a theoretical maximum, achievable only in a wide-open space with no obstacles and no outside interference from things like cordless phones and microwave ovens. In the real world, you can expect to get a circle of full-speed coverage about 30' to 50' around the AP. Concrete walls, metal wall studs, and even the ordinary wiring inside your home's walls can reduce that figure even farther.

The short range of most APs may be a problem, or it might not, depending on your needs. If you plan to use your laptop computer in a relatively confined area—the kitchen and den, for example—you can place the AP in the center of that area so that you have the best-possible coverage on those areas. AP Placement for MIMO networks is somewhat less critical than for 802.11b and 802.11g networks, but it's still a good idea to place the AP in a central location if possible.

If your home is large or has multiple stories, you may need to add a second access point to provide coverage in more than one area of the house. Figure 4-7 shows how you can use two access points to cover both floors of a two-story home (with one PC outside the wireless coverage area connected via wire to the main switch in the basement).

### **Wireless Security**

If you look closely at Figure 4-7, you'll notice that the coverage area from the two APs extends outside the boundaries of the house. In some cases, the circle of coverage will extend outside in front of your home, perhaps in the driveway or even out to the curb.

Under these circumstances, anyone with a wireless-equipped laptop computer can simply park in front of your home, turn on his or her laptop, and connect to your network. Once on the network, the interloper may be able to access files on your computer. This is not a good thing.

I have good and bad news to report on this front. The good news is that virtually all wireless equipment sold today includes a feature called Wired Equivalent Privacy, or WEP, and many include a newer, enhanced security feature called WiFi Protected Access, or WPA. If you enable WPA on your wireless equipment, it is nearly impossible for someone to tap into your home network without your permission. WEP and WPA use data encryption techniques to scramble the signal between the AP and each wireless device. WEP has a well-publicized security problem that makes it much less secure than WPA, but it is still far better than no security at all.

The bad news is that despite widespread publicity about the lack of security on wireless networks, the majority of home users choose not to enable the security features on their networks. Part of the blame goes to the equipment makers, who leave WEP or WPA turned off by default. If you are at all concerned about securing your home network, I urge you to use WPA or WEP if at all possible.







### **Cross-Reference**

Security for wireless networks is covered in more detail in Chapter 7.

### HomePlug

HomePlug is an interesting networking technology that uses your home's AC power wiring to carry data. The first-generation power line networking products were very disappointing, but HomePlug really works. HomePlug operates at speeds up to 14 mbps, depending on the distance between the devices and the quality of your home's wiring. The best part about HomePlug (and the reason I prefer it over the similar phone line networking technology) is that every power outlet in your home becomes a potential network outlet.

Figure 4-8 shows an Ethernet LAN with an additional PC connected using HomePlug.



#### Home Electrical Wiring

Figure 4-8: A HomePlug network uses your home's electrical wiring to carry data.



Several manufacturers offer a variety of HomePlug-compatible equipment that includes USB-connected adapters and Ethernet bridges. In Figure 4-8, the Ethernet bridge connects the Ethernet LAN to the HomePlug power line network, and a USB adapter connects the lone desktop PC to the power line network. You can get a closer look at these devices in Figure 4-9.



**Figure 4-9:** A HomePlug Ethernet Bridge (left) connects an existing Ethernet LAN or Ethernet-equipped PC to a HomePlug network. The HomePlug USB adapter (right) plugs into any power outlet and connects to a laptop or desktop PC via a USB cable.

It is possible to build an entire network using HomePlug technology, but it is most useful as an extension of an existing Ethernet or WiFi network. Because of HomePlug's relatively limited bandwidth, I recommend it as a problem-solver technology, to be used when wireless won't reach and Ethernet is too difficult to install.

### Summary

By this point, you should have a good idea of the pros and cons of each of the major home networking technologies. The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- Ethernet is still the price/performance leader.
- Wireless LANs can approach Ethernet speeds but offer greater convenience and flexibility.



- Security is a major concern for wireless LANs, and you should plan to employ WEP or WPA on your own network.
- HomePlug is a simple, effective alternative when wireless won't reach and Ethernet is too difficult to install.

In this chapter, I explained the difference between wired and wireless networks so that you can choose what's best for your needs. In Chapter 5, I'll take you on a virtual shopping trip so you can buy the best products to build your own LAN.

### **Chapter 5**

# Getting the Right Stuff



Now that you understand the basic principles behind a home network, it's time to explore all your options. In this chapter, I provide a brief overview of each of the major types of devices you may need to build your network:

- Network adapters for desktops and laptops
- Ethernet switches
- Routers and firewalls
- Wireless access points
- Print servers

Shopping for networking equipment can be a shot in the dark. You can try just about everything else in the store before you buy it, but the network equipment aisle in most computer and electronics stores is usually a long row of shrink-wrapped boxes.

Before you go shopping, visit several manufacturers' Web sites and see if they offer downloadable user manuals for their products. You can often learn a lot more from the manual than you will from the outside of the box.

### **Choosing a Network Adapter**

Each computer on your network will need a network adapter. As you may recall from Chapters 1 and 4, the network adapter provides a wired or wireless connection between each individual computer and the rest of the network. If you're lucky, your computer came with a factory-installed Ethernet or wireless adapter. If not, you'll have to choose and purchase the correct type of adapter for your computer and network.



### **Note for Mac Users**

All current-model Macs come equipped with an Ethernet connection, and all Macs can be ordered with a built-in wireless adapter as well. Apple calls their wireless adapters by the trade name AirPort, but they are fully compatible with 802.11b and 802.11g WiFi networks.

There are no fewer than eight types of network adapters available, so the choices can be a bit overwhelming. Table 5-1 will help you sort out your options. The adapters are divided between desktop and laptop types, and the sections following the table provide details on each type.

Table 5-1 Network Adapter Types			
Adapter Type	Pros	Cons	
Desktop PCI or built-in Ethernet	Inexpensive, very high performance. Preinstalled on many desktop PCs.	Installation requires opening the PC's case; not an option if your computer has no free expansion slots.	
Desktop USB Ethernet	Easy, no-tools installation.	USB 1.1 products are slower than PCI cards. USB 2.0 products are very fast but require newer USB 2.0 ports on your computer.	
Desktop PCI Wireless	No external wires.	Installation requires opening the PC case, and you'll need a free PCI slot. Antenna location (on the back of your PC) isn't optimal.	
Desktop USB Wireless	Easy, no-tools installation. Long USB cable lets you adjust the antenna position to obtain the best signal.	USB 1.1 limits speed on 802.11a and 802.11g networks; use a USB 2.0 device if possible.	
Laptop built-in Ethernet	High performance, no additional parts to carry with you. Available as an option on many newer laptops.	None	
Laptop CardBus Ethernet	High performance and easy installation.	One more thing to take with you on the road. Cards with external "dongles" are fragile. Some models occupy both card slots.	
Laptop USB Ethernet	Small and inexpensive, does not tie up one of your CardBus slots.	More stuff to carry. USB 1.1 limits speed; use USB 2.0 if possible.	
Laptop built-in wireless	Best choice, no installation required, and you can't lose it!	None	

#### Table 5-1 Network Adapter Types



Adapter Type	Pros	Cons
Laptop CardBus Wireless	High performance, easy to upgrade.	Protruding antenna is easy to break.
Laptop USB wireless	Small and inexpensive, does not tie up one of your CardBus slots	More stuff to carry. USB 1.1 limits speed on faster 802.11a and 802.11g networks. Use USB 2.0 if possible. One-piece products are neat but fragile.

Did I say there were eight types? Although there are 10 in the table, the laptop and desktop USB adapters are the same products. There are actually more than 10 types because wireless adapters are available for 802.11a, 802.11b, and 802.11g wireless networks. Some manufacturers also offer 802.11a/b/g *combo cards* that work with any type of wireless network. I'll cover those cards in detail later in this chapter.

In the next two sections, I'll explain the options available for Ethernet and wireless networks for laptop and desktop computers.

### **Desktop Ethernet Adapters**

The majority of desktop PCs ship from the factory with an Ethernet adapter installed. If your desktop PC came with a factory-installed Ethernet adapter, you can skip this section. If you're not sure whether your PC has an Ethernet adapter, check the manufacturer's specifications, or simply look for an Ethernet connector on the rear of your PC. The connector looks like an oversized telephone jack (you can see one on the card in Figure 5-1), and it will have eight gold connectors inside the jack (telephone jacks have only two or four connectors.)

If your PC doesn't have an Ethernet adapter, you'll need to install one, and you have two options. You can install an expansion card inside the computer, or you can use an external USB adapter.

#### **PCI ETHERNET ADAPTERS**

Virtually all desktop computers have expansion slots called *PCI slots*, and PCI Ethernet adapters are your best choice for a desktop PC. They are relatively inexpensive and provide the best performance. Figure 5-1 shows a typical desktop Ethernet adapter.

Because they install entirely inside your computer, there are no additional cables other than the cable that connects the PC to the network. Your PC must have an empty PCI expansion card slot, and you'll need to open the PC's case to install the card.

#### Note

If you are nervous about installing a PCI card, you may want to have it professionally installed. But keep in mind that you'll need to unplug all the cables from your PC and drag the computer into the store to get the card installed. If this is too much trouble and you don't feel comfortable opening up your PC, you should consider a USB Ethernet adapter instead.





**Figure 5-1:** This 10/100 Ethernet adapter installs in a PCI card slot. The two lights beside the Ethernet connector are useful for troubleshooting.

PCI cards are typically very easy to install. You'll need a screwdriver, a flashlight, and a little patience. Most expansion cards come with detailed installation instructions. In most cases, the most difficult part of the job is opening and closing the PC's case. Be sure to unplug the computer's power cord and read all the instructions (for both the computer and the expansion card) before you begin.

#### **USB ETHERNET ADAPTERS**

If you're squeamish about opening up your PC, or if your computer doesn't have any empty expansion slots, you'll need an external USB Ethernet adapter. USB devices are extremely easy to install; they simply plug into a USB connector on the front or back of your computer.

There are two types of USB connections: USB 1.1 and USB 2.0. USB 1.1 operates at a maximum speed of 12 megabits per second (mbps). Although this is fast enough to keep up with a 10 mbps Ethernet connection, it is far too slow for 100 mbps networks. USB 2.0 operates at speeds up to 480 mbps, or 40 times the speed of USB 1.1, so it is a much better choice for external Ethernet adapters.

USB 2.0 was designed to be backward-compatible with USB 1.1, and both use the same connectors. Because the connectors are identical, you can't tell one from the other just by looking at the connectors. If you're not sure which type you have, check the manufacturer's Web site for your computer. In general, most computers built in 2003 and after have USB 2.0; most computers built before then have USB 1.1.



### Tip

Most desktop PCs have at least two USB connectors, and some have as many as five. USB is the industry standard for connecting external devices such as printers, scanners, pointing devices, keyboards, and digital cameras, so it's possible that all of your USB ports are already spoken for.

If you need more USB ports, you can purchase an inexpensive USB hub. The hub plugs into one of your existing ports and provides four or more additional USB connectors. You may have to disconnect a device from your computer to make room for the hub, but you can plug that device into one of the hub ports instead. Hubs come in two types[md]powered and unpowered. Powered hubs can supply power to devices that draw their power from the USB connection, such as mouse devices, keyboards, and most Ethernet adapters. Unpowered hubs are typically used with devices that have their own power supply, such as scanners, printers, and external storage devices.

If your PC came with USB 1.1 and you need more ports, you may want to consider installing a USB 2.0 PCI adapter card inside your PC instead of adding a hub to your system. These cards are very inexpensive (often less than the cost of a USB 1.1 hub) and provide four or five USB 2.0 connectors that you can use with other USB devices.

USB Ethernet adapters come in all shapes and sizes. Some are barely larger than the USB plug itself; others are the size of a matchbox. Figure 5-2 shows a typical USB adapter suitable for use with desktop PCs.



**Figure 5-2:** This compact USB 2.0 Ethernet adapter adds 10/100 Ethernet to any USB-equipped PC.

The larger, sturdier, matchbox-sized USB adapters are a better choice for use on desktop computers. The smaller, one-piece units sold for use with laptops will work on a desktop PC, but they are much more fragile.



### **Desktop Wireless Adapters**

Many people think of wireless networks as a "laptop thing." Much of the popularity of wireless networks is due to the go-anywhere nature of wireless networks, but that same flexibility applies to desktop PCs as well.

You can't pick up your desktop PC and carry it around the house, but a wireless network lets you put your PC wherever you like, without having to worry about getting an Ethernet cable to the PC.

There are two types of wireless adapters for desktop PCs[md]internal PCI cards and external USB adapters. (See the preceding section on desktop Ethernet adapters to decide which is better for you.) Either way, you'll need to make sure that you choose an adapter that uses the same standards (802.11b, 802.11g, or 802.11a) as your wireless network.

#### **PCI WIRELESS ADAPTERS**

PCI wireless adapters install in a PCI expansion slot inside your PC; USB adapters simply plug into a USB port on your computer. Figure 5-3 shows a typical PCI wireless card.



Figure 5-3: This PCI card adds WiFi wireless networking to a desktop PC.

If you read the section on PCI Ethernet adapters, you know that they are my first choice for desktop PCs. However, I'm not a big fan of PCI wireless adapters. My major gripe with these cards has to do with the position of the antenna, located on the back of the card. After you've installed the card and put your PC back under your desk, you may find that the antenna is in a less-than-optimal position to receive the signal from the access point. If this happens, there's not much you can do to correct the situation, short of moving the PC, the access point, or both.



Some manufacturers offer antenna cable extension kits to solve this problem, but these kits add yet another cable to that rat's nest of wires behind your PC. If you have an extra USB port, you'll probably be happier with a USB adapter.

### **USB WIRELESS ADAPTERS FOR DESKTOPS**

If you need to add a wireless connection to a desktop PC, consider using a USB external adapter instead of a PCI card. If your computer has USB 1.1 ports, you'll be better off installing a USB 2.0 PCI adapter and using a USB wireless adapter—and you'll have the added benefit of having faster USB 2.0 ports to use with other devices. Any USB wireless adapter can operate with either desktop or laptop computers, but some specific models are better suited to desktop use. One-piece USB adapters have a USB connector directly attached. They are very compact but are best suited for use with laptops. For desktops, I recommend a USB adapter with a detachable cable, like the one shown in Figure 5-4.



**Figure 5-4:** This wireless USB adapter comes with a long USB cable, so you can position the adapter for the best signal reception.

The adapter in Figure 5-4 comes with a 6' USB cable, so you can position the wireless adapter up and away from your computer. Most adapters of this type also include a piece of Velcro or double-sided tape, so you can stick the adapter to the back of your desk.



### **Laptop Ethernet Adapters**

Most laptop computers come with an Ethernet connection as standard equipment. That's great if you're buying a new computer, but if you own an older laptop—or a newer model that didn't come with built-in Ethernet—you'll need to purchase and install an Ethernet adapter to connect your laptop to your wired LAN.

There are literally hundreds of types and models of Ethernet adapters to choose from, including external USB adapters and internal CardBus adapters.

### Tip

Just because your laptop has an Ethernet connector on the back, don't assume that it actually works! I've seen several laptops from reputable manufacturers that came from the factory with an Ethernet connector on the outside of the computer—but no Ethernet hardware on the inside.

Apparently, it is easier for manufacturers to simply put the connector on all versions of a particular model, even on those that don't include built-in Ethernet.

#### **CARDBUS ETHERNET ADAPTERS**

Virtually all laptops have at least one (and more often two) expansion slots. Most laptops built since 1996 have CardBus slots; older laptops have PC Card (also known as PCMCIA) slots. The two technologies are similar, and CardBus is essentially an updated, faster version of PC Card technology. PC Card devices will operate in CardBus slots, but CardBus cards do not work in older PC Card–based computers. From here on, I'll use the term *CardBus* to cover both technologies.

#### Tip

Have an expansion card but don't know which type it is? PC and CardBus cards share identical form factors and connector types, so it can be hard to tell one from the other. Here's the trick: CardBus cards have a copper shielding strip across the connector end of the card (like the one in Figure 5-5); PC Cards don't.

The CardBus standard is based on the PCI expansion card technology used in desktop computers. Similar to their desktop counterparts, CardBus devices can communicate with the host computer at very high speeds. CardBus cards are compact and easy to store. Unlike desktop PCI cards, CardBus cards are *hot pluggable*, meaning that you can install and remove them at any time, without first turning off the computer's power.

Some older CardBus and PC Card Ethernet adapters put the Ethernet connector at the end of a short cable attached to the card with a fragile connector. These cards work fine, but they are notoriously easy to break. Most laptop Ethernet adapters now use a molded plastic connector, like the card shown in Figure 5-5.





**Figure 5-5:** This CardBus 10/100 Ethernet card features a built-in Ethernet jack with link and activity indicator lights.

The only drawback to the external connector design is that it requires that the card be placed in the upper of the laptop's two expansion slots. If you place the card in the lower slot, the connector blocks access to the upper slot.

CardBus adapters are your best choice for adding Ethernet to a laptop. Unlike external USB adapters, there is no cable to attach. Most CardBus cards have a power-saving feature that turns the card off when no cable is attached, so you can leave the card in your computer all the time without having to worry about increased power consumption. This, in turn, reduces the possibility of your leaving the card behind in a hotel room.

#### **USB ETHERNET ADAPTERS FOR LAPTOPS**

USB Ethernet adapters have become very popular in the past year or so, despite the fact that USB 1.1 is far too slow to take full advantage of a Fast Ethernet connection. I have two theories about why this is so:

- Many people think that USB devices are easier to install than CardBus devices.
- Buyers don't realize that a USB 1.1 adapter can't take full advantage of Fast Ethernet, or they simply don't care about the speed.

I can certainly understand the first theory. Early PC Card devices (and PCMCIA cards, the predecessor to the PC Card standard) were, to put it politely, cranky. Fortunately, Windows XP fixed many of the compatibility issues that plagued earlier devices.

The speed issue may or not be a concern to many users. If you'll just be surfing the Internet and doing e-mail over your connection, then a USB 1.1 adapter is already much faster than your Internet connection. But if you plan to use your USB-connected computer for heavy-duty file sharing or head-to-head gaming, you should make sure you get a USB 2.0 adapter—if your laptop has USB 2.0 ports. If not, you should consider a CardBus adapter instead.



USB adapters come in two basic form factors. The larger, matchbook-sized units are more appropriate for use with desktop PCs (or with the increasing number of laptops that aren't used as portable PCs), and I discussed these products in the desktop USB section earlier in this chapter.

If you're like most people who travel with a laptop PC, you like to keep things as small as possible. Several network equipment manufacturers offer tiny USB Ethernet adapters, as you can see in Figure 5-6.



**Figure 5-6:** This tiny USB 2.0 Ethernet adapter is less than 4 inches long and less than an inch thick. The plastic cap on the left protects the USB plug during storage.

Miniature network adapters are great products that provide fast connectivity in a small package with a low price. The only thing that keeps me from categorically recommending them is that they are very fragile. One accidental yank on your Ethernet cable will almost certainly break the connector—so be careful!

### **Laptop Wireless Adapters**

The wireless networking revolution began with laptop computers, so it's not surprising that there are dozens of wireless laptop adapters on the market. Choosing the right adapter for your network can be a chore because of the sheer number of choices involved.

First, you must decide if you want an internal CardBus (or PC Card) adapter or an external USB adapter. After you've made that choice, you'll need to choose an adapter that is compatible with your wireless access point. For example, if you plan to install an 802.11a network, you'll need to purchase compatible 802.11a cards.



The vast majority of wireless network products sold today are 802.11b- and 802.11g-compatible. The older, slower 802.11b products are adequate for home Internet access, where the cable modem or DSL modem is the slowest link in the network.

If you're planning to use your network for file sharing, 802.11g is the way to go. The faster 802.11g products offer nearly five times the speed of 802.11b products for a modest increase in price. 802.11g networks are backward-compatible with 802.11b adapters, so if you bring home an 802.11b-equipped laptop from your office, it will still work on your 802.11g network.

#### **CARDBUS WIRELESS ADAPTERS**

CardBus adapters are the simplest, easiest way to connect a laptop to a wireless LAN. Most manufacturers offer a variety of CardBus (and PC Card) wireless adapters to provide compatibility with 802.11a, 802.11b, and 802.11g wireless LANs. Before you purchase a wireless card, you should make sure that it is compatible with your home wireless network. If you plan to use the same card at home and at the office, make sure that you purchase a card that is compatible with both.

### Tip

Most wireless equipment manufacturers offer *tri-mode* cards that will operate with any of the three major wireless standards. These cards don't cost much more than a single-mode 802.11g or 802.11a card, and they are worth the extra money if you frequently travel with your computer. They're also a good choice if you have an 802.11a network at the office and an 802.11g network at home.

CardBus wireless adapters look very much like the CardBus Ethernet adapter shown in Figure 5-5, except that wireless adapters have a small plastic antenna in place of the Ethernet connector.

Windows XP was the first release of Windows to include direct support for wireless networking. In many cases, you can simply plug in a card and use the wireless connection with little or no installation of drivers or additional software.

Some manufacturers include their own configuration software designed to make it easy to move your laptop among several wireless networks. I'll discuss this software in detail in Chapter 7.

#### **USB WIRELESS ADAPTERS FOR LAPTOPS**

As I mentioned in the section on desktop wireless adapters, there are two basic classes of USB wireless adapters. The larger, cable-connected adapters are best suited for use with desktop PCs. The smaller, one-piece products like the one shown in Figure 5-7 are a better choice for portable computers.

As you can see, the adapter in Figure 5-7 is very small, and the pop-up antenna folds flat when you're not using the card. Most recent USB wireless adapters are USB 2.0–compatible, so they are more than fast enough for use on 802.11g and 802.11a networks.

The only drawback to these tiny USB adapters is that they stick out the back of your laptop when in use. They look cool, work fine, and are a great choice for subcompact laptops with no CardBus slots—but the sturdier CardBus adapters are a better choice for most users.





Figure 5-7: This tiny USB wireless adapter features a pop-up antenna that folds flat for storage and travel.

### **Choosing an Ethernet Switch**

I cover Ethernet switches as part of my beat at *PC Magazine*. I always have a hard time convincing my editors that we really need to cover switches because—and I'm the first to admit it—they're boring. How much can you say about a box with a bunch of Ethernet jacks and a few flashing lights, anyway? And how much difference is there between any two of them?

The switch is the focal point of your network. Every single packet of data traveling on your network must pass through the switch on the way to its destination. While there aren't a lot of differentiating factors to help you choose a switch for your home, there are some subtle differences that you need to know.

The first and most obvious factor is the number of ports. You can buy switches made for home use with as few as 4 or as many as 16 ports. My advice is to add up the number of ports you need to start out and buy a switch with at least 50 percent more ports. I can almost guarantee that you'll need them at some point in the future. If you buy a switch that is too small, you'll have to replace it with a larger one (or add a second switch) anyway.

### Tip

Some switches made for commercial use are designed to be mounted in an equipment rack, so they have all of the connectors on the front. This is an awkward arrangement for a home switch, unless you're planning to mount the switch in a wiring closet or on a wall. Also, most rack-mount units have noisy ventilation fans.



Virtually all 10/100 switches are *autosensing*, meaning that each port automatically adjusts itself for 10 or 100 mbps operation, depending on the device connected to that port. This is an important feature if you plan to have a mix of 10 and 100 mbps devices on your LAN.

Figure 5-8 shows the front and rear views of a 16-port switch.



**Figure 5-8:** This 16-port switch is a little large for most home networks, but it has plenty of room to grow.

As you can see, the switch in Figure 5-8 has all the connectors on the rear and a corresponding set of lights on the front. The lights indicate the status, operating speed, and traffic flow on each port. Although you don't need to watch the lights in normal operation, they are an invaluable troubleshooting tool.

Most switches include an uplink feature that connects two or more switches together. This is a useful feature to have when you need several network connections in more than one room, or when you run out of ports and need to add another switch to the network.

Higher-end switches designed for business applications often have one or more Gigabit Ethernet connections, usually on the uplink port. This feature allows you to use a 1000 mbps Gigabit Ethernet connection to connect two or more 10/100 switches together using CAT6 Ethernet cable. This is a great setup for users who plan to move lots of large files around their home LAN.

### **Choosing a Wireless Access Point**

The access point will be the heart of your wireless network, so it is important to choose the right one.

There are two basic classes of access points: standalone access points and wireless routers. The standalone units are simple, inexpensive products designed to add wireless access to an existing Ethernet LAN. Wireless routers combine an access point, router, and a small Ethernet switch into a single, compact unit, and they are your best value if you are building a new network from scratch.

This section deals with standalone APs, but most of the information presented in this section also applies to wireless routers (covered in the next section), so stick with me here, even if you're planning to buy a wireless router.



### Why Use a Standalone Access Point?

An access point essentially acts as a wireless switch; it monitors and controls all of the traffic on the wireless LAN. The AP also manages the flow of information between the wired and wireless LANs.

Standalone access points can be used to add coverage to an existing Ethernet LAN, as shown in Figure 5-9, or they can be used to enhance the coverage area of an existing wireless LAN, as in Figure 5-10.



**Figure 5-9:** You can use an access point to add wireless capability to an existing Ethernet LAN.



Figure 5-10: A second access point extends the wireless coverage area of an existing wireless LAN.

Figure 5-9 shows an access point added to an existing Ethernet LAN. The AP connects to the existing switch with an Ethernet cable, making it easy to locate the AP where it will provide the largest coverage area.

### Which Standard Should You Choose?

Just a year ago, choosing a wireless standard was simple—there was only one. The arrival of 802.11g, 802.11a, and the upcoming 802.11n (see below) products gives you more choices, but it also makes your decision more difficult. (For a discussion of the differences among the three standards, see *Wireless Networks* in Chapter 4.)

To sum up what I said in Chapter 4, 802.11g is currently the most popular choice for home wireless networking. It offers the best combination of speed and compatibility at a reasonable price. As we went to press, there is little or no interoperability between 802.11g MIMO from different manufacturers. The IEEE standards committee is working on a new standard to be called 802.11n, which will hopefully result in a unified, MIMO-based standard. In the meantime, I really like the 802.11g MIMO products, but you'll need to purchase all of your wireless equipment from a single manufacturer.

802.11a networks offer better protection from interference, but 802.11a products are more expensive than 802.11g products. If you can't decide which to choose, several manufacturers offer tri-mode APs that support all three standards.



### Тір

The ability to move the AP independent of the rest of the network equipment is a major advantage that standalone APs have over combination router/switch/AP devices. If you want to move one of the all-in-one units, you'll have to move every cable connected to the switch!

The diagram in Figure 5-10 shows a standalone AP being used to increase the coverage area of an existing wireless LAN. This is often necessary in larger homes or in buildings where the AP's signal coverage is blocked by steel-reinforced walls.

As a rule, access points are very small, compact units with a single Ethernet connection, a power cord connection, and an antenna. Figure 5-11 shows a typical access point.



Figure 5-11: This access point is about the size of a paperback book.

If you've been following our coverage of wireless products in *PC Magazine* over the past few years, you probably know that some early wireless products were very difficult to configure. The new generation wireless products are just the opposite. Virtually all APs offer browser-based configuration, so you can configure and manage the AP using a Web browser. Figure 5-12 shows the main configuration screen for a D-Link access point.





Figure 5-12: Most wireless access points offer simple, browser-based configuration.

### **Wireless LAN Security**

As the number of wireless LANs has exploded, security has emerged as a major concern. Many early wireless LAN products had few or no security features, so anyone with a wireless network card could connect to virtually any wireless network. This was a major issue for corporate users, and many corporations banned the use of wireless networks because of the security threat.

As mentioned in Chapter 4, many wireless LAN products include a security feature called Wired Equivalency Privacy, or WEP. The WEP standard uses data encryption to scramble the data transmitted over the wireless network, so users must have the proper descrambler code (called a *WEP key*) to use the wireless connection. Although WEP is effective, it can easily be broken by a determined hacker. The bigger problem with WEP, however, is that the majority of home LAN users never bother to enable the security features in the first place.

An improved security feature called WiFi Protected Access (WPA) provides user authentication (ID and password) features and an improved form of data encryption. Most importantly, Microsoft and Apple have added WPA support directly into Windows XP and OS X, making WPA easier to deploy and less intrusive to use than WEP.

To use WPA, all of the wireless devices on your LAN must be WPA compliant. While most network equipment makers have embraced WPA, there are still a large number of devices on store shelves that do not support WPA.



#### **Cross-Reference**

For more detail on wireless network security, see Chapters 7 and 13.

### **Choosing a Router/Firewall**

Before I get into specifics about routers, I need to clear up some nomenclature. Strictly speaking, a *router* is a device that monitors and forwards data traffic between two or more networks. The most common use for a home router is to operate as a gateway between the local network (LAN) and a wide area network, namely the Internet. Most routers sold for home use include a firewall to protect your LAN from hackers and intruders.

So far, I've used three terms—router, gateway, and firewall—to describe a little box that connects your LAN to the Internet. In large corporate networks, those three terms describe separate and distinct devices. In the home market, they are almost always rolled up into one single device.

Now you understand why some manufacturers (and many writers!) can't seem to decide on one single term to describe home routers. I call them routers throughout most of this book, but you may see any or all three of the terms used to describe the same thing.

To further confuse the issue, many home routers include an Ethernet switch, a wireless access point, or both. These all-in-one boxes don't have a name, so you'll see manufacturers calling them things like (as Dave Barry would say, "I'm not making this up"!) "Wireless Access Point Router with Four-Port Switch." Now that I have that off my chest, let's move on.

### **How Routers Work**

Despite their small size and simple operation, routers are very complex devices. A router is essentially a small computer running a single program. The program is called *firmware* and is almost always stored in rewritable flash memory so that it can be updated from time to time.

### Tip

You should check your router manufacturer's Web site periodically to see if there is a new firmware release for your router. New firmware features typically address newly discovered security issues, and they can also add important new features and make performance improvements.

The router's firmware contains code to monitor and control the flow of information between your LAN and the Internet. Virtually all small routers use a technique called *Network Address Translation*, or NAT, to provide shared Internet access for all the computers on the LAN. At the simplest level, a router is a black box with two connections; one connection goes to your LAN and the other to your cable or DSL modem, as shown in Figure 5-13.

As you saw in Chapter 3, most ISPs provide a single public IP address for a broadband Internet connection. And as you know by now, each computer on the LAN must have a unique IP address. NAT routers include a Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP) to provide a pool of private IP addresses for the computers on the LAN. The NAT code in the router keeps track of all data coming from and going to the Internet.



Figure 5-13: You can think of a router as a black box that connects your LAN to the Internet.

When a user on the LAN connects to a Web server, for example, the NAT router knows that all traffic to and from that Web server should go to that particular user. All of this takes place in a manner that is completely invisible to the user.

NAT routers provide a natural firewall between the LAN and the Internet. Any unsolicited traffic arriving at the router is simply ignored.

### **All-in-One Routers**

If you're building a new LAN from scratch, an all-in-one unit that combines a router, Ethernet switch, and wireless access point is your best value. It is also the most compact and simplest to install, since all of the cables will connect to a single, centrally located unit. Figure 5-14 shows a typical all-in-one router.



**Figure 5-14:** This router includes a wireless access point with two antennas as well as a four-port Ethernet switch.



Given the complexity of all-in-one devices, you might think that you would need a great deal of technical knowledge to install one. Fortunately, this is not the case. Virtually all routers incorporate a browser-based setup wizard that literally walks you through the basic steps needed to get the router up and running. I'll cover router installation in detail in Chapter 6, but the screen in Figure 5-15 will give you an idea of what to expect.



Figure 5-15: In many cases, you need only to fill out a single screen to configure your router.

### **Choosing a Print Server**

If you are like many home users, your printer is located next to your PC. If you're fortunate, you have enough room on or near your desk to accommodate your computer, keyboard, monitor, mouse, and printer. If you're crowded for space, you can use a print server to connect your printer to your home network, so you can get that printer off your desk.

Ethernet print servers require an Ethernet cable to connect them to the network, while wireless print servers use your home's wireless LAN. Obviously, wireless print servers allow you more freedom to place your printer wherever you like. There are several types of print servers, so you need to choose the correct one for your network (Ethernet or wireless) and printer connection (USB or parallel).



### Tip

Many all-in-one routers include a built-in print server. This is great if you want to put your printer near your router. But my guess is that you'll already have enough cables and clutter near your router, and you'll probably want to put the printer somewhere else.

Wireless print servers are a good choice for slower printers that are primarily used to print text, but an Ethernet print server is a better choice for color photo printers. The photo-printing process transfers a huge amount of data between the printing PC and the printer, and the data transfer may cause a noticeable slowdown on your entire wireless network.

Most printers come with both parallel and USB ports. Parallel cables are a holdover from the original 1981 IBM PC. They are bulky and slow, and fortunately are being phased out. If your printer has both USB and parallel connectors, be sure to get a USB print server so you can take advantage of the faster USB connection. I cover shared printers in detail in Chapter 11.

### Summary

At this point, you should be ready to break out the checkbook and head for the computer store. Here are a few key points to keep in mind on your shopping spree:

- Vou'll need a network card for each PC on your LAN.
- Buy an Ethernet switch with a few more ports than you need today—you'll need them later.
- Vou may need two wireless APs to cover your entire home.
- Combo router/switch/AP products are a good value.
- Make sure you know what type of connection (USB or parallel) your printer needs.

So now you're ready to go LAN shopping. When you get back from the computer store, the next chapters will walk you through the process of installing all your new stuff.

# Part III

### **Installing Your LAN**

**Chapter 6** Installing an Ethernet LAN

**Chapter 7** Installing a Wireless LAN

**Chapter 8** Configuring Your Network

### **Chapter 6**

## Installing an Ethernet LAN



t's time to get your hands dirty! Installing an Ethernet network can be hard work, but it can also be very rewarding. A well-planned network will serve you for many years to come—if you plan ahead now.

This chapter shows you how to plan and install your network cabling, Ethernet switch, and network adapters. Topics include the following:

- Installing your Ethernet cables
- Installing your Ethernet switch
- Installing network adapters

Apart from running the cables, Ethernet networks are usually easy to install. Almost all networking products sold today have true plug-and-play operation to help get your network up and running as quickly as possible.

### **Installing Ethernet Cables**

The first step in building a LAN is installing the cables. Depending on the complexity of your LAN and the location of your computers, this can be the simplest or the most difficult part of your home LAN installation. The degree of difficulty is a complex equation involving the number and location of computers on your LAN, the type of construction used in your home, and your local fire and building codes.

If you're still with me, I'm going to assume that all those disclaimers didn't scare you off and you're ready to install your LAN cables.



### **Cabling Caveats**

Cable installation can be dangerous work, full of unforeseen hazards. For example, you might think it's a piece of cake to drill a hole through a wall—and most of the time it is. But it is nearly impossible to tell what is inside the wall, and it is possible to drill into a water pipe, an electrical cable, or a gas line.

You may also need to climb ladders, navigate unpleasant basement or attic crawl spaces, or perform other hazardous duty to run cables to your computers. Before you decide to install your own network cables, you should consider hiring a professional cable installer to do the work for you. Most electrical contractors, alarm installers, and custom stereo installers will be glad to give you an estimate, usually free of cost or obligation. It may cost less than you'd expect to have your cables installed by a professional.

On the other hand, there is a certain amount of satisfaction to be had from a job well done. If you decide to do it yourself, please read all instructions thoroughly, make sure you're adhering to local building codes, and be careful—especially when working around existing electrical wiring and plumbing.

### **Planning Your Network**

Before you break out your work gloves, power drill, and wire cutters, take a few minutes to draw out a rough plan of your home. Think about where you need to have network connections right now, and also consider locations (like a younger child's room) where you might need a network connection in the future. Then think about the fact that all of those cables need to connect to an Ethernet switch at the other end of the cable.

Your initial inclination may be to run all of the cables to a central location in your home, perhaps in the room where your primary computer resides. But unless you enjoy watching the flashing green lights on your Ethernet switch, there's no need to run all those cables into your home office, den, or living room. The cables invariably end up in a tangle behind your desk.

Your best bet is to run the cables to one easily accessible location in your home. This is called *home run* wiring because each wire runs back to a single "home" location. Your home location can be just about anywhere in the house, but remember that you'll need an AC outlet to provide power for the Ethernet switch. Some good home locations are the garage, basement, utility room, closets, or other nonliving space inside, above, or below the house. Ethernet cable is cheap, so don't compromise your LAN design by trying to make the cables as short as possible. Instead, maximize your LAN design by making it as flexible as possible. If you need more than one Ethernet connection in a room, you can use a small, inexpensive switch to connect several devices using a single Ethernet cable.

Figure 6-1 shows the right and wrong way to plan your LAN cabling.





**Figure 6-1:** You can avoid cable clutter (left) by routing all of your Ethernet cables to a convenient location (right).

The diagram on the left side of Figure 6-1 shows all of the Ethernet cables in the house running back to a single location in the home office. This layout will work fine, but you will end up with a tangle of cables coming into the Ethernet switch. It is easier and neater to run the majority of the cables into a central location outside of the main living area. The diagram on the right side of Figure 6-1 shows most of the cables running to an Ethernet switch located in the basement. This layout requires only a single cable into the home office.

### **Cable System Components**

Thanks to the tremendous popularity of Ethernet cable, you have a wide variety of cables (in several colors), connectors, wall plates, and patch cables to choose from when designing your home LAN. Most computer retailers (including large chain stores such as Best Buy and Circuit City) carry



Ethernet cables in several lengths (usually up to 100') and in one or two neutral colors. If you need to run more than a few cables, or if you need to run very long cables, you can purchase cable in bulk spools of 250' and 500'. You'll need some inexpensive tools to attach the connectors to the cables (described in the next section), but bulk cable is much less expensive.

Ethernet cable contains four pairs of wires. Each pair is twisted together to provide shielding from electrical interference. Figure 6-2 shows a close-up of an Ethernet cable.

Ethernet devices like computers, routers, and switches connect together using eight-pin modular plugs and jacks called *RJ-45* connectors. Typically, the equipment end of the cable contains a female jack, and the cable itself has a male plug. Figure 6-3 shows a picture of an RJ-45 plug.

RJ-45 plugs and jacks look and work very much like the RJ11 telephone jacks used in most homes, but RJ-45 jacks are larger than RJ11 jacks. Each RJ-45 plug has a small plastic protrusion called a *tang* that snaps into place when you plug a cable into a jack. To release the cable, you press down on the tang while pulling out on the cable.



Figure 6-2: Ethernet cable contains four pairs of color-coded wires. Each pair of wires is twisted together.





**Figure 6-3:** The RJ-45 connector used for Ethernet cable has eight tiny copper pins embedded into a clear plastic connector.

Preassembled cables are very convenient to use; you just run them from the switch to each computer and plug them in. They are best suited for short-run applications where the computers are fairly close to the switch. They are also a good choice for installations where you can route the cable without the cable passing through a hole in the wall. Because the connector is much larger than the wire itself, premade cables require a larger hole to pass through a wall. If preassembled cables won't work for your installation, you can purchase Ethernet cable in bulk and install your own connectors, as explained in the next section.

#### **ESSENTIAL INSTALLATION TOOLS**

If you decide to make your own cables, you'll need some special tools like the ones shown in Figure 6-4.

The cable stapler in Figure 6-4 isn't essential, but it is handy for securing cable to baseboards, in attics and basements, and to the outside of a wood house. Cable staplers use special round-top staples that hold the cable securely without damaging the wires inside the cable. An ordinary staple gun with square staples won't work and will damage the wire.





**Figure 6-4:** These are a few of the tools you'll need for a neat, professional cable installation. They are (from top to bottom) a cable stapler, a wire cutter, an RJ-45 connector crimper, and a cable stripper. You'll also need a supply of RJ-45 connectors.

The RJ-45 crimping tool is used to attach RJ-45 connectors to Ethernet cable. Crimping tools are very simple to use and cost from \$35 to \$75, depending on the quality of the tool. If you've never used one of these before, I strongly suggest that you make a few test cables to get the hang of it. The exact operating instructions vary from one brand of crimping tool to another, but the basic steps are as follows:

- **1.** Cut the cable to the desired length.
- **2.** Use the cable stripper or a sharp knife to remove about 1" of the outer insulating jacket from the cable, being careful not to nick or cut the individual wires.
- **3.** Separate the individual wires into the correct order for the connector. From left to right (as seen from the top of the connector with the end of the cable facing away from you), the order is as follows:
  - 1. Orange/White
  - 2. Orange
  - 3. Green/White



- **4.** Blue
- 5. Blue/White
- **6.** Green
- 7. Brown/White
- 8. Brown
- **4.** Using the wire cutters, trim the wires so that they extend about 5/8" beyond the end of the plastic jacket.
- **5.** Place the connector over the wires, making sure that the wires remain in the proper order from left to right. Make sure that each wire is inserted all the way into the tip of the connector, and double-check the order of the wires.
- 6. Insert the connector into the crimping tool and squeeze the handle.

This process sounds much more complex than it actually is. After you've done it a few times, it takes about five minutes per connector. Of course, when your friends find out that you have a crimping tool and know how to use it, you'll get plenty of practice.

### Tip

If you ever have problems with your network, you may need to know which LAN cable is which. As you install each cable, number both ends of the cable so that you'll be able to tell the cables apart easily later. Make a list of the cables and their destinations, and keep the list near your Ethernet switch.

#### HOW THE PROS DO IT

If you want a professional-looking cable installation, consider using modular in-wall or surfacemount wall jacks. These products are widely available at computer stores, home improvement stores, and electrical supply outlets. One of the best features of these products is that a single wall plate can hold as many as six connections for a mix of cable types including Ethernet, telephone, cable TV, and even stereo speakers. Figure 6-5 shows a modular wall plate and modular surface-mount jack. These particular jacks are made by Leviton; several other manufacturers offer similar products.

The wall plate on the left side of Figure 6-5 is a great choice when you're able to run cables inside the wall. I'm a big fan of modular jacks, and I installed them in my own home a few years ago. The best thing about these jacks is their flexibility. If you have an existing telephone jack in the wall, you can pull an Ethernet cable into the same outlet box and use one of these dual jacks for both the telephone and the Ethernet cables. In addition to the wall jacks, you'll need to purchase a short Ethernet cable to go from the wall jack to each computer. If you can't run cables inside the wall, you can use surface-mount jacks such as the one on the right side of Figure 6-5.




**Figure 6-5:** A modular wall plate (left) fits into a standard outlet box and holds two jacks for Ethernet, telephone, TV, or speaker cables. The jacks (center) simply snap into the openings on the plate. The surface-mount jack (right) works the same way but can be mounted on any flat surface.

If you use modular jacks at the computer end of each cable, you can avoid buying (and learning to use) a crimping tool. Here's how:

- 1. Buy a premade cable and a jack for each computer on the LAN.
- 2. Run each cable from the switch location to a wall jack.
- **3.** Cut off the connector at the computer end of the cable, and attach the cable to the wall jack.
- 4. Use a short Ethernet cable to connect the wall jack to the computer.
- **5.** Plug the switch end of the cable into the Ethernet switch.

This approach will cost a little more money, but you'll have a professional, nicely finished installation.

The Leviton jacks are exceptionally easy to install, and you don't need any special skills or tools to install them. The rear side of each jack has a slot for each wire in the cable. Figure 6-6 shows the rear side of an Ethernet and telephone jack.





**Figure 6-6:** The color-coded, numbered wire slots on this in-wall jack make cable installation simple and nearly foolproof.

To connect a jack to the cable, strip back a few inches of the outer insulation from the cable, place each wire into the appropriate numbered, color-coded slot, and press the wire into place with the provided plastic tool. You don't even have to strip the individual wires; a small blade at the bottom of each wire slot cuts into the insulation as you press down on the wire.

#### A Switch in Every Room

So you've run an Ethernet cable to every conceivable place in your home, and a few months later you find that you need two or more connections in one particular room. As I mentioned earlier, you can always add a secondary switch to provide multiple Ethernet connections over a single home run cable.

3Com's NJ100 Network Jack is a clever product that lets you replace any in-wall Ethernet jack with a four-port 10/00 switch.

Continued







3Com's NJ100 packs a four-port switch and two telephone jacks into a single wall plate.

Photo used by permission of 3Com Corporation. 3Com and the 3Com logo are registered trademarks of 3Com Corporation.

The existing Ethernet cable plugs into the back of the NJ100. The front faceplate has four 10/100 Ethernet jacks, so you can connect up to four Ethernet devices to the NJ100. The two connectors on the left side of the NJ100 are optional and can be used for telephone, DSL, or other applications. The NJ100 comes in black (shown here) and white.

## **Installing Your Network Hardware**

The next major step in the LAN-building process is to install the Ethernet switch or a combination router/switch. You'll also need to install a network adapter in each computer that will connect to the LAN.

## Note

The instructions in the next section apply equally to Ethernet switches and combination router/switch units. I'll cover router configuration in detail in Chapter 9.



### **Installing an Ethernet Switch**

Ethernet switches are extremely simple to install. In most cases, you can simply plug in the cables coming from each computer, connect the power cord, and you're finished. 10/100 Ethernet switches automatically detect the speed of each port to suit the device connected to the port. This means you can connect a mix of 10 and 100 megabit per second (mbps) devices to the switch without making any adjustments.

If you numbered your Ethernet cables as you installed them, make sure you connect the cables to the correct numbered port.

#### **MOUNTING THE SWITCH**

Small Ethernet switches are designed to sit on a desk or tabletop. But the weight of the attached Ethernet cables is often enough to cause the switch to tip backward or even to slide off the desk. Most small switches come with brackets and screws so that you can mount the switch on a wall or other flat surface.

#### **MULTIPLE SWITCH NETWORKS**

Virtually all Ethernet switches allow you to expand your network using additional switches. To connect two switches together, you connect a port on the one switch to a special uplink port on the other switch. There are two types of uplink ports, as you can see in Figure 6-7.



**Figure 6-7:** Larger switches (left) have a switch-selectable uplink port; smaller switches (right) often have a separate uplink connectors.

Some switches, like the one on the left side of Figure 6-7, use one port (usually the highest-numbered port) as an uplink port. The push-button switch to the right of the connector tells the switch if a computer or another switch is connected to the port. Other switches, such as the one on the right side of Figure 6-7, have an extra connector marked Uplink (the rightmost port). You can use this connector to uplink another switch, but if you do, you cannot use the last port on the switch.



## Note

There are two types of Ethernet connections—*device ports* and *switch ports*. Device ports are the ports found on computers, print servers, and other network devices. Switch ports are the ports on an Ethernet switch. Device ports normally connect to switch ports. If you need to connect a device port to another device port or if you want to connect a switch port to another switch port, you normally need a special cable called a *crossover* cable.

The uplink ports on an Ethernet switch are actually wired as device ports, eliminating the need for a crossover cable. Remember that you must connect the uplink port on one switch to a normal port on the other switch. You cannot connect two uplink ports to one another.

### **Installing Network Adapters**

Each PC that will connect to your Ethernet network must have an Ethernet adapter. Most computers currently on the market include a built-in Ethernet adapter. If your computer doesn't have an Ethernet adapter, you'll need to purchase and install one. See Chapter 5 to help you select the best Ethernet adapter for your needs.

Because there are so many brands and types of Ethernet adapters, it is impossible for me to give detailed installation instructions for each one. The best advice I can offer is to read all of the printed material packaged with your adapter before you install or connect the adapter.

#### **CONFIGURING YOUR NETWORK ADAPTER (WINDOWS XP)**

Windows XP contains built-in support for many popular Ethernet adapters. If your adapter is supported by Windows, you won't need to install any drivers. Other adapter cards may require that you install a driver from a CD before you physically install the Ethernet card in your computer. If so, you'll need to run the provided driver installation program before you install the adapter. In most cases, you run an installation program from the floppy disk or CD-ROM provided with the adapter and follow the instructions on the screen.

After the installation process is complete, you should see a new device in the Network Connections control panel. To see this device, open the Windows control panel and double-click Network Connections. You will see a screen like the one in Figure 6-8.

The Network Connections control panel display shows all the ways your computer can connect to a network. Active connections (such as the 1394 and Local Area Connections in the example) appear in blue; inactive connections display in gray. If a connection is active but disconnected (as your PC should be at this point), a red X appears on the right side of the connection icon.

To test your Ethernet adapter installation, follow these steps:

- 1. Install the adapter and drivers according to the manufacturer's instructions.
- 2. Turn on the power to the Ethernet switch or router.
- 3. Make sure that all the cables are connected to the switch or router.
- 4. Connect the Ethernet cable to the PC. The red X should disappear.







If the red X is still present after you connect the cable, you may have a wiring problem. Doublecheck the wiring of the cable and jacks to make sure that the wires are connected in the correct order. If possible, connect the problem PC to a different Ethernet cable to isolate the problem. If your LAN adapter has indicator lights, check the link and activity lights to see if they are lit. If the link light is out, you most likely have a cabling problem. If the link light is on but the activity light doesn't blink, you may have a software or driver problem.

#### **CONFIGURING YOUR NETWORK ADAPTER (MAC OS X)**

All current-model Mac computers (and the majority of Macs built in the past five years) have a builtin Ethernet adapter. In most cases, you can simply connect an Ethernet cable from your Mac to the LAN, and the Mac's automatic Ethernet configuration will take care of the details for you.

You can check (and, if necessary, change) your Mac's Ethernet network settings using the Network settings dialog in the System Preferences. Figure 6-9 shows the main Network dialog box. As you can see in Figure 6-9, if your Ethernet connection is active and connected to a LAN with automatic addressing (as will be the case if you are using a router or firewall on your LAN), the configuration is totally automatic.



000		Network	
Show All	Displays Sound	Network Startup Disk	
	Loc	ation: Automatic 🔹	
Θ	Built-in Ethernet	Built-in Ethernet is currently active and has the IP address 192.168.0.106. You are connected to the Internet via Built-in Ethernet.	
Θ	AirPort	AirPort is connected to the network 9595.	
		Configure Connect	?
af a	ick the lock to pre	vent further changes. Assist me Appl	y Now

**Figure 6-9:** The Network dialog box shows the status of your Mac's network connections at a glance. In this example, both the Ethernet and AirPort wireless connections are active.

#### Note

If both the Ethernet and AirPort connections are active, the Mac will use the Ethernet connection instead of the AirPort. If you unplug the Ethernet cable, the Mac will automatically switch to the AirPort connection. This is a handy feature if you use your Mac laptop in multiple locations, such as a wired connection in your office and a wireless connection in your home.

If your LAN doesn't provide automatic IP addressing or if you want to manually override the automatic settings provided by your router, you can easily do so by clicking on the configure button in the Network dialog box. Figure 6-10 shows the Network preferences settings for the Ethernet connection.

To change the IP settings for your Ethernet connection, click the Configure IPv4 pull-down menu and select Manually; then fill in the IP address, subnet mask, and router address (also called the gateway address) for this computer. Remember that if you choose to use manual addressing, each computer on the LAN must have a unique IP address.



000	Network	$\Box$
Show All Displays Sou	Network Startup Disk	
L	Show: Built-in Ethernet	
TCP/	IP PPPoE AppleTalk Proxies Ethernet	
Configure IPv4:	Using DHCP 🛟	
IP Address:	192.168.0.106 Renew DHC	P Lease
Subnet Mask: Router:	255.255.255.0 DHCP Client ID: Mini-Me 192.168.0.1 ((f required)	
DNS Servers:		(Optional)
Search Domains:		(Optional)
IPv6 Address:	fe80:0000:0000:0000:020d:93ff:fe4e:32fe	
	Configure IPv6	?
Click the lock to p	event further changes. Assist me	Apply Now

**Figure 6-10:** The Network dialog allows you to change the settings for your Mac's Ethernet connection. In this example, the Ethernet connection is set for automatic configuration, and you can see the IP address automatically assigned by the router.

## Summary

Here are several parting thoughts to keep in mind when planning your home network:

- The shortest cable route isn't always the best.
- Vou don't need a lot of special tools to install a LAN, but a crimper can be a big help.
- Be careful when working around wiring.
- You may need to use two or more switches on your LAN.

After you've completed all the tasks in this chapter, you're only a few steps away from having a functioning home network. The remaining steps are common to both wired and wireless LANs, and I'll cover them in Chapter 8. If you're not installing any wireless equipment, you can skip Chapter 7 and move on to Chapter 8 to finish setting up your network.

### **Chapter 7**

# Installing a Wireless LAN



Before you begin to install your wireless network, you should have a good understanding of the capabilities and limitations of your wireless network hardware. In this chapter, I'll guide you through the process of installing and configuring your wireless network.

In this chapter, you'll see how to:

- Determine the best location for your wireless access point
- Install and configure wireless adapters in desktop and notebook computers
- Secure your wireless LAN against intruders

### Before You Install ...

You've read the book up to this point, you've gone out and bought everything you need, and you're ready to get started. For most people—I included—your first inclination is to put the wireless access point or router where it is most convenient, hook it up, and leave it at that.

You can certainly do this, and your network may even work as well as you had hoped. But sometimes the most convenient location for your access point isn't the best location. Walls, wiring, and seemingly innocent nearby objects (including fish tanks, cordless phone base stations, and filing cabinets) can interfere with the signal path between the AP and your wireless laptops. Wireless networks use radio waves to communicate, and those radio waves are subject to the laws of physics. If there is a large metal (or water-filled) object between your AP and your favorite Web-surfing couch, the radio signal simply can't get through. If this happens, you will experience slow, intermittent, or no connection between the laptop and the AP. Unless you absolutely must install your AP in a given location, it is well worth the time and effort to determine the best location for your AP.

To do this, you need to perform what network professionals call a *site survey*. The survey will help you identify possible problem spots in your wireless coverage area so that you can place your AP in the best-possible location. The *Surveying Your Wireless LAN* section later in this chapter provides detailed instructions for conducting the survey.



After you've determined the best place to put your AP, you'll need to decide how to connect the AP to the rest of your equipment. If you are adding a standalone AP to an existing Ethernet LAN, you'll need to run an Ethernet cable from the AP to your existing network switch. If you're installing a combination router/firewall/AP device that will connect to a cable or DSL modem, you can either run an Ethernet cable from the modem to the router, or you can move the modem so that it is close to the router.

#### Tip

DSL modems are easy to move because they can usually plug into any telephone jack in your home. Cable modems aren't so easy to move. You might think that you could just plug your cable modem into any cable TV outlet in your home, and in some cases, you can. But your modem may or may not work if you move it.

Before you uproot your entire computing universe, check to make sure that your cable modem will still function if you move it to a new location. If not, you may need to get the cable company to come out and move the modem for you. Your cable company may charge extra for this service.

Because you'll need to install at least one wireless client adapter to perform your site survey, I'll cover that topic first. In the following sections of this chapter, I'll guide you through installing and configuring the rest of your wireless network.

### **Installing Wireless Adapters**

Each wireless computer on your wireless network must have a wireless adapter installed. As you learned in Chapter 4, wireless adapters are available in a variety of form factors, including PCI cards for desktop PCs, CardBus and PC Cards for laptop PCs, and USB adapters for both desktops and laptops.

Mac users can skip this section because virtually all Macs use the same wireless card—Apple's own AirPort Extreme card.

There are hundreds of wireless adapters on the market today, so it simply isn't possible to give you detailed installation instructions for each one. But having installed dozens of wireless adapters myself, I can give you some helpful hints and tips that may save you some aggravation or a call to the vendor's tech support hotline. The number one tip I can give you for all of these adapters is to READ THE INSTRUCTIONS packed with your card!

### Note

Many wireless adapters come with driver software that must be installed before you install the hardware. If you install the adapter first, the computer will not have the proper drivers installed. The adapter won't work, and you won't be happy.



In the following sections, I'll describe the basic installation steps required for each type of adapter (PCI, USB, and CardBus). You'll also need to configure the software for your wireless adapter; these steps are the same for all wireless adapters.

### **PCI Wireless Adapters**

PCI wireless adapters used in desktop computers can be difficult to install. You'll need to open your PC's case, identify an available PCI card slot, install the card, and put the case back together. This type of PC surgery is second nature to those of us who work with PCs every day, but if you're squeamish about opening up your computer, you may want to opt for professional installation.

## Тір

Some PCs are exceptionally easy to work on; others are a nightmare. The easy ones have a door on one side of the case that slides off to reveal the PCI card slots. Others, like one of my own PCs, must be partially disassembled in order to install a PCI card.

Most computer stores and computer service departments will install your PCI adapter for a nominal fee, but you'll need to disconnect your computer and haul it in to the shop.

To install a wireless PCI card in your computer, follow these steps:

- 1. Read the instructions packed with your card. Most cards require that you install driver software from a CD packed with the card. Some cards require that you install the software before you install the card; others require that the CD be in the drive after you install the card.
- 2. Install the software if necessary and then shut down your computer.
- **3.** Disconnect the AC power cord from your computer. If you need to move the computer to remove the case, you may have to disconnect the remaining cables.
- **4.** Remove the case or access door from your computer. Figure 7-1 shows a typical desktop PC with the access door removed.
- 5. Locate an empty PCI card slot. Figure 7-2 shows two empty PCI card slots.
- 6. Remove the blank cover from the rear of the PCI slot.

### Tip

When you are installing a PCI card, be very careful not to drop the retaining screw inside the computer. If you do (and it's easy enough to do), make sure you retrieve the screw before you turn the computer back on. If the screw lands in the wrong spot, it can do severe and permanent damage to your PC.





Figure 7-1: A typical desktop PC with the access door removed.

- **7.** Insert the card into the empty slot. Make sure the card is fully seated in the slot. You may have to push down firmly on the card, but you shouldn't have to force it.
- **8.** Replace the screw you removed in Step 4.





Figure 7-2: This computer has two empty PCI slots, seen in the center of the picture.

- **9.** Close the case and reconnect the cables.
- **10.** Orient the antenna so that is vertical. See Figure 7-3.
- **11.** Install the driver software (if necessary), and configure the wireless adapter to operate with your wireless network. I'll cover this step in detail in the *Configuring Your Wireless Adapter* section.

#### Tip

It is important to keep the antenna clear of adjacent cables as much as possible. You can turn the antenna up or down as necessary; it works just as well in either direction. You may find it convenient to move one or more of your computer's existing PCI cards to make room for the antenna. If you do, Windows will reinstall any drivers for the cards you move. If you see a number of Windows Plug and Play screens when you restart your computer, don't panic—just follow the prompts and wait for the drivers to reinstall.





Figure 7-3: The antenna should be vertical to the floor.

### CardBus, PC Card, and USB Wireless Adapters

CardBus and PC Card adapters are the simplest of all cards to install; you simply plug the card into a vacant slot on your laptop and follow the prompts on the screen.

USB wireless adapters are a good alternative to PCI cards for desktop PCs because they are so simple to install. Some USB adapters include a long cable, so you can position the adapter (and its antenna) away from that jumble of wires behind your PC. Many USB wireless adapters come with a small piece of double-stick tape or Velcro, so you can attach the adapter to the back of your desk. Other USB adapters have no cable at all and are designed to plug directly into the USB port on a laptop computer.



To install a wireless adapter in your computer, follow these steps:

- 1. Read the instructions packed with your adapter. Most wireless adapters require that you install driver software from a CD packed with the card before you install the adapter; others install the software after you install the adapter. You may need to reboot the system after you install the driver.
- **2.** For PC Card and CardBus adapters, plug the card into an unused card slot on your laptop. For USB adapters, plug the adapter into an unused USB port on your computer or USB hub. Windows will recognize the adapter and install the proper driver as shown in the next section, *Configuring Your Wireless Adapter*.

## Tip

Many USB devices such as printers and mouse devices don't require any driver software because the necessary drivers are built into Windows XP. Many computer users think that *all* USB devices will install with no additional drivers, but this is not true.

Because wireless USB adapters appeared on the market after the initial Windows XP release, you may need to install the drivers before you connect the wireless adapter to your computer.

### **Configuring Your Wireless Adapter**

Even if your computer came from the factory with a wireless adapter already installed, you may need to configure your computer's wireless adapter before you can connect to your wireless LAN. I know that many computer users flinch when they hear the word "configuration," but the process is usually very simple and takes only a minute or two.

#### WINDOWS XP CONFIGURATION

Windows XP contains built-in driver support for many wireless adapters. This feature, called *Wireless Zero Configuration*, or WZC, makes it possible to install many wireless adapters simply by plugging the adapter into the computer. When Windows recognizes a WZC-compatible adapter, it automatically installs the drivers and attempts to obtain a wireless network connection with no intervention from the user.

#### Tip

The network equipment marketplace is very competitive, so many wireless-equipment and notebook computer makers include additional software to give their product a competitive advantage over other products. This software typically replaces the wireless configuration software that is built into Windows XP, but it works in much the same way.



Before you install your wireless adapter, check the instructions to see if you need to install the additional software before you connect or install the network adapter. Some products, such as the one shown in the example that follows, may require that you insert the installation CD after you install the card into the laptop.

For this example, I'll install a wireless adapter card that requires the CD to complete the installation. The basic steps to install this card are as follows:

- **1.** Power up your computer. If you are using a USB, PC Card, or CardBus adapter, connect the adapter to your computer.
- **2.** The Found New Hardware Wizard appears, as shown in Figure 7-4. Notice the instruction to insert an installation CD if one is included.



**Figure 7-4:** The Windows Found New Hardware Wizard appears when you first insert a new adapter card.

- **3.** Unless your installation instructions specify otherwise, select Install the Software Automatically, and click the Next button. Windows searches for the appropriate driver for your wireless adapter. If the proper drivers are already installed on your computer, Windows will automatically use those drivers. If not, Windows will prompt you for the location of the driver software.
- **4.** In most cases, Windows will locate the correct driver to use with no further intervention from you. If Windows finds more than one possible driver, you may be prompted to choose the proper driver, as shown in Figure 7-5. Examine the drivers closely, using the horizontal scroll bar to see all the details if necessary. Choose the appropriate driver from the list and click Next.



ound New Hardware Wizard Please select the best match for your hardware from the list below.										
Wireless-B Notebook Adap	pter									
Description	Version	Manufacturer	Location							
🖙 Wireless-B Notebook Adapter	5.135.410	Linksys Group Inc.	d:\lsrtnds.inf							
Wireless-B Notebook Adapter	5.135.410	Linksys Group Inc.	d:\winxp\lsrtr							
<	Ш		>							
This driver is digitally signed. Tell me why driver signing is imp	portant									
	<	Back Next >	Cancel							

Figure 7-5: In this example, Windows found two possible drivers and needs to know which one to use.

**5.** Windows installs the driver software. This normally takes only a few seconds. When the drivers are installed, you'll see the final screen from the Found New Hardware Wizard, as shown in Figure 7-6.



Figure 7-6: The adapter installation is complete.



At this point, your wireless adapter is installed and should be functioning correctly. Of course, you won't know if it is actually working until you install your wireless access point—the next step in the installation process. If you need to install more than one wireless adapter, you may want to install the AP next and make sure everything is working, and then go back and install the rest of the wireless adapters.

#### **MAC OS X CONFIGURATION**

Apple was one of the first computer makers to embrace wireless technology, so Apple has had plenty of time to work the kinks out of wireless technology. OS X makes wireless network configuration as simple as possible. In most cases, you can simply select the AirPort connection in the network control panel and click the Connect button. You'll see the AirPort status display shown in Figure 7-7.

000			AirPort		0
Summary	AirPort	VPN			
	AirPort Po	ower: On		Turn AirPort Off	
	Net	work: 9595	;	\$	
	Signal L	evel: 🚺 🚺		$0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \$	
	Base Statio	n ID: 00:12:	17:FA:F3:C	D	
		🗹 Sho	ow AirPort s	tatus in menu bar	
Status:	Connected t	o "9595"			

If you've never used the AirPort connection before, you'll need to click the button marked Turn AirPort On to enable the wireless connection. Once you turn the AirPort on, the bar graph in the middle of the window will indicate the relative strength of the wireless connection to your access point. If you like, you can check the box marked Show AirPort status in menu bar. The AirPort status indicator will appear in the status bar at the top of the screen. This is a handy feature for laptop users who frequently need to check or reconfigure their wireless connection in different locations.

## **Installing Your Access Point**

Now that you've installed at least one wireless client adapter, it's time to install and configure your access point or wireless router. There are four basic steps in this section, and you may be able to skip one of them:

- **1.** Survey your wireless LAN to make sure you have good wireless communication between the AP and the clients.
- 2. Connect your AP or wireless router to the rest of the LAN.



- 3. Configure your AP and wireless clients.
- 4. Secure your wireless LAN.

### **Surveying Your Wireless LAN**

Many people think they don't need to do a survey, because their wireless AP is rated for several hundred feet indoors. But you're unlikely to get that "several hundred feet" range in your own home unless you live in a big, open space—such as an airplane hangar.

Here in the real world, the actual maximum range of a typical AP in a typical home is about 100 feet—or even less. There are all sorts of things that can conspire to reduce the range of your AP, including wiring and metal studs inside interior walls, refrigerators, filing cabinets, and other large metal objects, fish tanks, microwave ovens, 2.4 GHz cordless telephones, and even your neighbor's wireless LAN!

If you plan to use your portable computer in very close proximity to your wireless AP, you can probably skip the survey and simply install the AP in the most convenient location. As a general rule, if you can see the AP, you can connect to the AP. For more suggestions on positioning your AP, see the "Where to Put the AP" sidebar later in this section.

To perform your site survey, you'll need a laptop with a wireless network adapter, and a wireless AP or combination AP/router. Don't have a laptop? If you plan to link several desktop PCs with a wireless network, you still may want to do a site survey first. Instead of moving your desktop PC from room to room, you can simply move the AP to several locations and check the wireless signal quality on each of your wireless desktop PCs. Of course, you'll need to install the wireless adapters in the desktop PCs before you perform the survey.

#### Note

This example uses a Windows PC. Mac users should perform steps 1 and 2, then open the airport status screen shown in Figure 7-7, and follow the instructions beginning at step 7 below.

To perform the survey, follow these steps:

- 1. Decide where you would prefer to place the AP and then put the AP in that location.
- **2.** Plug the AP into a power source so that you can establish a connection to the AP to make sure that your wireless adapter is working correctly. The AP does not need to be connected to your network or broadband modem for this test.
- **3.** Within view of the AP, turn on your wireless client PC. After the system starts up, you should see a message on the lower right-hand corner of the screen, as shown in Figure 7-8. If you don't see this message, your machine is not within range of the AP.





**Figure 7-8:** This message appears when your computer discovers a new wireless network.

**4.** Click the notification balloon. If the balloon has disappeared, right-click the network icon (it looks like two computer screens, one in front of the other), and select View Available Wireless Networks. You will see the wireless network connection dialog box, shown in Figure 7-9.



**Figure 7-9:** This dialog box makes sure that you understand that you are about to connect your computer to an unsecured network.

**5.** You should see the name of your wireless network on the screen, under the list of available wireless networks. Select your wireless network, check the box marked Allow Me to Connec, and click the Connect button.

#### Note

If one of your neighbors has a wireless network, you may see more than one network in the list of wireless networks.



- **6.** Right-click on the network icon on the taskbar, and select Status from the pop-up menu. You'll see a display like the one shown in Figure 7-10.
- **7.** Move your computer around the house while monitoring the speed and signal strength indicators on the wireless connection status screen. Be sure to test the signal strength and connection speed at the locations where you are most likely to use your computer. Keep in mind that the signal strength indicator isn't as important as the link speed.
- **8.** If you have one or more desktop computers on your wireless network, check the signal strength and connection speed on each desktop.
- **9.** If you are satisfied with the coverage area, signal strength, and link speed, you're finished with the survey, and you can move on to the next section. If not, move the AP to another location and repeat the survey.

♥ Wireless Network Conn	ection 8 Status 🔹 🛙 🛛
General Support	
Connection	
Status:	Connected
Duration:	00:02:17
Speed:	11.0 Mbps
Signal Strength:	T.111
Activity Sent -	- 🔁 - Received
Packets:	746 7
Properties Disable	

**Figure 7-10:** The wireless network connection status display shows the speed and signal strength of your wireless connection.

### **Connecting and Configuring the Access Point**

After you've determined the best location for your AP, you're ready to connect the AP to the rest of your network. If you are adding a wireless AP to an existing Ethernet network, you'll need to connect an Ethernet cable from the AP to an unused port on your Ethernet switch. If you are installing a combination AP/router, you'll also need to connect an Ethernet cable from your cable or DSL modem to the router.



#### Where to Put the AP

If you encounter problems finding a spot for your AP, some of the tips here may help.

- Many access points can be mounted on a wall. While an AP isn't the most attractive thing you can hang on your wall, you may find that you'll get better coverage from your AP by mounting it up high, clear of your furniture and other obstructions.
- If you don't want to wall-mount your AP, you can also place it on a high shelf, or on top of a tall piece of furniture.
- The best place to put your wireless router is as close as possible to the center of the area that you want to cover.
- The weakest signal area is located directly above and below the AP. Keep this in mind if you live in a multistory home.
- Keep your AP's antenna(s) vertical if possible.
- Don't put your AP near large metal objects like metal filing cabinets and desks.
- Try to keep your AP as far as possible from microwave ovens and 2.4 GHz telephone base units. These products operate intermittently but can cause severe interference when they are in use.
- Avoid large, water-filled objects like fish tanks and water heaters.
- Keep the AP away from exterior walls. If you want your wireless LAN to cover part of the outside area of your home, place the AP close to a window.

#### Note

The examples in this section show how to configure a standalone access point. If you are installing a combination AP/router device, the procedure will be similar to the example shown here but will include one or two additional steps. I'll cover those additional steps in Chapter 9, so you may want to read both chapters before you install your wireless AP/router.

Virtually all wireless access points feature a browser-based configuration wizard. To configure the router, you start your Web browser, enter the IP address of the access point, and answer a few questions. The D-Link AP in the following example uses this approach.

Some access points come with a configuration program on a CD-ROM. To configure these products, you install the configuration program, which walks you through the steps required to configure your AP.



In either case, the steps required are very similar. The following example shows the steps required to configure a D-Link access point using the Web browser interface.

Before you can configure the AP, you must establish a connection from your PC's Web browser to the AP's browser interface. In most cases, the AP will come with specific instructions to help you determine the IP address of the AP. Many manufacturers include a small "locator" program that locates new AP devices and allows you to set the IP address for the AP. After you've determined the IP address of the access point, you'll need to start your browser and enter the IP address of the AP in the address bar, as shown in Figure 7-11.

As you can see in Figure 7-11, the browser interface has a button marked Run Wizard that starts the setup wizard. The wizard walks you through the configuration. Figure 7-12 shows the first step in the Setup Wizard.

The first step is to set a password for your AP, as shown in Figure 7-13. I strongly recommend that you change the password from the factory's default setting. If you leave the AP set with the default password, it is very easy for someone to break into your wireless network and change your network settings. Use a password with a mix of alphabetic and numeric characters.



Figure 7-11: This D-Link AP uses a browser-based interface.





**Figure 7-12:** The first screen in the D-Link Setup Wizard tells you what you'll do in the following steps.

🖉 DWL-900AP+ - Microso	ft Internet Explorer	- BX
D-Link DW	L-900AP+ Setup Wiz	ard
	Set Password	
You may change the adu password. Click <b>Next</b> to	nin account password by entering continue.	; in a new
Password	•••••	
Verify Password	•••••	
		000
		300
	B	ack Next Exit

**Figure 7-13:** Change the password to something other than the default setting.

The next step is to set a name (called a service set identified or SSID) and a channel number for your AP, as shown in Figure 7-14. The SSID name can be anything you like. For security reasons, I suggest that you not use your family name or house address as part of the SSID.

You can set your AP to one of 11 channels. Virtually all APs come from the factory set to operate on channel 6. If you experience interference from a nearby AP at a neighbor's home, set your AP to channel 1 or channel 11. If you are planning to install a second AP in your home, set one AP for channel 1 or 6 and the other for 6 or 11. Do not set both APs to the use the same channel.



🖉 DWL-900AP+ - Microsoft	Internet Explorer 📃 🗆 🖾
D-Link DWL	-900AP+ Setup Wizard
Set Wirel	ess LAN Connection
Enter in the SSID name and Wireless Access Point. Cli	d Channel number to be used for the ck <b>Next</b> to continue.
SSID	example
Channel	δ 💌
	000
	GOU
	Back Next Exit

**Figure 7-14:** This screen lets you select an SSID name and a channel number for your AP.

Next, you can enable your AP's encryption security feature. For the time being, I recommend that you leave encryption turned off until you have installed and configured all of the wireless PCs on your network. I'll cover encryption at the end of this chapter. Figure 7-15 shows the encryption settings screen for the D-Link router.

🖉 DWL-900AP+ - Mi	crosoft Internet Explorer	
<b>D</b> -Link	DWL-900AP+ Setup Wizard	
lf you wish to use Key Values.Click	encryption,enable it here and enter the encryp Next to continue.	tion
Wep	○ Enabled ⊙ Disabled	
Wep encryption	64Bit 💌	
Key	000000000	
	Input 10 HEX characters(HEX is 0~9, A~F or a~f)	
	G Back Ne	> 1) ext Exit

**Figure 7-15:** This screen lets you enable the data encryption feature on your AP.



The final step (shown in Figure 7-16) is to accept the settings you have just changed and apply them to the AP. In most cases, the AP will need to reset itself, and you will momentarily lose the connection between the AP and your wireless PC. If you changed the SSID setting, you will need to reconfigure your wireless PCs to use the new SSID setting. If this happens, you will see the "One or more wireless networks are available" message that you saw in Figure 7-8. Click on the message, select the new network name from the list, and click Connect.

🖉 DWL-900AP+ - Microsoft Internet Explorer 📃 🖬	×
D-Link DWL-900AP+ Setup Wizard	-
Setup Completed	
The setup wizard has completed.Click <b>Back</b> to modify previous settings.Click <b>Restart</b> to save the current settings and reboot the DWL- 900AP+	
G 3 1 Back Restart Exit	) t

**Figure 7-16:** After this step, the AP resets using the new settings you just entered.

If everything went according to plan, your AP is now configured and operating properly, and you have at least one wireless PC installed and configured to operate with the wireless network. The next step from here depends on your network configuration:

- If you have more wireless clients to install, this is a good time to install and configure each of them.
- If you are installing a separate router or a combination AP/router, go on to Chapters 8 and 9, and then come back here and enable the encryption feature on your wireless LAN.

### **Securing Your Wireless LAN**

Wireless networks are very convenient, but they pose a problem for security-conscious users.

Because wireless signals can penetrate through walls and floors, it is possible for anyone with a wireless laptop to connect to your network. After connected, they can poke around in your shared files, introduce virus or Trojan horse programs onto your network, or send malicious e-mails or spam.



Shortly after the introduction of 802.11b wireless networks, the equipment manufacturers realized that they had a major security problem on their hands. The industry responded by introducing two different types of data encryption for wireless networks—Wired Equivalent Privacy and WiFi Protected Access.

The Wired Equivalent Privacy (WEP) encrypts data using a shared password called an *encryption key*. The AP and each client PC must be configured to use the same key. Although WEP uses relatively strong 128-bit data encryption, researchers (and crackers) have found a way to crack the WEP encryption. As a result, the WiFi organization introduced a newer, stronger form of encryption called WiFi Protected Access, or WPA—which is in turn based on the IEEE 802.1X authentication protocol.

#### WPA ENCRYPTION

WPA is similar to WEP, but WPA combines encryption with user authentication. Instead of using a shared encryption key, WPA first requires users to identify themselves with a password, called a shared key. If the user passes the authentication test, the AP sends the user a unique key that is valid for a limited period of time, usually 15 minutes or less. The data connection between the user's PC and the AP is encrypted using the temporary key. When the key expires, the AP and the PC agree on a new key, and the data exchange is encrypted using the new key.

#### Tip

The only downside to WPA is that many older APs, routers, and PCs don't support it. If you have a mix of old and new devices on your wireless LAN, you may need to use WEP encryption instead.

Before you can begin using WPA, you'll need to configure your AP and your client PCs. This step should be done from a wired PC if possible. After you set the AP for WPA encryption, your wireless clients won't be able to connect to the LAN (or to the router's management screen) until you enter the WPA password on your wireless clients.

To configure WPA, connect to your AP's management screen, and locate the WPA settings. Figure 7-17 shows the WPA settings screen for a Linksys router.

If your router or AP offers more than one type of security mode, choose the one marked "Pre-Shared Key," often abbreviated as "PSK." The shared key itself can be any combination of letters, numbers, and punctuation marks. As with any password, avoid using obvious or common words. The best password is easy for you to remember but difficult for someone else to guess. I've found it helpful to use two disconnected words separated by a hyphen or period. In most cases, you should leave the key update interval set for 15 minutes (shown as 900 seconds on many routers.)



000		Wireless		0
🔄 🕁 😥 🔂 🔄 🔶	http://192.168.0.1/pos	tapply.cgi	• © (G-	*
LINKSYS <sup>®</sup> A Division of Cisco Systems, Inc.			R	mware Version: 1.00.13
				WRT54GX
Wireless	Setup Wireless	Security Access Restrictio	Applications Administration & & Gaming	Status
	Basic Wireless Settings	Wireless Security   Wireless	Network Access   Advanced Wireles	a Settings
Wireless Security	Security Mode: Pre-shared Key Algorithms: Pro-shared Key Shared Key Group Key Renewat	Pre-Shared Key  TKIP  Yourkeygoeshere! 900 seconds Save Settings Ca	Geourity Mo from Testable Kay, or Solit A devices of use the same order to com More	der Vou may choose WEP, Pre-Shuned Jinner Koy RADUS; n your nebroik must a security mode in municate.
Done				1

Figure 7-17: The Wireless Security screen for a Linksys router.

After you've configured your AP or router to use WPA, you'll need to enter the WPA shared key on each of your wireless computers. When your wireless PC or Mac attempts to connect the wireless LAN, you'll be prompted to enter the shared key, as shown in Figure 7-18. (Mac users will see a similar screen.)

Wireless Network Con	nection X								
The network '9595' requires key helps prevent unknown	s a network key (also called a WEP key or WPA key). A network n intruders from connecting to this network.								
Type the key, and then dick Connect.									
Network <u>k</u> ey:	•••••								
Confirm network key:	•••••								
	Connect Cancel								

**Figure 7-18:** Windows XP requires you to enter your WPA key twice to make sure you typed it correctly.

You'll need to repeat this step for each wireless computer on your LAN.



#### WEP ENCRYPTION

While WEP isn't as secure as WPA, it is still reasonably secure and is much better than no protection at all. Virtually all APs provide WEP encryption, and WEP is very easy to configure. In the following example, I show you how to configure WEP on a typical AP and on a Windows XP client PC.

Keep in mind that once you have enabled WEP on your AP, you will need to configure each client PC on your wireless LAN to use the same WEP encryption key.

To begin, connect to your AP's management screen, and locate the WEP settings screen. In the example shown in Figure 7-19, the WEP information is located on the same screen as the SSID and channel settings. It is not necessary to change the SSID or channel to enable WEP.

To enable WEP, select the Enabled radio button. If your router or AP offers multiple levels of encryption, choose the one with the strongest encryption. In this example, the AP supports 40-, 64-, and 128-bit encryption, and I have selected 128 bit.

Most APs allow you to enter the WEP key as a string of hexadecimal numbers or as a string of readable (ASCII) text. Unless you have a thing for hex numbers, choose the ASCII setting, and enter a string of text to use as the encryption key. Although I've used a readable phrase (mumbo-jumbo) in the example, you should use a random string of numbers and letters for your key. Whatever key you choose, be sure to write it down in a safe place; you'll need to enter the key into each of your client PCs.

街 DW	L-2000	AP - Mi	crosoft Inter	rnet Exp	lorer									- 🗆 🛛
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>V</u> iew	F <u>a</u> vorites	Tools	<u>H</u> elp	Address 🍇	) http:/	/192.168.0.50/h	_wireless.cgi				⊻ ⊇ ∞	11
			D-L	in	<b>(</b> *				Ain	Dlue				100
		, in the second s	Building Netw	orks for P	eople			-	<b>~</b> "X	TREM	IEG"			
							- I	High-Spe	ed 2.4GH	z Wireles	s Access Po	oint		
			DWL-20	DOOAP		Home	Ar	lyanced	Tools	Status	Holo			
			0			Wireless Settin		avunceu	10015	Julus	e neip			
			_	-		AP N	lame :	DWL-2000AF	,					
			Wiza	rd		:	SSID :	example						
				_		Cha	annel :	6 🖌						
			Wirel	ess		1	NEP :	Enabled	🔘 Disabled					
				-		WEP Encry	ption :	128Bit 🛩						
			LAN	۹		WEPN	vlode :							
			DUG	-1		1	Key1 :	mumbo-j	logum					
			DHC	٣		ł	Key2 :	•						
						I	Key3 :	0						
						I	Көү4 :	0						
											03	0		
											Apply Cancel	Help		
							_					_		
		_												~
🖉 Done													Internet	

Figure 7-19: The WEP settings screen for a D-Link router.



## Тір

Some APs—like the D-Link unit in the example—allow you to enter more than one key. You can switch among the four keys at any time by returning to the WEP settings screen and choosing a different key. The Windows XP client remembers four keys for each AP and will automatically locate the correct key when the key is changed.

After you've enabled WEP on the access point, you need to configure the WEP key on each of your wireless client PCs. The first time you attempt to connect to the wireless LAN after you enable WEP, you'll see a screen like the one in Figure 7-20. Carefully enter the key in each of the two boxes, and click the Connect button. If you change the key on the AP, you will need to re-enter the key on each of the client PCs.

Wireless Network (	Connection 10	?×	
The following wireless n wireless network, select Available wireless <u>n</u> etwo	following wireless network(s) are available. To access a less network, select it from the list, and then click Connect. ilable wireless <u>n</u> etworks:		
i example			
This wireless network requires the use of a network key (WEP). access this network, type the key, then click Connect.			
Network <u>k</u> ey:	•••••		
C <u>o</u> nfirm network key:	•••••		
Enable IEEE 802.1x authentication for this network If you are having difficulty connecting to a network, click Advanced.			
			Advanced

**Figure 7-20:** You can't connect to a WEP-enabled network without the correct key.

## Summary

Your wireless network is now complete. Now you can surf the Internet from anywhere in the house. (Just remember what I said back in Chapter 4 about surfing by the pool.) To sum up, here are the key things you should take away from this chapter:

- A wireless network survey can help you get the most out of your wireless network.
- The best place to put your wireless AP isn't always the most convenient.
- WEP or WPA security is essential for keeping intruders out of your wireless LAN.

At this point, you've installed all of the hardware necessary to create a LAN. In Chapter 8, I'll show you how to configure your computers for operation on a network. Fortunately, Windows XP and Mac OS X practically configure themselves, so your network is almost complete!

### **Chapter 8**

# **Configuring Your Network**



fter you've purchased and installed your networking hardware, you are just one important step away from having a working LAN: You must install and configure the networking software for each computer on your LAN.

This step isn't as complicated as you might think. Windows XP and Mac OS X come with all the software you need to share files, printers, and an Internet connection on the LAN, and most of that software is already installed on your computers. In this chapter, I show you how to configure the software to make your LAN spring to life. You'll learn about:

- How Windows networking works
- How Mac OS X Networking Works
- Running the Windows XP Network Setup Wizard
- How Windows IP addressing works

### **How Windows Networking Works**

Before you can configure your PCs or laptops for networking, you need to understand the role of each machine on your LAN. As you learned in Chapter 3, Windows XP includes built-in peer-to-peer networking features. Any computer on the LAN can share files, printers, and an Internet connection with any other computer. Computers that provide resources for others to use are called *servers*, and computers that utilize those resources are called *clients*.

On a peer-to-peer network, any computer can be a client, and any computer can be a server. It is even is possible for a computer to be both a client and a server at the same time. Figure 8-1 shows several computers sharing resources on a LAN.





**Figure 8-1:** In this example, computer A is sharing an Internet connection, computer B is sharing files, and computer C has a shared printer.

In the example shown in Figure 8-1, the computer at the top left of the diagram has an Internet connection, the computer at the top right has a shared file folder, and the computer at the bottom has a shared printer. Each of the computers in this network is operating as a server, and each is also operating as a client to the other two computers on the network. For example, computer C is acting as a printer server for computer A, and computer A is acting as an Internet connection server for computer C.

All of this sharing looks very complicated, but it really isn't. The client and server features are built into Windows XP, so you don't have to install any additional software to use these features. But before you can use your home network, you'll need to decide which computer (if any) will be the



Internet Connection Sharing (ICS) server, and you'll need to spend a few minutes configuring each PC. You'll also need to create a user ID and password for each user on your network.

Finally, you'll need to configure all your computers with the same *workgroup name*. Windows uses this name to organize large numbers of computers into smaller, more manageable groups. Most home networks don't have enough computers to warrant separating them into several groups, but all of the computers on your network should have the same workgroup name.

## **Configuring Your Network**

For your computers to communicate with one another over the network, each computer must be configured for network operation. Table 8-1 shows a checklist of network configuration tasks.

lable 8-1 Network Configuration lasks	
Task	Purpose
Configure network adapter with unique IP address	Essential for any IP network
Install second network adapter for shared connection (ICS server PC only)	Provides connection for a shared broadband connection on the ICS server. If you will be sharing a dial-up connection, you don't need the second network adapter.
Install Microsoft Network Client software	Allows a computer to use network shared files and printers
Install file and printer sharing software	Allows a computer to share files and printers with other computers on the network
Assign a unique computer name	Makes sure that each computer can be uniquely identified with a "human-friendly" name
Assign each computer to the same workgroup	Ensures that each computer can use files and printers shared by other computers on the LAN
Install Internet Connection Sharing software (ICS server PC only)	Allows one computer to share its Internet connection with other computers
Configure IP routing settings	Ensures that all computers on the LAN can connect to the Internet, either through an ICS server or a router/firewall

If this sounds like a lot of work, you're right. If you were to perform each of these tasks manually, you'd spend 15 to 20 minutes configuring each PC on your network. Fortunately, you can accomplish all these tasks at one time by using the Network Setup Wizard. In this section, I walk you through the Network Setup Wizard and explain what each step does.



## Note

If you plan to use Microsoft's Internet Connection Sharing (and not an external router/firewall) to share your Internet connection, you should run the Network Setup Wizard on the ICS server PC first and then run the wizard on the rest of your PCs.

To start the Network Setup Wizard, click the Start button; then select All Programs  $\rightarrow$  Accessories  $\rightarrow$  Communications  $\rightarrow$  Network Setup Wizard. The wizard displays the screen shown in Figure 8-2.



**Figure 8-2:** The Network Setup Wizard is the easiest way to configure your computers for network operation.

The first screen contains introductory information that you, as an informed reader of this book, already know. Click Next to move on to the next screen, shown in Figure 8-3.

The Before You Continue. screen makes sure that you have installed all of the hardware for your network. If you haven't, the wizard won't be able to continue. Click Next to move on to the next screen, shown in Figure 8-4.

This is one of the most important steps in the configuration process. If you select the top button (This computer connects directly to the Internet), the computer will be configured as an ICS server. You should select this choice only if you plan to use Internet Connection Sharing and this is the one computer on the network that will provide the shared connection for the other computers to use.

Select the middle button if your network uses a router/firewall, or if the computer you are configuring will connect to the Internet through an ICS server located on another computer.





**Figure 8-3:** This screen makes sure that you've already installed the necessary hardware.

Network Setup Wizard		
Select a connection method.		
Select the statement that best describes this computer:		
O This computer connects directly to the Internet. The other computers on my network connect to the Internet through this computer. <u>View an example.</u>		
This computer connects to the Internet through another computer on my network or through a residential gateway. View an example.		
<u>○</u> <u>□</u> ther		
Learn more about home or small office network configurations.		
<u> </u>	Cancel	

**Figure 8-4:** You use this step to tell the wizard if this computer will be an ICS server.

The bottom button is used only in unusual circumstances. Select this button only if:

- Vour network is directly connected to the Internet with no firewall or router.
- Vour computer is connected directly to the Internet but not to a LAN.
- Vou have multiple computers on a LAN but no Internet connection.



After you have made your selection, click Next to move on to the next screen.

If your computer has more than one network adapter, or if it has a network adapter and a dial-up modem, you'll see the screen in Figure 8-5. You use this screen and the next screen to tell the wizard which network connection to use. If your computer has only a single connection, you'll see the screen in Figure 8-7.



**Figure 8-5:** If your computer has more than one LAN connection, you'll need to tell the wizard which one to use.

#### Tip

The wizard will offer to automatically select the correct network connection for you, but it often selects the wrong connection. For example, when I ran the wizard on my laptop to take the screenshots for this chapter, the wizard decided that I wanted to use my computer's FireWire connection as my main network connection. It takes only a few extra seconds to manually select the correct connection; doing so may save you from having to run the wizard a second time.

Select the Let Me Choose the Connections button, and click Next. A screen similar to the one shown in Figure 8-6 appears.

If one of your network adapters is connected directly to the Internet (through a cable or DSL modem, for example), be sure to uncheck the checkbox to the left of the connection's name. Choose the correct network connection from the list by clicking on the connection's name. The connection should be highlighted as shown in Figure 8-6. Click Next to move on to the next step (see Figure 8-7).


Network Setup Wizard
Select the connections to bridge.
Select the check box for each connection that connects this computer to your other network computers. Clear the check box for connections that connect this computer directly to the Internet.
Connections:
🗹 🚣 1394 Connection 1394 Net Adapter
Local Area Connection FEM606U-3Com Global TU-TUU+66K Cardbus PC Card-(Fast E
( )
Learn more about network bridging.
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

**Figure 8-6:** This screen lets you choose the correct connection to your LAN.

etwork Setup Wizar	d
Give this computer a	description and name.
Computer description:	Les' Laptop Examples: Family Room Computer or Monica's Computer
C <u>o</u> mputer name:	TWEETY Examples: FAMILY or MONICA
The current computer na	me is TWEETY.
Learn more about compu	iter names and descriptions
Lean more about <u>comp</u>	
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext> Cancel

Figure 8-7: Give each computer a unique name.

In this step, the wizard asks you to name your computer. Try to give your computers memorable names so you'll know which one is which later on. The Computer Description is optional and can be any text you like. Users on the network will see the description when they connect to shared files and printers, so make the description easy to decipher.

Enter the computer's name and description, and click Next to go to the next step, shown in Figure 8-8.



Network Setup Wizar	d
Name your network.	
Name your network by sp should have the same wo	ecifying a workgroup name below. All computers on your network orkgroup name.
Workgroup name:	PCMAG
	Examples: HOME or OFFICE
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

**Figure 8-8:** Enter the same workgroup name for each computer on the network.

This step lets you set the workgroup name for your computer. It is very important that all of your computers have the same workgroup name. Double-check your typing to make sure you've entered the correct name and then click Next to move to the final step, shown in Figure 8-9.

twork Setup Wizard		
Ready to apply network setti	ngs	
The wizard will apply the following and cannot be interrupted.	settings. This process may take a few minutes to complete	•
Settings:		
Internet connection settings:		스
Connecting through another devic	e or computer	
connecting through another acvie	c or comparen.	≣
Network settings:		
Computer description: Computer name: Workgroup name:	Les' Laptop TWEETY PCMAG	
To apply these settings, click Next		×
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Canc	el

Figure 8-9: This is the last chance to change your settings.



At this point, the wizard has all the information it needs to configure your computer for network operation. The screen in Figure 8-9 reviews the information you've entered, so you can go back and make changes if necessary. When you click the Next button, the wizard applies the changes you've entered; if you need to make additional changes after you click the Next button, you'll need to run the wizard again. Double-check your changes, and click Next.

The actual installation and configuration process takes anywhere from a few seconds to a few minutes, depending on the options you've selected. The wizard displays an animated screen while it copies files and configures your network software. When the configuration changes are complete, the wizard displays the screen shown in Figure 8-10.

Network Setup Wizard		
You're almost done		
You need to run the Network Setup Wizard once or network. To run the wizard on computers that are nu the Windows XP CD or a Network Setup Disk.	each of the computers on your t running Windows XP, you can use	
What do you want to do?		
⊙ <u>C</u> reate a Network Setup Disk		
◯ <u>U</u> se the Network Setup Disk I already have		
◯ Use my Windows XP CD		
Just finish the wizard; I don't need to run the wizard on other computers		
< Bac	Cancel	

**Figure 8-10:** You can save the settings from the Network Setup Wizard and use them on another computer.

At this point, your computer is configured and almost ready to go. If you will be configuring additional computers, you can save the configuration settings you just used onto a floppy disk or a flash memory drive. If you choose to create a network setup disk, the Network Setup Wizard will create a disk containing a copy of the Network Setup Wizard and all of your network settings (with the exception of the computer name). You can take the floppy disk to any other computer on the LAN (including Windows 95, 98, and Me systems) and then run the Network Setup Wizard from the floppy disk.

If you choose to create a setup disk, the wizard will take you through three additional screens to create the disk. After the disk is created, the wizard displays a final screen, shown in Figure 8-11.

In almost all cases, you'll need to restart your computer for the configuration changes to take effect. Keep in mind that you won't be able to share files or printers until you've run the Network Setup Wizard on all the computers on the network.





Figure 8-11: The last step in the Network Setup Wizard.

## **How OS X Networking Works**

Before the release of OS X Version 10.2, networked Macs were an island unto themselves. Earlier versions of the Mac OS included excellent networking features based on Apple's own AppleTalk protocol. But with a few exceptions (mostly involving third-party add-on software), it was very difficult to share files between Macs and PCs, even on the same LAN.

OS X version 10.2 and later now provides the ability for Macs and PCs to painlessly share files and printers. Mac clients can access files and printers attached to Windows PCs, and vice-versa. I'll explain file and printer sharing in detail in Chapters 10 and 11; in this section, I'll tell you what you need to do to enable file and printer sharing on your Mac.

File and printer sharing on Macs works in much the same way as it does on Windows PCs. Any Mac on the network can act as a client, a server, or both. Macs acting as servers provide shared file space and printer connections that can be used by other Macs or PCs on the LAN. A computer that uses one or more of the shared services is acting as a client.

#### **Sharing Files and Printers with Other Macs**

If your home LAN is an all-Mac network with no Windows PCs, you can share files and printers among the Macs on your LAN with just a few clicks. Click the Apple menu and select System Preferences; then click the Sharing icon. You'll see a display like the one in Figure 8-12.

As you can see from the example in Figure 8-12, there are separate checkboxes for file and printer sharing. Choose the appropriate checkboxes to turn on file and/or printer sharing, and close the preferences window. I'll explain how to use shared files and printers in Chapter 10.



Show All	Sharing Displays Sound Network Startup Disk	0
Com	puter Name: Les Freed's Computer Other computers on your local subnet can reach your computer at Mini-Me.local  Services Firewall Internet a service to change its settings.	
\$     	Service     Personal File Sharing On       Personal File Sharing     Stop       Windows Sharing     Click stop to prevent users of other computers from accessing Public folders on this computer.       FTP Access     Apple Remote Desktop       Remote Apple Events     Printer Sharing	
Other I "Les Fr	Macintosh users can access your computer at afp://192.168.0.103/ or browse for eed's Computer" by choosing Network from the Go menu in the Finder.	)

**Figure 8-12:** Personal File Sharing and Printer Sharing are turned off by default. The Sharing Preferences screen lets you turn these features on.

## **Sharing Files and Printers with PCs**

Macs can use shared files stored on Windows PCs, and Macs can also share files so that they can be used from a Windows PC on your LAN. If you want to be able to use files stored on a Windows PC or use a printer that is connected to a PC, you don't need to change any settings on your Mac.

If you want to share files on your Mac so that a Windows user on your LAN can access the files, you'll need to enable Windows Sharing on your Mac. The Windows Sharing checkbox is located just below the Personal File Sharing checkbox in the Sharing Preferences shown earlier in Figure 8-12. The Windows Sharing setting controls both file and printer sharing with Windows PCs.

# **Windows IP Addressing Basics**

By now, you know that each computer on your LAN must have a unique IP address. If you are using a router/firewall or Microsoft's Internet Connection Sharing, the Network Setup Wizard has already set your computer to use automatic IP addressing. Automatic addressing spares you from the tedium



of manually entering an IP address, router address, and DNS server address for each computer on your LAN.

## **Automatic IP Addressing**

As you saw in Chapter 3, external router/firewall devices and Microsoft's ICS both contain DHCP servers that provide a pool of IP addresses that client PCs can use for automatic IP address configuration.

If you don't have a router and you're not using ICS, your network doesn't have a DHCP server, so you might think that you'll need to manually configure an IP address for each computer. Fortunately, Windows XP contains a feature called *Automatic Private IP Addressing* that automatically assigns and manages addresses on networks that don't have a DHCP server.

You don't have to do anything special to use automatic addressing. When your computer first starts up, it will try to contact a DHCP server on the LAN. If a DHCP server is located, the computer requests and receives an IP address from the DCHP server. If no DHCP server responds within 60 seconds, the computer attempts to use the alternate IP address settings (described later in this section). If there is no alternate IP address configuration, the computer creates its own IP address from a pool of addresses reserved by Microsoft. These addresses are in the range between 169.254.0.1 and 169.254.255.254.

### **Alternate IP Configuration**

If you frequently move your portable computer between two locations, you should know about the *Alternate IP Configuration* feature. This feature lets you set your computer to use an automatic IP address at one location while using a fixed address at another location.

I use this feature all the time. My home network has a DHCP server for automatic addressing, but my office network uses fixed IP addresses. Without this feature, I'd have to change my IP address settings every time I moved the computer. The Alternate IP Configuration screen is fairly well hidden, but the following steps show you how to get there.

You first need to select the correct network connection. To do this, follow these steps:

- 1. Click Start and then open the Control Panel. Select the Network Connections icon. (If your Control Panel is set to Category View, select the Network and Internet Connections icon and then select the Network Connections icon at the bottom of the screen.)
- **2.** Right-click on the connection you want to change, and select Properties. You should see the Connection Properties screen, as shown in Figure 8-13.
- **3.** You want to change the TCP/IP address settings, so click the Internet Protocol item, as shown in Figure 8-13, and then click the Properties button. This takes you to the TCP/IP properties screen shown in Figure 8-14.



🕹 Local Area Connection Properties	?×
General Authentication Advanced	
Connect using:	
FEM656C-3Com Global 10-100+56K CardBus PC Card-(F	
<u>Configure</u>	
Elient for Microsoft Networks     Elie and Printer Sharing for Microsoft Networks     Bos Packet Scheduler     Internet Protocol (TCP/IP)	
Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol. The default wide area network protocol that provides communication across diverse interconnected networks.	
Show icon in notification area when connected	
OK Cano	el

**Figure 8-13:** The Connection Properties screen lets you change some of the more obscure network connection settings.

Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties		?×
General Alternate Configuration		
You can get IP settings assigned automaticall this capability. Otherwise, you need to ask you the appropriate IP settings.	ly if your network supports ur network administrator fo	r
Obtain an IP address automatically		
Use the following IP address:		
IP address:		
S <u>u</u> bnet mask:		
Default gateway:		
⊙ 0 <u>b</u> tain DNS server address automatically	y	
OUse the following DNS server addresses	x	
Preferred DNS server:		
Alternate DNS server:		
	Ad <u>v</u> anced.	
	OK Can	cel

**Figure 8-14:** This computer is configured for automatic IP addressing.



**4.** As you can see from Figure 8-14, the example computer is configured for automatic IP addressing. To set the alternate IP address configuration, click the Alternate Configuration tab at the top of the screen to see the screen in Figure 8-15.

Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Prope	rties	?×
General Alternate Configuration		
If this computer is used on more than on settings below.	e network, enter the alternate IF	
O Automatic private IP address		
IP address:	192 . 168 . 111 . 223	
S <u>u</u> bnet mask:	255 . 255 . 255 . 0	
Default gateway:	192 . 168 . 111 . 253	
Preferred DNS server:	207 . 69 . 188 . 185	
Alternate DNS server:	63 . 162 . 100 . 33	
Preferred <u>W</u> INS server:		
Alternate WI <u>N</u> S server:		
	OK Can	cel

**Figure 8-15:** Now you can set a manual IP address to use at the office.

**5.** Enter the IP address information for your alternate location and click OK. Note that you may need to ask your office network administrator for the correct IP address information to use.

After you've configured the alternate IP address information, you can move your laptop back and forth between home and office without having to change settings. When you set up your computer at the office, remember that Windows XP will try to locate a DHCP server for one minute before it attempts to use the Alternate Configuration. The computer will not be able to connect to the network during that time.



## Summary

At this point, your home network is installed, configured, and ready to use. In the next section of the book, I'll show you how to use your new network.

The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- Vou can use the Network Setup Wizard to help configure your network.
- The wizard can save the settings you select for one computer and use those settings to configure additional computers.
- Most router/firewalls and the Windows ICS server act as DHCP servers for automatic address configuration.
- Vou can use Windows Automatic Private IP Addressing on networks with no DHCP server.
- The Alternate IP Configuration is handy for moving a portable computer between two networks where one network uses a static IP address.

So now you've installed the hardware and configured the software. It's time to actually start using your home network. In the next few chapters, I'll discuss how to actually use your new LAN, beginning with Internet Sharing in the next chapter.

# Part IV

## **Using Your LAN**

**Chapter 9** Sharing Internet Access

**Chapter 10** Sharing Files on Your LAN

**Chapter 11** Sharing Printers

**Chapter 12** Home Media and Convergence

**Chapter 13** Security

**Chapter 14** Advanced Networking Topics

# Chapter 9 Sharing Internet Access



f you've never used a network before, you're in for a treat. After you've properly installed and configured your home network, you'll be able to enjoy Internet access from any computer in your home. If you have a cable or DSL broadband connection, you'll be able to surf the Net, download files, and check your e-mail at high speed, without waiting for a connection (or for someone else to get off the Internet-connected computer). And if you don't have a high-speed connection, you'll be able to get on the Internet from any computer in the house, even if someone else in your home is online at the same time. In this chapter, you'll see how to:

- Set up automatic IP configuration on your network
- Prepare your networked Macs and PCs for Internet access
- Install routers from Linksys and D-Link

As you saw in Chapter 2, you can share an Internet connection on your LAN using a hardware router or with a software-based connection-sharing program like Microsoft's Internet Connection Sharing (ICS). These products are typically very easy to install, and most router products provide nearly automatic Internet connection sharing right out of the box. But in some cases, you'll need to configure your router to work properly with your cable, DSL, or dial-up connection. You may also need to reconfigure some of your client PCs to enable them use the shared connection. This chapter gives you the technical background you need to configure a router.

#### Note

Most of the material in this chapter explains how to configure a hardware router. If you're using Microsoft Internet Connection Sharing, you should be aware that Microsoft ICS systems typically don't require any configuration, but the IP addressing concepts covered in the first section of this chapter also apply to ICS, so it's worth a read.



## **How IP Addressing Works**

As you know by now, each PC on your LAN must have a unique IP address. These addresses should be in one of the public nonroutable IP address ranges specifically reserved for private LANs. Most routers come preconfigured to use LAN addresses in the 192.168.x.x address range. A few manufacturers use the 10.1.x.x address space, which provides a much larger range of addresses. Unless you plan to have more than 65,000 computers on your local LAN, either one will work just fine.

Your Internet connection (cable, DSL, or dial-up modem) also has a unique IP address assigned by your Internet Service Provider. In most cases, your Internet connection's IP address is assigned by your ISP when you connect to the Internet. Your router manages the traffic flow between your LAN and the Internet using a technique called Network Address Translation (NAT).

In addition to a unique IP address, all of the computers on a LAN need to know how to communicate with the Internet. Specifically, they need to know the address of the local router (called the *gateway* address) and the address of one or more Domain Name Service (DNS) servers.

All NAT routers also contain a DHCP server that manages and assigns IP addresses for the computers on the LAN. When each computer on the LAN first starts up, it queries the LAN, looking for a DHCP server. The DHCP server answers the PC's query and provides the PC with the information it needs to communicate with the LAN. Table 9-1 shows the information provided by most DHCP servers.

Table 9-1         DHCP Server Informati	on
ltem	Purpose
IP address and network mask	Address assigned to computer by the DHCP server
Gateway address	Address of the Internet gateway on the local LAN
DNS server address	Address of the nearest DNS server

As you saw in Chapter 3, home routers operate as both a DHCP client and as a DHCP server. The router may also act as a DNS server for the PCs on the LAN. Figure 9-1 shows how the router, client PCs, and your ISP work together to provide DHCP and DNS services for the client PCs on your LAN. Here's the explanation for the steps shown in Figure 9-1.

- 1. When your router first powers up, it sends a DHCP request to the ISP.
- **2.** The DHCP server at the ISP responds to the request, sending back an IP address, the address of the gateway router at the ISP, and the address of one or more DNS servers. The router assigns the IP address to the router's WAN interface, and it stores the gateway and DNS server addresses in its memory.



- **3.** When a PC on the LAN powers up, it sends a DHCP request out on the LAN.
- **4.** The local router responds to the DHCP request and sends the PC an IP address, the address of the router, and the address of one or more DNS servers. The PC uses these settings to communicate with the LAN and the Internet.

#### Note

It's important to remember that the local router's address is the LAN's gateway address. The WAN gateway address is used only by the router to communicate with the Internet.

DHCP is a great feature to have on home networks because it lets you add new PCs to the LAN by simply plugging them in. Although this example shows a wired Ethernet connection, DHCP also operates over WiFi wireless connections.



**Figure 9-1:** A typical home router operates as a DHCP client to obtain a public IP address from the ISP, and it also operates as a DHCP server for the client PCs on the LAN.



# Note

Some routers use DHCP to pass on the address of the ISP's DNS server; other routers set themselves up as the DNS server. The latter technique is called a *DNS proxy*, so called because the local router accepts and responds to DNS requests on behalf of the ISP's DNS server.

Some routers store recent DNS requests in a *cache* so that they can respond to repeated DNS requests for the same address without passing the request on to the ISP's DNS server. This feature speeds up Internet access when your ISP's DNS server is slow to respond or is simply overloaded with requests.

# **Configuring Your Router**

Before you can use your networked computers to connect to the Internet, you may need to manually configure your router. I say *may* because most home routers can automatically configure themselves to work with most cable modem connections. If you are using a DSL modem or if your cable modem provider requires that you enter a user name and password to access its service, you will need to configure your router with the proper user authentication information. You'll also need to manually configure your router if your broadband provider supplies you with a fixed (also called *static*) IP address.

Fortunately, most home routers are very easy to configure. Virtually all routers on the market today use a browser-based configuration interface, and you usually need to fill in a few forms on the screen.

In order to connect to the browser interface on your router, you'll need to know the factory-set IP address of the router, and you'll need to make sure that the computer you use to do the configuration is set for automatic IP addressing. If you just installed a network adapter in your computer, or if you've never used the network adapter before, chances are very good that it is already configured for automatic operation. If you aren't sure about your computer's IP configuration settings, see the *IP Addressing Basics* section in Chapter 8.

# Note

These examples assume that you have installed, connected, and configured your network equipment, as I explained in the previous chapters. In particular, it assumes that your router contains a DHCP server, and that the DHCP server is enabled by default. If your router does not contain a DHCP server or if it is turned off by default, you will need to manually configure the IP address for at least one of the computers on your network. Consult your router's instructions for details.



## **Checking Your PC's IP Configuration**

Before you can configure your router, you should make sure that your computers can communicate with the router. The steps in this section will make sure that your router and computer are connected and communicating with one another.

#### WINDOWS USERS FOLLOW THESE STEPS:

- **1.** Turn on the router and any additional network equipment such as Ethernet switches and wireless APs.
- **2.** Turn on one of the computers connected to the LAN. If you have both wired and wireless LAN clients, perform the initial setup from one of the wired PCs. If the computer was already on when you turned on the router, you do not need to restart the computer.
- 3. Check the PC's IP settings to see if the computer obtained an IP address from the router. To do this, click Start → Control Panel → Network Connections. (If your Control Panel is set to Category View, select the Network and Internet Connections icon, and then select the Network Connections icon at the bottom of the screen.) Right-click the network connection, click Status in the pop-up menu, and select the Support tab. You should see a display like the one in Figure 9-2.

🕹 Local Area Connection S	Status 🔹 🕄 🕷
General Support	
Internet Protocol (TCP/IP)	
Address Type:	Assigned by DHCP
IP Address:	192.168.1.100
Subnet Mask:	255.255.255.0
Default Gateway:	192.168.1.1
	Details
Regair	
	<u>C</u> lose

**Figure 9-2:** This Connection Status screen shows that our example PC received an address from a DHCP server.



- **4.** Your Connection Status display should look very much like the one in Figure 9-2. If it doesn't (or if your computer was already on when you turned on the router), click the Repair button on the Status display. If the computer was able to obtain an address from the router's DHCP server, you'll see a message like the one in Figure 9-3.
- **5.** If your PC can't obtain an IP address or if you see a message saying that the repair operation failed, check the cable between your PC and the router. Make sure it is plugged in tight, and that the "link" lights on the router and the PC are lit.

Repair Connection	×
The Repair operation completed. If the problem persists, please contact your network administrator or ISP.	or
ОК	

Figure 9-3: If your PC's DHCP request was successful, you'll see this screen.

- **6.** You now have a working IP connection between your PC and the router. Write down the Default Gateway address shown on the Connection Status screen. This is the IP address of your router.
- **7.** Start your Web browser. If your usual Internet start page appears, your router is already configured to connect to the Internet, and you don't need to configure your router (although you might want to read the section titled "Configuring Your Router" in case you ever need to change the connection settings).
- **8.** If your start page does not appear or if you see a dialog box asking if you want to use a dial-up connection, your PC's network connection isn't configured properly, or there's no physical connection between your PC and the router.

#### MAC OS X USERS FOLLOW THESE STEPS:

- 1. Turn on the router and any additional network equipment such as Ethernet switches and wireless APs.
- **2.** Turn on one of the computers connected to the LAN. If you have both wired and wireless LAN clients, perform the initial setup from one of the wired Macs. If the computer was already on when you turned on the router, you do not need to restart the computer.
- **3.** Check the Mac's IP settings to see if the computer obtained an IP address from the router. To do this, open the System Preferences from the Apple Menu; then click the Network icon. You will see a display like the one in Figure 9-4.





- **4.** If your Mac and your router are connected and working correctly, you should see a display similar to the one in Figure 9-4. A green dot will appear on the left side of the status window, indicating that the Ethernet cable is properly connected, and the Ethernet status will show the IP address the Mac obtained from the router.
- **5.** If you see a red dot, you have a cable problem. Check both ends of the cable to make sure they are plugged in tight, ensure your router is powered on, and try again. If you see a green dot but no IP address, click the Configure button near the bottom of the window. You will see a display like the one in Figure 9-5.
- **6.** You now have a working IP connection between your Mac and the router. Write down the Default Gateway address shown on the Connection Status screen. This is the IP address of your router.
- **7.** Start your Web browser. If your usual Internet start page appears, your router is already configured to connect to the Internet, and you don't need to configure your router (although you might want to read the next two sections in case you ever need to change the connection settings).
- 8. If your start page does not appear, your router isn't configured correctly.



000	Network	
Show All : Displays Sou	nd Network Startup Disk	
L	ocation: Automatic	
	Show: Built-in Ethernet	
TCP	IP PPPoE AppleTalk Proxies Ethernet	
Configure IPv4:	Using DHCP 🛟	
IP Address:	192.168.0.103 Renew DHCP	Lease
Subnet Mask:	255.255.2 DHCP Client ID: Mini-Me	
Router:	(If required) (192.168.0.1	
DNS Servers:		(Optional)
Search Domains:		(Optional)
IPv6 Address:	fe80:0000:0000:0000:020d:93ff:fe4e:32fe	
	Configure IPv6	?
Click the lock to p	revent further changes. Assist me	ply Now

Figure 9-5: This screen shows detailed IP address information for your Mac.

## **Configuring Your Router**

After you've established a connection between your computer and your LAN router, you may need to configure the router to work with your Internet connection. The following two examples show the steps required to configure two different routers (one from Linksys and one from D-Link Systems) for several different types of ISP service. Each manufacturer's menus are different, but the concepts and terminology used are the same for virtually all routers.

#### Note

The following examples show how to configure routers from D-Link and Linksys. I chose these two companies because, together, they account for a very large share of the home networking market. Other companies, including 3Com, Microsoft, NETGEAR, SMC Networks, and Siemens—among others—offer similar and equally capable products.



## **Configuring a Linksys Router**

Like many of its competitors, Linksys makes a large variety of networking equipment. Most Linksys products use a similar browser-based configuration menu. The router shown in this example is a combination router/firewall with a built-in Ethernet switch. Linksys makes several versions of this router, including models with wired and wireless (802.11x) connections. The configuration menus for all models are nearly identical, although there are some small differences between models.

To configure a Linksys router, follow these steps:

- 1. Perform the steps outlined in *Checking Your Computer's IP Configuration* in the previous section.
- **2.** Open your Internet browser and choose File  $\rightarrow$  Open. In the dialog box that opens, enter the Default Gateway IP address you wrote down in Step 6 in the preceding lists.
- **3.** The first screen you'll see is the Setup screen shown in Figure 9-6. This screen controls the WAN and LAN settings for the router. There are only five items you can change on this screen.



Figure 9-6: This is the Linksys router's main configuration screen.



- **4.** The Host Name and Domain Name are not typically required by most ISPs, and you can almost always leave them blank.
- **5.** The LAN IP address has a default setting of 192.168.1.1. There is no reason to change this unless it conflicts with another device on your LAN. The Subnet Mask should remain at the default setting of 255.255.255.0 unless you plan to have more than 253 computers on your local network.
- **6.** The WAN Connection Type is the most important setting on this screen. The default setting is Obtain an IP Automatically, which is the correct choice if you are using a cable or DSL modem and your ISP does not require you to enter a user name and password when you connect to the Internet. If you are using such a modem, leave this setting as it is, click the Apply button, and go to Step 11.
- **7.** If your cable or DSL provider requires you to enter a user name and password, select PPPoE from the WAN Connection Type pull-down menu. Some additional items appear on the screen, as shown in Figure 9-7.
- **8.** Enter your user name and password in the spaces provided. You don't need to enter the Service Name type unless instructed to do so by your ISP. Leave the Connect on Demand and Keep Alive settings as they are, click Apply, and go to Step 11.



**Figure 9-7:** When you select the PPPoE connection type, several new menu options appear on the screen.



If your ISP provides you with a static (fixed) IP address, select Static IP from the WAN Connection Type menu. Several additional items appear on the screen, as shown in Figure 9-8.

🐑 http://192.168.1.1/Gozila.cgi?hostName=exam	ple&DomainName=earthlink.ne	t&WANConnect	ionSel-2&ipAd	- Microsoft Internet E	plorer 🖃 🛛
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp	Agdress 📓 http://192.168.1.1/6	iozila.cgi/hostName=	example&DomainNa=	me=earthlink.net&WANCon	nectionSel=2 💌 🎅 Go 🛛 🦉
					~
Linksys'	Setup Password Status	DHCP Log	Security Help	Advanced	
SETUP	This screen contains all of will be able to use the rout changes. If you require hel guide.	the router's ba er's default se p during config	sic setup func ttings without i uration, please	tions, Most users making any i see the user	
Host Name:	example (Require	ed by some ISPs	)		
Domain Name:	earthlink.net (Requir	ed by some ISPs	)		
Firmware Version: LAN IP Address:	1.45.6, Jun 24 2003				
	192 168 1 1	(Device IP Ac	ldress)		
	255.255.255.0 💌 (Subnet M	lask)	,		
WAN Connection Type:	(MAC Address: 00-04-6A-20-AC-12) Static IP	Select the Inter	net connection tv	pe vou wish to use	
	Specify WAN IP Address	10 . 1	, 2 , 2	7	
	Subnet Mask:	255 . 255	255 . 0		
	Default Gateway Address:	10 . 1	. 2 . 1	]	
	DNS(Required) 1:	207 . 69	. 185 . 188		
	2:	207 . 69	185 , 187		
	3:	0.0	. 0 . 0		
	Apply Cancel				
					~
Done .					🖤 Internet

**Figure 9-8:** If your ISP uses static addresses, you'll need to fill in the IP address information manually.

- **9.** Most routers, including this example router, offer the option to either connect to the ISP as needed (see "Connect on Demand" in Figure 9-6) or to stay connected all the time. In most cases, you'll want to check the Keep Alive box so that the router doesn't have to re-connect to the ISP each time you fire up your Web browser.
- **10.** Enter the IP address information provided by your ISP. Your ISP may provide you with one to three DNS server addresses; enter as many as you have, and leave the others set at 0.0.0.0. Click the Apply button.
- **11.** Your router should now be connected to the Internet. To double-check your router's settings, click the Status tab at the top of the Linksys menu screen. You'll see a status display like the one in Figure 9-9.
- **12.** The exact configuration of the status screen varies depending on the type of Internet connection. If you are using PPPoE or automatic (also called *dynamic*) IP addressing, you should see the ISP-assigned IP address and DNS server settings in the WAN section of the display.



**Figure 9-9:** The Linksys status screen shows the current status of the LAN and WAN settings. The router in this example is connected to DSL modem using PPPoE.

## **Configuring a D-Link Router**

D-Link makes a large variety of home and commercial networking equipment. Although most Linksys products use the single-screen configuration menu shown in the preceding example, most D-Link products use a multiscreen Setup Wizard to walk users through the initial configuration process.

To configure a D-Link router, perform the steps outlined in the preceding section, *Checking Your PC's IP Configuration*, and then continue with Step 1 as follows:

- 1. Open your Internet browser and choose File  $\rightarrow$  Open. Enter the Default Gateway address you wrote down earlier. The router asks you for a user name and password. Check your user's manual for the correct login information.
- **2.** After you enter the password, the main D-Link configuration screen appears. Click the Setup Wizard button. The wizard appears in a new window, as shown in Figure 9-10. Click Next to continue.

#### Note

Some pop-up ad blocker programs may block the Setup Wizard screen. If you don't see the Setup Wizard, turn off your pop-up blocker program.





**Figure 9-10:** The first Setup Wizard screen simply explains what you'll be doing in the following steps.

**3.** The first step in the wizard, shown in Figure 9-11, asks you to set a new password for your router. Write the password down and keep it in a safe place; if you lose the password, you'll need to reset the router, and you'll lose all your configuration settings. Click Next to continue.

🝘 DI-604 - Microsoft Inter	net Explorer 📃 🗆	×
D-Link	I-604 Setup Wizard	-
	Set Password	
You may change the <b>adı</b> password. Click <b>Next</b> to	nin account password by entering in a new continue.	
Password	•••••	
Verify Password	•••••	
	G O L Back Next Ex	D

**Figure 9-11:** Enter a new password here, and be sure to keep the password in a safe place.

4. Select the correct time zone from the pull-down menu as shown in Figure 9-12.





**Figure 9-12:** The router needs to know what time zone it is in so that it can set its internal clock.

# Note

At this point, you may be wondering why the router needs to know what time zone it is in. This router—like most D-Link routers—has an internal clock that is set automatically from an Internet time server. The time server tells the router what the time is in Greenwich Mean Time (GMT), but the router needs to convert GMT to local time.

So why does the router need a clock? Some router features—such as the error log, firewall filters, and time-of-day parental controls—need to know the correct local time.

- **5.** Click the Next button. The router attempts to determine what type of Internet connection you have. When it has determined the correct connection type, you'll see the screen shown in Figure 9-13. If the router is successfully able to determine the connection type, it will pre-select that connection for you.
- **6.** Confirm the connection type and click the Next button. Note that the PPTP connection type is used only by a few European ISPs and is not used in North America.
- **7.** If you selected Dynamic IP Address, you'll see the screen shown in Figure 9-14. In most cases, you can simply leave this screen at the default settings and click Next.





**Figure 9-13:** This screen lets you confirm the Internet connection type.

🝘 DI-604 - Microsoft Internet Explorer	- IX
D-Link DI-604 Setup Wizard	
Set Dynamic IP Address	
If your ISP require you to enter a specific host name or specific M address, please enter it in. The Clone MAC Address button is us to copy the MAC address of your Ethernet adapter to the DI-604. Next to continue.	1AC sed Click
Host DI-604 (optional)	
MAC 00 - 80 - C8 - 1B - 76 - 46 (optional)	
Clone MAC Address	
96	
Back Ne	ext Exit

**Figure 9-14:** This screen allows you to "clone" the MAC address of your cable modem.



# Note

Some cable modem ISPs require that you enter a specific computer host name to verify that you are an authorized user of their service.

A very few ISPs log the Ethernet Media Access Control (MAC) address of the first computer that you connect to the cable modem. Subsequent connections must come from the same MAC address. In theory, the MAC address is unique to each Ethernet device on the planet. The Clone MAC Address button copies your PC's MAC address into the router; as far as your ISP knows, the connection is in fact coming from your PC.

- **8.** If you need to use the Host Name or MAC address features, enter the information into the space provided, click Next and then go on to Step 12.
- 9. If you are using a static IP address, the screen in Figure 9-15 appears.

🖉 DI-604 - Microsoft Internet	Explorer	
D-Link DI-	604 Setup W	lizerd
Set S	tatic IP Addres	ss
Enter in the static IP informati to continue.	ion provided to you b	y your ISP. Click <b>Next</b>
WAN IP Address	0.0.0.0	
WAN Subnet Mask	0.0.0.0	
WAN Gateway Address	0.0.0.0	
Primary DNS Address	207.69.188.185	
Secondary DNS Address	207.69.188.186	(optional)
		G 🗩 🛛
		Back Next Exit

**Figure 9-15:** You use this screen to enter your cable or DSL modem's static IP address.

- **10.** Enter the IP, subnet mask, gateway, and DNS server addresses provided by your ISP. Click Next and go to Step 12.
- **11.** If your ISP uses PPPoE authentication, you need to enter your user name and password, as shown in Figure 9-16.



🝘 DI-604 - Microsoft Internet E	xplorer 📃 🛛
D-Link DI-6	04 Setup Wizard
S	et PPPoE
The service name is optional but to continue.	may be required by your ISP. Click <b>Next</b>
User Name	lfreed@mindspring.com
Password	•••••
Retype Password	•••••
Service Name (optional)	
	991
	Back Next Exit

Figure 9-16: For PPPoE connections, enter your user name and password.

- **12.** Enter your user name and password. The service name setting is rarely used in North America. Click Next.
- 13. The Setup Completed screen appears, as shown in Figure 9-17.



**Figure 9-17:** The Setup Wizard is complete, and your router is almost ready to go.

**14.** Your router configuration is nearly complete. The changes you just made will not take effect until you click the Restart button. Click Restart and wait about 10 seconds for the router to restart. Click the Status tab at the top of the main configuration screen. You will see a display like the one in Figure 9-18.





Figure 9-18: This screen shows the status of the current WAN connection.

**15.** If you are using a dynamic IP or PPPoE connection, you should see the IP, gateway, and DNS server addresses assigned by your ISP in the lower portion of the status screen.

#### What's Next?

After you've configured your router, there are a few things left on your to-do list.

If you have multiple PCs on your network, you'll need to check the IP configuration on each PC. You can do this quickly by performing Step 3 under *Checking Your PC's IP Configuration* at the beginning of this chapter.

If your network includes one or more wireless access points, make sure that you enable WEP or WPA security for each AP and device on the network. (See Chapter 7 for more information on WEP and WPA.)

You may want to explore the network protection and Internet filtering options that your router provides. You should also perform a security audit of each PC on your network. I'll cover these topics in detail in Chapter 13.

As you use your network and Internet connection, you may find that some application programs will not work through a firewall. In particular, some instant messaging programs and multiplayer games may require that you make some changes to your router's firewall settings. Most programs that encounter such a problem will let you know that they can't work through a firewall, and many will offer suggestions on how to fix it.



## Summary

This chapter showed you that you don't need an electrical engineering degree to install and configure a router. The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- Each PC on your LAN needs to know how to communicate with the local router.
- Most routers provide automatic IP configuration using a DHCP server.
- The majority of routers are very easy to configure.
- Most DSL and some cable modem providers use PPPoE to authenticate users as they connect to the Internet.

Congratulations! If all went well (and I hope it did!), you now have a fully working, Internetconnected home LAN. At this point, you should be able to connect to the Internet from any PC on your network.

In Chapter 10, I'll show you how to use your new LAN to share files with other computers on the network.

## Chapter 10

# Sharing Files on Your LAN



N etwork file sharing is one of the most useful—and most often overlooked—aspects of home networking. In this chapter, I show you how to:

- Share Mac and Windows files and folders on your network
- Use shared files from another computer
- Map a drive (on Windows XP systems)

## **How File Sharing Works**

Windows XP and Mac OS X include simple file sharing features that make it very easy to share files on your network. You can use file sharing to share any type of file, including documents, music, and photo files, with any computer on your network.

The ability to share files with other computers and to use files shared on other computers is built into Windows XP and Mac OS X. You don't need to purchase or install any additional software. As you may recall from Chapter 3, the type of network where any computer can be a server, a client, or both at the same time is called peer networking. Figure 10-1 shows an example of a peer network with three computers.

The example in Figure 10-1 is based on my own home network. My main desktop PC is named Marvin, and it is where I do most of my work. Elmer is another desktop PC with two very large hard drives, and it is where I store my work in progress, as well as archived copies of all my books, magazine articles, and other documents. My laptop is named Tweety. When I need a screenshot for an example, I almost always use the laptop, rather than interrupting my writing on Marvin. Because the laptop has a relatively small (and almost always full) hard drive, I save the screenshot files directly onto Elmer's capacious hard drive.

I have a large cache of MP3 files (legal ones, ripped from my CD collection!) stored on Marvin so that I can listen to music while I work without having to shuffle CDs all day long. Occasionally, I need to work on Elmer. Rather than cranking up the volume on Marvin so that I can hear it across the room, I use the MP3 player on Elmer to play the MP3 files located on Marvin's hard drive.





Figure 10-1: Any PC or Mac can be a client and any PC or Mac can be a server—or both at the same time.

The beauty of file sharing is that you can get to your files no matter where they are physically located. In the sections that follow, I'll show you how to share files and how to use shared files located on another computer.

#### **Windows File Sharing**

Windows 2000, XP Home, XP Professional, and XP Media Center Edition all provide the ability to share files with other Windows and Mac computers on the same LAN. Windows 2000, XP Professional, and XP Media Center edition offer more advanced networking features than XP Home Edition (see the following sidebar for details), but the basic networking features in all versions of Windows XP operate in the same way.

Older versions of Windows (Windows Me, 98, 95, and Windows for Workgroups v.3.11) also include file sharing features. Windows XP is compatible with these older versions of Windows, but the method used to share files and to access shared files in these versions is different from that in Windows XP. If you are using one of these older versions of Windows, consult your Windows user's manual or the built-in help file for specific how-to information.



#### File Sharing with Windows XP Professional Version

Windows XP Professional includes a much more sophisticated file sharing system than Windows XP Home Edition. The additional file sharing features in XP Professional allow users (and network administrators) to carefully control access to shared files on a user-by-user basis.

Because this book is targeted at the home market, I will not discuss Windows XP Professional file sharing in detail. The Windows XP Help system includes detailed information on XP Professional's additional features under the topic Access Control.

The advanced file sharing features in Windows XP Professional are turned off by default. You can check to see how your copy of Windows XP is configured by opening My Computer and clicking  $\rightarrow$  Tools  $\rightarrow$  Folder Options. Click the General tab and then scroll down to the last item in the Advanced Settings list. If the Use Simple File Sharing box is checked, your system is set to use a simpler form of file sharing, identical to the file sharing in Windows XP Home Edition.

You can use two methods to share files on your computer: You can share one or more folders, or you can share an entire disk drive.

## **Sharing a Folder**

Before other users can access files on your computer, you must first tell Windows which files you want to share.

Windows XP automatically creates a folder called Shared Documents on every computer. This folder makes it easy to share files with other users. To share a file (or a folder full of files), you simply drag the file or folder into the Shared Documents folder. Any files placed into the Shared Documents folder will be available for sharing on the network. You can see the contents of the folder by selecting My Computer  $\rightarrow$  Shared Documents. The Shared Documents folder contains several subfolders, as shown in Figure 10-2.

The Shared Pictures, Shared Music, and Shared Video folders are automatically created by Windows XP to help you organize your shared files. Other application programs may create additional folders inside the Shared Documents: folder. In the preceding example, Adobe Acrobat has created a folder named Adobe PDF 6.0.

Although the Shared Documents folder is convenient to use, it requires you to rethink the way you store files on your computer. Most users—myself included—keep their documents organized within the My Documents folder. To share a file using the Shared Documents folder, you must drag (or copy) the file out of the My Documents folder and into the appropriate folder inside the Shared Documents folder.

If you frequently share a large number of files on the network, you may find it easier to simply share the entire My Documents folder—or any other folder on your computer. To share a folder with other users, select the folder in Windows Explorer, right-click on the folder, and select Sharing and Security from the pop-up menu. You will see a Sharing and Security display like the one in Figure 10-3.



🗀 Shared Documents		- <b>•</b> ×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorit	es <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp	AV.
🕝 Back 🔹 🌍 🝷 🏂 🔎 Se	arch 🖒 Folders	
Address 🛅 C:\Documents and Sett	ings\All Users\Documents	🕶 🄁 Go
Shared Documents (*)	Adobe PDF 6.0 Shared Music	
File and Folder Tasks 💲	Shared Pictures Shared Video	
<ul> <li>Make a new folder</li> <li>Publish this folder to the Web</li> <li>Share this folder</li> </ul>		
Other Places 🙁		
<ul> <li>My Computer</li> <li>My Documents</li> <li>My Network Places</li> </ul>		
Details 🎗		
Shared Documents File Folder Date Modified: Sunday, July 27, 2003, 5:24 PM	V	

Figure 10-2: Windows creates several subfolders inside the Shared Documents folder.

#### Note

Some (mostly older) programs store their data files in the Program Files subfolder rather than in the My Documents folder. If you need to share data files created with such a program, you'll need to share that program's data folder separate from the My Documents folder.

As you can see from Figure 10-3, Windows assigns a share name to each shared folder on your computer. Windows simply copies the folder's name into the share name, but you may change the name if you want.

By default, other users on the network may delete or modify shared files on your computer. If you do not want other users to be able to change your files, uncheck the Allow Network Users to Change My Files setting and then click OK.



My Documents Prope	rties	) (×
Target General Sharin	g	_
Local sharing and secu	urity	
To share this f only, drag it to	older with other users of this computer the <u>Shared Documents</u> folder.	
To make this f only you have	older and its subfolders private so that access, select the following check box.	
Make this	folder private	
and type a sha	omputer, select the first Check Box Delow are name. folder on the network	
Share this	folder on the network	
5 <u>n</u> are name:	My Documents	
Allo <u>w</u> netw	ork users to change my files	
Learn more about <u>sharin</u>	g and security.	
	OK Cancel Apply	

**Figure 10-3:** The Sharing and Security properties display lets you control your shared files.

## **Sharing a Drive**

If you frequently work on multiple computers in your home, you may find it easier to simply share the entire drive on your computer rather than just share a few folders. To share an entire drive, open My Computer, right-click the drive, and select Sharing and Security from the pop-up menu. You'll see a warning dialog box like the one in Figure 10-4.

## Be Careful What You Share!

It is important to remember that when you share a folder, all of the files and subfolders within the shared folder are also shared. For example, if you share the My Documents folder, all of the files and folders in the My Documents folder will be available to all of the other computers on the LAN. If you have private or confidential files stored in the folder, those files will be available to everyone—which is probably not what you want.

Before you begin sharing your files, you may want to take a few minutes to organize your files into separate folders and share only the appropriate folders. For example, you may want to create separate folders for your digital photos, MP3 files, and personal files. You could then share the photos and MP3 folders so that everyone can use those files but not share the personal files folder.



Mojo (C:) Properties
General Tools Hardware Sharing Quota
To protect your computer from unauthorized access, sharing the root of a drive is not recommended.
If you understand the risk but still want to share the root of the drive, click here.

**Figure 10-4:** Windows doesn't really want to let you share a drive.

As you can see, Windows XP tries to discourage you from sharing the entire drive. When you share the entire drive on the network, another user (or an intruder, if you don't have a firewall) has carte blanche to snoop, delete, and modify files on your hard drive. Another user may mistakenly (or maliciously) modify critical system files on your computer, making your computer unstable or even unusable. You should only use this feature if you understand the risks involved, and you absolutely must have strong firewall protection to keep Internet hackers from messing with your system.

#### Caution

How real is the threat from hackers? Very. During some research for a *PC Magazine* article, I set up an experiment. I added a second IP address to my cable modem, and I set up a Windows PC directly connected to the cable modem. I also installed a packet sniffer program, a special piece of software that monitors and logs all the traffic on the IP network.

Within 15 minutes of firing up my test PC, the computer was bombarded with all sort of malicious traffic. Intruders attempted to delete files and install Trojan horse programs on the test PC. Within 24 hours, the system was receiving so much traffic—almost all of it malicious—that I was afraid that my cable service provider would notice the traffic increase and cut my service off, so I shut the system down.

The moral of the story is that the threat from hackers isn't just media hype—it is very real. If you don't have a firewall and up-to-date antivirus software on your PC, you are a sitting duck. See Chapter 13 for more information on protecting your system from the bad guys.



If I haven't scared you off yet, you've clicked the disclaimer and are ready to share your drive on the LAN. The options for sharing a drive are identical to those for sharing a folder, as you can see in Figure 10-5.

nojo (C:) i	Properties				26
General T	ools Hardwa	re Sharing	Quota		
Local sh	haring and secu To share this fo only, drag it to l	ity Ider with othe he <u>Shared D</u> i	er users o ocument	of this computer s folder.	
	To make this fo only you have a	Ilder and its st access, selec	ubfolders t the follo	private so that owing check box	
Network	sharing and se To share this fo users of this co and type a sha Share this fo	curity Ider with both mputer, selec re name. older on the n	n network t the first etwork	cusers and other check box belo	r W
	S <u>h</u> are name:	Mojo (C)			
	Allow netwo	rk users to cl	nange mj	y files	
Learn mor	e about <u>sharing</u>	and security.			
		OK	Cano		ily

**Figure 10-5:** Sharing a drive isn't much different from sharing a folder.

Give your shared drive a name (Windows defaults to using the drive's volume name), decide if you want other users to be able to change your files, and click OK.

# **Accessing Shared Drives and Folders**

There are several ways to connect to and use shared drives and folders on your network. The simplest and fastest way is to use the My Network Places folder. This folder contains icons that represent each shared folder on your network. You can click any of the icons in the My Network Places display, shown in Figure 10-6, and browse through the files, just as you would with files on a local hard drive.

If you want to see only the resources shared by a specific computer, you can click View workgroup computers on the left side of the My Network Places screen, and select the individual computer from a list. This is handy when you have a large number of shared folders on your LAN.




Figure 10-6: The My Network Places window contains shortcuts for shared resources on your network.

You can also access shared files and folders from within many applications. When you open a file using the File  $\rightarrow$  Open command in certain applications, the My Network Places icon also appears in the Open dialog box. If the application program isn't designed to work with networked files, you won't see the My Network Places icon. The example in Figure 10-7 shows the Open dialog box from Microsoft Word.

To open a networked file in a network-aware application, use the normal File  $\rightarrow$  Open command, and click the My Network Places icon on the left side of the File Open dialog box. A list of network resources will appear in the dialog box, and you can choose a file to open.

### **Controlling Automatic Discovery**

Windows XP Home automatically includes new additions to network folders, drives, and printers in the My Network Places display. This is convenient on small networks but can become an annoyance on larger networks. Fortunately, it is simple to turn this feature on and off.

Open My Computer and select Folder Options from the Tools menu. Click the View tab, and you'll see a display like the one in Figure 10-8.





**Figure 10-7:** Many applications include My Network Places in the Open dialog box, making it easy to open files located on other computers.

Folder Option	s	?
General View		
Folder view	s You can apply the view (such as Details or Tiles) you are using for this folder to all folders. Apply to All Folders Reset All Folders	that
Advanced se	ttings:	
📄 Files an	d Folders	•
🖉 🗹 Auto	omatically search for network folders and printers	
🔽 Disp	olay file size information in folder tips	
🗹 Disp	olay simple folder view in Explorer's Folders list	
Disp	olay the contents of system folders	
🗹 Disp	olay the full path in the address bar	
Disp	olay the full path in the title bar	
	not cache thumbnails	
Hide	den hies and folders	
	Do not show hidden files and folders Show hidden files and folders	
- Hide	and white and to de sources	
	s extensions for known nie Wpes	
	Restore <u>D</u> efa	ults
	OK Cancel	Apply

**Figure 10-8:** You can use the Folder Options settings to turn off automatic discovery of new network folders and printers.



The first setting under Advanced Settings tells Windows XP whether or not to automatically search for new network resources. If you turn off this setting, you can still add frequently used network resources to the My Network Places display. To do this, click the Add a Network Place icon on the left side of the My Network Places window.

### **Mapping a Network Drive**

If you frequently use a shared resource, you may find it more convenient to map a drive to that resource. When you create a drive mapping, Windows assigns an unused drive letter on your PC to the network resource. After you've created the mapping, you can refer to the shared network resource by the drive letter. You can even tell Windows to automatically recreate the drive mapping the next time you start your computer. This is a handy feature to use if you frequently use an older application program that is not network-aware.

To create a mapped drive, right-click My Computer or My Network Places from the Windows desktop, and select Map Network Drive from the pop-up menu. You can also select Tools  $\rightarrow$  Map Network Drive option from Windows Explorer. You'll see the Map Network Drive display in Figure 10-9.

Map Network Drive		8
	Windows and assi access t Specify I that you	s can help you connect to a shared network folder gn a drive letter to the connection so that you can he folder using My Computer. the drive letter for the connection and the folder want to connect to:
	<u>D</u> rive:	×: 🗸
	F <u>o</u> lder:	Browse
		Example: \\server\share
		Reconnect at logon
		Connect using a different user name.
		<u>Sign up for online storage or connect to a</u> network server.
		< Back Finish Cancel

**Figure 10-9:** The Map Network Drive dialog box lets you create a new drive mapping from a shared network folder.

Select the drive letter you want to use for the drive mapping, and enter the shared resource name. The resource name must be in the form \\server\share. Most users will find it easier to use the network browser; just click the Browse button, and you'll see a display like the one in Figure 10-10.

The Network Browser display shows all of the shared resources on your network, even if those resources don't appear in the My Network Places display. The example in Figure 10-10 shows two computers in the workgroup named Pcmag—one named Becky and the other named Elmer. I have clicked the plus sign next to Elmer to show all of the resources on that computer, and I have selected the shared folder named Archive.



Browse For Folder	?×
Select a shared network folder	
R Microsoft Windows Natwork	
Becky	
🖃 😼 Elmer	≡
Archive	
🗉 🧟 Bigdisk	
🗄 🛃 mac hiles	
Printers and Eaves	
	¥
Make New Folder OK Cance	<u>ال</u>

**Figure 10-10:** The Network Browser presents a display of all the shared folders and drives on your LAN.

Select a network resource, and click OK. The Map Network Drive dialog box reappears with the Drive and Folder fields filled in, like the example in Figure 10-11.

Map Network Drive						
	Windows and assi access th Specify t that you	s can help you connect to a shared network folder gn a drive letter to the connection so that you can he folder using My Computer. the drive letter for the connection and the folder want to connect to:				
	Drive:	X: \\Elmer\Archive				
	F <u>o</u> lder:	Folder: \\Elmer\Archive				
		Example: \\server\share				
		<u>R</u> econnect at logon				
		Connect using a different user name.				
		Sign up for online storage or connect to a network server.				
		< Back Finish Cancel				

**Figure 10-11:** You can automatically reconnect to a share each time you log in to Windows.



If you want to automatically reconnect to this network share the next time you start Windows, check the box marked Reconnect at Logon. The next time you start your computer, Windows will automatically re-establish the drive mapping, using the same drive letter. For example, you could create a mapping on one computer that maps drive P: to the Shared Photos file on another computer. That way, your shared photos will always be available as drive P: This makes it simple to access frequently used files on another computer.

If you frequently access the same shared drive from several different client PCs, you may find it convenient to use the same letter for drive mappings on each client PC. For example, you may want to use "P" for photos, "M" for music, and so on.

## Note

Many users think that they should be able to run applications stored on another computer by sharing the entire hard drive or the Program Files folder. Unfortunately, this is usually not the case. Many applications require additional files copied to specific directories when the program is installed, and most programs also require specific settings in the Windows Registry.

### **Mac OS X File Sharing**

As you saw in Chapter 8, Mac OS X computers can share files with other Macs as well as with Windows PCs. There are two separate settings in the Network Preferences that control file sharing—one controls Macintosh file sharing and the other controls Windows Sharing.

#### **MAC-TO-MAC SHARING**

To share a file or folder with other Mac users on your network, you must drag the file or folder to one of two places:

- The Shared folder, located in the Users folder on your hard drive
- Vour Public folder, located in your home folder

After you have copied the items into one of these two folders, any Mac user on your LAN can open the folder and copy the files to their own computer. If the other user wants to change or delete files in your shared folder, they may need to know the username and password for the user who owns the items.

By default, the Shared folder is set up to allow all users on the network to read, write, and delete files. The Public folder inside of your home folder is set up to allow others to open and copy files, but not to delete, rename, or change files. You can change the sharing privileges of each folder by changing the permission settings for the shared folder(s). To do this, Control-click the shared folder and select Get Info. Click to expand the Ownership & Permissions settings and then expand the Details settings. Figure 10-12 shows the default permissions settings for the Public folder.



O O Public Info		
▼ General:		
Public		
rubic		
Kind: Folder Size: 8 KB on disk (6.148 b	vtes)	
Where: Macintosh HD:Users:le	esfreed	t:
Created: Thursday, September	4, 200	3 1:35
Modified: Friday, January 21, 20	05 1:2	4 PM
<b>O</b>		
Locked		
▼ Name & Extension:		
Public		
Content index:		
Preview:		
W Ownership & Permissions:		
You can Read & Write	\$	
▼ Details:		
Owner: lesfreed	\$	0
Access: Read & Write	\$	
Group: Lasfroad	-	
Group: Testreed		
Access: Read only	•	
Others: Read only	\$	
		_
Apply to enclosed in	tems	
▼ Comments:		

**Figure 10-12:** You can set specific sharing permissions for each folder on your computer.

As you can see from Figure 10-12, OS X allows you to set different permissions for different classes of users. In OS X jargon, the owner is the person who actually owns the files. The owner always has full read and write privileges to his/her own files. The owner can assign rights to other users on a group or individual user basis.

To use a shared file or folder on another Mac on your network, click the Network icon in the Finder. You should see a list of all the available servers on your network, as shown in Figure 10-13. Select the server containing the folder you want to use. Depending on the security settings on the server, you may be prompted to enter your user name and password to gain access to the folder.





**Figure 10-13:** The Finder network display shows the available servers on your network.

## Note

There may be times when the server you want to use does not appear in the Finder's list of servers. This frequently happens when you have just powered up the server computer, or if you have recently enabled sharing on a computer that was already powered on.

If this happens, use the Connect to Server option from the Finder's Go menu. You will be prompted to enter the name of the server. You must precede the server's name with afp:// followed by the IP address or name of the server.

When you connect to a shared folder, OS X places an icon on your desktop with the name of the shared folder. The icon for the network folder works much like the icon for that hard drive in your own computer; you can open it and drag and drop files from the folder. If you have the proper permissions, you can also put files into the shared folder, or delete files from the folder.

When you have finished using the shared folder, Control-click on the folder and select Eject to remove the icon from your desktop.

## Тір

If you frequently need access to a shared resource on another computer, you may find it convenient to create a desktop alias for the networked folder. To do this, Control-click on the shared folder and select Make alias from the menu. When you double-click on the alias, the corresponding network folder will open without prompting you to enter your user name and password.



#### **MAC-TO-WINDOWS SHARING**

Thanks to the addition of Windows networking support in OS X 10.3 and later, cross-platform Mac/PC file sharing is simple. The only hard and fast requirement is that you must enable Windows Sharing in the Sharing preferences screen (see Chapter 8 for details.)

To connect to a shared Windows directory from a Mac, click the Network icon in the Finder, just as you would if you were connecting to a shared folder on another Mac. Look back at Figure 10-13, and I'll point out something you may not have noticed earlier: The three computers at the top of the screen are Windows XP systems. OS X handles all shared folders equally, regardless of the operating system running on the server PC.

Similarly, shared folders on Macs appear in the Windows Network Neighborhood alongside their PC counterparts. To use a shared Mac folder from a Windows PC, just double-click the folder's icon in the Network Neighborhood, or map a drive to the shared folder.

## Summary

As you've seen in this chapter, a network gives you the freedom to work with your files, wherever you are in your home. The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- Any computer on your network can share files with other computers.
- Any computer on the network can use those shared files.
- The My Network Places window provides the quickest and easiest way to use shared folders in Windows.
- Mapped drives are convenient for frequently used shared folders on Windows PCs, and desktop aliases save time for Mac users.

File sharing is one of the most useful things you can do with a home network. Now that you have File Sharing 101 under your belt, it's time to move on to printer sharing.

# Chapter 11 Sharing Printers



Printer sharing is one of the most useful yet most underutilized aspects of home networking. There are several ways to share printers on your network. In most cases, you don't need to purchase any additional hardware or software. In this chapter, I'll show you how to:

- Share a printer from Windows XP and Mac OS X computers
- Share a printer using an external print server
- Use shared printers on your network

The great thing about printer sharing is that it allows you to use any printer in the house from any computer in the house.

## **How Network Printing Works**

If you want to share a printer on your home network, you have three alternatives:

- Windows XP and Mac OS X both include built-in printer sharing, so you can share a printer attached to any computer on your network.
- If you want to connect a printer that is not attached to a computer, you can purchase an external print server. These devices attach almost any printer to a wired or wireless LAN.
- Vou can purchase a network-capable printer or add a network printing module to your existing printer, if your printer manufacturer offers one.

Most computers on a home network can use any shared printer connected to the network, regardless of the method used to share the printer. Figure 11-1 shows a network with three shared printers, each using a different type of connection.

The printer at the top left of Figure 11-1 is connected to a Windows XP PC with a USB cable. The printer at the top right is a network-ready laser printer, and the printer at the lower left is a standard printer attached to the network via an external print server. Both computers can use any of the three printers.





Figure 11-1: The client PC on this network can print to any of three printers.

In this section, I'll explain each of the three printer sharing options so that you can choose the option that works best for you. In the remainder of the chapter, I'll show you how to connect a client computer to a shared printer.

### **Windows XP Printer Sharing**

Windows XP includes a printer sharing feature that allows you to share a printer connected to your computer. This is the simplest, most cost-efficient way to share a printer, but it isn't always the most convenient way for two reasons. First, the attached computer must be turned on for other users to use the shared printer. Second, the printer must be located relatively close to the PC.

To share a printer on the network, follow these steps:

- 1. Connect the printer to your PC using a USB or parallel printer as appropriate.
- 2. Install the printer driver and make sure that the printer is working properly.
- **3.** From the Start menu, select Printers and Faxes. If the Printers and Faxes item doesn't appear on your Start menu, open the Control Panel and then select Printers and Faxes. (If your Control Panel is set to Category View, select the Printers and Other Hardware icon; then select the Printers and Faxes icon at the bottom of the list.) You'll see a display containing an icon for each printer and fax device on your computer, like the one in Figure 11-2.
- **4.** Right-click the printer you want to share, and select Sharing from the menu. The display in Figure 11-3 appears.



🕲 Printers and Faxes			
<u>File Edit View Favorites</u>	<u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp		
🔇 Back 🔹 🌖 🔹 🇊 🔎 Search	n 🕞 Folders 🔛 🐨		
Address 🍓 Printers and Faxes			💙 🔁 Go
Printer Tasks	Adobe PDF 0 Ready	<b>cp1160</b> 0 Ready	
See what's printing Select printing preferences Pause printing	EP5ON Stylus Photo 1280 on MARVIN 0	Fax 0 Ready	
Share this printer	Fax Printer 0 Ready	HP DeskJet 930C/932C/935C 0 Ready	
Set printer properties	HP LaserJet 4P/4MP PS 0 Ready	HP OfficeJet R80 on MARVIN 0 Ready	
See Also 😵	LANIER 2138 PCL 5c	LANIER 5635 PCL 6	
Other Places 😵	Ready	Ready	
Details 🙁	0 Ready	0 Ready	
HP DeskJet 930C/932C/935C			
Documents: 0			
Status: Ready Model: HP DeskJet 930C/932C/935C			
	<u> </u>		

Figure 11-2: The Printers and Faxes window shows all of the output devices on your computer.

HP DeskJet 930C/932C/935C Properties						
Color Manage	ement Device Settings Services					
General	Shari	ng	Ports	Advanced		
You can share this printer with other users on your network. To enable sharing for this printer, click Share this printer.						
O Do <u>n</u> ot sha	re this printe	er				
<u>S</u> hare this	printer) —					
S <u>h</u> are name:	HP932					
If this printe Windows, y users do no the shared	r is shared v ou may war It have to fir printer.	vith users nt to insta nd the pri	a running different vo all additional drivers, nt driver when they	ersions of so that the connect to		
Additional Drivers						
			K Cance		y	

Figure 11-3: Use the Sharing dialog box to set a name for your printer.



- **5.** Click the Share This printer checkbox, and type a name for your printer in the space provided.
- 6. Click the General tab. You will see the display shown in Figure 11-4.

HP Desk	Jet 930 C/93	32C/935C	Properties		
Color M	anagement	nagement Device Settings Services			
General	S	haring	Ports	Advance	
5	HP DeskJet	930C/9320	C/935C		
ocation:	Aaron's Roo	m			
<u>c</u> omment:	HP Inkjet pri	nter - usual	ly has plain pap	er	
1 <u>o</u> del:	HP DeskJet	930C/932C	/935C		
Features					
Color: Ye	s	F	<sup>o</sup> aper available:		
Double-si	ded: No	[	Letter	1	
Staple: N	0				
Speed: 9	ppm				
Maximum	resolution: 12	:00 dpi			
		Printing Pr	eferences)	Print <u>T</u> est Page	
			эк ] [ (	Cancel	

**Figure 11-4:** The Location and Comment settings let you add information to identify the printer.

- **7.** Enter a location and comment, if desired. Other network users will see this information when they browse for or connect to a printer.
- **8.** Click OK. Your printer is now ready for use on the network. The printer's icon in the Printers and Faxes display shows a hand beneath the icon, indicating that the printer is shared on the network.

### **Mac OS X Printer Sharing**

You can share any printer attached to your Mac with other Mac and Windows computers on your LAN. To share a printer on the network, follow these steps:

- **1.** Connect the printer to your Mac with a USB cable.
- 2. Install the printer driver and make sure that the printer is working properly.
- 3. Open System Preferences and click Sharing.
- **4.** Turn on Windows Sharing (if needed) and Printer Sharing in the Sharing Preferences. (See Figure 11-5.)



**Figure 11-5:** The Printer Sharing checkbox shares your printer with other Macs. If you want to use the printer from a Windows PC, make sure you turn on Windows Sharing, too.

5. Close the Sharing Preferences to save the new settings.

The shared printer is now ready for use from any Mac (or Windows PC, if you turned on Windows Sharing) on the LAN.

## **Using a Print Server**

A print server gives you the freedom to put your printer wherever you want. There are a wide variety of print servers on the market to work with wired and wireless networks. You'll need to purchase a print server with the proper connection type for your printer, either parallel or USB. If your printer has both types of connectors, use the USB connection—it provides better performance than a parallel connection. Some home Internet routers include a built-in parallel or USB print server. If you are shopping for a router and need a printer server, you may want to consider one of these products. But also keep in mind that if you choose a router with a built-in print server, you'll need to locate your printer close to the router—usually within 10'-15'. If you have a mixed Mac and PC network, you may or may not be able to use the shared printer from your Macs. This is due to some driver issues that I'll discuss in the Mac section of this chapter.



#### Tip

I am a big fan of network print servers, but they have some limitations you need to know about.

Most important: Some printers simply won't work with a print server. This is especially true of combination printer/scanner/fax (often called *multifunction*) devices.

Also, some printer makers "hard code" their printer drivers so that they will only work when connected directly to a USB port. For example, I own an HP photo printer that works with my PCs and Macs, but it won't work through a print server because HP's Mac OS X driver assumes that the printer is connected to the Mac with a USB cable. I solved the problem by installing an inexpensive USB switch box on the printer—a low-tech alternative to printer networking. (The USB switch box is a simple selector switch—available in most office and computer stores—with three connectors. The printer and both PCs connect to the switch, and a button on the top of the switch determines which computer gets to use the printer.)

Finally, many print servers communicate more slowly than a direct USB cable connection. This isn't a problem for everyday printing, but it can affect the speed of photo-quality printers. My advice is to buy your print server from a store with a liberal return policy so you can return it if it doesn't work for you.

The procedure for installing a print server varies widely depending on the make and model of the print server. Most print servers come with a basic setup program on a CD-ROM or floppy disk. This program locates the new print server on your LAN and allows you to set the server's IP address. After you've set the IP address, you use the print server's built-in browser interface to perform the remainder of the server setup. Figure 11-6 shows the browser-based setup screen for a Linksys print server.

#### Tip

Most print servers come from the factory preconfigured for automatic (DHCP) IP address assignment. This makes the initial configuration simple because the server will automatically obtain an address from your network's DHCP server.

I recommend that you give your print servers permanent addresses. When you configure a client PC to use the shared printer (as you'll see at the end of this chapter), Windows records the IP address of the print server. If the server's address changes (as it will after a power outage), Windows will not be able to locate the print server, and you'll need to manually reconfigure the printer settings with the new IP address.

You can assign a permanent address to your print server using the server's configuration program.



TCP/IP - Microsoft Internet Explorer		
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp		
L'ILINIKSYS*	Server Printer TCP:IP Wireless Status Advanced	
TCP/IP	Settings for the TCP/IP network protocol. Using a fixed IP Address is recommended.	
Connection:	IP Address: DHCP Client Fixed IP Address: Device IP Address 192 168 0 103 Router IP Address 192 168 0 100 Subnet Mask 255 255 0 0 Delay before reconnection attempt (secs) 2 (0.265) Number of reconnection attempts 254 (0.255) Retrieve Defaults SAVE CANCEL	
Done	🖉 Internet	×

Figure 11-6: Most print servers use a browser-based setup menu like this one.

Most print servers require very little configuration. If you are using a wireless print server, you'll need to connect the print server to a wired Ethernet port to perform the initial configuration, including the IP address and the wireless network's SSID and WEP or WPA security codes, as shown in Figure 11-7. These are the same SSID and WEP or WPA codes that you used to configure your access point. For more information about these settings, see Chapter 7.

After you've connected and configured your print server and printer, the printer is available to all the users on your network.

#### Note

Many newer printers include a status monitor that shows the status of the ink cartridges and paper supply. These features operate only when the printer is directly connected to a computer; they may not work correctly if the printer is attached to a print server.



Wireless - Microsoft Internet Explorer     Eile Edit View Exercites Table I	Join					
<u>File Ealt View Favorites Tools i</u>	<u>1</u> e1p					
			_			
	Server	Printer	CP/IP Wirel	ess Status	Advanced	
Wire	CSS SSID and WE Point.	<sup>o</sup> settings mu	st match the Wi	reless stations us	ing this Access	
Configuration: WEP Data Privacy:	Regulatory Domain: Station Name: SSID (Service Set Ider Channel No: Network Type: Off - no data encry 64 Bit Encryption using this key tabl Default Key 1 © 128 Bit Encryption using this key WEP Authentication:	USA 00-06- titifie0 pcmac 6 w Infras ption 6 Key 1: 0 Key 2: 0 Key 3: 0 Key 4: 0 21 41 76 bc	25-04-23-63 tructure	Link Info 00 00 00 00 00 00	00 11	
						3
Done						Internet

Figure 11-7: A wireless print server must be configured to use your network's security settings.

### **Using a Network-Ready Printer**

Thanks to the growing popularity of home and small-business networks, many printer manufacturers offer models with built-in or add-on print servers. These servers are typically easier to use and provide better performance than third-party print servers.

If you are in the market for a new printer, check the manufacturer's Web site to see if a networkready model is available. Hewlett-Packard, for example, makes several inkjet and laser printers that can accept one of HP's snap-in modular print servers. Some manufacturers even offer a choice of wired and wireless built-in print servers.

You'll probably save money (and no small amount of grief) by choosing a network-ready printer rather than buying a standalone printer and a third-party print server. Thanks to the resurgence of interest in the Macintosh, many network-ready printers are both Windows and Mac-compatible.

Network-ready printers are easy to install and typically include a browser-based status monitor program so you can check the printer's status. Windows XP includes built-in support for network-ready printers, so you don't usually need to install any additional software (other than the printer driver) to use a network printer with your PC. Mac users may need to download the appropriate printer driver from the printer manufacturer's Web site.



### You Want Wireless with That?

Many network printers offer built-in Ethernet networking, but printers with built-in wireless networking are still rare. A new breed of wireless devices, like the D-Link Wireless Ethernet Bridge shown here, let you connect any Ethernet device to a wireless network. As you can see from the picture, a wireless bridge has an antenna to connect to the wireless network and an Ethernet connector to connect to your wired Ethernet device.



D-Link's Wireless Ethernet Bridge brings go-anywhere wireless flexibility to any wired Ethernet device.

The great thing about wireless bridges is that they bring wireless flexibility to devices that are normally tied to a wired network.

I used one of these on my own network to move my noisy color laser printer out of my home office and into a nearby alcove. There was no easy way to get an Ethernet cable into the hallway, so I used the wireless bridge instead.

Wireless bridges work with virtually any Ethernet-connected device, including computers, printers, and home entertainment devices.

#### Tip

Like most print servers, many network-ready printers come from the factory preconfigured for automatic (DHCP) IP address assignment. As with print servers, I recommend that you give your network printers permanent addresses.



## **Connecting to a Shared Printer**

After you've installed and configured your network printer, you need to add the printer to each PC on your network. In this section, I'll show you how to configure your network Macs and PCs to use shared printers.

### **Using Shared Printers in Windows XP**

The procedure for adding a new printer varies depending on the method used to share the printers. Generally, if you are adding a printer that is shared on another Windows XP computer on your network, Windows will automatically download and install the printer driver for you. If you are adding a network-ready printer or a shared printer using a print server, you may need to have your printer's driver CD or floppy disk handy during the installation.

#### ADDING A WINDOWS OR MAC SHARED PRINTER

To add a printer shared on another Windows XP or Mac OS X computer on your LAN, follow these steps:

- 1. From the Start menu, select Printers and Faxes. If the Printers and Faxes item doesn't appear on your Start menu, open the Control Panel and select Printers and Faxes. (If your Control Panel is set to Category View, select the Printers and Other Hardware icon; then select the Printers and Faxes icon at the bottom of the screen.)
- **2.** Click the Add a Printer icon on the left side of the Printers and Faxes display. The Add Printer Wizard starts, as shown in Figure 11-8.



Figure 11-8: The Add Printer Wizard adds new printers to your computer.



**3.** Click the Next button to move to the next step, shown in Figure 11-9.

Add Printer Wizard
Local or Network Printer The wizard needs to know which type of printer to set up.
Select the option that describes the printer you want to use:
◯ Local printer attached to this computer
Automatically detect and install my Plug and Play printer
To set up a network printer that is not attached to a print server, use the "Local printer" option.
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

**Figure 11-9:** This screen lets you choose between local and networked printers.

**4.** Select A Network Printer and click Next. You'll see the screen in Figure 11-10.

Add Printer Wizard				
Specify a Printer If you don't know the name or address of the printer, you can search for a printer that meets your needs.				
What printer do you want to connect to?				
O browse for a printer				
O Connect to this printer (or to browse for a printer, select this option and click Next):				
Name:				
Example: \\server\printer				
O Connect to a printer on the Internet or on a home or office network:				
URL:				
Example: http://server/printers/myprinter/.printer				
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel				

Figure 11-10: Save your keystrokes and select the Browse option.



**5.** Leave Browse for a Printer selected and click Next. The printer browser screen appears, as shown in Figure 11-11.

Add Printer	Wizard		
<b>Browse for</b> When t	Printer ne list of printers appears, select th	e one you want to use.	
<u>P</u> rinter: W	ELMER\hp deskjet 930c series		
Shared prin	ters:		
jag, PC	MAG		~
	ELMER\hp deskjet 930c series	hp deskjet 930c series	A
5 V	MARVIN\EPSON Stylus Photo 12	28( EPSON Stylus Photo 1280	
- 6 v	MARVIN\HP OfficeJet R80	HP OfficeJet R80	
	TAZ\HP DeskJet 930C/932C/93	5C HP DeskJet 930C/932C/935C	
	TWEETY\HP DeskJet 930C/932	C/ HP DeskJet 930C/932C/935C	Av
<	1111		>
Printer inf	ormation		
Commer	nt: Usually has plain letter-sized (	paper.	
Status:	Ready	Documents waiting:	0
		< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

**Figure 11-11:** The printer browser displays all of the printers on your network.

**6.** Select the desired printer from the list and click Next. If the printer is connected to another Windows XP PC, Windows issues a warning, shown in Figure 11-12, about the potential for viruses.

Connect	to Printer
	You are about to connect to a printer on ELMER, which will automatically install a print driver on your machine. Printer drivers may contain viruses or scripts that can be harmful to your computer. It is important to be certain that the computer sharing this printer is trustworthy. Would you like to continue?
	Yes <u>N</u> o

Figure 11-12: Confirm that you really trust the computer sharing the printer.



**7.** Click Yes. Windows copies and installs the printer driver from the print server PC. This may take a minute, even on a fast network. After a few seconds (or minutes), you'll see the default printer screen, shown in Figure 11-13.

## Note

When you connect to a shared printer on another Windows XP PC, Windows will copy the driver from the server PC to your computer. If you are configuring your Windows XP PC to use a shared printer that is connected to a Mac, you will need to manually select the appropriate printer driver for your PC. In many cases, you may need to install the appropriate driver on your PC before you connect to the shared printer.

ld Printer Wizard		
Default Printer Your computer will always send documents to the default printer unless you specify otherwise.	Ø	
Do you want to use this printer as the default printer?		
O <u>Y</u> es		
⊙ Ng		
< Back Next > Car	ncel	

Figure 11-13: You can make the new printer your default printer.

**8.** If you want to use the new printer as the default printer on this computer, click Yes. If not, click No. Click the Next button to move on to the final step, shown in Figure 11-14. You can confirm your printer settings or go back to make changes, if desired.



Add Printer Wizard		
	Comple Wizard	ting the Add Printer
	You have su You specified	ccessfully completed the Add Printer Wizard. I the following printer settings:
	Name:	hp deskjet 930c series on ELMER
	Default:	No
	Location:	Aaron's Room
	Comment:	Usually has plain letter-sized paper.
	To close this	wizard, click Finish.
		Kack Finish Cancel

**Figure 11-14:** You're finished; last chance to double-check your printer selection.

#### ADDING A SERVER-CONNECTED OR NETWORK PRINTER

The procedure to add a server-connected or network-ready printer is similar to the Windows shared printer procedure outlined in the preceding section, with one critical difference: When you connect to a shared printer connected to another Windows XP PC, Windows automatically downloads and installs the correct printer driver for you. When you add a network printer or a printer connected to a print server, you'll need to identify and install the printer driver gourself.

To add a network-ready or server-connected printer to your PC, follow these steps:

- 1. From the Start menu, select Printers and Faxes. If the Printers and Faxes item doesn't appear on your Start menu, open the Control Panel and then select Printers and Faxes. (If your Control Panel is set to Category View, select the Printers and Hardware icon; then select the Printers and Faxes icon at the bottom of the screen.)
- **2.** Click the Add a Printer icon on the left side of the Printers and Faxes display. The Add Printer Wizard starts.
- 3. Click the Next button to move to the next step, shown in Figure 11-15.
- **4.** Select Local Printer Attached to This Computer. I know this seems like the wrong choice, but trust me on this one. The Select a Printer Port screen appears, as shown in Figure 11-16.



Add Printer Wizard
Local or Network Printer The wizard needs to know which type of printer to set up.
Select the option that describes the printer you want to use:
⊙ Local printer attached to this computer
Automatically detect and install my Plug and Play printer
○ A network printer, or a printer attached to another computer
To set up a network printer that is not attached to a print server, use the "Local printer" option.
< <u>₿</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

**Figure 11-15:** As far as Windows is concerned, a server-connected printer is a local printer.

Add Printer Wizard		
Select a Printer Port Computers communicate with printers through ports.		
Select the port you want your printer to use. If the port is not listed, you can create a new port.		
Ouse the following port: LPT1: (Recommended Printer Port)		
Note: Most computers use the LPT1: port to communicate with a local printer. The connector for this port should look something like this:		
<u>C</u> reate a new port:     Type of port:     Standard TCP/IP Port		
<u>⟨Back</u> <u>N</u> ext > Cancel		

**Figure 11-16:** Windows connects to networked printers using a virtual TCP/IP port instead of a physical cable connection.

**5.** Click Create a New Port and then select Standard TCP/IP Port from the pull-down menu. The Add Standard Printer Port Wizard starts, as shown in Figure 11-17.





**Figure 11-17:** Make sure the printer is connected and powered up before proceeding.

6. Click Next to move on to the Add Port screen, shown in Figure 11-18.

Add Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard 🛛 🛛 🛛 🔊		
Add Port For which device do you want to add a port?		
Enter the Printer Name or IP address, and a port name for the desired device.		
Printer Name or IP <u>A</u> ddress:	192.168.0.102	
Port Name:	IP_192.168.0.102	
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cano	el

**Figure 11-18:** As you enter the IP address in the top window, Windows will fill in the port name in the lower window.



- **7.** Enter the IP address of your network printer or print server. Now you know why I suggested that you give your printer a fixed IP address! Windows will attempt to connect to the IP address, and it will also attempt to identify the printer. In most cases, Windows will not be able to determine the proper printer type, and you'll see the somewhat confusing screen shown in Figure 11-19, asking for your help in identifying the device.
- **8.** Leave the setting on Standard, and click Next. The TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard finishes its job, as you can see in Figure 11-20.

Add Standard T	CP/IP Printer Port Wizard 🛛 🔊
Additional Por The device	t Information Required could not be identified.
The detected de 1. The device is 2. The address of Either correct the previous wizard p	vice is of unknown type. Be sure that: properly configured. In the previous page is correct. address and perform another search on the network by returning to the bage or select the device type if you are sure the address is correct.
Device Type—	
⊙ <u>S</u> tandard	Generic Network Card
O <u>C</u> ustom	Settings
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

**Figure 11-19:** Windows can't always recognize networked printers, so you may see this screen during the installation.

Add Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard		
	Completing the Add Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard	
	You have selected a port with the following characteristics.	
	SNMP:	No
	Protocol:	RAW, Port 9100
	Device:	192.168.0.102
	Port Name:	IP_192.168.0.102
	Adapter Type:	Generic Network Card
	To complete th	iis wizard, click Finish.
		Kancel

Figure 11-20: Confirm the IP address before you click Finish.



**9.** Windows returns control back to the Add Printer Wizard. At this point, you must choose the correct driver for your printer using the screen shown in Figure 11-21.

Add Printer Wizard
Install Printer Software The manufacturer and model determine which printer software to use.
Select the manufacturer and model of your printer. If your printer came with an installation disk, click Have Disk. If your printer is not listed, consult your printer documentation for compatible printer software.
Manufacturer       Printers         Compaq       Epson Stylus Pro XL+ ESC/P 2         Dataproducts       Epson 1-1000         Dicionix       Epson 1-750         Digital       EPSON Stylus Photo 1280         This driver is digitally signed.       Windows Update         Tell me why driver signing is important       Windows Update
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext> Cancel

Figure 11-21: Select the correct driver for your printer.

**10.** Choose your printer from the list of printers. If your printer isn't on the list, you'll need to install the drivers from a floppy disk or CD-ROM. If this is the case, insert the disk and click the Have Disk button. After the correct driver is selected, click the Next button to move on to the Name Your Printer screen (see Figure 11-22).

## Тір

In some cases, you may find it necessary to install the printer drivers on the client PC before performing this step. Some printer drivers have their own setup program and cannot be installed using the Add Printer wizard. Consult your printer's driver instructions if you're not sure.

**11.** Enter a name for your printer, and decide if you want it to be the default printer on this PC. Click Next. The Printer Sharing screen appears (see Figure 11-23).



▋▟▐▋	
MAGAZINE	
www.nemameom	

Add Printer Wizard		
Name Your Printer You must assign a name to this printer.		
Type a name for this printer. Because some programs do not support printer and server name combinations of more than 31 characters, it is best to keep the name as short as possible.		
Printer name: EPSON Stylus Photo 1280		
Do you want to use this printer as the default printer?		
OYes		
⊙ No		
<u> &lt; ₿</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel		

**Figure 11-22:** Give your printer a meaningful name so that other users will be able to identify it on the network.

Add Printer Wizard	
Printer Sharing You can share this printer with other network users.	Þ
If you want to share this printer, you must provide a share name. You can use the suggested name or type a new one. The share name will be visible to other network users.	
◎ Do not share this printer	
O Share name:	
<u> </u>	

**Figure 11-23:** Because the printer is already shared by the print server, you don't want to share it again!

**12.** This screen may surprise you because the printer is already shared. Windows is offering to share the printer using Windows print sharing. This is not necessary because the printer is already attached to a network print server. Leave the setting on Do Not Share This Printer and click Next. The Print Test Page screen appears (see Figure 11-24).



Add Printer Wizard	
Print Test Page To confirm that the printer is installed properly,	you can print a test page.
Do you want to print a test page?	
⊙Yes	
ON₂	
	< Back Next > Cancel

**Figure 11-24:** You can print a test page to make sure that your PC can communicate with the networked printer.

**13.** I recommend that you print a test page from this screen. If it works, you'll hear the highly rewarding sound of your first networked print job coming out of the printer. If your test page doesn't print correctly, use the Back button to go back and double-check your settings. Click Next when you're ready to move on, and Windows will tell you you're done, as in Figure 11-25.

Add Printer Wizard		
	Comple Wizard	ting the Add Printer
	You have suc You specified	cessfully completed the Add Printer Wizard. the following printer settings:
	Name:	EPSON Stylus Photo 1280
	Share name:	<not shared=""></not>
	Port:	IP_192.168.0.102
	Model:	EPSON Stylus Photo 1280
	Default:	No
	Test page:	No
	To close this	wizard, click Finish.
		< <u>B</u> ack Finish Cancel

**Figure 11-25:** This is your last chance to change any settings for your new printer.





Your network printer is now installed and ready to use.

### Using Shared Printers in Mac OS X

Simple printer sharing is a time-honored Apple tradition, dating back to the earliest (1984) Mac computers and the original Apple LaserWriter printer. OS X makes it easier than ever to connect shared printers to your Mac-with a few caveats.

As I mentioned earlier in this chapter, some Mac printer drivers assume that the printer is connected to one of the Mac's USB ports. This creates a frustrating scenario where you can connect your Mac to a shared printer, but you can't choose the proper printer driver because the driver is hard-coded to only talk to the USB ports.

A similar problem exists when connecting a Mac to printers shared on a Windows XP computer. Some printer makers only provide Windows drivers with their products, making it impossible to use these printers with a Mac. Other makers offer an OS9 driver for older printers, but no OS X version. Unless you want to spend time banging your head against a wall (or your printer), check the printer manufacturer's Web site for an OS X network-compatible driver before you begin.

To connect your Mac to a networked printer, follow these steps:

000	Print & Fax	0
(c)		
Show All Displays	Sound Network Startup Disk	
	Printing Faxing	
	Set Up Printers	
Selecte	d printer in Print Dialog: Minolta Color Laser	\$
Default p	paper size in Page Setup: US Letter	•
	Share my printers with other compu	ters

e 11-26.

Figure 11-26: To add a new printer, start at the Print & Fax Preferences screen.



2. Click Set up Printers to open the Printer List, as shown in Figure 11-27.



Figure 11-27: The Printer List shows all currently installed printers.

**3.** Click the Add icon at the top of the Printer List window. You will see the AppleTalk printer list shown in Figure 11-28.

	Local AppleTalk	Zone	A T	
Name			Туре	
실 LK7D7625			PostScript Pri	nter
Character S	iet:Western (Mac)			_
rinter Model:	Auto Select			

**Figure 11-28:** The AppleTalk printer list shows any AppleTalk-compatible printers on your LAN.

- **4.** If you want to use an AppleTalk printer, select the printer, click the Add button, and skip to Step 7.
- **5.** If the printer is attached to a Windows XP computer, click the pull-down list at the top of the window and select Windows Printing from the list.
- **6.** Select the name of the computer that is sharing the printer and then click Choose. You'll see a list of available printers, shown in Figure 11-29.



	PCMAG		\$
			<u>.</u>
Name	A (	Comment	
FOGHORN			
LK7D7625			
MARVIN	1	Les' HP Desktop	+
MINI-ME		Mac OS X	
	(		
inter Model:	Generic		

**Figure 11-29:** The printer I want is connected to the PC named Marvin.

	Windows Pr	inting 🛟
	MARVIN	Å Y
Name	A	Comment
CanonPC1		Canon PC1200/iC D700
∂⁄ photosmart		hp photosmart 7900 series
Printer Model:	Generic	
		Cancel Add

**Figure 11-30:** Select the printer you want to use and then use the pull-down list to select the appropriate driver.

**7.** Select the desired printer from the list; then choose the driver from the Printer Model pulldown list. (See Figure 11-30.) Click Add to finish up.

Your printer is now ready for use and you will return to the Printer List (Figure 11-27). If you will be using the new printer as your primary printer, you may want to make it the default printer by clicking the Make Default button in the Printer List.



## Summary

Now you know how to share and use printers on your network. As you can see, there's no rocket science involved. Shared printers save time, space, and money.

The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- Vou can share a printer from any Windows XP or Mac OS X computer.
- Shared network printers work just like any other printer; you don't need to do anything special to use them with your favorite programs.
- If you want to share a printer that isn't connected to a computer, you'll need an external print server.
- By using printer sharing, you may be able to reduce the number of printers in your home.
- Some printers include built-in print servers that simplify connection to a network.

I've been using a home LAN for many years, and I find network printing to be one of the truly indispensable features of my home network.

Coming up, I'll show you how the new wave of home entertainment devices leverages the power of your home LAN and Internet connection to provide you with entertainment options.

## Chapter 12

# Home Media and Convergence



edia convergence-the marriage of computing and home entertainment technologies-has been the "next big thing" for about 10 years now. After much talk and many false starts (not to mention billions of dollars in investment capital), the first wave of true media convergence devices are in the stores.

In this chapter, I'll introduce you to some new, fun, and innovative products that expand your home LAN beyond computing. These products include:

- The latest media convergence products that let you record, play, and store music, TV programs, movies, and still images on your home entertainment system
- New Media Center PCs specifically designed to integrate your home entertainment and computing worlds in one box
- Products to connect your GameCube, PlayStation2, or Xbox to a LAN
- Video surveillance and videoconferencing systems

#### Note

My goal in this chapter is to introduce you to some new products that you likely haven't seen before. The examples in this section are intended to give you an overview of the products' features and to give you an idea of the complexity of the products' installation and operation. As such, they are not intended to be a complete how-to guide. Also, keep in mind that most of the products shown in the chapter are just one of many similar products available from several manufacturers.

## **Home Entertainment Devices**

So you've gone out and bought a digital camera, a digital video camcorder, and an MP3 player. You now have tons of digital photos, hours of carefully edited home videos, and hundreds of songs at your disposal—as long as you are in front of the computer. You used to make fun of your parents for 211



keeping all of your family photos jammed into a shoebox. But now you have all of your memories jammed into a hard drive.

In this section, I show you some new and innovative products that can help you free your images, videos, and music files from their hard-drive home. These products harness the speed and power of your home network to let you play music, digital images, and even digital TV and video files on your home entertainment system.

### Linksys Wireless Media Adapter

The Linksys Wireless Media Adapter frees your digital photo and audio files from the confines of your PC. The Media Adapter allows you to view digital image files and listen to your MP3 collection on your TV and stereo system, using the files on your network.

#### Note

The Linksys Media Adapter is just one of several products on the market to provide the same or similar functionality. Some products (like the Gateway Connected DVD Player, discussed later in the chapter) offer MPEG video capability, in addition to still image and MP3 file playback.

Figure 12-1 shows how the Media Adapter fits into your home entertainment system.



Home Entertainment System

Figure 12-1: The Linksys Wireless Media Adapter connects to your home network and your home entertainment system.



The Media Adapter is fairly small—about the size of this book. There are no controls on the Media Adapter itself other than an on/off switch. You operate the Media Adapter using onscreen displays with the provided remote control, shown in Figure 12-2.



Figure 12-2: The Wireless Media Adapter is controlled via its remote.



The rear panel of the Media Adapter (shown in Figure 12-3) provides connections for your LAN and your home entertainment system, and includes Ethernet, stereo audio, composite video, and S-video connections.



**Figure 12-3:** The rear panel of the Media Adapter provides connections to your network, TV, and audio system.

#### **INSTALLING THE MEDIA ADAPTER**

Installing the Media Adapter takes only a few minutes. You need to connect the audio and video cables to your home entertainment systems. The Media Adapter can connect to your LAN using a wired or wireless connection. If you're using a wired Ethernet connection, you need to connect the Media Adapter to your Ethernet switch. If you're using the wireless link, you'll need to attach the provided antenna to the Media Adapter. Linksys provides all the cables you'll need in the box with the Media Adapter.

After you've hooked up the cables, you need to install the Media Adapter Utility software (provided on a CD-ROM) on your PC. The Utility software consists of two parts. The first is a server program that loads automatically when Windows starts. The server has no user interface, but it installs an icon on the system tray to let you know that the software is running. If you click the icon while the server is running, you'll see the Media Folder Manager, the second part of the program. Figure 12-4 shows the Media Folder Manager display.

The Media Folder Manager program lets you select which files you want to make available to the Media Adapter. In the example in Figure 12-4, I've chosen to share the My Pictures and My Music folders, which are normally located in the My Documents folder on most PCs.

When you first install the Media Adapter, you'll need to tell the Media Adapter how to communicate with the network. You do this using the Media Adapter's remote control and your TV. Pressing the Setup button on the remote brings up the Media Adapter's Setup screen, shown in Figure 12-5.


Media Folder Manager	
The Wireless-B Media Adapter will only load music and pictures f your PC. Later you can also add or remove folders by right-clicking the W icon in your system tray. C Selected Media Folders	rom the folders you select on /ireless-B Media Adapter Utility
Folder	Status
c:\documents and settings\les\my documents\my pictures c:\documents and settings\les\my documents\my music	Processing Processing
	Add Remove
	ОК

**Figure 12-4:** You use the Linksys Media Folder Manager to select the files to play on the Media Adapter.

Media Adapter Setup																		
IP Settings         Fixed IP         DHCP Client           IP Address:         192, 168, 000, 230         255, 255, 000           Subnet Mask:         255, 255, 000         255, 255, 000																		
Wireless Settings       Ad-Hoc       Infrastructure         SSID:       9595         Channel:       6         WEP Encryption:       Disabled       64 bits       128 bits         WEP Key:       00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00       00 00 00 00																		
а	b	C	d	e	f	g	h	i	j	k	I.	m		1	2	3	Ente	
n	0	p	q	r	s	t	u	v	w	X	у	z		4	5	6	te	
3/2	Spa	808	*	(	)	-	-	+	=	+	<b>→</b>	ØEL		7	8	9	0	
										Ρ	res	s S	etu	рw	he	n do	one	

**Figure 12-5:** You use the Media Adapter's Setup screen and the remote control to configure the Adapter's network settings.



As you can see from Figure 12-5, you don't need to enter much information to configure the Adapter. In fact, if you are using an Ethernet connection and have a DHCP server on your network, you don't need to enter anything at all.

In the example in Figure 12-5, I have configured the Media Adapter to communicate with my wireless network, and I am preparing to enter the WEP encryption key—the most tedious part of the configuration process. The Media Adapter uses the same WEP key as the other wireless devices on your LAN; see Chapter 7 for more information on configuring WEP.

#### A QUICK TOUR OF THE MEDIA ADAPTER

After you've installed the software and configured the communication settings, you are ready to sit back and enjoy your pictures and music. The Menu button on the remote control brings up the Media Adapter's main menu display on your TV screen, shown in Figure 12-6.



Figure 12-6: The Media Adapter's main menu screen.

At this point, you can listen to music, view your pictures, or get help with using the remote control. Selecting Music from the main menu takes you to the Music Navigator screen, shown in Figure 12-7.





**Figure 12-7:** The Music Navigator screen lets you choose your music by artist or genre. You can also select a specific folder, use a playlist, or simply play all of the files.

The Media Adapter can identify the artist and genre of each music file on your computer. In the example in Figure 12-8, I've chosen the Artists selection from the Music Navigator, which displays an alphabetical list of all the artists in my music collection.

#### Note

In these examples, I have used MP3 files that contain artist and title information. Some MP3 files include this information and some don't; it all depends on the software you use to create and manage your MP3 collection. If your files don't contain this information, the Media Adapter will not be able to organize the tracks by artist or genre.

After you've selected an artist, genre, or playlist, the Media Adapter plays your selections in the order you've chosen. As each song plays, the on-screen display updates to show information about the current track, as shown in Figure 12-9.





Figure 12-8: The Artists display shows all the artists in your music collection.



**Figure 12-9:** The Now Playing screen displays information about the current title, artist, and album.



The Pictures Navigator is similar to the Music Navigator. Figure 12-10 shows the main Pictures Navigator screen as seen on your TV.



Figure 12-10: The main Pictures Navigator screen lets you select the pictures you want to see.

If you have your pictures organized into folders, the Pictures Navigator will let you select the folder you want to view. If your pictures are all lumped into one folder, you can use the Navigator to scroll through a thumbnail display of your images until you find the one you want to see. Figure 12-11 shows the thumbnail display.

As you can see in the example in Figure 12-11, the currently selected picture (on the lower left) is highlighted with a light gray frame. Pressing the Select button will show a full-screen image of the picture; pressing the Play button begins a slide show of all the pictures in the current folder, beginning with the selected picture

It may be difficult to tell from the small figures in this book, but the Media Adapter has no way of knowing which pictures are framed horizontally and which are vertical. For example, the picture at the bottom right of Figure 12-11 is a vertical picture, and it will display sideways on the screen. To correct this, you need to open the image in an image editor and then rotate and resave the image— or just turn your head sideways to view the vertical images.





**Figure 12-11:** The Pictures Navigator's thumbnail display lets you see six pictures at a time.

### TiVo

I'm not a big TV watcher—or at least I wasn't one before I bought a TiVo. TiVo defined a new class of products collectively known as digital video recorders, or DVRs. With a TiVo in the house, you never have to worry about missing a TV show because the TiVo DVR records your favorite shows automatically. You can also pause live TV for up to 30 minutes, so you won't miss half of your pay-per-view movie just because Aunt Mabel decided to call.

TiVo not only changes the way you watch TV; it changes the way you think about TV. Instead of watching TV in real time, you tell TiVo what you want to see, and it takes care of the details—like the time, channel, and length of the program. When you have some free time, you can browse through your archive of recorded programs and pick one to watch. TiVo is easier and simpler to use than a conventional VCR. There's no tape to buy, no rewinding, and no programming.

TiVo is amazingly simple to use. TiVo uses a series of simple, easy-to-understand on-screen menus and one of the best remote controls I've ever used. Figure 12-12 shows the main TiVo menu screen and the TiVo remote control.





Figure 12-12: The TiVo Central screen (left) is the gateway to TiVo's features. You get there by pressing the TiVo button at the top center of the TiVo remote (right). © 2002 TiVo Inc. All Rights Reserved.

#### **HOW TIVO WORKS**

The TiVo system consists of a TiVo DVR and the TiVo service, a continually updated list of what's playing on each channel in your area. The TiVo DVR works with conventional over-the-air TV, as well as with cable and most satellite systems. You can purchase TiVo as a standalone device that you add to your existing home entertainment system, and several manufacturers offer satellite receivers and DVD players with TiVo built in.

The standalone TiVo DVR is a VCR-sized box containing a CPU and a large, fast hard drive. The DVR connects to your TV or home entertainment system in much the same way as a conventional VCR. Figure 12-13 shows a diagram of the TiVo system.

The TiVo DVR contains a standard TV tuner so that you can watch a live program on your TV while the TiVo records a different channel at the same time. You can also connect a satellite receiver or cable TV box to record programming from those sources.

TiVo records programs on the system's hard drive rather than on tape. When you play back a recording, the DVR converts the digital data stored on the hard drive back into standard audio and video signals that you can watch on any TV. Because disk storage allows random access to any part of the program, the TiVo playback experience is very much like watching a DVD rather than a tape. You can skip ahead or back, pause the playback, or fast-forward at high speed using the buttons on the TiVo remote control.





Figure 12-13: The TiVo DVR connects to your home entertainment system and home network.

#### **NETWORKING YOUR TIVO**

So what does any of this have to do with home networking? As you can see from Figure 12-13, the TiVo DVR can connect (using a wired or wireless connection) to your home network. The network connection is optional (and you'll need to hook your TiVo to a phone line if you don't have a LAN), but it adds several important features to the TiVo system.

#### Note

The networking features described in this section are available only on TiVo Series2 DVR systems.

Every TiVo DVR needs to connect to the TiVo service every day or two in order to download information on upcoming programs. If you subscribe to cable or satellite TV service, that's a lot of information. The TiVo DVR can make the connection using a dial-up telephone connection, but the daily call can take 20 minutes or more. If you connect the TiVo to a home network with a broadband Internet connection, the TiVo DVR will use the Internet connection instead of the phone line.



Networked TiVo DVR users can also take advantage of several features designed specifically for TiVos on a LAN:

- You can use your TiVo and home entertainment system to view photos and listen to MP3 audio files stored on your computer.
- If you have two TiVo DVRs in your home, you can view programs recorded on one DVR from another DVR. The TiVo DVRs use the home network to transfer the digitized recording from one DVR to the other.
- You can transfer recordings from any TiVo in your home to any PC equipped with TiVo's (free) software. This feature lets you use your PC or laptop as an additional TV set.
- LAN TiVo users also gain access to TiVo Central Online. This unique feature lets you add programs to your TiVo's to-do list over the Internet from any browser-equipped PC.

Figure 12-14 shows the TiVo Central search results screen. In this example, I went to TiVo Central and searched for all upcoming movies with "Brando." (The list shows some duplicate entries because some channels are duplicated on my cable and satellite services.) To add a recording to the TiVo's to-do list, click the title of the program and then acknowledge that you want to record this program. The next time your TiVo DVR connects to TiVo, the new recording is added to the to-do list.



Figure 12-14: Searching for Brando on TiVo Central.



# Тір

When I first heard of this feature, I didn't think I'd ever use it—but it is the one TiVo feature that I use the most. If I'm out of town, or if someone tells me about a must-see movie or TV show while I'm at the office, I can add it to TiVo's to-do list right away.

#### **CONNECTING YOUR TIVO TO THE LAN**

To connect a TiVo DVR to your network, you'll need a USB network adapter. The TiVo DVR has two USB ports on the rear panel, and the network adapter can connect to either port. You can use an Ethernet or WiFi wireless adapter; I've used a wireless adapter for this example.

# Note

You'll need to purchase a network adapter that is on TiVo's list of approved network adapters. You can find a current list of adapters on the TiVo Web site.

The installation process is simple and usually takes only a few minutes, using the remote control, your TV set, and a series of onscreen menus. I won't go into all of the details here, but the screen in Figure 12-15 shows the main network setup screen as shown on your TV.

Phone & Network Setup								
	Connect via: Last status:	Network Succeeded	IP address: MAC addr:	192.168.0.33 00:06:25:19:D7:8B				
	Last success: Last attempt: Next attempt:	Wed, Sep 17 5:49 am Wed, Sep 17 5:49 am Thu, Sep 18 9:26 am	Wireless: Network: Signal:	9595 77% (Excellent)				
4	Change c	onnection type		$\triangleright$				
M	Edit phon	e or network setting	S					
	Test conn	ection						
	Connect to the TiVo service now							
	Troubleshooting							

Figure 12-15: TiVo's network setup screen is about as easy as it gets.



The Phone & Network Setup screen shows your current network settings, and it also shows the TiVo DVR's current IP address and wireless signal status. When you think you have everything configured correctly, you can make a test connection to the TiVo service, as shown in Figure 12-16.

Test Connection					
Testing network connection					
🎯 Preparing (Done)					
Solution (Done)					
Solution Disconnecting (Done)					
Operation Operanded					
Connection Succeeded					
Press SELECT to continue					

**Figure 12-16:** The Test Connection screen confirms that your connection is working correctly. If it isn't, the onscreen display will offer some useful troubleshooting tips.

Tip

After you've successfully connected your TiVo DVR to your network, you can disconnect the phone line from your TiVo DVR. This is a big plus for those of us who live in lightning-prone areas of the country because it eliminates a major source of lightning damage.

#### **USING TIVO'S NETWORK FEATURES**

To take advantage of many of TiVo's networking features, you'll need to install the TiVo Desktop software, a free download available on the TiVo site.

The TiVo's Desktop software consists of two separate programs that run on your PC. The TiVo Server program loads when you start your PC and runs as an icon on the system task tray. Doubleclicking the TiVo Server icon starts the TiVo Desktop program, shown in Figure 12-17.



File View Action	ons Server Help
Eile View Action	Ins Server Help Music and Photos Make music and photos available to the TiVo DVRs in your network.  Music Photos  Add Music Properties Remove  MMMUSC Blood Sweat & Texes Blue Byster Cut Blue Byster Cut Blue Byster Cut Chicao Chica
	Clade Boling Clade Boling Ereston Lake & Patter Ereston Lake & Fatter Ereston Lake & Fatter Urean Theelar Van Monison
	To listen to music on your TNo DVRs, go to TNo Central and select "Music & Photos"

**Figure 12-17:** The TiVo Desktop lets you choose the files available for playback on the TiVo DVR.

The TiVo Desktop allows you to choose the files that will be available for playback and display on the TiVo DVR. After you've selected the files to publish, you can close the TiVo Desktop program, and the TiVo Server program will remain active.

You can view pictures or play back MP3 files from your home entertainment system by pressing the TiVo button and selecting Music & Photos from the TiVo Central menu, as shown in Figure 12-18.

#### **Listening to Music**

To listen to your MP3 files, select Music & Photos from the TiVo Central screen and then choose the appropriate shared folder from the onscreen menu shown in Figure 12-19.





Figure 12-18: The TiVo Central screen.

	Music & Photos						
<	Les Freed's Music on MARVIN						
A	Les Freed's Photos on MARVIN						
	Music on TiVo Online						
	Photos on TiVo Online						
	Manually add a server						

Figure 12-19: Your shared music and photo folders will appear on this screen.



In this example, I've chosen the folder called Les Freed's Music on Marvin. Pressing the Select button on the remote control shows the individual folders on my server, as shown in Figure 12-20.



Figure 12-20: This is a list of the shared music on my computer.

To choose an individual artist, press the Select button again, and you'll see a display of all the album titles by that artist, followed by a display of the individual songs. After you've selected an artist to play, the TiVo DVR plays your music. The screen display shows the artist, title, and album name of each song, as you can see in Figure 12-21.

#### **Viewing Your Digital Photos**

To view your digital photos on the TiVo, you start at the Music & Photos screen and select a folder. As with the digital music playback, you can use the TiVo remote to navigate through your shared folders until you see the folder you want to view. After you've selected an individual image, you'll see a thumbnail display of the image, along with the date and time the photo was taken. A menu at the bottom of the screen lets you view the photo, rotate the photo (handy for those of us who take lots of vertical pictures), or begin a slide show of all the images in the folder. Figure 12-22 shows the individual photo display.





Figure 12-21: TiVo displays information about each track as it plays.



Figure 12-22: After selecting a photo folder, you can view details about each image.



#### WATCHING RECORDED PROGRAMS ON YOUR PC

If you see someone watching Leno or Letterman on their laptop during your morning commute, don't be surprised. A new TiVo feature called TiVoToGo lets you copy programs recorded on your TiVo to any PC and then watch the program at your convenience.

# Note

As we went to press, the TiVoToGo feature was not available in the Mac version of TiVo Desktop.

TiVoToGo is part of the TiVo Desktop program (see Figure 12-17). When you click the Now Playing icon in TiVo Desktop, you'll see a list of available programs like the one in Figure 12-23.

From TIVo DVR:					
downstairs	¥				
Г. <sup>1</sup>	_		Sort O	Alphabetically	By date record
ho Simpeone					
he ompoons )on't East the Ponter'' (2005) (where	a leaku roof drives klomer to drivk, ha goes to t	an hay and hefriands a		5	CID1 0-00 DM 12 INT
ser-loving roofer [Ray Romano], wh	promises to help Homer with the repairs.	io bai ana bononas a		Jun :	Duration: 0
					Rated: TV-PG
					Animated, Site
T11					
This recording may be deleted to r	make room for other programs.				
tie	Episode	Date Recorded	Duration	Approx Size	Status
It The West Wind	"Privateers"	Tue 05/03	1.00	1.157 MB	
The West Wing	"Red Haven's on Fire"	Tue 05/03	1:00	1,232 MB	
The West Wing	"Shibboleth"	Tue 05/03	1:00	1,236 MB	
The West Wing	"Hartsfield's Landing"	Tue 05/03	1:00	1,130 MB	
Desperate Housewives	"Fear No More"	Sun 05/01	1:02	1,411 MB	
The Simpsons	"The Heartbroke Kid"	Sun 05/01	0:30	776 MB	
The Simpsons	"Don't Fear the Roofer"	Sun 05/01	0:30	717 MB	
Desperate Housewives	"Live Alone and Like It"	Sun 04/17	1:02	1,400 MB	
Desperate Housewives	"Children Will Listen"	Sun 04/10	1:02	1,425 MB	
The West Wing	"2162 Votes"	Wed 04/06	1:00	1,278 MB	
Desperate Housewives	"There Won't Be Trumpets"	Sun 04/03	1:02	1,356 MB	
	"Things Fall Apart"	Wed 03/30	1:00	1,121 MB	
The West Wing		N/ 100/00	1.00	1.217 MB	
The West Wing The West Wing	"In God We Trust"	Web U3/23	1.44	a plant of the second	
<ul> <li>The West Wing</li> <li>The West Wing</li> <li>Boston Legal</li> </ul>	"In God We Trust" "Death Be Not Proud"	Sun 03/20	0:58	1,567 MB	
The West Wing     The West Wing     Boston Legal     The West Wing	"In God We Tru≋" "Death Be Not Proud" "Ninety Miles Away"	Wed 03/23 Sun 03/20 Wed 03/16	0:58	1,567 MB 1,161 MB	

**Figure 12-23:** TiVo Desktop's Now Playing list shows a list of available recordings on your TiVo DVR.

To transfer a program to your PC, click the checkbox next to the program name(s) and then click the Start Transfer button. After the programs have been transferred to your PC, you can watch the programs using Windows Media Player.

# Note

If you're in a hurry to catch your morning train, you'd better skip last night's Letterman show. It takes about 20 minutes to download a 30 minute program, even on a very fast LAN.



#### **PURCHASING TIVO**

TiVo makes its own DVRs, and it also licenses its technology to other equipment manufacturers. TiVo is available as a standalone DVR device, but you can also purchase TiVo as part of a DVD player or satellite receiver system.

All TiVo users must subscribe to the TiVo service to receive programming information and software updates. TiVo charges a monthly fee for the service, or you can purchase a lifetime subscription to the TiVo service. Keep in mind that *lifetime* means the lifetime of the TiVo DVR, and not the owner. If you upgrade to a newer TiVo device a few years down the road, you'll need to purchase a new subscription.

The TiVo system is much more powerful and much easier to use than a conventional VCR. If you're a dedicated TV watcher who can't stand to miss an episode of your favorite shows, TiVo is a must-have. And even if you're not a TV junkie, TiVo lets you watch your shows and movies on your terms at a time—and even a place—of your choosing.

# **Media Center PCs**

So far, I've discussed the Linksys Media Adapter, which moves your still picture and MP3 audio files into the living room. I've also introduced you to the TiVo DVR, which lets you time shift TV and gives you the option to move recorded program files from the living room back to your PC. The Media Center PC combines elements of each of these devices, but in a completely different way.

### A Quick Tour of Media Center

A Media Center PC is just the name says: It is a PC designed to be the center of your electronic media universe. Under the hood, a Media Center PC is a mid- to high-powered PC with a high end graphics card, a large, fast, hard drive, a network connection, at least one DVD drive, a wireless remote control with standardized buttons, audio and video input and output connectors, an (optional) TV tuner card, and a quiet design.

Microsoft originally required that Media Center PCs come equipped with a TV tuner, but they recently dropped this requirement. Media Center works with most USB and PCI TV tuner devices—including some HDTV tuners—so you can always add a tuner later.

### **The Well-Connected PC**

The standard audio/video outputs make it simple to connect a Media Center PC to virtually any existing home entertainment system. For example, my own Media Center PC has four types of video outputs (standard composite video and S-Video, plus DVI digital and 15-pin VGA monitor video) connectors), plus analog stereo and digital 5.1 surround sound audio outputs.

Through a happy coincidence, my home entertainment center is just on the other side of the wall between my home office and my living room. I used the PC's DVI output to connect my LCD desktop monitor, and I ran an S-video cable and digital audio cable through the wall to connect my PC to my home entertainment system.



Microsoft has encouraged PC makers to get creative with the physical design of their Media Center PCs, and some PC makers offer Media Center PC boxes in all shapes and sizes. HP, for example, offers a small, cube-shaped Media Center PC that blends right in with most other home enter-tainment gear. A few PC makers have come up with super-quiet PCs that use liquid cooling (in place of noisy fans) and rubber-mounted hard drives to reduce noise.

Depending on your needs (and your home entertainment budget), you can use a Media Center PC as a standard desktop PC, or you can set it up to be a dedicated home entertainment center PC. Media Center PCs run a special version of Windows XP called Windows XP Media Center Edition, or MCE for short. You can switch between Media Center mode and standard PC operation with the push of a button or with the click of a mouse, so your PC can do double duty as a computer and as a Media Center. In fact, it can do both at once, as we'll see later in this section.

The Media Center menu screen (shown in Figure 12-24) covers the entire Windows desktop. It was designed to be operated at a distance, so it features large letters and icons that you can see from across the room. Although the Media Center menu uses the entire screen, it is actually a Windows application program like any other, so you can resize, minimize, or close the Media Center screen at any time.



Figure 12-24: The main Media Center menu screen is readable from a distance and simple to navigate.



You operate the Media Center menu with your keyboard (if you're using your PC screen) or with the wireless remote control include with most Media Center PCs. As you can see from Figure 12-24, Media Center provides simple, point and click access to TV and radio (if your PC is equipped with an appropriate tuner card), music, and videos, including home movies created with Windows Movie Maker or virtually any other video editor program.

One of the strong points of Media Center is its excellent onscreen programming guide, shown in Figure 12-25.

ŀ	C			ior	11.16 ANA	
			GUIDE		11:16 AIVI	
	Tue, l	May 10	11:00 AM	11:30 AM	12:00 PM	
	61	TNT	ER		Judging Amy	
	62	TVLAND	Mister Ed	I Dream of Jean	MacGyver	
	64	FNC	Fox News Live	Fox News Live		
	65	тсм	Swing Time		Follow the Flee	
	66	COMEDY	Premium Blend	Premium Blend Comedy Central		
	67	SCIFI	Quantum Leap		Quantum Leap	
	68	BRAVO	Queer Eye for the	e Straight Guy	The West Wing	
	6	2	Mister Ed "Ed the Shishk part of a magi 11:00 AM - 11	ebob" Ed is dismayed c trick. :30 AM Series/Come	to learn he is to be dy TV-G	

**Figure 12-25:** Media Center's program guide shows you everything coming up on TV (talking horse not included).

If you're thinking that this looks and sounds a lot like TiVo, you're right. Media Center provides many of the same TV recording features as TiVo, including the capability to record all occurrences of your favorite programs. Figure 12-26 shows the Record Series option screen.



SERIES SETTINGS	) ROCKFORD FILES	
Save	Stop:	
Cancel	On time	- +
Curren	Quality:	
	Better	- +
	Кеер:	
	Until space needed	- +
	Keep up to:	
	10 recordings	- +
	Channels:	
	14 WGNSAT only	- +
		4 of 7 🔤 🗹

**Figure 12-26:** Media Center provides the capability to automatically record your favorite programs whenever they air.

Like TiVo, Media Center gets information on upcoming programming over the Internet. (Hey, you knew there had to be a network connection here someplace!) But unlike TiVo, which charges a monthly or lifetime subscription fee, Media Center's program guide is free.

### **Media Center Extenders**

As I mentioned earlier, I am fortunate that my home entertainment system is located close to my PC, so my Media Center PC does double duty as my everyday PC and as my home entertainment PC.

If your home entertainment center is located some distance from your PC, it may not be possible to connect the PC directly to your entertainment system. Video signals can only travel relatively short distances before the picture quality degrades, even if you use high-quality (and expensive) cables. Even if you can overcome the distance issue, you'll need to run separate audio, video, and USB (for the remote control receiver) cables from your Media Center PC to the entertainment system. That's a lot of cables, and it can be difficult to hide them, especially in your living room.

That's where the Media Center Extender comes in. A Media Center Extender (Figure 12-27) connects to your wired or wireless LAN and to your home entertainment system.



### A Little Media Math

A Media Center PC costs about \$200 to \$300 more than a similar PC without Media Center. At press time, a 40-hour TiVo DVR cost \$200, plus \$12.95 per month or \$299 for a lifetime subscription to the TiVo service. So which one is the better buy?

If you're in the market for a new PC, you should consider a Media Center PC. Even if you don't plan to use Media Center's DVR features often, it is handy to be able to watch TV on your PC. If you're building a high-end home entertainment system, one of the made-for-the-living-room Media Center PCs makes an impressive addition to your system.

If you're looking for a dedicated DVR device to replace that old VHS machine, TiVo is probably the better choice.

Keep in mind that whichever you choose (Media Center PC or TiVo) you'll need to keep the machine powered up 24/7 to be able to record programs. A standalone TiVo uses substantially less electric power than a Media Center PC, an important factor given today's high energy costs.



**Figure 12-27:** A Media Center extender, such as this model from Linksys, connects your home entertainment center to your Media Center PC over your home LAN.



The Media Center Extender (about \$300) is essentially a dedicated Media Center PC with no storage of its own. The Extender has standard audio and video connections on the back, including composite, S-Video, and component RGB video outputs as well as analog and TOSLink digital audio outputs. The Linksys Media Center Extender shown in Figure 12-27 includes 100 Mbps Ethernet and dual-band (802.11a and 802.11g) WiFi adapters.

A single Media Center PC can host up to three Extenders at the same time, so you can get double or triple duty out of one Media Center PC. The Extender's main menu is nearly identical to that of the Media Center PC, as you can see in Figure 12-28.



**Figure 12-28:** Media Center PC or Extender? It's hard to tell, but this is the Media Center Extender menu screen.

#### Tip

Media Center Extenders deliver a high-quality analog picture, but they do not work with digital TVs and can not play back high-definition digital content. If you have a high definition TV and want to use Media Center to record and play back HD content, you'll need to connect your Media Center PC directly to your TV.

My own experience with the Linksys Media Center extender has been very positive, but I've learned a few things the hard way, so I'll pass them on to you:

If you'll be recording TV programs overnight, you'll need to leave the PC on 24/7. It is essential (and good computing practice in any case) to have a standby power supply or UPS for your Media Center PC.



- If you live in an area with frequent lightning hits, invest in good AC power surge protectors for your PC and your Extender, and make sure your cable TV or external antenna has adequate lightning protection. Most standby power supplies include built-in surge protectors, so you don't need both.
- Although the Extender works well over a wireless connection, it can be a bandwidth hog at times. You'll get better and more reliable performance using a wired Ethernet connection.

# **Network Gaming**

Today's game consoles and high-end gaming PCs feature graphics, sound, and realistic animation that bring arcade-quality gaming into your living room. One of the hottest trends in gaming joins gaming and Internet technology to create a real-time, multiplayer gaming environment. Instead of competing against a programmed opponent built into the game's software, players can compete head-to-head against real, live opponents.

All three of the major game consoles—Sony's PlayStation2, Nintendo's GameCube, and Microsoft's Xbox—offer players the ability to connect their console to a local network or a dial-up Internet connection. Using the local network, gamers can connect two or more game consoles to play head-to-head games with their friends. Many games also include an Internet play feature that allows gamers to compete against players around the world.

# Tip

If you hang around with online gamers very long, you'll almost certainly hear about *lag time*, *latency time*, or *ping time*. This is the amount of time it takes for one player's move to make its way over the Internet and over to the other player's computer. Lag time is a critical factor in multiplayer games because the person with the lowest lag time has a distinct advantage over the other players.

Dial-up modems typically have much longer lag times than cable or DSL connections. If you take your gaming seriously, broadband is the only way to go.

Of the three major gaming consoles, only the Xbox comes from the factory with an Ethernet connection as standard equipment. GameCube and PlayStation2 users can purchase inexpensive network adapters that add Ethernet and/or dial-up modem connectivity to their game consoles. Nintendo sells separate dial-up modem and Ethernet adapters; Sony offers a combination modem and Ethernet adapter.

All three game consoles use DHCP for automatic address assignment, so they require very little setup or configuration to connect to a home network.



### **Going Wireless**

Online gaming is great fun, but most of us didn't have the foresight to run an Ethernet cable into the living room or den. Several manufacturers have addressed that problem with wireless adapters designed specifically for home gaming. In Chapter 11, I mentioned the D-Link Wireless Bridge as a great tool to connect a printer to a wireless network. That same product can also be used to connect any Ethernet-equipped game console to your wireless home network.

Linksys makes two wireless game adapters. The Wireless-B gaming adapter works on 802.11b networks, and the Wireless-G adapter works with 802.11b and 802.11g networks. The figure shows the two Linksys adapters.



#### The Linksys Wireless-B (left) and Wireless-G network gaming adapters add wireless connectivity to Ethernet-equipped game consoles.

These two products are exceptionally easy to install. The Wireless-B adapter requires little or no configuration at all; the Wireless-G adapter must be configured using an Ethernet connection to a PC. Both come with a short Ethernet cable to connect the adapter to your game console. The Linksys wireless adapters can be used with an existing access point, or you can use two or more of the adapters to create an ad hoc wireless network without an access point.

Although Linksys markets these products as game adapters, they will work with any Ethernet device. They are especially useful for connecting network-ready printers to a LAN, but they can also be used to connect desktop PCs, media hubs, and just about anything else with an Ethernet connection.



# Video on Your LAN

LANs aren't just for data anymore. A new generation of TV products lets you use your LAN for video applications, too. The two products in this section leverage your Internet connection to provide closed-circuit TV monitoring and two-way videoconferencing on your LAN. D-Link's Wireless Internet Camera is exactly what the name says—and perhaps more than you'd expect.

The Internet Camera shown in Figure 12-29 combines a video camera and a Web server into one compact package.



**Figure 12-29:** The D-Link Wireless Internet camera has a built-in Web server, along with wired Ethernet and WiFi wireless connections.

The Internet Camera has wired and wireless network connections, so you can install the camera just about anyplace—as long as there is an electrical outlet nearby. The camera has a built-in microphone, so you even get sound along with the pictures. A mounting bracket included with the camera lets you mount the camera to a wall or ceiling.

There are several ways to view the images from the Internet Camera. The simplest way is to connect to the camera's IP address using a Web browser. Figure 12-30 shows how the camera works in this configuration.





**Figure 12-30:** The camera's built-in Web server lets you see a live video stream from the camera using any Web browser.

#### Note

If you are using the Internet Camera behind a firewall router, you'll need to configure your router to allow Internet users to access the camera.

If you want, you can require viewers to enter a user ID and password before they can view images from the camera. Figure 12-31 shows how the camera's Web server appears over the Internet.

Streaming video over the Internet uses a lot of bandwidth, especially if several users are connected to the camera at the same time. To reduce bandwidth demand, you can reduce the image quality and the frame rate of the camera so that the camera traffic doesn't overload your Internet connection.

If you don't need a live video feed, you can configure the Internet Camera to take still images at a predefined interval, and the camera can upload the still images to an FTP server or send it to you by e-mail. A motion detector feature lets you set the camera to upload a new picture only when something in the image moves. The image quality from the Internet Camera is surprisingly good, and the camera automatically adjusts for changing lighting conditions. The camera includes relay contacts so you can control an external device (such as a light or siren) from the Internet.





Figure 12-31: The Internet Camera lets you keep an eye on your home or office when you're not there.

D-Link provides surveillance software with the Internet Camera. You can use the IP Surveillance Software to view and optionally record the images from up to 16 Internet Cameras. This software lets you build a completely wireless video surveillance system for your home or office.

This is a great product for security-conscious home or business users who want to keep an eye on their property from a distance.

### **D-Link i2eye VideoPhone**

I've been waiting for the video telephone to arrive ever since I attended the 1964 World's Fair in New York City. The one thing I remember from the fair (other than the giant Unisphere globe that still stands in Flushing Meadows) was the AT&T exhibit, where World's Fair visitors could enjoy a free video telephone call to the AT&T pavilion in Disneyland.

As you know, the video telephone never took off. A too-high price, technical problems, the Bell System breakup, and consumer resistance put the concept on hold for nearly 40 years. The biggest technical hurdle for the video telephone is that full-motion video requires much more bandwidth than an analog telephone line can deliver.

With broadband connections becoming more common, the bandwidth issue isn't a problem any more. Several companies have marketed add-on videoconferencing systems for PCs. These systems—called Web cams—provide decent-quality video, but they require a PC to handle the data connection.



D-Link's \$200 i2eye VideoPhone combines the best aspects of AT&T's original video telephone with the data compression and transmission techniques of the Web cam. The resulting product is a standalone videoconferencing system that is very simple to install and use. Figure 12-32 shows how the i2eye system connects to your TV and LAN.



**Figure 12-32:** No computer required: The i2eye connects to your TV, not your PC. The telephones can be used in place of a microphone and speaker to provide a clear, feedback-free, audio connection.

As you can see in Figure 12-32, the i2eye connects to your TV and LAN, but not to your PC. Installation is very simple and is nearly automatic if you have a DHCP server on your LAN. Figure 12-33 shows a close-up of the i2eye system.







### Videoconferencing, the Hard Way

When I first started writing for *PC Magazine* in the early 1990s, I spent a lot of time at our LAN testing lab in California. Our main offices are in New York City, and our Senior Networking Editor lived in Florida. To overcome the twin demons of time and distance, we used videoconferencing over digital ISDN telephone lines.

Despite having dozens of technically proficient people at both ends of the connection, we could never quite get the videoconferencing system to work. And even when we did, we would dial up a separate telephone call using speakerphones at both ends because the conferencing system's audio was awful.

After a few years of struggling with several videoconferencing systems, we realized that even when it worked well, we all saw pretty much the same blurry picture of the same people sitting at the same spot at the conference table every week. We eventually gave up on it and went back to the phones.



Installing the i2eye is a simple matter of connecting the cables and running through the onscreen configuration menu using the provided remote control. As part of the setup process, you enter your area code and telephone number, which is used to identify your i2eye system to other i2eye users on the Internet.

The i2eye can work using an external microphone and the speaker in your TV, but you'll get better results if you connect a standard telephone to the back of the i2eye. The telephone can't be used to place phone calls, since it is not connected to a telephone line.

Placing a video call to another i2eye system is also simple. You can "dial" other i2eye users by entering their telephone number or public IP address. Figure 12-34 shows the main i2eye menu screen.



**Figure 12-34:** It took me 39 years and a few false starts, but I finally got my video telephone!

Given my exposure to videoconferencing systems, I was prepared not to like the i2eye, but I was pleasantly surprised by both the simplicity and the image quality. The only—and major—drawback to the i2eye system is that it only operates with a broadband Internet connection. This means that you can't buy one and send it to the grandparents—unless they have a broadband connection. On the plus side, i2eye calls are essentially free because they travel over the Internet and not over the public telephone network.



# Summary

My goal in this chapter was to have a little fun and to introduce you to some new and interesting products that are outside the computing mainstream. The products and services in this chapter were all pie-in-the-sky ideas just a few years ago. Today, you can walk into any major electronics store and buy any of them off the shelf.

The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- Media convergence is finally here!
- Equipment makers are finding new and innovative ways to join computing and home entertainment technologies.
- New technologies make it easier than ever to monitor your home or office over the Internet.
- Easy, affordable videoconferencing has finally arrived.

Coming up next, I'll show you why you need to protect your LAN from the bad guys. They really are out there, and they're trying to break into your computer right now!

# Chapter 13 Security



ho needs security? You do. Unless you've been hiding in a cave for the past few years, you've no doubt read or heard about one or more of the Internet attacks, virus outbreaks, or security breaches that have made the headlines. When Internet hacking first became a competitive sport in the mid-1990s, the majority of attacks were directed toward large corporate and government Web sites. But many crackers, snoops, and identity thieves have turned their attention away from the big Web sites toward the huge number of smaller—and often less protected—home computers.

What are the bad guys looking for? Some crackers do it just for fun, as a sort of competitive sport to see who can break into the most computers in an hour, a day, or a week. Some do it for profit, trolling thousands of home PCs looking for personal data, especially for credit card numbers that can be used to purchase merchandise, often over the Internet. Others do it for pay, intentionally breaking into specific computers, looking for information that can be used to blackmail, discredit, or otherwise humiliate the computer's owner.

In this chapter, I'll explain each of the types of security threats, including:

- Viruses
- Spyware
- Hoaxes and scams
- Intrusion and denial of service attacks

After explaining each type of threat, I discuss the tools that you can use to combat them, focusing on firewalls as the first line of defense. I also discuss security measures for wireless networks, and the software you can use to protect each PC from viruses and spyware.

Although most security threats have been targeted at Windows PCs, a large number of what I call equal opportunity threats apply to both Macs and PCs.

#### Note

The security precautions described in this chapter are appropriate to protect a typical home LAN. Business LANs, especially those containing sensitive or proprietary information, require much more stringent security measures.



# **Protecting Your LAN**

To secure your network and computers from the bad guys, it's important to know and understand the different types of security threats. Table 13-1 summarizes the most-common security threats.

Table 13-1 Common S	Table 13-1 Common Security Threats							
Threat Type	How It Works	Protection						
Denial of service (DoS) attack	Hackers bombard your IP address with traffic in an attempt to shut down your Internet connection.	Firewall						
Port scan	Intruders probe your IP address, looking for vulnerabilities to exploit.	Firewall						
Backdoor/Trojan horse programs	Hackers trick you into installing a program that appears to be beneficial (such as a screen saver) but is actually a "backdoor" program that allows them complete control over your computer.	Firewall, antivirus software						
Virus	A malicious program arrives, most often disguised as an e-mail attachment. Many viruses replicate themselves by sending a copy of itself to everyone in your e-mail address book.	Antivirus software						
Spyware/adware	Similar to a virus, spyware and adware are often "silently" installed as part of a free download such as a game or browser helper. Spyware programs track your Web site visits to gather marketing information. Adware programs replace content in your browser with paid advertising, often obscuring the content you are trying to see.	Spyware removal tools						
Browser hijack	Malicious code on a Web site changes your browser's start and search pages to point to another site, often with pornographic content.	Antivirus software, special browser repair tools						

# Note

The bad news is that new security threats (and patches to fix them) appear almost daily. The good news, however, is that there are a number of online resources you can turn to for help in dealing with those threats. See Appendix C for a list of online security resources.



As you learned in Chapter 4, a firewall is a device or a piece of software that protects your network from intruders. Software firewalls, like the ones included in Windows XP and OS X, are typically used to protect a single computer that is directly connected to the Internet; hardware firewalls, whether independent or part of a combination router, are used to protect two or more computers connected to a LAN.

#### Tip

Broadband-connected PCs are much easier targets for hackers than computers using a dial-up connection.

Dial-up connections are slow, and dial-up users come and go. The always-on nature of broadband connections, coupled with broadband's higher connection speeds, makes broadband-connected PCs faster and easier to hack.

As you can see from the table, a hardware firewall is the first line of defense for your LAN. Microsoft also includes a software firewall with Windows XP, and I encourage you to keep it turned on because it provides an additional (and unobtrusive) layer of protection.

But a firewall alone isn't enough. You'll need to invest in (and use!) a good antivirus program and a spyware monitor program. You'll also need to educate yourself on current and new threats. This last point is important because many viruses use clever and persuasive tactics to convince people to open e-mail attachments that they know they shouldn't open.

Think of your firewall as the fence around your property. Even with a secure fence, you'll probably want to have good, secure locks on your doors. You may even want to have some locks on selected rooms in your house. In the following sections, I discuss the most common security threats and describe the tools you can use to avert those threats.

### **DoS Attacks**

Denial of service (DoS) attacks are a major headache for corporations and ISPs, but they are not a major issue for home users. A DoS attack happens when someone (or a group of people acting together) on the Internet bombards your public IP address with traffic. When this happens, your Internet connection slows down because your router is overwhelmed with traffic.

A few years ago, DoS attacks were commonly used to take down a specific Web site or mail server. DoS attacks can't be prevented, but a properly configured firewall can minimize your chances of being the target of a DoS attack. Virtually all firewalls—including the inexpensive products sold for home use—simply ignore unsolicited incoming traffic. This simple tactic is very effective against DoS attacks, so DoS attacks aren't as effective as they once were.

### **Port Scans**

The second category of attack is the port scan. Although a port scan isn't an attack in and of itself, it is often a prelude to a subsequent attack at some point in the future.

Each packet of data traveling on the Internet has a port number (also called a protocol number) assigned to it. The port number identifies the type of traffic contained in the data packet. For example, Web browser traffic uses port 80, outbound e-mail uses port 25, and FTP connections use port 21.



Computers on the Internet communicate with one another using well-defined procedures called *protocols*. Each protocol—and there are hundreds—defines the methodology that two devices will use to communicate. In most protocols, the first step is called a *connection request*. This happens, for example, when you open your Web browser and request a page from a specific site. Your computer attempts to open a communications session on port 80. The Web server responds by accepting the connection request.

Crackers use a software tool called a *port scanner* to scour the Internet, looking for IP addresses that respond to connection requests on the most commonly used ports. For example, if a specific IP address accepts connection requests on ports 21, 25, and 80, there's a good chance that the computer is running FTP, SMTP, and Web servers.

Port scanner programs can scan thousands of IP addresses at a time, and they keep track of the addresses that responded to connection attempts. This allows the cracker to build a list of potentially vulnerable IP addresses. Some ports, such as port 139 that is used for Windows file sharing, are especially vulnerable to this type of attack. Virtually all firewalls use a technique called *port filtering* that lets you decide which ports are (or aren't) visible on the Internet. Most home firewalls keep incoming ports invisible to the Internet, so crackers don't get a response to port scans.

#### Note

Most firewalls allow you to open specific ports to allow certain types of incoming connections. I discuss this topic in detail in Chapter 14.

### **Backdoor Protection**

So far, I've discussed attacks that originate outside the firewall. But some attacks actually begin *inside* the firewall.

Such is the case with backdoor and Trojan horse programs. These programs find their way onto your computer in a variety of ways. They are often disguised as screen savers or games. When installed, they send a message back to the program's creator. This message acts as a homing beacon, allowing the hacker to easily and positively identify your (now infected) computer. Backdoor programs are so named because they create a back door that allows a hacker nearly complete access to your computer and its files.

Trojan horse programs are similar, but instead of taking over your computer, they run silently in the background, performing some dedicated (and usually undesirable) task. The most recent wave of Trojan horse programs are designed to send out huge quantities of e-mail spam, often advertising porn sites or get-rich-quick schemes.

Most antivirus software (described in the next section of this chapter) can catch these programs before they do any harm. But if a Trojan horse or backdoor program slips past your virus protection, a firewall can minimize the damage by preventing the program from making outbound connections.


# **Wireless LAN Security**

Wireless LANs pose a special problem for security-conscious users. As wireless networks become more popular, so does the number of people seeking unauthorized access to wireless LANs.

Internet hackers need to get past your firewall to break into your network, but wireless hackers can get into your LAN—completely undetected—from hundreds of feet away. To make matters worse, a firewall is no protection against wireless hacking. Virtually all home wireless APs are installed inside of the firewall. If someone can connect to your wireless LAN, their computer is a peer on your LAN, just like all the other computers in your home.

Fortunately, there are a few simple steps you can take to protect your wireless network:

- Change the default administrator name and password on your wireless access point and/or router. Hackers know all of the default names used by the manufacturers. Use a strong password of at least eight characters, preferably with a mix of letters, symbols, and numbers. "7xG%23OP" is a pain to type, but it offers a great deal more protection than "mypassword."
- **2.** Enable the WEP or WPA security features on your access point. Although WEP has received a great deal of bad press, it still provides decent security. Most intruders will simply seek out an unprotected access point, rather than trying to defeat WEP. WPA is much more secure than WEP but may not be available on some older access points.
- **3.** Some access points allow the administrator to restrict access based on the MAC address of each client. This provides an extra—but sill not unbreakable—level of security. Unfortunately, it is tedious to implement, since it requires you to manually enter the MAC address of any new wireless clients into the access point as your network grows.
- **4.** Set your network workgroup name to something unusual, and refrain from using your name, company name, or address as part of the workgroup name.
- 5. Audit your network periodically and remove any unnecessary shared drives and folders.

### **Does Your Favorite Hotspot Have an Evil Twin?**

When I first heard of this security exploit, I was sure it had to be a hoax...and I still haven't heard a first-hand report of this actually happening. It sounds a bit far-fetched to me, but it certainly could happen. Here's the scam:

You go to your favorite coffee shop, hotel, or other place with a public WiFi hotspot. While you're sipping your triple-shot latte, you fire up your laptop to check your e-mail, bank account, or just to browse the Web. Your computer connects to the hotspot as usual, and you're good to go—or so you think.

Continued



### **Does Your Favorite Hotspot Have an Evil Twin?** (Continued)

What you don't know is that a hacker—maybe the guy with the laptop at the next table—has set up a phony hotspot. Instead of connecting to the real hotspot, your laptop is connected to the fake hotspot, called an Evil Twin. While you're surfing the Web, the Evil Twin is monitoring everything you do online, possibly even capturing user IDs and passwords for your e-mail, electronic banking, or online shopping sessions. Some Evil Twins reportedly even mimic popular e-commerce and banking sites so that identity thieves can capture your credit card and online banking information.

As I said earlier, I'm still not sure if this is a real threat or an urban legend. What is far more likely to happen is that someone with a laptop and a commonly available "sniffer" program could hang out in your favorite coffee shop, watching the traffic on the wireless LAN. It would be possible for an observer to obtain confidential information, such as account names, passwords, and credit card information, just by watching the traffic between your laptop and the shop's AP.

Fortunately, there are several simple steps you can take to protect yourself against these and similar security exploits:

- When connecting to an unfamiliar access point, check the list of available wireless networks in the area. If you see two APs with the same name, be suspicious.
- Use WEP or WPA security if at all possible. Most commercial hotspot operators offer this
  option, and many of them are starting to require it. WPA is always the better choice and gradually replacing WEP in most public hotspots.
- Use common sense. Don't use public hotspots to conduct business online unless you absolutely need to.

# **Protecting Your PCs**

Even if you've secured your network with a firewall and the appropriate wireless security measures, you're still not completely protected until you secure each of the computers on your LAN.

To do this, you'll need a good antivirus software package and a spyware checker program. While commercial antivirus software has been available for many years, spyware checkers are a new, specialized breed of program designed to sniff out and remove spyware and adware programs. In the following sections, I'll explain what each one does, and you'll understand why you need both.

# **Antivirus Software**

Computer viruses have been around almost since the beginning of the PC era. I don't know why people create computer viruses, but I do know that more than 50,000 viruses have been detected over the years. Some, like the Michaelangelo virus (first reported in 1991), do irreparable harm to your computer by deleting files or even formatting your hard drive. Many, like the Klez virus, spread by remailing copies of themselves to everyone in the infected computer's address book. Some viruses don't do anything at all, possibly as the result of a programming error. (After all, who is going to volunteer to beta-test a virus?)



### Tip

Many viruses arrive as e-mail attachments, and they often appear to come from someone you know. Never open an e-mail attachment from an unknown sender, and be very, very wary when you receive an unexpected e-mail from someone you do know!

Virus writers and the antivirus software companies play a continual game of cat and mouse, 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. The virus protection on your computer is only as good as the most recent virus update, so it is possible for a new virus to slip past your antivirus software and onto your computer. Many viruses attempt to bypass, disable, or even uninstall popular antivirus software, making them difficult to remove.

Some recent viruses are network-aware, meaning that they know how to spread themselves to all of the computers on a LAN. If a single computer becomes infected, it is only a matter of time before the virus spreads to the rest of your computers.

### I Can't Have a Virus—I Have a Firewall!

A router with a built-in firewall (or a separately installed firewall) is your first line of defense against Internet hackers. But many computer users think that because they have a firewall, they no longer need to worry about viruses, worms, Trojan horse programs, spyware, or other security issues. This is not at all the case.

A good firewall offers a great deal of protection at a relatively low cost, but it is not a magic bullet. The firewall's primary job is to create a private IP network that is connected to the public Internet. The firewall allows traffic in from the Internet, but only at the request of one of the client PCs on the LAN. Unfortunately, the firewall has no way to know what that traffic contains.

For example, when you open your e-mail program, the firewall sees that your PC is establishing a connection to an e-mail server on the Internet using the POP3 and SMTP protocols. The firewall knows the address of your PC, it knows the address of the mail server, and it knows that your mail program opened two connections (one using each protocol) to the mail server. Because your PC is expecting a response from the mail server, the firewall temporarily allows incoming traffic—but only SMTP and POP3 traffic—from the mail server. When your mail program closes the session, the firewall closes the inbound connections.

So far, so good. The firewall did its job, allowing you to connect to the mail server and collect your e-mail. The only problem is that one of the e-mail messages you just downloaded contains a nasty virus. Ten minutes from now, that virus will infect all the PCs on your LAN. Worse still, the virus will e-mail a copy of itself to everyone on your PC's address book—and everyone in the address books of the other PCs on your LAN. Thirty minutes later, your LAN—and the PCs connected to it—are sending out copies of the virus ... and you won't even know it.



# Тір

If you don't have an antivirus software program installed, you aren't completely out of luck. Most of the major antivirus software vendors offer a free online virus check. See Appendix C for a list of antivirus software vendors. If you don't want to spend the money for antivirus software, there are several free alternatives. See http://www.freebyte.com/antivirus/for details.

All of the major antivirus software vendors offer on-demand updates for their software. In many cases, your initial purchase of the software gives you access to updates for a period of time, usually for a year. It is important to keep your antivirus software updated, and I strongly urge you to purchase a good antivirus software package and keep it updated.

Most antivirus programs offer several levels of protection, including file, e-mail, and Web browser protection. It is important to understand how each type of protection works.

File-level protection is the most important. The antivirus software intercepts all operating system file requests so that it can examine every file as files are created, opened, and modified. File protection makes sure that you will not be able to open an infected file.

E-mail protection works in a similar way. When you send or receive e-mail, the antivirus software scans the contents of any message attachments to scout for viruses.

Browser protection is a relatively new and increasingly important feature. Because many people know not to open e-mail attachments, some virus writers have taken to the Web instead. It is possible for a hacker to introduce a virus into your system through a script embedded in a Web page. Although Internet Explorer contains some safeguards to deal with this problem, antivirus software is more effective and provides better protection.

### **Painless Updates by Broadband**

One of the real benefits of having a broadband-connected LAN is that it makes it easy to keep your software up to date. If you already have an antivirus package, make sure that it is set to update itself automatically.

Virus signature files—used by antivirus software to identify viruses—can be quite large. If you've been using a dial-up connection as your primary Internet connection, you may have disabled your software's auto-update feature to avoid the lengthy downloads. When you make the switch to broadband, don't forget to enable the auto-update feature on your software.

All versions of Windows since Windows 98 have a feature called Windows Update that allows your computer to automatically download and install Microsoft-issued updates to the Windows operating system. Many of the Windows updates are related to security, so it is important to check for updates on a regular basis.

To make sure your system is configured for automatic updates, open the System icon from the Control Panel. (If your Control Panel is set to Category View, select the Performance and Maintenance icon, and then select the System icon at the bottom of the screen.) Select the tab marked Automatic Updates.



Figure 13-1 shows the main configuration screen for Symantec's Norton AntiVirus, one of the most popular antivirus programs.

🔜 Norton AntiVirus					
LiveUpdate 🛛 Option	ns		② Help ▾		
Norton AntiVirus	System Status: OK	Ø			
Stat <u>u</u> s ┥	Security Scanning Features		Item Details		
Scan <u>f</u> or Viruses	Auto-Protect	On	The items marked in		
R <u>e</u> ports	Ø Email Scanning	On	attention.		
	Script Blocking	On	Please select an item		
	🖉 Full System Scan	8/29/2003	at left in order to get more information and		
	Virus Definition Service		take the necessary action.		
	Virus Definitions	9/17/2003			
	Subscription Service	12/22/2003			
	Automatic LiveUpdate	On			
Symantec.		Norton Anti	Virus <sup>∞2003</sup>		

**Figure 13-1:** Norton AntiVirus protects your computer's file system and also monitors incoming e-mail and Web content.

As you can see from Figure 13-1, Norton AntiVirus provides all three levels of protection. Like most antivirus software, Norton AntiVirus offer an automatic update feature that automatically downloads and installs new virus update files. This feature is essential; an out-of-date virus signature file provides no protection against new viruses.

There are dozens of antivirus products available for Windows, and we regularly review antivirus programs at *PC Magazine*. If you need help choosing an antivirus program, check www.pcmag.com for our most recent antivirus roundup, or check the appropriate Web sites listed in Appendix C.

# **Spyware Protection**

Spyware is a generic term that includes two subcategories of programs called spyware and adware. The two are similar in concept, but they have different goals. Both are usually installed on your computer without your knowledge. Both monitor some or all aspects of your online activity, and both can slow your computer to a crawl.

Spyware programs do just what their name implies; they spy on your online activity. These programs are typically used to track Web browsing habits, but some spyware programs log every keystroke and mouse click you make!



Adware programs are similar, but they watch your online activity and occasionally display ads on your computer's screen. Some adware programs substitute sponsored content in place of the content that would normally appear on your screen. For example, if you were visiting an airline's reservation page, an adware program might pop up an ad for a competing airline or an online reservation service.

Privacy issues aside, the bigger problem with spyware and adware programs is that they are often poorly written and unreliable. They use memory, disk space, and CPU cycles that you paid for in order to provide ads that you don't want to see. They can cause system lockups and slowdowns.

Spyware and adware programs are often installed "on the sly" as part of a free download like a screen saver, browser helper, or utility program. Some are installed using a technique called "driveby download," which installs the software when you visit a Web page. The majority of adware programs are bundled in (and invisibly installed by) peer file sharing programs. Because these programs technically aren't viruses, most antivirus programs don't recognize them as such. Although adware and spyware programs aren't malicious in and of themselves, they are an annoyance at best.

The best way to deal with these programs is to simply not install them in the first place. Because they often install without your knowledge, it can be difficult to tell if a spyware or adware program is running on your computer. Fortunately, two free tools—Spybot Search & Destroy and Ad-aware— can do the job for you. Both programs can locate and uninstall common spyware programs. As with antivirus software, it is important to keep these programs updated, since new spyware programs appear almost daily. See Appendix C for more information on these products.

### **A Spyware Saga**

How bad can spyware get? My sister is a very bright person and a long-time PC user. When I went to visit her a few months before I started work on this book, I used her computer to check my e-mail.

I couldn't help but notice that her reasonably fast and newer PC took almost 10 minutes just to start up. After the computer finally started, it took another minute or so just to launch the Web browser. When I asked my sister if it was always this slow, she replied that the computer had been getting slower and slower over the past few months but because it happened gradually, she really hadn't noticed anything unusual.

A quick check with Ad-aware uncovered no fewer than seven separate spyware programs running on her PC. The spyware programs were using so much memory and CPU time that the computer hardly had time left over to do anything else! It took over an hour to restore her computer back to a normal state.

Ironically, one of the programs doing the most damage was a trial version of a program that supposedly improved PC performance. It did, in a strange way—the computer ran about twice as fast after I removed that program!



## Vigilance Is Good Protection Too!

Antivirus and spyware removal programs are a big help, but sometimes you simply have to watch out for yourself. Most computer users know that they shouldn't open attachments from unknown senders. But what do you do when you receive a message appearing to come from a well-known company?

Most computer users—me included—consider unsolicited e-mail, or spam, to be a nuisance. It's often annoying, but other than the occasional offensive picture or subject title, it is mostly harmless. But two ugly new types of spam are much more dangerous.

A few days before I began working on this chapter, I received two e-mails that appeared to be completely legitimate. The first was a security update message from Microsoft, urging me to install a security update file. The second was from PayPal, urging me to update my account information.

Fortunately for me, I already knew that these messages were both phony—but far from harmless. I'm sharing them with you because they show how spam can become much more than a nuisance. If they gave out Emmy Awards for spam, these two would certainly be finalists.

#### YOU WANT A VIRUS WITH THAT UPDATE?

It's no secret that Microsoft has had some serious security issues with all versions of Windows. The majority of the Windows updates issued since the release of Windows XP have been patches to improve security or to close some known, exploitable security hole. There have been so many patches and updates that even those of us who work with computers for a living have had a hard time keeping track of them all.

I receive quite a bit of e-mail from Microsoft and many other companies, so I didn't pay too much attention to the message shown in Figure 13-2 when it first arrived.

On closer inspection, I realized that something was very wrong. Although it has the Microsoft logo at the top of the page and looks like a Microsoft security bulletin, it contains several grammatical errors. More important (and less noticeable), Microsoft never refers to itself as "MS," which this e-mail does in several places. Finally, the message contains a large attachment named pack.exe. Microsoft never issues updates by e-mail; all official updates are handled through the Microsoft Windows Update Web site.

Because I was one of the first people to receive this "update" (lucky me!), my antivirus software did not recognize the attachment as a virus—not that I would have opened it anyway. But thousands of people did. The enclosed virus—technically a "worm" because it can spread by itself—spread very quickly over the next few weeks.

The moral of this story: Don't believe anything you receive by e-mail.



Net Security Upgrade - Mi	essage (HTML)	_ 🗆
<u>Eile E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert	F <u>o</u> rmat <u>T</u> ools <u>A</u> ctions <u>H</u> elp	Type a question for help
Reply 🕼 Reply to All	😡 Forward 😂 🖻 🔻 🖻 🗙 🔺 🔹 🔹 🛣 🛛 🗶	
m: Microsoft Network Security	Department [dzfxzf_pmlv@advisor.msdn.com]	Sent: Thu 9/18/2003 6:59 PM
Microsoft Corporation Cus	tomer	
· · · · · · · · · ·		
oject: Net Security Upgrade		
achmencs:]pack.exe (104 K	8)	
Microsoft	All Products   Support   Search   Microsoft.com Guide	
	Microsoft Home	
MS Customer		
this is the latest version	of security update, the "September 2003, Cumulative Patch"	
update which eliminates	all known security vulnerabilities affecting MS Internet Explorer,	
MS Outlook and MS Outl	ook Express. Install now to help protect your computer. This	
update includes the fund	ctionality of all previously released patches.	
🖗 System requirements	Windows 95/98/Me/2000/NT/XP	
② This update applies to	MS Internet Explorer, version 4.01 and later	
	MS Outlook, version 8.00 and later MS Outlook Express, version 4.01 and later	
@ Recommendation	Customers should install the patch at the earliest opportunity.	
🖗 How to install	Run attached file. Choose Yes on displayed dialog box.	
🖗 How to use	You don't need to do anything after installing this item.	
Microsoft Product Suppo Microsoft Technical Sup	rt Services and Knowledge Base articles can be found on the port web site. For security-related information about Microsoft	
products, please visit th	e Microsoft Security Advisor web site, or Contact Us.	
Thank you for using Mici	rosoft products.	
Please do not reply to this m to respond to any replies.	essage. It was sent from an unmonitored e-mail address and we are unable	
The names of the actual corr	panies and products mentioned herein are the trademarks of their	
respective owners.	processing processing instantiant and any stream statements of MIER	
Contact Us   Legal   TRUS	Те	
©2003 Microsoft Corporatio	n. All rights reserved. Terms of Use   Privacy Statement   Accessibility	

Figure 13-2: This message looks okay at first glance. What do you think?

#### **ANATOMY OF AN E-MAIL SPAM SCAM**

Con artists have always intrigued me. While I deplore their motives, I have to admire the cleverness and ingenuity of their methods. Thanks to the Internet, the world has a new breed of con artist to deal with: the spammer-scammer.

I sold some items on eBay a few months ago, so I set up a PayPal account to collect the proceeds from the sales. I hadn't used the account for several months when I received the official-looking e-mail shown in Figure 13-3.





Figure 13-3: This authentic-looking PayPal message is not at all what it seems.

As you can see, the message looks authentic. It uses PayPal's logo, color scheme, and typeface, and the return address, service@paypal.com, sounds reasonable. But this message was sent to an ISP account that I rarely use, and my PayPal account is registered to a different e-mail address. Smelling a scam, I decided to play along to see where this scam was headed. Clicking the link in the e-mail took me to the Web page shown in Figure 13-4.

As with the e-mail, this looks just like an authentic PayPal site. But this page is asking for an awful lot of information—enough information to clean out my checking account, run up my credit card, and steal my online identity.

Even if this was a legitimate site, wouldn't PayPal use a secure connection to collect such sensitive information? And wouldn't PayPal already have much of this information?

As you've probably guessed, this isn't a PayPal site at all but a very skillfully forged page designed to collect information from unsuspecting Internet users. A close look at the site page properties (visible by right-clicking the page and selecting Properties from the menu) proved my suspicions, as you can see in Figure 13-5.

		H
M	AGA	ZINE
ww.	woom	ag.com

街 PayPal - Verify Your Information - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Eile Edit View Favorites Tools Help Address 🗃 http://211.113.186.42/%70%70/%75%70%64%61%74%65%2E%68%74%6D	✓ ⇒ 60
Your Billing Information - Enter your information as it appears on your credit card and bank account.	
Card Type: Credit M	
Card Holder Full Name:	
Card Issuing Bank	
Credit Card Number:	
Expiry Date: 01 V/2003 M	
Card Verification Number:	
Card Pin Number: (your 4-digit credit/debit card pin number)	
Your Verification Details - Your Details are required to verify your account.	=
Social Security Number:	
Nother's maiden name:	
Driver License:	
Issued State for License:	
Date of Birth: (mm/dd/yyyy)	
Your Email Address and Password - Enter the email address which you used at the time of registration for PayPal Romember - Your password is at least 8 characters and is case sensitive.	<b>Б</b>
Email Address:	×
	Internet

Figure 13-4: The PayPal scam letter takes you to this Web site.

Properties	
General	
	PayPal - Verify Your Information
Protocol:	HyperText Transfer Protocol
Type:	Not Available
Connection:	Not Encrypted
Address: (URL)	http://www.paypal.com/@211.113.186.42/pp/updat e.htm
Size:	Not Available
Created:	Not Available
Modified:	Not Available
	<u>C</u> ertificates
	OK Cancel Apply

**Figure 13-5:** The page properties for the fake PayPal site shows the true source of the Web page—Korea.



The first part of the address, www.paypal.com, looks right. But the real address is in the 211.113.x.x address space and points to a server in Korea. This technique has become so common that scammers have coined a term—*phishing*—to describe the scam.

Scammers send out thousands of these messages every day. If even a tiny fraction of recipients respond with their account information, it can still mean big profits for the scammer. By the time most people realize that they've been scammed, it is far too late to do anything about it. The same scam has been used to collect user IDs and passwords from eBay, other auction sites, and banks.

There are three morals to this story:

- 1. Never trust anything you receive by e-mail.
- **2.** Never give out personal information, either by phone or over the Internet. If PayPal really wanted me to verify the information it had on file, it would have asked me to log in using my PayPal ID and password—this scam site didn't.
- 3. Be careful—the bad guys really are out there!

#### THIS MUST BE TRUE—I READ IT ON THE INTERNET!

Every week, I receive at least two or three e-mail chain letters passed on by well-meaning friends and family. Almost without fail, these messages are part of a hoax.

One famous e-mail hoax from a few years back promised a free pair of Gap jeans if you forwarded the message to 10 friends. Other variants on the same hoax promised free food, plane tickets, and even cars. The motive behind these messages is unclear, but many of them claim to reward users for participating on a test of a new e-mail tracking system. The only problem is that there is no such system.

Most of the time, these hoaxes are harmless time-wasters. But hoaxes can be harmful too. A recent hoax claimed that a horrific new virus was on the loose. According to the chain letter, the virus remained dormant for 14 days before activating itself and wasn't detectable by traditional antivirus software. The message told users to search for and delete a file named jdbgmgr.exe.

The file in question is actually a legitimate part of Windows. Although most people don't need the file (it is a Java debugger program), thousands of people did indeed delete the file from their systems. A few weeks after the original hoax, a new variant of the message appeared, offering a recovery program that would restore the missing file for those who had deleted it. The recovery program was itself a virus.

Like the phony Microsoft security bulletin discussed earlier, these hoax e-mails claim to originate from Microsoft, AOL, and even the federal government.

If you receive one of these messages, ignore it. If you aren't sure whether the messages is a hoax or the real thing, check one of the major antivirus or hoax sites listed in Appendix C.

# Summary

Computer users are faced with very real and serious security threats nearly every day. If you have a home network with multiple computers and an always-on broadband connection, you absolutely must have firewall, antivirus, and spyware protections.



The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- The bad guys really are out there.
- A firewall (or firewall software) is your first line of defense against crackers.
- Antivirus software is only effective if you keep it updated.
- Don't believe anything you read on the Internet—be especially wary of unsolicited e-mails of all types.

Coming up, I'll introduce you to some topics and concepts that take your home LAN beyond the basics.

# Chapter 14

# Advanced Networking Topics



The networking products and techniques in the preceding chapters of this book cover 99 percent of what most home users will need to know about networking. For that other 1 percent, I've included three important topics in this final chapter:

- Customizing your firewall
- Using a dedicated server
- Using a Network Attached Storage (NAS) server

# **Customizing Your Firewall Configuration**

Most home firewalls come from the factory with default settings designed to provide maximum protection with minimal end-user configuration. As a rule, these settings allow every user on the local network to have unrestricted access to the Internet connection. Conversely, the default settings typically block all incoming connection attempts.

In most cases, you'll want to leave your firewall's settings just as they came from the factory. But there are several situations where you may want to adjust your firewall settings to allow or deny specific types of traffic through the firewall. By adjusting your firewall's settings, you can:

- 1. Route specific types of incoming traffic to a specific computer on your LAN. This feature is typically used to set up a Web or e-mail server on your local network and is also used for online gaming.
- **2.** Route all incoming traffic to a specific computer on the LAN. This is essentially the same as item 1, but it passes all incoming traffic to a specific computer. This is useful when you have multiple services (Web, e-mail, FTP, and so on) running on the same computer.
- 3. Restrict Internet access from a single computer or group of computers.
- 4. Restrict Internet access to certain times of the day.



It is important to keep in mind that not all routers provide all of these features. Most routers can perform the first three items on the list, but relatively few offer scheduled operation.

#### Note

If you plan to set up a Web, mail, or other publicly accessible server on the Internet, check your ISP's Terms of Service to make sure you aren't breaking any rules. Most cable and DSL service providers specifically prohibit running a server on your home connection.

If you think they're not watching, think again. Many ISPs routinely use automated port scanner programs (just like the hackers do!) to track down illicit servers on their network. If you really want to run a Web or mail server, you should consider using one of the many companies that specialize in Web and e-mail hosting.

### **Setting Up a Public Server**

The private IP addresses used on your local network aren't normally reachable from computers and other devices on the public Internet. If you want Internet users to be able to connect to a server on your network, you'll need to configure your firewall to allow limited access to that one PC.

Firewalls use a technique called *port forwarding* to route specific incoming traffic to specific computers on your network. You can use this feature to make a Web, mail, or other server available to the public Internet. When a user on the Internet connects to your public IP address, the firewall automatically routes the incoming traffic to a specific computer using one of the private addresses on the LAN. Figure 14-1 shows the port forwarding screen from a Linksys router.

#### Tip

If you make use of port forwarding, you should make sure that the target computer on your local LAN has a static (permanently-assigned) IP address, not a dynamic address assigned by your DHCP server.

The screen in Figure 14-1 allows you to specify a port number or a range of port numbers, a protocol type, and a destination address. The port number tells the router which ports to forward, and the destination address tells the router where to send the traffic. The protocol type (UDP or TCP) will vary depending on the ports being forwarded; in most cases, you can leave this setting on Both to forward all traffic.

#### Tip

If you want to be able to connect to your LAN from a remote location such as your workplace, while traveling, or from a friend's house, you may want to consider using a virtual private network instead. A VPN provides secure, encrypted remote access to your network. See Appendix A for information on setting up a VPN.



🐑 http://192.168.1.1/Forward.htm - Microsoft Inte	rnet Explorer	- 6 ×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp		RI
LINKSYS*	Filter: Forwarding Dynamic Rearing State Rearing DMZ Host MAC Addr. Clove Setup Port forwarding can be used to set up public services on your network. When users from the Internet make cartain requests on your router, they will be redirected to the specified IP.	<
Service Port Range           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0           0         ~         0	Protocol       IP Address         Both       192.168.1.0       Well-known Ports         Both       192.168.1.0       7         Both       192.168.1.0       21         Both       192.168.1.0       21         Both       192.168.1.0       21         Both       192.168.1.0       21         Both       192.168.1.0       23         Both       192.168.1.0       73         Both       192.168.1.0       110         Both       192.168.1.0       110         Both       192.168.1.0       110         Both       192.168.1.0       112         Both       192.168.1.0       112         Both       192.168.1.0       112         Both       192.168.1.0       112         Both       192.168.1.0       162         Both       192.168.1.0       162         Both       192.168.1.0       162         PortTriggering       Apply       Cancel	
<b>a</b>		Internet

**Figure 14-1:** The Forwarding screen on this Linksys router lets you forward incoming traffic to specific computers on your LAN.

Some routers include a DMZ (demilitarized zone) feature that routes all incoming traffic to a single IP address (see Figure 14-2). The DMZ essentially opens all incoming ports to traffic, and it hands all of the traffic off to the DMZ computer. This is handy when you have a single computer on your LAN that provides more than one type of service.

### Caution

I strongly recommend that you not use the DMZ feature unless you have a software firewall installed on the destination computer. When you put a computer into the DMZ, it is not protected by your hardware firewall and is wide open to Internet attacks.





Figure 14-2: The DMZ Host feature routes all incoming Internet traffic to a single IP address.

#### Tip

Keep in mind that, in most cases, your public IP address may change at any time. If you want to be able to reach your home LAN even if your IP address changes, you may want to use a dynamic DNS service provider. These providers assign a host name to your IP address, and they keep track of changes to your IP address so that your host name is always reachable, even if your IP address changes. Many dynamic DNS providers offer free services for home users. Do an Internet search for "dynamic DNS service providers" to learn more. Also, see the entry for DYNDNS.COM in Appendix C.

## **Restricting Internet Access**

In an always-connected, multi-PC home, any computer can access the Internet at any time—but that may not be a good thing. If you have children in your home, you may not want them to have Internet access at all times of the day—or at all.



Many routers include a feature called *port filtering* that lets you control the extent (and even the time of day) of each computer's Internet access. You can use this feature to selectively allow or deny access to one or more Internet protocols for each PC on your network.

For example, you could create a filter that allows Web access while blocking other protocols such as e-mail, instant messaging, and peer file sharing. Figure 14-3 shows a typical Filters screen from a Linksys router.

This particular router allows users to create up to five filters, each containing a range of addresses and ports. To create a filter, you enter the address or range of addresses for the filter in the top half of the screen and the port or range of ports to be blocked in the lower half.

Keep in mind that port filters aren't foolproof. Even if, for example, you block the ports for instant messaging or Internet Chat, dozens of Web sites provide access to IM and IRC Chat via a Web browser.

Some routers, like the D-Link unit shown in the next figure, let you specify the days of the week and the hours of the day that the filter is effective. Figure 14-4 shows the Advanced Filters screen from a D-Link wireless router.

街 http://192.168.1.1/Filters.htm - Microsoft Intern	et Explorer	- 6 X
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp		R.
D LINKSYS*		^
FILTERS	Fillers enable you to prevent certain PCs on your network from accessing your Internet connection.	
Filtered Private IP Range:	(0 to 254)	
2:	$192.168.1.0 \sim 0$ $192.168.1.0 \sim 0$	Ξ
3:	<b>192.168.1</b> . 0 ~ 0	
4:	192.168.1.0 ~ 0	
5: Filtered Private Port Range: 1: 2:	192.168.1.0 ~ 0 (0 to 65535) Both w 0 ~ 0 Both w 0 ~ 0	
3: 4: 5:	Both         0         ~         0           Both         •         0         ~         0           Both         •         0         ~         0	
Private MAC Filter SPI:	C Enable O Disable	V
ê		Internet

Figure 14-3: This router uses filters to selectively block Internet access to certain protocols.



ĕ] DI-6	524 - N	licroso	t Internet E	xplorer							- 6 ×
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>V</u> iew	F <u>a</u> vorites	Tools	<u>H</u> elp						120
			D-I Building Net	Lin tworks for	k People	High	Airs	Plus TREME	Router		•
		- 1	DI	-624							
		- 1		and the		Home Adva	nced Tools	Status	Help		
			-	2		Filters Filters are used to allow or	deny LAN users from ac	ccessing the Interne	et.		
			Virtua	ıl Server		<ul> <li>● IP Filters</li> <li>○ UF</li> <li>○ MAC Filters</li> <li>○ Do</li> </ul>	RL Blocking main Blocking				
			Appli	ications		IP Filters Use IP Filters to deny LAN	IP addresses access to	the Internet.			=
			Fil	ters	Ì	Enabled O Disabled	Clear				
			Fire	ewall	Ē.	IP 192.18	8.0.32 - 192.168	.0.33			
		- 1				Protocol Type Both					
		- 1	D	MZ		Schedule () At					
		- 1	-			Scrieddie () Al	najo				
		- 1	Porto			From	time 11 📉 : 30 🛩	PM V to 07 V :	00 🕶 AM 🕶		
		- 1	Perio	mance			day Sun 🎽 to Sun	*			
		- 1						0	y 😗 🗘		
		- 1				IP Filter List		A	pply Cancel Help		
		- 1				IP Range	Protocol TOB 20 04	Schedule	-162		
		- 1					TCP 20-21 TCP 90	always			
		- 1					TCP 443	always			
		- 1				*	UDP 53	always			_
		_					TOD OF		in the		~
ê										Internet	

Figure 14-4: This D-Link router lets you enable and disable filters on a scheduled basis.

This screen is similar in concept to the one in Figure 14-3, but each filter has a scheduled time of operation. By default, all protocols are allowed to all IP addresses at all times. You can create any number of custom filters that override the default filters.

### **Port Number Roulette**

To create an effective filter, you need to know the port number of the protocol you want to filter. Thousands of port numbers are in use on the Internet, so it can be difficult to locate the port assignments for a particular program.

You can find a complete list of port assignments at www.iana.org/assignments/port-numbers.



# **Using a Dedicated File Server**

One of the main benefits of a home network is file and resource sharing between LAN clients. In the typical home, the types of files a networked PC stores tends to depend on who has access to it and who uses it the most. For example, the family gaming PC might also store all of your digital images, the home office PC may be the central point for financial files and family documents, and the family's vast collection of MP3 music files is usually scattered among all networked computers.

Because the systems are all attached to your home network, you easily can access or transfer files across systems. But to do that, you have to remember which LAN client has the files you want, and you also have to make sure that the other client is up and running. You also have to be diligent about backing up each LAN client's data. Pretty soon you'll be asking yourself, "Isn't there a better way to do this?" As you saw back in Chapter 3, the answer is yes, and it's easy to do in a peer-to-peer networking environment with a dedicated file server.

## **Advantages of a Dedicated File Server**

In the home network, a file server is a computer dedicated to storing files and making them available to network users. Setting up a dedicated file server may sound like something you'd see only in a business environment, but it's actually a very sensible and affordable part of any network, even a relatively small home network.

Business-class file servers can be very expensive and require significant know-how to set up and administer, but home network file servers are easily configured and maintained. In fact, almost any PC you already have (maybe even that old Pentium II you stuck in the closet when you upgraded) is likely to be a good candidate for file serving duties at home.

You can also purchase an inexpensive device called a Network Attached Storage (NAS) server to handle network file sharing duties. I discuss NAS servers later in this chapter.

Your own home network file server gives you many advantages, including:

- **Centralized file storage.** Having all your shared files—digital pictures, music files, and work or family documents—in one place makes them easier to find, organize, and maintain.
- **Easier file backup.** With all your files in one place, backing them up is simplified. And by using recordable CD or recordable DVD technology, you can back up a lot of data in one step. Even better, you can purchase an inexpensive USB 2.0 external hard drive with enough capacity to back up several PCs worth of data on one drive.
- **Large storage capacity.** Rather than putting larger hard drives in each of your client PCs, you can use one or more large hard drives on the server. Drives as big as 400GB are commonly available and cost less than \$300.
- Printer sharing. Although not directly related to file sharing, a dedicated file server can also provide print server functions for your LAN, automatically handling document queuing for the entire network. One or more printers attached to the server can be made available to all LAN clients and is ideal for sharing more-expensive or special-purpose printers.



### **Setting Up a File Server**

Setting up a file server is no more difficult than setting up any of the other systems on your network. In fact, a file server can be any machine you want to define as the central storage point for shared files.

As you saw in Chapter 3, the network you're setting up operates in peer-to-peer fashion. This means that the dedicated file server is really just another peer, but one you've dedicated to file storage, resource sharing, and data backup. In other words, the file server computer is generally not a computer you'll use for applications (like word processing, e-mail, and so on), but in terms of general hardware setup and configuration, the file server need not be very different from one of your other networked computers.

Where you physically locate the file server is up to you, and it can really be placed just about anywhere. If you're going to use it strictly for file sharing, you could keep it in a seldom-used room, or tucked away in the basement. If the server is also going to serve printers, you'll probably want to make it a bit more easily accessible. Wherever you place it, remember that you'll need to get to it easily to do data backups.

### **Server Backup Options**

Frequent backups are a critical part of computing. Computers aren't fail-safe, and your computer system will eventually fail for one reason or another—taking your data with it. If you plan to install a central server, you're putting all of your faith—and your data—onto a single computer.

Without a central file server, you have to be especially diligent about backing up each LAN client's data files, and this means you have to go to each computer to do the backup. Yes, you could back up files across the network, but this is very inefficient, especially for large data files. It could take hours to do a simple backup.

After you've moved your data files to the server, backing them up is a matter of transferring them to your storage media of choice. In general, this is going to be one of two formats: optical storage media or an external hard drive attached to a networked PC or to a NAS server.

#### **OPTICAL STORAGE**

A CD or DVD recorder (often called a *burner*) might be the most convenient way to back up your server files. Recordable optical media is fairly inexpensive, and it's a good and convenient choice for quick and frequent backups. The drives themselves are also reasonably economical and increasingly standard issue on newer computers.

With respect to storage capacity, recordable CD-ROMs offer roughly 700MB of storage and are good for backups of smaller batches of data, or project- and event-based backups. For example, you might back up each vacation's digital photos onto one CD per trip (or in my case, one CD per day.) Recordable DVDs, on the other hand, offer storage of just under 9 GB of data, about 15 times the capacity of a recordable CD-ROM. Recordable DVDs, then, could back up quite a bit more of your photos and other files onto fewer discs.

Keep in mind that there's a potential issue with the longevity of backups stored to optical media such as CDs and DVDs. Be sure to use high-quality discs to ensure the best long-term archival reliability.



#### **POWER PROTECTION**

To protect your file server system during power failures and fluctuations, you should add a goodquality uninterruptible power supply (UPS). A UPS is essentially a continuously charged battery with electronics to monitor power line conditions and provide an automatic switchover to battery power when standard line power is interrupted.

UPS devices are available in a range of sizes that correspond to the amount of output power they can supply. The larger the UPS in terms of output power capacity, the longer the file server can operate on battery power when the power fails. You'll want a UPS with sufficient capacity to keep the system running while you safely shut down your file server.

Although the least expensive UPS models provide adequate power backup, slightly better models provide a communication cable from the UPS to the computer that allows the computer to know when the power has failed. Most UPS units that have this feature supply software to handle messages from the UPS and initiate appropriate actions. For example, if the power goes out and remains out, the UPS software can instruct the computer to perform an orderly shutdown before the UPS battery is completely discharged.

# **Network Attached Storage Servers**

Many home network users don't know about Network Attached Storage (NAS) servers. That's unfortunate because a NAS is one of the most useful and least expensive items you can add to your home LAN. A NAS is essentially a small, dedicated file server device with one or more attached hard drives.

When I wrote the first edition of this book just two years ago, I didn't even mention Network Attached Storage (NAS) servers because the then-current NAS servers were designed for the corporate marketplace. They were far too expensive and complex for most home users to consider. Today, home users can choose from a variety of inexpensive NAS servers starting as low as \$100.

Regardless of size, all NAS servers share some common characteristics. They provide shared storage space for all of the users on a LAN. You can use a NAS server as a central repository for commonly-shared files (including digital photos and MP3 files), or as a convenient place to back up files from several network-connected computers.

NAS servers, and particularly the products designed for home use, consume far less electric power and generate less heat and noise than a dedicated server PC. The majority of NAS servers run some variant of Linux, and most offer a user-friendly, browser based configuration and management interface. Linux uses the SMB protocol for file sharing, so they work equally well with Windows, Mac OS X, and Linux client computers.

In the following section, I'll show you how to configure and use a typical NAS server.

## **Linksys NSLU2**

One of my favorite home NAS devices is the Linksys NSLU2. I like it because it is cheap (less than \$100), silent, small (about the size of a paperback book), expandable, and incredibly easy to use. Figure 14-5 shows a front view of the NSLU2.





**Figure 14-5:** The Linksys NSLU2 NAS server packs a lot of power into a 5 1/2" box.

The rear panel of the NSLU2 has the usual power and Ethernet connectors, plus two USB connectors. As you might have guessed from its diminutive size, the NSLU2 does not have an internal disk drive.

You can connect the NSLU2 to virtually any external USB hard drive. I personally use a 160 GB drive I bought on sale for less than \$100, mounted in a universal USB 2.0 case that cost less than \$40. Sure, the drive and case cost more than the NSLU2, but for less than \$300, I have a 160 GB file server that is fast, reliable, and nearly silent (the drive makes a barely perceptible sound when running.) Best of all, it takes up very little space and uses so little power that I don't even think about leaving it on all the time.

### More than a NAS?

The NSLU2 is built using an open-source version of Linux, and Linksys has taken the unusual step of including the source code for the NSLU2's firmware and operating system on the CD-ROM packed with the unit. Not surprisingly, this has created a swarm of activity in the computer hobbyist community. Do a Google search on NSLU2 and you'll see that some clever folks have modified the NSLU2 to operate as a Web server, an FTP server, and even as an iTunes server!

If you're interested in seeing what people are doing with their NSLU2s, see www.nslu2-linux.org.



The NSLU2 isn't a speed demon, but it is more than fast enough to use for music and photo file sharing, and it is especially useful as a backup device. But my favorite thing about the NSLU2 is that it is exceptionally easy to install and operate.

# **Installing the NSLU2**

You begin the installation by connecting the provided Ethernet cable to your LAN switch and connecting the power cord. You can configure the NSLU2 with or without a disk drive attached. After you connect the cables and power on the unit, you run a configuration wizard from the CD-ROM packed with the NSLU2. (Sorry, Mac users, but Linksys doesn't provide a Mac version of the configuration wizard. You can still use the browser-based interface, shown in the next step.)

The configuration wizard consists of four simple steps. In the first step, the wizard searches your local network looking for NSLU2 units. When it finds one, you'll see a screen like the one in Figure 14-6.



Figure 14-6: In Step 1, you identify the NSLU2 you want to configure.

If you have more than one NSLU2 on your LAN, you'll need to click the one you want to configure. When you've identified the correct unit, click the Yes button to continue. You'll see the IP Settings screen, shown in Figure 14-7.



LINKSYS A Division of Cisco Systems, Inc. IP Settings	
Set IP configuration manually     IP Address     192 . 168 . 0 . 77	Or O Automatically obtain an IP address (DHCP) An IP address must be specified in order to access the Network Storage Link from the network.
IP Mask 255 . 255 . 255 . 0	If you are familiar with how your network is set up (DHCP or Static), you can modify these settings through your web browser at a later date. If you are unsure, it is better to skit this section by clicking on Next.
Gateway 192 . 168 . 0 . 1	
	Back Next
Network Storage Link with USB 2.0	Setup Wizard Model No. NSLU2

**Figure 14-7:** In Step 2, you can change the unit's IP address or choose to use an automatic address provided by your network's DCHP server.

By default, the NSLU2 comes configured to use a fixed address, although the preconfigured address may not be in the proper address range for your LAN. I recommend that you use a fixed address for your NSLU2, although you can use an automatic (dynamic) address if you prefer.

If you're not sure what IP address to use, check your router's IP address settings to learn the address of your router and the range of the router's DHCP addresses. You'll need to choose an address that doesn't conflict with another device on your LAN.

For example, my home LAN router is at 192.168.0.1, and the router is set up to provide automatic (DHCP) addresses in the range of 192.168.0.100 to 192.168.0.200. All of the addresses between 192.168.0.1 (the router) and 192.168.0.99 are available for manual assignment. I chose 192.168.0.77 as the address for the NSLU2, and this address will probably work on the majority of home LANs.

After you've entered the IP address, click the Next button to move on to the Date and Time settings screen, shown in Figure 14-8.

Unlike many NAS servers and routers, the NSLU2 does not obtain the current date and time from the Internet, so you'll need to set it manually. The unit does have a real-time clock chip and a backup battery, so you should only need to set the clock this one time. Enter the correct date, time, and time zone, and click Next to move to the Confirmation screen, shown in Figure 14-9.

This final screen lets you confirm your changes. Make sure the IP address is correct, or you may not be able to connect to the NSLU2's Web interface in the next step! You may want to write down the IP address so you can refer to it in the future.

At this point, your NSLU2 is configured and almost ready to use. You'll still need to attach a disk drive (if you haven't already), and you'll need to format the drive for use with the NSLU2. If you are using a single disk drive, connect the drive to the USB port labeled DISK 1 on the back of the NSLU2.



LINKSYS				
A Division of Cisco Systems, Inc.	Date/Time S	ettings		
3				
Time Z	(GMT-05:00) East	tern Time (US & Canda		
Date	5/12/2005	×		
Time	11:26:07 AM			
Network Storage Link wit	h USB 2.0	Setup Wi	zard Model No.	NSLU2

**Figure 14-8:** Make sure you set the correct date, time, and time zone so your files will be correctly time-stamped.

4			Confirm N	EW Settings
				V
	Old Settings		New Settings	
	Server Name Date Time	Sluggo 05/12/2005 11:26:07	Server Name Date Time	Sluggo 05/12/2005 11:26:07
	IP Address Subnet Mask Default Gateway IP Status	192.168.0.77 255.255.255.0 192.168.0.1 Fixed	IP Address Subnet Mask Default Gateway IP Status	192.168.0.77 255.255.255.0 192.168.0.1 Fixed

Figure 14-9: Click Save to confirm the changes you made.



### Caution

Although the NSLU2 will work with virtually any USB disk drive (including USB "keychain" flash drives), there are two important things you need to know before you proceed.

- 1. Unlike Windows and Mac PCs, the NSLU2 does not allow for "hot swapping" of drives. You must power down the unit before you attach or disconnect a USB hard drive. You can swap out flash drives at any time.
- 2. The NSLU2 runs Linux and uses a different file structure than Windows or Mac systems. You will need to format the drive using the NSLU2's format utility (described in the next section) before you can use the drive with the NSLU2. If you plan to use a USB drive that contains important files, you should copy the files to another system before you connect the drive to the NSLU2.

After you've connected the drive, you're almost ready to go. From any computer on your LAN, open your Web browser and point your browser to the IP address assigned to the NSLU2. (Now you know why I told you to write it down!) You should see the NSLU2's Home screen, shown in Figure 14-10. In most cases, you can also reach the NSLU2 using the name you gave the server when you ran the setup wizard. As you can see in the following example, I can reach my server at http://sluggo.



**Figure 14-10:** The NSLU2's Home screen provides quick access to all of the NSLU2's features.



🛋 Disk U	Jtility - Micros	oft Internet	Explorer							_ 🗆 ×
Eile	<u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew	F <u>a</u> vorites	∐ools	Help						<u>It</u>
		sys°								~
	A Division of Cisco S	Systems, Inc.								
						Network S	torage Link fo	r USB 2.0 Disks	NSLU2	
	Disk	<b>(</b>	Hom	е	User password	Administration	User Guide	Linksys Web		
					Groups   Shares	Backup   Disk	Upgrade   Se	tup		
	Fo	rmat Disk								
			Disk 1	Status:	Formatted					
			Disk 2	Status:	Not Installed					
			The fo	ormat o	peration will de	stroy any data	on the disk !			
			It sho	uld only	/ be used on a n	ewly-installed	disk.			
			Form	at Disk1	Format Disk 2					
		Scandisk								
			Disk 1	Status:	No scan perform	ned	]			
			Disk 2	Status:	N/A		]			
			Run S	candisk:	Never	▼ 12 0	)0 am 💌			
				_	Scan Disk 1 💌					
			Durin	g a Sca	ndisk, the disk c	annot be acces	sed.			
			Start	Stop Dis	k 1 Start/Stop D	lsk 2				
									CISCO SYSTEMS	
					Save	Cancel Dis	sk Log Help		ակիստուլիստ	
										×.
e								SLC.	cal intranet	

**Figure 14-11:** The disk status screen shows the operational status of the disk drives attached to the server. Note that in this example, I have already formatted Disk 1.

If you are sure that you are ready to format the drive, click the appropriate button for Disk 1 or Disk 2. (See Figure 14-11.) A window will pop up to confirm that you really do want to format the drive. Click OK if you are sure you want to proceed. The format procedure takes anywhere from a few minutes to nearly an hour, depending on the size of the drive.

After the drive is formatted, you're almost finished. In the next step, you'll create user accounts for each user who will have access to the shared drive. To add new user accounts, click Users from the Administration menu. You'll see the users screen, shown in Figure 14-12.

To add a new user, enter the user's name and password in the lower half of the screen. If you want to create a private directory that is accessible only by that specific user, check the box next to Create Private Folder. If you like, you can create a quota for that user, which limits the amount of storage for that user. When you are finished entering the information, click the Save as New User button to save the changes.



🖆 Users - Microsoft Internet Exp	plorer						. 🗆 ×
<u>File Edit View Favorite</u>	s <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp	Address 🗟 http	://sluggo/Mana	gement/file_sha	ring.cgi?ne:	st_fil 💌 🏓 Go	R
							*
A Division of Cisco Systems, Inc.							
		Ne	twork Storage	Link for USB 2	2.0 Disks	NSLU2	
Users	Home	User password	Administration	User Guide	Linksys Web		
		LAN   System   Us	ers   Status   A	dvanced			
Existing Users							
	guest						
	les						
	End c	of List ======					
	Groups Dele	te					
Properties							
	Name:	les					
	Comment:		_				
	Password:	•••••	••				
	verity Password:		••				
	Private Folder	(Share) Location:	)iok 1 💌				
			JISK I				
	Enable Disk	Quota of ME	3				
	Save as new os	chourtonn					
						CISCO SYSTEMS	
			Save	e Help		<b>م</b> ينا التسيينا الليا	
Ø						al intranet	<b>Y</b>

Figure 14-12: Use the Users screen to add and delete authorized users for the server.

Observant readers may have noticed the "guest" account in Figure 14-12. This is a default account automatically created by the NSLU2. Files placed in the guest directory are accessible by everyone on the LAN, and there is normally no password on the guest account.

The last step is to set the server's network name and workgroup name. Back in Chapter 8, I showed you how to set the workgroup name for your Windows LAN. You'll need to use the same workgroup name for your NSLU2, and you'll also need to give the NAS server a unique network name. To change these settings, click System from the Administration menu. Fill in the workgroup name, the server name, and an optional description of the server, using the example in Figure 14-13.

At this point, your NAS server is fully configured and ready for use. In the next section, I'll show you how to use your server.



Sys	tem - G	eneral -	Microsoft I	nternet E	xplorer	Addrong 🗟 to				ulue V 🖪 es	- 10
File	Eait	Tem	Favorites	<u>1</u> 0015	Пеір	Address  @  No	tp://sluggo/Manag	ement/setup.cg	i?next_nie=s	ystem • 🛃 uo	- 4
	A Division	1 of Cisco S	SYS <sup>®</sup> ystems, Inc.						Firmus	e Version: V2.3R29	
l				_	_		Network Storage	Link for USB 2	2.0 Disks	NSLU2	
		Syste	m =	Нота	,	User	Administration	User Guide	Linksys		
						LAN   System	Users   Status   A	dvanced	Web		
		lden	tification								
				Server	Name:	Sluggo					
				Comm	ent	The Linksys N	IAS Serve				
				Workgr	oup:	PCMAG					
l			Location								
				Langua Time Z	ige Support one:	USA (437)	<u>-</u>				
				(GMT	-05:00) Eas	tern Time(US, C	anada)	•			
				Local D	ate:	May 💌 12	, 2005 (mth,	day, year)			
				Local T	ime:	09 : 06	pm 💌				
ł			WINS								
1											
				🗆 En:	able WINS						
				WIN	S Server:			_ I			
I			Location								
_			_								

**Figure 14-13:** Use the System screen to set the server and workgroup names. (To find out why my NSLU2 is named Sluggo, Google "NSLU2 Slug".)

# **Using the NSLU2**

The NSLU2 uses the industry-standard SMB protocol for network communications, so it works equally well with Windows, Linux, and Mac OS X (10.3 and later) client computers. In most cases, the NSLU2 will appear like any other server in your computer's network browser.

On Windows client PCs, the NSLU2 should show up as a server in the Network Neighborhood. To see a list of the available servers on your LAN, open the Network Neighborhood and then click View Workgroup Computers on the left side of the screen. You should see a list of servers like the one in Figure 14-14.

#### Note

It can take up to 15 minutes for a new server to appear in the Workgroup Computers list. This is the result of the complexities of Windows networks. For an explanation of why this happens, see <a href="http://support.microsoft.com/kb/102878/EN-US/">http://support.microsoft.com/kb/102878/EN-US/</a> for the gory details.



📲 Pcmag					_ 🗆 ×
<u>File Edit View Favorites</u>	<u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp				At .
🛛 😋 Back 🕶 🌍 🕶 🏂 🔎 S	Search 😥 Folders	•			
Address 🖓 Pcmag					▼ 🔁 Go
Notwork Tasks 🕆					
<ul> <li>Add a network place</li> <li>View network connections</li> </ul>	5			5	
Set up a home or small office network	Becky	Foghorn	Les' HP Desktop+	Mac OS X (Mini-me)	
Set up a wireless network for a home or small office			(Marvin)		
View workgroup					
Show icons for networked UPnP devices	23				
	The Linksys NAS				
Other Places *	Server (Sluggo)				
Microsoft Windows					
My Computer					
My Documents					
Shared Documents					
Sinters and Faxes					
Detaile \$					
remag					
5 objects					li.

**Figure 14-14:** The Workgroup Computers display for my LAN. The NSLU2 (Sluggo) is at the bottom of the list of servers.

On Mac OS X systems, the NSLU2 will appear as a server in the Finder. To see a list of available servers, open the Finder and click the Network icon. If the server doesn't appear (probably due to the 15 minute delay I mentioned earlier), you can manually create a connection by selecting Connect to Server from the Finder's Go menu, as shown in Figure 14-15.

00	Connect To Server	
Server Address:		
smb://sluggo/les		+ G.
Favorite Servers:		
Remove	Brow	se Connect

**Figure 14-15:** To manually connect to a server, you'll need to know the server and share names.

As you can see from the example, you'll need to enter **smb://** plus the server and share names to connect to the NAS server. If you plan to use the server connection frequently, you can click the plus icon next to the server address to add it to your list of favorite servers.



# Summary

This chapter showed you several ways to extend the capabilities of your home network. The key points in this chapter are as follows:

- Vou can customize your firewall to give Internet users access to a server on your LAN.
- A file server is an affordable and very sensible (almost necessary) part of a home network.
- A file server provides centralized file storage and printer sharing for the entire home network.
- You can set up a Microsoft Windows system to share files or use a dedicated, inexpensive NAS server.
- A small NAS makes an excellent addition to most any home LAN.

# Appendix A

# Home Networking Cookbook



o you're enjoying the benefits of high-speed cable or DSL service: no more competition for the phone line, always-on convenience, and easy sharing of large image files of the kids with their grandparents, among many other things. The problem now is that now everyone in the house wants to use the one computer connected to the Internet, and usually at the same time.

Fortunately, setting up a home network to share the connection is relatively easy and inexpensive, and it also lets you share printers, files, and other resources among all the computers on the LAN. And the flexible nature of Ethernet and wireless LANs means you have many configuration options. In fact, there are so many options that planning your network can be a bit daunting.

To help narrow the field, this Home Networking Cookbook presents a series of arrangements to suit almost anything you're likely to need in home networking. Most of the layouts also work in a small-office environment, though there may be some differences in the service type and the type of equipment that supplies it. On the LAN side of things, the scenarios are essentially the same for home- and small-office settings. All use Ethernet (either wired or wireless) and the standard TCP/IP communications protocol.

The wired options presented are particularly suitable if you can run cables within your home. The ideal situation is to have your network cables run as the house is built (or as you have your basement finished) so that you can plan to put an Ethernet jack in every room, and you can even combine your Ethernet and telephone connections into a single wall plate for a compact and nicely finished appearance (see Chapter 6 for more on connector types).

If your house is already built or if you rent your home, you won't be able to install cabling quite as easily. But wired networks are still your best choice if most of the networked computers are in the same or adjacent rooms, or if your home has an unfinished basement or attic with easy access to the rooms above or below. In the latter cases, you can often route your CAT5 cables using existing telephone cable runs as a placement guide.

#### Note

It is also possible to use your home's existing AC power or telephone wiring to carry LAN traffic. See Chapter 4 for more details.



Wired LANs offer the best speed performance and are the best option for networks (or network segments) that handle a lot of data (like large image or file transfers, video, and so on). The wireless LAN configurations presented here are a very good alternative if your speed requirements are not as great, if you want more flexibility, or if you need to extend network access to parts of the house in which cabling is not an option. Also presented are a number of combined wired/wireless network configurations useful if you can run cable in some parts of the house but not others.

Wired, wireless, or a combination of the two, one thing's for sure: After you have your home network set up, you'll wonder how you ever got by without it.

The scenarios presented here assume you already have working DSL or cable modem service, and that it is delivered to your home via an external (standalone) modem. If you don't have a broadband connection, you can use Windows' Internet Connection Sharing feature to share a dial-up connection. But even if you don't have an Internet connection, the routers, switches, and wiring that create the LAN for you still let you share folders, printers, and other resources. That's because the LAN is independent of the Internet connection and doesn't require the Internet connection to operate.

# **A Quick Reference to the Sections**

Here's a quick guide to the sections in this appendix. The first five network configurations cover the foundations of wired, wireless, and mixed wired/wireless home networks; the balance of the sections build on these basic layouts.

- Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall. Even if there's just one computer connected to your high-speed cable or DSL service, you can still benefit from using a router to manage and protect your connection. Plus, the router gives you a ready expansion point for when you're ready to add more computers or need to connect a laptop you've brought home from the office.
- Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway. The standard router-based wired Ethernet home network. The router handles Internet connection sharing, network management, and firewall functions. This all-wired configuration offers the best networking performance for all your LAN clients.
- Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing (ICS). A home network arrangement that puts one of your existing PCs to work as the Internet connection and network management point.
- Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem. Just because the cable or DSL modem and the router have to be interconnected doesn't mean they have to be in the same room, or even on the same floor. This section tells you how to set up the router and modem where it's most convenient for you.
- All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway. An all-wireless LAN offers you the greatest LAN client-placement flexibility. It also means you can move about with your laptop, from room to room, while staying connected to your home LAN—and to the Internet.



- Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN. Adding a wireless segment to a wired network gives you the best of both worlds: the high speed and performance of the wired section and the mobility and ease of installation of wireless.
- **Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches.** A wired network is easily expanded with additional Ethernet switches. This section builds on the preceding configuration Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, and describes where the additional switches fit into the LAN and how to interconnect them.
- **Expanded Wireless LAN with Two Access Points.** A basic, single-access-point wireless LAN configuration doesn't always cover every area you need to reach within your home. This section explains how to use a second access point to expand the range of your LAN.
- Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension. One of the newer alternatives to running cabling for home networking, the HomePlug standard uses power line adapters to route Ethernet traffic over your home's electric cables. It's especially useful for connecting a LAN client in a difficult location.
- Secure Remote Access to Your Ethernet LAN. You can easily set up private and secure access into your own home network. Here you'll see how to interconnect your remote client PC (desktop or laptop) to your home LAN through a specially equipped router.
- **Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL.** You can easily extend user-installable DSL service into a full home network with shared Internet access. This section explains how this type of DSL is set up within your home and outlines what you need to network it.

Happy home networking!

# Individual Internet Access with Router/Gateway

Even if you have only one computer today, you can still benefit from using a router between your system and the broadband modem. The router removes your computer from direct exposure to the Internet and gives you an easy way to set up a LAN for future (or occasional) expansion. Perhaps you have a home desktop machine that the kids also use, and you plan eventually to get them their own computer and reclaim yours. Or maybe you occasionally bring home your office laptop, and you'd like to be able to connect directly, with easy access to your home printer and Internet connection.

# What You'll Need

For this project, you'll need the following:

- A cable or DSL router, with or without a built-in Ethernet switch
- An Ethernet switch (if using a router without a switch), when you're ready to expand



- One CAT5 interconnect cable for connecting your broadband modem, plus one cable for each computer (length will vary)
- One Ethernet adapter for each computer (desktops and laptops)
- One Ethernet printer server for each printer to be directly networked (optional)

### **Configuration Overview**

You can use a router with or without a switch for a single-user configuration, but remember that to create a LAN and share the Internet connection, you'll need a switch somewhere, either in the router or as an external switch connected to the router. Either way, the router and switch combination provide both the Ethernet LAN and Internet connection sharing functions. The router also includes a number of important network management functions that will be especially useful as other devices are added. In addition, most routers include extended security and firewall features to protect systems within the LAN. A simple, single-user scenario is depicted in Figure A-1.

All routers have two types of ports, usually labeled WAN and LAN. Home routers usually have just one WAN port, and it connects directly to the cable or DSL modem that delivers your high-speed service. One or more LAN ports connect to the rest of your network. For routers without an internal switch, a single LAN jack connects to an external switch.

You can connect any Ethernet-capable desktop or portable computer to your router or switch. On desktop machines, an internal Ethernet card usually provides this function. Laptop computers either have Ethernet built in or can easily accommodate it with the installation of an Ethernet adapter. It doesn't matter whether you're running Windows, Apple, or Linux systems (or any combination), but the systems themselves have to be properly configured to use Ethernet. Printers, too, can connect to the LAN via Ethernet so that they're always available to your other LAN systems.

#### Note

For more Ethernet LAN installation information, including details on how to run cables and install Ethernet cards, see Chapter 6.



**Figure A-1:** Even a single-user configuration benefits from using a router's built-in security and network management functions. The configuration is then easily expanded when necessary to support more computers and/or wireless access.



### **Physical Layout and Connections**

The basic setup for a single user is actually similar to that of the wired multiuser network configurations described in this appendix. The WAN side of the router connects directly to the DSL or cable modem with a standard RJ-45-terminated CAT5 cable. The cable/DSL modem and router can be in the same room, interconnected via a short CAT5 cable, or they can be located in two different parts of the house, as long as the distance between them doesn't exceed the 100-meter (about 300 feet) cable length limit.

LAN-side connections are made at the switch. On a router with a built-in switch, individual cables interconnect switch ports to each LAN client. With an external switch, there's one additional cable between the router and the switch, and then one cable between each LAN client and the switch. In the case of a single PC, you'll be running just one cable for the LAN side. Physical connections for the LAN are handled by the switch (internal or external), while the router itself handles traffic control, address translation, and IP addressing.

When you're ready to expand the network, note that the LAN generally supports as many Ethernet devices as there are connection jacks on the switch. For example, if your router has a built-in eight-port switch for LAN support, you can have any combination of eight Ethernet-capable computers and printers on the LAN. On the other hand, if you have a single-port router connected to an external eight-port hub or switch, you end up with only seven LAN-side connection points available on the hub; that's because one of the connections on the hub has to connect back to the router.

Each LAN client (a computer, Ethernet printer, and so on) connects via its own CAT5 Ethernet cable directly to a port on the Ethernet switch, also with a maximum cable length run of 100 meters (about 300 feet). Naturally, each computer and device to be connected to the LAN must have Ethernet capability. In the case of desktop computers, this usually means adding an internal Ethernet card. Many laptop computers are already equipped with an RJ-45 Ethernet jack. Those that don't have Ethernet built in can use a USB-to-Ethernet adapter (which would also work for any USB-equipped desktop) or a CardBus (or PC Card) Ethernet adapter.

A printer connected to a networked computer can be accessible to other computers on the network. However, note that sharing a printer this way requires that the computer to which it is connected be running. On the other hand, if a printer is directly connected to the LAN, it is always available to all your other systems. To be on the LAN, the printer must have its own Ethernet connection. Many newer printers have built-in Ethernet print servers. For printers that don't have it built in, a separate Ethernet printer server (basically, an Ethernet-to-printer port converter) supplies this function. Some printer servers can drive multiple printers, a handy feature if you have more than one printer to network.

### **Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security**

After your computer is equipped with an Ethernet connection, you are ready to connect it to the Ethernet switch. Even if you're starting out with just one LAN client, it will need a unique identifier, which is assigned partly by the router and partly by you. Fortunately, routers have many built-in features to handle this part of network management and configuration for you.

Routers feature a DHCP server to automatically assign IP addresses and other network settings to clients as they connect to the LAN. The LAN client must run DHCP clients, but this is generally a one-time configuration that is very easy to set up (see Chapter 3 for a Windows example). Note that Ethernet-equipped peripherals like printers and print servers run DHCP clients by default and automatically receive network settings from the DHCP server upon connection to the LAN.


The router usually also functions as a DHCP client, in this case to negotiate settings between itself and your service provider's DHCP server. This is how the router receives its public IP address (the one that's visible to the outside world) and related service configuration settings.

That single public IP address obtained by the router is used only for external communication. All LAN traffic, on the other hand, uses a private network address, which the router does not pass to the outside world. The conversion between the two address types is done by Network Address Translation (NAT).

In doing this, NAT hides internal LAN addresses and provides a first line of defense. To the outside world, your networked systems are invisible; all traffic appears to originate from the router at the single, public IP address. Only the router knows how to direct traffic into and out of your network, and to the right LAN client internally. Your networked computers can access the outside world through the shared Internet connection, but people and other systems on the Internet can't initiate access to resources within the LAN. As a result, detection of the systems and capabilities within the LAN is very difficult.

Routers with built-in firewalls provide additional security for your LAN by filtering inbound and outbound data. All inbound traffic encounters the firewall first, and any data that does not meet specific security criteria is rejected. Data traffic is examined by means of a packet filter, a set of rules that determine what passes and what gets rejected. Outbound traffic is typically also checked, and some routers allow specific traffic types to be limited or completely disallowed, giving you a way to control the services (or times of day) during which certain functions (like gaming, for example) can take place.

Although the firewall is an important component of LAN security, note that a firewall alone won't protect you from everything and, in particular, cannot protect you against viruses spread through e-mail. For more-complete protection, you should consider running virus detection, software fire-wall, and spyware detection software on each computer.

For network and router management, most routers include a Web server that is accessible from any of the systems on the LAN. (Older routers are also remotely managed, but may not include a Web interface.) To access router controls, simply open a browser window at one of the systems and connect to the router at a specific network address or URL.

## **Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway**

Are there are multiple computers in your home, but only one that's connected to your high-speed cable or DSL Internet service? Do you sometimes bring your laptop home from work but have to steal the printer away from the family PC to print an important document? If any of this sounds familiar, you need to set up a LAN with the ability to share the Internet connection and other resources among all your computers' devices.

## What You'll Need

For this LAN you'll need the following:

- A cable or DSL router, with or without a built-in Ethernet switch
- An Ethernet switch (if you are using a router without a switch)



- One CAT5 interconnect cable for each connection (length will vary)
- One Ethernet adapter for each computer (desktops and laptops), either internal or external
- One Ethernet printer server for each printer to be directly networked (optional)

## **Configuration Overview**

The router provides the basis for both an Ethernet LAN and Internet connection sharing. You can think of your router as a one-to-many distribution center for your Internet connection that also supplies a number of important network management functions. Many routers also include extended security and firewall features to protect systems within the LAN. Typical router-based LANs with Internet connections are shown in Figures A-2 and A-3.

All routers have two types of ports, usually labeled WAN and LAN. A home router will usually have just one WAN port. It connects directly to the cable or DSL modem that delivers your high-speed service. One or more LAN ports connect to the rest of the network.

#### Note

Some manufacturers offer routers with Ethernet and serial (RS-232) WAN ports. These routers normally operate with a cable or DSL modem connected to the Ethernet WAN port as the primary connection, and a dial-up modem connected to the serial WAN port as a back-up connection. It is possible to use these routers with a dial-up modem as the only WAN connection.

The router in Figure A-2 includes a multiport Ethernet hub or switch that provides connection points for your Ethernet computers, printers, print servers, and other devices. For routers that don't have multiple LAN-side ports, an external hub or switch serves the same function, as in Figure A-3.

You can connect any Ethernet-capable desktop or portable computer to your network. On desktop machines, an internal Ethernet card usually provides this function. Laptop computers either have Ethernet built in or can easily accommodate it with the installation of an Ethernet adapter. It doesn't matter whether you're running Windows, Apple, or Linux systems (or any combination), but the systems themselves have to be properly configured to use Ethernet. Printers, too, can connect directly to the network via Ethernet so that they're always available to your networked systems.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more Ethernet LAN installation information, including details on how to run cables and install Ethernet cards, see Chapter 6.





**Figure A-2:** A router-based Ethernet LAN in which the router itself provides multiple Ethernet jacks for direct connection to desktops, laptops, and other Ethernet-ready devices.



**Figure A-3:** If the router doesn't have a built-in hub or switch, a separate hub or switch can be used to create the LAN. Ethernet-equipped computers and other devices then connect to this device.



## **Physical Layout and Connections**

The two scenarios shown here are functionally equivalent but differ in the location of the hub or switch. The router in Figure A-2 includes a multiport switch, and all LAN clients connect directly to the router. The single-port Ethernet router of Figure A-3, on the other hand, requires an external switch for connection to the LAN. Physical connections for the LAN are handled by the switch (internal or external), while the router itself handles traffic control, address translation, and IP addressing.

The WAN side of the router connects directly to the DSL or cable modem with a standard RJ-45terminated CAT5 cable. The router and cable/DSL modem can be in the same room, interconnected via a short CAT5 cable, or they can be located in two different parts of the house, as long as the distance between them doesn't exceed Ethernet's 100-meter (about 300 feet) cable length limit. A router using an external switch (or hub) needs another CAT5 cable to connect its LAN connector to the switch.

In general, the LAN supports as many Ethernet devices as there are connection jacks on the switch or hub. For example, if your router has a built-in eight-port switch for LAN support, you can have any combination of eight Ethernet-capable computers and printers on the LAN. On the other hand, if you have a single-port router connected to an external eight-port hub or switch, you end up with only seven LAN-side connection points available on the hub; that's because one of the connections on the hub has to connect back to the router.

Each LAN client (a computer, Ethernet printer, and so on) connects via its own CAT5 Ethernet cable directly to a port on the Ethernet switch, also with a maximum cable length run of 100 meters (about 300 feet). Naturally, each computer and device to be connected to the LAN must have Ethernet capability. In the case of desktop computers, this usually means adding an internal Ethernet card. Many laptop computers are already equipped with an RJ-45 Ethernet jack. Those that don't have a built-in adapter can use a USB-to-Ethernet adapter (which would also work for any USB-equipped desktop), or a PC Card or CardBus Ethernet adapter.

A printer connected to one of your networked computers can be accessible to other computers on the network; however, note that sharing a printer this way requires that the computer to which it is connected be running. On the other hand, if a printer is directly connected to the LAN, it is always available to all your systems. To be on the LAN, the printer must have its own Ethernet connection. Many newer printers have built-in Ethernet print servers. For printers that don't have it built in, a separate Ethernet printer server (basically, an Ethernet-to-printer port converter) supplies this function. Some printer servers can drive multiple printers, a handy feature if you have more than one printer to network.

## Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security

Once each device to be networked is equipped with Ethernet and connected to the network, you're ready to configure everything. Each device will require a unique identifier, which is assigned partly by the router and partly by you. Fortunately, routers have many built-in features to handle this part of network management and configuration for you.

Routers feature a DHCP server, which automatically assigns IP addresses and other network settings to clients as they connect to the LAN. Each of the networked devices must run DHCP clients, but this is generally a one-time setting that is very easy to configure (see Chapter 3 for a Windows example). Ethernet-equipped peripherals like printers and print servers run DHCP clients by default and are automatically configured for your network settings upon connection to the LAN.



The router usually also functions as a DHCP client, in this case to negotiate settings between itself and your service provider's DHCP server. This is how the router receives its public IP address (the one that's visible to the outside world) and related service configuration settings.

That single public IP address obtained by the router is shared by all of the LAN-side systems. The Internet connection is shared through Network Address Translation (NAT), a scheme to translate traffic between *private* LAN addresses and the one public address that represents your connection to the Internet.

By hiding private addresses, NAT provides a first line of defense for your LAN. To the outside world, your networked systems are invisible; all traffic appears to originate from the router at the single public IP address. Only the router knows how to direct traffic into and out of your network, and detection of the systems and capabilities within the LAN is very difficult as a result. The computers on your LAN can access the outside world through the shared Internet connection, but people and other systems on the Internet can't initiate access to the resources within the LAN.

Routers with built-in firewalls provide additional LAN security by filtering all data traffic that flows between your network and the outside world. Inbound traffic encounters the firewall first and is examined, and any data that does not meet specific security criteria is rejected. The traffic is examined by means of a packet filter, a set of rules that determine what passes and what gets rejected. Outbound traffic is typically also checked, and some routers allow specific traffic types to be limited or completely disallowed, giving you a way to control the services (or times of day) during which certain functions (like gaming, for example) can take place. Filtering criteria is typically determined through router configuration.

Although the firewall is an important component of LAN security, note that a firewall alone won't protect you from everything and, in particular, cannot protect you against viruses spread through e-mail. For more-complete protection, you should consider running virus detection and security software on each computer. (See Chapter 13 for more details on security features.)

For network and router management, most routers include a Web server that is accessible from any of the systems on the LAN. (Older routers are also remotely managed but may not include a Web interface.) To access router controls, you simply start a browser window at one of the systems and connect to the router at a specific network address or URL.

# Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing (ICS)

If you have at least one computer running Microsoft Windows, you may be able use it to set up an Ethernet LAN and share your Internet connection, without installing a router. Microsoft Windows 98 Second Edition, Windows Me, Windows 2000, and Windows XP include Internet Connection Sharing, or ICS, a feature that allows you to use one computer to share an Internet connection among others within your LAN. The computer that runs ICS becomes your network gateway and essentially performs the same function as the router in other configurations.



## What You'll Need

For this LAN, you'll need the following:

- One computer equipped with two Ethernet cards to function as the ICS system
- An Ethernet switch for interconnecting other computers and networked peripherals
- One CAT5 interconnect cable for each connection (length will vary)
- One Ethernet adapter for each networked computer (desktops and laptops)
- One Ethernet printer server for each printer to be directly networked (optional)

## **Configuration Overview**

The ICS gateway machine is the point through which data passes between your LAN and the Internet. To do this, the gateway machine uses two Ethernet cards, one to connect to the cable or DSL modem, and the other to connect to either another Ethernet-enabled PC or to an Ethernet LAN.

A connection to a single PC, as shown in Figure A-4, is a simple scenario, but it's also the most limited because it doesn't allow for adding other computers or Ethernet-enabled peripherals. But if you have just two computers, this may be the least-expensive connection-sharing configuration (although you'll still need to get a second Ethernet card for one of the systems). If you start with this, you can always expand later by adding a hub or switch. Note that the second machine (the one labeled Desktop) need not be a desktop. It can be any Ethernet-equipped device, like a laptop system.



**Figure A-4:** A basic, and somewhat limited, ICS configuration with just two computers sharing the Internet connection.



The second configuration, shown in Figure A-5, is far more flexible. By connecting the ICS machine to a relatively inexpensive Ethernet switch, you have a LAN that can support as many Ethernet devices as you have connections on the switch. You could even add a wireless access point to the network to support laptops and other mobile devices. In either configuration, your networked computers will have full access to the Internet, and to each other, if you like, for sharing printers and other resources.



**Figure A-5:** This more flexible configuration adds an Ethernet switch to which many other computers and devices can be connected.

One particular advantage of ICS is that it can also share dial-up Internet connections over a standard modem. This is very useful if you can't get DSL or cable modem service where you live, or as an occasional backup for when your high-speed, always-on connection is down. Your Ethernet LAN configuration need not change in this case, but the system running ICS and some of the other systems' settings may need to be reconfigured when you switch between always-on and dial-up service.

By the way, the system running ICS need not be the latest-and-greatest PC. If the system is dedicated to this task, an older Windows machine you might not otherwise use (because it's slower, has a small hard disk, or has a limited memory capacity) can serve a very useful role as an Internet connection sharing gateway. However, it is vitally important to keep the gateway PC updated with the latest security patches. It's also a good idea to use the Windows XP firewall software (included in Windows XP Service Pack 2) on each of the client PCs.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For Ethernet LAN installation information, including details on how to run cables and install Ethernet adapters, refer to Chapter 6. For information on installing ICS, refer to Chapter 8.



## **Physical Layout and Connections**

Whether you run the bare-bones setup shown in Figure A-4 or the more typical LAN configuration of Figure A-5, these two ICS configurations are pretty much equivalent with respect to the gateway machine.

The gateway is equipped with two Ethernet cards—one for the WAN connection and the other for the LAN. Windows categorizes the cards according to function in its list of network devices. The Ethernet card connected to the cable/DSL modem is called the TCP/IP(Shared) adapter, and the card connected to your Ethernet LAN is the TCP/IP(Home) adapter.

With respect to cabling, the simple ICS scenario depicted here requires a special CAT5 *crossover* Ethernet cable to interconnect the ICS system and the second PC. A crossover cable is needed when any combination of two PCs or other Ethernet devices are directly connected (though that's rarely the case). The more common and recommended method, even for a two-system LAN, uses an Ethernet hub or switch to interconnect all devices on the LAN. A standard CAT5 Ethernet cable then connects each device directly to the hub.

## Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security

The service-side, or TCP/IP(Shared), Ethernet adapter is configured with the service connection information given by the cable or DSL service provider. This includes the IP address (unless the IP address is dynamically assigned) and other details specific to the service type. The LAN-side, or TCP/IP(Home), adapter is automatically configured by Windows as the gateway for all the devices connected to your Ethernet LAN.

On your LAN, Ethernet devices can use either fixed or dynamic IP addressing. If you have multiple devices on your LAN, it's best to use dynamic IP address assignment. Like routers, ICS includes a DHCP server for this purpose, and the server automatically assigns addresses to devices as they are added to the network. It also automatically releases the addresses when a device is turned off or disconnected.

Note, however, that even if you run ICS with DHCP, there is always one fixed address on the network. Because it functions as the gateway for all your LAN clients, the ICS system's LAN-side card must have a fixed IP address. The default address is 192.168.0.1. Other LAN-side systems are then assigned addresses within the 192.168.0.x range.

If your LAN computers were previously configured to use fixed IP addresses, you will need to configure each of your LAN clients to use DHCP automatic IP addressing. On Windows and most other operating systems, this is easy to do and is usually just a matter of selecting the appropriate option in a dialog (see Chapter 3 for a Windows example). Ethernet-equipped peripherals like printers and Ethernet print servers have built-in DHCP clients that automatically get network and configuration information from the DHCP server in the ICS system.

The core of ICS is Network Address Translation (NAT). NAT translates the *private* addresses of each LAN client into the single *public* address that represents the entire private network. To the outside world, private network elements are invisible and appear to be processes within the gateway machine. That is, all traffic appears to originate from the single service-provider-supplied IP address. Detection of the systems and capabilities on the LAN is very difficult as a result. Computers on the LAN can access the Internet, but people and other systems on the Internet can't directly access the computers within the LAN.

There's one important difference between ICS and the router-based configurations described in this appendix. Because the ICS system functions as your router, it means that this system is always directly exposed to the Internet. The Ethernet card connected to the cable or DSL modem has to use



a public IP address, and this makes the ICS system especially vulnerable to attack. (The other Ethernet card, the one that's connected to your LAN, uses a private IP address.) But that's essentially the same situation as for any single PC connected to an always-on service. Just as in that case, it's essential to run firewall and antivirus software on the ICS PC to protect against tampering and unauthorized access. Windows XP includes a built-in firewall for this purpose, but you'll need to provide your own antivirus software.

## **Other Considerations**

Note that for the Ethernet LAN to work and for devices to have access to the Internet connection, the gateway system has to be on and running ICS. Without ICS, there's no connection sharing, no way for the networked devices to get IP address assignments, and, basically, no LAN. Also, when the ICS machine is rebooting or otherwise not running Windows, ICS will not be available and the shared Internet connection will not work. If the ICS server goes down for a long period of time, the DHCP addresses originally assigned by the ICS server will expire, leaving the client PCs without a valid IP address.

The ICS software places only a minimal workload on the host computer, so the ICS host computer can still be used for other tasks, although I don't recommend it. Users should keep in mind that a very demanding application—like a graphics-intensive game program—running on the ICS host computer may temporarily slow Internet access for all the other computers on the LAN. Also, if an application program running on the ICS gateway crashes and requires a reboot, the shared Internet connection will not work until the ICS machine is rebooted.

# Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem

Most scenarios presented in this appendix assume that the cable or DSL modem and router are installed near each other, usually in the same room of your house. For example, the router and modem may be located in the mechanical room of your basement, your home "network operations center," from which the entire LAN is served. Or they may be both be in your family room or home office, wherever the service installer set up the connection for your cable or DSL service.

Sometimes the arrangement you have isn't desirable, especially since it requires running multiple cables, one from each LAN client back to the router (or router and switch combination, if your router doesn't have a built-in switch). If the router isn't centrally located, you may end up running a lot more cable and over greater distances. In other cases you may find that your cable or DSL modem connection is in an odd or difficult location that is inconvenient for you (and your router).

## What You'll Need

For this LAN, you'll need the following:

- A cable or DSL router, with or without a built-in Ethernet switch
- An Ethernet switch (if using a router without a switch)



- One CAT5 interconnect cable for each connection (length will vary)
- One Ethernet adapter for each computer (desktops and laptops)
- One Ethernet printer server for each printer to be directly networked (optional)

## **Configuration Overview**

There's no rule or requirement that says you have to keep your modem and router together. You could easily separate them by interconnecting them with long CAT5 cables. The maximum interconnecting cable length limit of 100 meters (about 300 feet) between Ethernet devices gives you a lot of placement flexibility for Ethernet devices.

Figure A-6 shows one possible setup in which the router is separated from the modem and moved closer to the systems on the LAN (on a separate floor from the modem, in this case). Because there can be about 300 feet of distance between the router and the modem, you could install the router one or two floors up from the modem location as necessary to accommodate the layout of the home and the location of the LAN clients.



**Figure A-6:** The broadband modem and Ethernet router can be installed in separate parts of the house (in this example, the basement and main floor). You'll need a CAT5 cable between the floors, connecting the modem to the router. LAN clients connect to the router via its built-in switch.

Figure A-7 shows a similar approach but uses a separate Ethernet switch to serve the LAN on the main floor. This keeps the router in the basement, near the broadband modem, and may be a good approach if the router is already installed and you prefer not to move it.





**Figure A-7:** Another option is to leave the router in the basement and use a separate switch to connect to the LAN.

If you're working with a two-story house and need to network systems on both floors, install the router on the main floor as in Figure A-6 to serve the main floor systems. Then, run another long CAT5 cable to a separate switch on the second floor to serve the systems there.

Any of these configurations are ideal if you need to serve separate LAN zones that are far apart, whether on different floors or in nonadjacent rooms on the same level.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more Ethernet LAN installation information, including details on how to run cables and install Ethernet cards and network adapters, refer to Chapter 6.

## **Physical Layout and Connections**

No matter which of these two scenarios you choose, there's going to be one fairly long connection after the cable or DSL modem. The router is either separately located (far from the modem but close to your networked devices), or the router is installed near the modem and an Ethernet switch is separately located.

Both are functionally equivalent; only the device to which the network devices connect varies. The router in Figure A-6 includes a multiport switch, and all LAN clients connect directly to the



router's switch, via individual CAT5 cables. In Figure A-7, a long CAT5 cable interconnects the router to a separate switch. Physical connections for the LAN are handled by this switch, and each LAN client connects to it using an individual CAT5 cable. Either way, the router itself handles most of the traffic control, address translation, and IP addressing. (An external switch also does some network traffic control, but it's functionally no different from what happens within the built-on switch in a router.)

The WAN side of the router connects directly to the DSL or cable modem with a standard RJ-45terminated CAT5 cable. This is the cable that can be up to about 300 feet long if you plan to use the router and modem in separate locations. If you're using an external switch, the long CAT5 cable is installed between the router and the switch.

With respect to how you run that long CAT5 cable, there are many choices. Of course, you want to have it end up in a location that's convenient for the router (or switch) with respect to your LAN clients. If most of the computers you use are in the same room (for example, a home office), you can probably just run the cable into that room. For the cleanest look, you should feed the cable through the floor below beneath a wall, up into the wall cavity, and into a wall box that's fitted with a CAT5, RJ-45 jack. During your quest to get the cable where you want it, you may be tempted to cut and splice the cable. Don't do it! A splice can ruin the electrical characteristics of the cable.

You could also consider running the cable right through the floor into the target room. In this case, it's best to carefully locate the corner of a closet in the target room, make a hole in the floor just big enough to fit the RJ-45 connector, and then carefully feed the cable through and connect it to your router or switch. (If any of this still seems like too much work or you're unsure about it, you can contact a local electrician, telephone, or cable TV installer for help. Or, you can consider going with one of the wireless configurations described in this appendix.)

Each LAN client (computer, Ethernet printer, and so on) connects directly to a port on the Ethernet switch via its own CAT5 Ethernet cable, also with a maximum cable length run of 100 meters (about 300 feet). Also, note that the LAN supports as many Ethernet devices as there are connection jacks on the switch or hub. For example, if your router has a built-in eight-port switch for LAN support, you can have any combination of eight Ethernet-capable computers and printers on the LAN. On the other hand, if you have a single-port router connected to an external eight-port hub or switch, you end up with only seven LAN-side connection points available on the hub; that's because one of the connections on the hub has to connect back to the router.

Each computer and device to be connected to the LAN must have Ethernet capability. In the case of desktop computers, this usually means adding an internal Ethernet card. Many laptop computers are already equipped with an RJ-45 Ethernet jack. Those that don't have it built in can probably use a USB-to-Ethernet adapter (which would also work for any USB-equipped desktop), or a PC Card or CardBus Ethernet adapter.

A printer connected to one of your networked computers can be accessible to other computers on the network; however, note that sharing a printer this way requires that the computer to which it is connected be running. On the other hand, if a printer is directly connected to the LAN, it is always available to all your other systems. To be on the LAN, the printer must have its own Ethernet connection. Many newer printers have built-in Ethernet print servers. For printers that don't have it built in, a separate Ethernet printer server (basically, an Ethernet-to-printer port converter) supplies this function. Some printer servers can drive multiple printers, a handy feature if you have more than one printer to network.



## **Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security**

After each device on the LAN is equipped with its own Ethernet connection, you're ready to network. Each device will require a unique identifier, which is assigned partly by the router and partly by you. Fortunately, routers have many built-in features that automatically handle this part of network management and configuration for you.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Refer to Chapter 8 for more on setting up individual computers.

Routers feature a DHCP server to automatically assign IP addresses and other network settings to clients as they connect to the LAN. Each of the networked devices must run DHCP clients, but this is generally a one-time setting that is very easy to configure (see Chapter 3 for a Windows example). Most Ethernet-equipped peripherals like printers and print servers run DHCP clients by default, and the router automatically configures them for your network upon connection.

The router usually also functions as a DHCP client, in this case to negotiate settings between itself and your service provider's DHCP server. This is how the router receives its public IP address (the one that's visible to the outside world) and related service configuration settings.

That single public IP address obtained by the router is shared by all of the LAN-side systems. The Internet connection is shared through Network Address Translation (NAT), a scheme to translate traffic between *private* LAN client addresses and the one public address that represents your connection to the Internet.

By hiding private addresses, NAT provides a first line of defense for your LAN. To the outside world, the clients on your network are invisible and all traffic appears to originate from the router at the single public IP address. Private LAN-side addresses are never seen by the outside world. Only the router knows how to direct traffic into and out of your network, and detection of the systems and capabilities within the LAN is very difficult as a result. The result is that the computers on your LAN can access the outside world through the shared Internet connection, but people and other systems on the Internet can't initiate access resources within the LAN.

Routers with built-in firewalls provide additional security for your LAN by creating another level of separation between your network and the outside world. All inbound traffic encounters the firewall first, and any data that does not meet specific security criteria is rejected. Data traffic is examined by means of a packet filter, a set of rules that determine what passes and what gets rejected. Outbound traffic is typically also checked, and some routers allow specific traffic types to be limited or completely disallowed, giving you a way to control the services (or times of day) during which certain functions (like gaming, for example) can take place.

# **All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway**

If you don't want to deal with running cables to each of your LAN clients, an all-wireless LAN is a great option. It gives you a lot of flexibility for computer placement and is quick and easy to install. If you have a laptop, it also means you can easily move from place to place while you use it. Want to



look through recipe Web sites while you're in the kitchen? No problem. Want to read news online while enjoying your morning coffee in the family room? Just take the laptop with you. In many cases, you can even go out to the garden or sit on the porch while staying connected.

## What You'll Need

For this LAN, you'll need the following:

- A cable or DSL router with a built-in 802.11 wireless access point (WAP)
- One 802.11 wireless adapter for each computer (desktops and laptops)
- One 802.11 wireless printer server for each printer to be directly networked (optional)

## **Configuration Overview**

Wired networks have few specific requirements for where you place the router, switches, or even the broadband modem that delivers Internet service. A wireless network, on the other hand, can require a bit more planning. That's because the system operates best in a line-of-sight configuration between the access point and each of the LAN clients. In general, there needs to be a clear, unobstructed path between the transmitting and receiving antennas. Think of it as the antennas needing to "see" each other; if you can stand at the location of one antenna and see the other, then you're usually in good shape. The wireless signal can pass through walls and floors, but too many of either one will scatter the signal, resulting in a slow or unreliable connection.

Any desktop or notebook computer equipped with a wireless Ethernet adapter can be part of your wireless LAN and share the Internet connection through the router. Most desktop systems easily accommodate a wireless Ethernet card. Analogous to the cabled Ethernet card used for wired networks, wireless card installation is similar except that you'll likely end up with a small "whip" antenna protruding from the back of the chassis.

Laptop computers are even more easily set up for wireless, with a PC Card or CardBus adapter or a USB-to-wireless adapter (the latter also works for a USB-equipped desktop, by the way). Newer laptops may have wireless capability built in, so getting on the wireless LAN may be a matter of configuring for your particular wireless setting. An added benefit is that a laptop set up with wireless Ethernet will also work with the wireless "hotspots" springing up in public places like coffee shops, libraries, airports, and hotels.

Printers, personal digital assistants (PDAs), and other wireless-enabled devices can also connect to your wireless LAN. Printers that are not already wireless-ready are easily adapted with a wireless printer server. A printer may also be physically attached to and shared through a wirelessly networked laptop or desktop computer. Figure A-8 illustrates a wireless configuration.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more on wireless LAN installation, including details on setting up the wireless network cards, see Chapter 7.





**Figure A-8:** This all-wireless LAN features a router with a built-in wireless access point. Each LAN client is wireless-enabled, including the printer (through an external, wireless print server).

## **Physical Layout and Connections**

A wireless access point can be configured in multiple ways. These include setting it up as (1) the only AP on the network, (2) as a secondary access point on a multi-AP network, and (3) as one of two ends of a bridge to interconnect two wired network segments. This section covers the first configuration—a single wireless access point serving multiple wireless-enabled LAN clients: desktop and notebook computers, printers, and so forth.

#### Note

The type of wireless Ethernet network described here is called an *infrastructure* mode network because it uses an access point to connect wired and wireless clients into a single network. Another wireless network mode called *ad hoc* applies only to wireless Ethernet devices that communicate on a peer-to-peer level, without an access point in the network.



The ideal location for your wireless access point is at the center of the network, both vertically and horizontally. For best performance and good link quality, a clear line of sight to each of the clients is best. If one or more walls or floors stand between your LAN client and the WAP, you're likely to find link quality—and connection speed—substantially reduced, depending on just what sort of obstruction exists. This reduction in speed may not be a problem for casual use, but it's something to keep in mind for applications that need more bandwidth, like large file transfers.

That's not to say that your wireless connections won't work at all without a clear line of sight, but you'll have to experiment a bit to see if you can live with the resulting performance. Reflective surfaces within your home (the walls and ceilings, for example) alter the signals' direction of travel, and sometimes you can get a connection where you wouldn't expect to (or, you might not get a good connection where you thought you would!).

#### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 7 includes a list of things to consider in deciding where to place your access point.

The distance between your wireless LAN device and the access point is another important performance factor. For best results indoors, you'll want each wireless LAN client to be within about 150 feet of the access point for 802.11b, 802.11g, and 802.11n. (Indoors, the 802.11b standard supports a maximum theoretical distance of 100 meters (about 300 feet) between devices. In practice, the effective range for best performance varies according to environmental factors and is usually less than 300 feet.) For 802.11a devices, the range is less, often under 100 feet. The practical working range for your situation depends on the specific conditions within your home, and you may have to experiment a bit to determine it. (If you discover that you need more coverage than you can get with a single access point, you can extend the range with additional units, as described in the *Expanded Wireless LAN* section of this appendix.)

With wired networks you don't usually have to worry about electrical or radio frequency interference, but this can be a big issue in some wireless networks. Most home-based wireless networks operate in the 2.4 GHz range, the same band as many other devices. Microwave ovens and 2.4 GHz cordless telephones are two such common household items. They can negatively affect your wireless network performance, though you shouldn't see change unless the devices are in use, close to your wireless LAN, or defective.

#### Note

Devices that use 802.11b and 802.11g (and the upcoming 802.11n standard) operate at 2.4 GHz. Devices using 802.11a operate in the 5 GHz band, where there are fewer competing wireless devices. Whether you choose a, b, or g, make sure everything on your network uses the same standard. Some newer access points and wireless Ethernet adapters support multiple standards and allow you to mix 802.11 device types; check your LAN hardware specifications for details.

To help assess your wireless network performance, wireless Ethernet adapters include a helpful software-based signal strength and link quality meter. It will tell you how well each LAN client is



communicating with the WAP, and you can use it to experiment with wireless client (and WAP) placement. Moving the device just a few feet in one direction or another often makes a big difference toward resolving interference and signal strength problems.

The only wired connection you'll need to set up for your wireless network is between the router/WAP and your cable/DSL modem. A standard CAT5 Ethernet cable connects the router's WAN port to the modem. As for any wired Ethernet connection, you can use any cable length up to 100 meters (about 300 feet) between the router and the modem. This gives you a lot of flexibility in placing the WAP for optimum wireless network performance.

## **Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security**

Each device to be networked requires a unique identifier. This is assigned partly by the router and partly by you. Fortunately, routers have many built-in features to handle this part of network management and configuration for you. The router's DHCP server automatically assigns IP addresses and other network settings to clients as they connect to the LAN. Each of the networked devices must run DHCP clients, but this is generally a one-time setting that is very easy to configure (Chapter 7 has wireless-specific setup details). Wireless Ethernet-equipped peripherals like printers and print servers run DHCP clients by default and in most cases are automatically configured for your network settings upon connection to the LAN.

# Note

The extent of network autoconfiguration for any device will vary according to the specific WEP or WPA settings of your wireless LAN.

Note that the router usually also functions as a DHCP client, in this case to negotiate settings between itself and your service provider's DHCP server. This is how the router receives its public IP address (the one that's visible to the outside world) and related cable or DSL service configuration settings.

The public IP address is shared by all of the LAN-side systems through the router's implementation of Network Address Translation (NAT). This is the key standard for Internet connection sharing. It converts traffic between multiple *private* LAN-side IP addresses and the single public address that represents your connection to the Internet.

Network, router, and security management is done through the router's own Web server. This server is accessible from any Web browser window running on a LAN client. (Note that older router/wireless access point units are also remotely manageable but may not include a Web interface. Check the router's documentation for specific management details.)

#### **GENERAL SECURITY FUNCTIONS**

Besides allowing you to share a single public IP address among many private LAN addresses, NAT provides a first line of intrusion defense for your LAN. To the outside world, your networked systems are invisible; all traffic appears to originate from the router at the single public IP address. Only the router knows how to direct traffic into and out of your network, and detection of the systems and capabilities within the LAN is very difficult as a result. The computers on your LAN can access the outside world through the shared Internet connection, but people and other systems from outside can't initiate access to the resources within the LAN.



A firewall can provide additional security for your LAN. Routers with built-in firewalls provide additional LAN protection by filtering all the data traffic that flows between your network and the outside world. Inbound traffic encounters the firewall first and is examined, and any data that does not meet specific security criteria is rejected. Traffic is examined by means of a packet filter, a set of rules that determine what passes and what gets rejected. Outbound traffic is typically also checked, and some routers allow specific traffic types to be limited or completely disallowed, giving you a way to control the services (or times of day) during which certain activities (like gaming) can take place. Filtering criteria are configured through the router's configuration interface.

Note that while the firewall is an important component of LAN security, a firewall alone won't protect you from everything and, in particular, cannot protect you against viruses spread through e-mail. For more complete protection, you should consider running virus detection and security software on each computer.

#### WIRELESS SECURITY FUNCTIONS

The nature of wireless networks means they're very easy to find and are susceptible to unauthorized access attempts. For example, the WAP periodically sends "beacon" messages to announce itself to your potential network clients (your wireless Ethernet devices). If you leave your wireless network unprotected, it's open to unauthorized users who can easily detect the network and attempt to access and monopolize your Internet connection, or even tamper with your internal network resources. To prevent unauthorized access, WAPs include a number of security functions specifically for limiting access to your wireless network. These include the following:

- Media Access Control (MAC) address filtering/authentication. A MAC address is a unique hardware-level identifier for each Ethernet device. By filtering out all other MAC addresses but those of your wireless network clients, only the Ethernet devices on your network are able to access its resources. The method isn't foolproof, as it's possible for a MAC address to be detected and hijacked, but address filtering is nonetheless a basic and important component of any security plan.
- Wired Equivalent Privacy (WEP) data encryption. Designed to provide security similar to that of wired networks, WEP encrypts wireless data. Encryption comes in several strengths; 128-bit encryption is considered the most secure.
- WiFi Protected Access (WPA). An enhanced security feature that uses a combination of user authentication (via a user name and password), as well as strong data encryption.
  WPA is found on many newer APs and was designed to address some security shortcomings in WEP.

There are several additional steps you can take to minimize unauthorized access, and all are configurable via the AP's Web interface. At a minimum, you should:

Frequently change the AP's administrator password. Because the administrator's password allows access to all wireless access point settings, its security is very important. Change it often and keep it in a safe place.



- Change the default Service Set Identifier (SSID). Your wireless access point is probably configured with a factory-set SSID. Change this to something unique as soon as possible after setting up the access point. And like the administrator password, you should change it often to maintain its security.
- Disable SSID broadcasts. By default, wireless access points broadcast the SSID setting for other wireless devices to pick up. This means, of course, that it's also likely to be picked up and used by unauthorized wireless users. Because you'll be setting up each wireless client with the SSID that you set up, there's no need to broadcast it.
- Use WPA if your AP supports it. WPA requires each wireless LAN user to have a unique user name and password and is the strongest security method available for wireless LANs.
- Use your AP's logging feature. Most APs can keep a log of wireless connections. You should enable the logging feature and check the log periodically to see if anyone has been trying to break into your wireless network,
- Use multiple WEP keys, and change them periodically. WEP (described in the previous list) uses a key to encrypt/decrypt your wireless data. To further increase your wireless security, most access points and wireless Ethernet cards allow you to specify multiple encryption keys. Note that there can be a performance trade-off when using multiple keys.

You can also increase wireless network security by making the network unavailable when you're not using it. Simply turn off or unplug the access point when it's not being used, such as when you're sleeping, at work, or on vacation. To make this easier, some newer APs include scheduling features in their Web interfaces. Older routers may need to be cycled the old-fashioned way[md]with the on/off switch or power cord.

# **Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN**

Wired and wireless approaches to networking serve the needs of home users very well. But each has distinct advantages and disadvantages in performance, range, and ease of configuration. What if you could mix wired and wireless Ethernet networks for the best of both worlds? Fortunately, this is easy to do and offers the best coverage, performance, and flexibility.

## What You'll Need

For this LAN, you'll need the following:

- A wireless Ethernet router with a built-in Ethernet switch
- One Ethernet adapter for each computer (desktop or laptop) to be wired to the LAN
- One CAT5 interconnect cable for each wired connection (length will vary)
- One wireless Ethernet adapter for each computer (desktop or laptop) to be wirelessly networked



- One wireless Ethernet print server for each printer to be wirelessly networked (optional)
- One Ethernet print server for each printer wired to the LAN (optional)

## **Configuration Overview**

A combined wired/wireless network may seem much more complex in terms of arrangement and configuration, but it's really not. It's a good idea, however, to give some thought to how you'll arrange the systems on the LAN; some will perform better on the wired Ethernet side, and others will be more useful to you on the wireless side.

One important consideration is the potential difference in connection speed between the wired and wireless segments of your combined network. The wired segment is usually significantly faster than the wireless side, so you'll want to use the wired segment for LAN clients that need higher network performance, like a file server. Any other system that either shares or uses large files, like photos, MP3s, or MPG video, across the network will also perform better while connected to the wired part of your LAN. On the other hand, connection speed isn't everything. Placement flexibility and cable-free connection are big advantages for desktop computers in awkward locations and roaming laptops.

For both segments of your LAN, the router provides both the basis for the Ethernet LAN and Internet connection center. The router also supplies a number of important network management functions, and many include extended security and firewall features to protect LAN-side systems against intrusion. Figure A-9 shows a typical combined wired plus wireless LAN configuration that supports a file server, a shared Ethernet printer, multiple laptops, and desktop systems.

Any Ethernet-equipped desktop or portable computer can connect to your network. On desktop machines, an internal Ethernet card (either wired or wireless) usually provides this function. Laptop computers either have Ethernet built in or can easily accommodate it with the installation of an Ethernet adapter. It doesn't matter whether you're running Windows, Apple, or Linux systems (or any combination), but the systems themselves have to be properly configured to use Ethernet. Printers, too, can connect directly to the network via Ethernet so that they're always available to the network.

For best support of wireless LAN clients, a bit of experimentation with your wireless router may be in order. The system operates best using a line-of-sight configuration and a clear, unobstructed path between the router and your wireless LAN clients. Think of it as the antennas needing to "see" each other; if you can stand at the location of the wireless router and see the antenna of each of your wireless clients, you're probably in good shape.

Any desktop or notebook computer equipped with a wireless Ethernet adapter can be part of your wireless LAN. Most desktop systems easily accommodate a wireless Ethernet card. Laptops are even more easily set up for wireless, usually with a PC Card or CardBus adapter or a USB-to-wireless adapter (the latter also works for a USB-equipped desktop, by the way). Newer laptops may have wireless capability built in, so getting on the wireless LAN may be an even simpler matter of changing a few configuration settings.

Printers, PDAs, and other wireless-enabled devices can also connect to your wireless LAN. Printers that are not already wireless-ready are easily adapted with a wireless printer server. A printer may also be physically attached to and shared through a wirelessly networked laptop or desktop computer.





**Figure A-9:** A mixed wired/wireless LAN provides the best of both worlds: high-speed access for file servers and other devices that work best wired to the LAN, and wireless access for portables and other clients that are hard to reach with a cabled connection.

#### **Cross-Reference**

Chapter 6 contains more-detailed information on installing the wired portion of a network. For wireless LAN installation details, including how to set up wireless network cards, see Chapter 7.



## Wired Segment—Physical Layout and Connections

The WAN side of the router connects directly to your DSL or cable modem with a standard CAT5 cable. The router and cable/DSL modem can be in the same room, interconnected via a short CAT5 cable, or they can be located in two different parts of the house, as long as the distance between them doesn't exceed the 100-meter (about 300 feet) cable length limit. A router using an external switch (or hub) needs another CAT5 cable to connect its LAN connector to the switch.

Most "wireless" routers, like the one depicted in Figure A-9, actually support both wired and wireless connections. The wired side is supported with a multiport Ethernet switch through which wired LAN clients connect. In general, the switch connects to as many Ethernet devices as it has jacks. For example, if your router has a built-in eight-port switch for LAN support, you can have any combination of eight Ethernet-capable computers and printers on the wired LAN segment. (If your wireless router doesn't include a switch but has a single Ethernet jack, you can connect this jack to an external Ethernet switch to provide the same function.)

Each LAN client (a computer, Ethernet printer, and so on) connects via its own CAT5 Ethernet cable directly to a port on the Ethernet switch, also with a maximum cable length run of 100 meters (about 300 feet). Naturally, each computer and device to be connected to the LAN must have Ethernet capability. In the case of desktop computers, this usually means adding an internal Ethernet card. Many laptop computers are already equipped with an RJ-45 Ethernet jack. Those that don't have Ethernet capability built in can use a USB-to-Ethernet adapter (which would also work for any USB-equipped desktop), or a PC Card or CardBus Ethernet adapter.

A printer connected to one of your networked computers can be shared and made available to other computers on the network; however, note that sharing a printer this way requires that the computer to which it is connected be running. On the other hand, if a printer is directly connected to the LAN, it is always available to all your other systems. To be directly attached to the LAN, the printer must have its own Ethernet connection. Many newer printers have built-in Ethernet print servers. For printers that don't have it built in, a separate Ethernet printer server (basically, an Ethernet-to-printer port converter) supplies this function. Some printer servers can drive multiple printers, a handy feature if you have more than one printer to network.

## Wireless Segment—Physical Layout and Connections

The wireless access point (WAP) or your wireless router serves all your wireless-enabled LAN clients: desktop and notebook computers, printers, and so on. As described and configured here, you'll be running your wireless LAN in *infrastructure* mode. (Another wireless network mode called *ad hoc* applies only to wireless Ethernet devices that communicate on a peer-to-peer level, without an access point in the network, and is not covered in this appendix.)

You can use a long CAT5 cable to connect the router to your cable or DSL modem, so you have a good bit of flexibility in terms of wireless router placement. As for any wired Ethernet connection, you can use any cable length up to 100 meters (about 300 feet) between the router and the modem.

For the best wireless LAN performance, the ideal location for the wireless router is at the center of the network, with clear line of sight to each of the wireless clients, if possible. In the case of one or more walls between your LAN client and the router, you're likely to find signal strength—and link quality—substantially reduced, depending on the construction materials used and related factors. Reduced link quality may not be a problem for casual use, but it's something to keep in mind for applications that need higher throughput, like large file transfers.



You may have to experiment to find the best location for your wireless router. Keep in mind that reflective surfaces within your home (the walls and ceilings, for example) can alter the signals' direction of travel, and you can sometimes get a connection where you wouldn't expect to (or, you might not get a good connection where you thought you would!).

The distance between each wireless LAN device and the access point is another important performance factor. For best results indoors, you'll want each wireless client to be within about 150 feet of the access point for 802.11b and 802.11g. (Indoors, the 802.11b standard supports a maximum theoretical distance of 100 meters, or about 300 feet, between devices. In practice, the effective range for best performance varies and is usually less than 300 feet.) For 802.11a devices, the range is less, often under 100 feet. The practical working range for your situation depends on the specific conditions within your home, and you may have to find it by trial and error. (If you discover that you need more coverage than you can get with a single access point, you can extend the range with additional units, as described in the *Expanded Wireless LAN* section of this appendix.)

With wired networks you don't usually have to worry about electrical or radio frequency interference, but this can be a big issue in some wireless networks because most wireless networks operate in the 2.4 GHz range. This is the same band used by many other devices, including microwave ovens and 2.4 GHz cordless telephones. Interference can impact your wireless network performance, but you probably won't see degradation unless the devices are in use, close to your wireless LAN, or defective.

#### Note

Devices that use 802.11b, 802.11g, and 802.11n operate at 2.4 GHz. Devices using 802.11a operate in the 5 GHz band, where there are fewer competing wireless devices. Whether you choose a, b, or g, make sure every-thing on your network uses the same standard. (Some newer access points and wireless Ethernet adapters support multiple standards and allow you to mix 802.11 device types; check your LAN hardware specifications for details.)

To help assess the wireless network's performance, the wireless Ethernet adapters you install in your laptops and desktops include a helpful software-based signal strength and link quality meter. It tells you how well each LAN client is communicating with the WAP, and you can use it to experiment with wireless client (and WAP) placement. Sometimes, moving the device a few feet (perhaps just inches) in one direction or another makes a big difference.

## **Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security**

Each device to be networked requires a unique identifier. This is assigned partly by the router and partly by you. Fortunately, routers handle much of this part of network management and configuration for you. The router's DHCP server automatically assigns IP addresses and other network settings as clients connect to the LAN. Each of the networked devices must run DHCP clients, but this is generally a one-time setting that is very easy to configure (Chapter 7 has wireless-specific setup details). Wireless Ethernet-equipped peripherals like printers and print servers run DHCP clients by default



and in most cases are automatically configured for your network settings upon connection to the LAN. (The extent of network autoconfiguration for any device will vary according to the specific security settings of your wireless LAN.)

Note that the router usually also functions as a DHCP client, in this case to negotiate settings between itself and your service provider's DHCP server. This is how the router receives its public IP address (the one that's visible to the outside world) and other Internet service configuration settings.

The public IP address is shared by all of the LAN-side systems through the router's implementation of Network Address Translation (NAT). This is the key standard for Internet connection sharing, and it's the same address sharing technique used in many business routers. NAT converts network traffic between multiple *private* LAN-side IP addresses and the single public address that represents your connection to the Internet.

Network, router, and security management is done through the router's own Web server. This server is accessible from any Web browser window running on a LAN client, though many settings are best modified through a wired network client. (Note that older router/wireless access point units are also remotely manageable but may not include a Web interface. Check the router's documentation for specific management details.)

#### **GENERAL SECURITY FUNCTIONS**

Besides allowing you to share a single public IP address among many private LAN addresses, NAT provides a first line of intrusion defense for your LAN. To the outside world, LAN-side systems are invisible, and all traffic appears to originate from the router at its public IP address. Only the router knows how to direct traffic into and out of your network, and detection of the systems and capabilities within the LAN is very difficult as a result. The computers on your LAN can access the outside world through the shared Internet connection, but people and other systems from outside can't initiate access to the resources within the LAN.

Most wireless routers provide additional LAN security with a firewall, which is special software that filters data traffic flow between your network and the outside world. Inbound traffic encounters the firewall first and is examined, and any data that does not meet specific security criteria is rejected. Traffic is examined by means of a packet filter, a set of rules that determine what passes and what gets rejected. Outbound traffic is typically also checked, and some routers allow specific traffic types to be limited or completely disallowed, giving you a way to control the services (or times of day) during which certain activities (like gaming) can take place. Filtering criteria are configured through the router's configuration interface.

Note that while the firewall is an important component of LAN security, a firewall alone won't protect you from everything and, in particular, cannot protect you against viruses spread through e-mail. For better protection, you should consider running virus detection and security software on each computer.

#### WIRELESS SECURITY FUNCTIONS

The nature of wireless networks means they're easy to find and highly susceptible to tampering. If you leave the wireless section of your network unprotected, it's wide open to unauthorized users who can easily detect the network and attempt to access (or monopolize) your Internet connection, or even



tamper with your internal network resources. To prevent unauthorized access, WAPs have a number of security functions specifically aimed at protecting your network. These can include the following:

- Media Access Control (MAC) address filtering. A MAC address is a unique hardwarelevel identifier for each Ethernet device. By filtering out all other MAC addresses but those of your wireless network clients, only the Ethernet devices on your network are able to access its resources. The method isn't foolproof, as it's possible for a MAC address to be detected and hijacked, but address filtering is nonetheless a basic and important component of any security plan.
- Wired Equivalent Privacy (WEP) data encryption. Designed to provide security similar to that of wired networks, WEP encrypts wireless data. Encryption comes in several strengths; 128-bit encryption is considered the most secure. Use the highest encryption level possible, but keep in mind that encryption slows network performance; the higher the encryption, the greater the impact on performance.

There are also several things you can do to minimize unauthorized access, and all are configurable via the WAP's Web interface. At a minimum, you should:

- Frequently change the WAP administrator password. The administrator's password allows access to all wireless access point settings, and keeping it secure is highly important. Change it often and keep it in a safe place.
- Change the default Service Set Identifier (SSID). Your wireless access point is probably configured with a factory-set SSID. Change this to something unique as soon as possible after setting up the access point. As for the administrator password, you should change it often to keep it secure.
- **Disable SSID broadcasts.** By default, wireless access points broadcast the SSID setting for other wireless LAN devices to pick up. This means, of course, that it's also likely to be picked up and used by unauthorized users. Because you'll be setting up each wireless client with the SSID that you set up, there's no need to broadcast it.
- **Use WPA if your AP supports it.** WPA requires each wireless LAN user to have a unique user name and password and is the strongest security method available for wireless LANs.
- Use your AP's logging feature. Most APs can keep a log of wireless connections. You should enable the logging feature and check the log periodically to see if anyone has been trying to break into your wireless network,
- Use multiple WEP keys, and change them periodically. WEP (described in the previous list) uses a key to encrypt/decrypt your wireless data. To further increase your wireless security, most access points and wireless Ethernet cards allow you to specify multiple encryption keys. (Note that there can be a performance trade-off when using multiple keys.)

Note that you can increase security by turning off the wireless access point when you're not using it: when you're sleeping, at work, out fishing, or on vacation. To make this easier, newer access points include scheduling features that are accessible through the Web configuration interface. Older routers may need to be cycled the old-fashioned way: with the on/off switch.



# Expanded LAN with Two (or More) Ethernet Switches

If you have a wired Ethernet LAN, you probably have at least one Ethernet switch, either built into the router or serving as a standalone unit. And if you have just one switch, you're probably also either out of connections or getting close to using them all. Adding switches to your network is the easiest way to support additional LAN clients and to segment it into "zones" for better performance.

## What You'll Need

To expand an existing wired network, you'll need the following:

- One or more Ethernet switches, depending on your expansion needs
- One CAT5 interconnect cable for each new connection (length will vary)
- One Ethernet adapter for each new computer to be networked (desktops and laptops)
- One Ethernet print server for each new printer to be directly networked (optional)

If you're just getting started with your wired home network, refer to the first section of this appendix for basic cabling and configuration information.

## **Configuration Overview**

The arrangement of a switch-expanded network is fundamentally the same as that of any basic wired home Ethernet network. The cable/DSL router remains the central control point for Internet connection sharing, network configuration, security, and management for the entire network.

The problem with a single-switch LAN, whether part of the router or standalone, is that you very quickly run out of connections. If fact, any but the smallest of home networks quickly exhausts the connection capacity on a small switch, especially because most routers' built-in switches have only four Ethernet ports. A switch-expanded LAN enables you to segment the network into convenient or logical sections with more flexible connection options as shown in Figure A-10.

## **Physical Layout and Connections**

If there are no more available connections at your main Ethernet switch, adding another switch at the same location is the easiest way to expand network connection capacity. In this case, one of the ports on the new switch connects to the main switch through its uplink port (on some switches you have to select the uplink function by pressing a switch), which allows you to user a straight-through Ethernet cable for the connection. The remaining switch ports are then available for connection to devices that await connection to the LAN.

Note that, as for any wired Ethernet connection, you can have up to 100 meters (about 300 feet) between Ethernet devices. This means that the switch you add to your network need not be near (or in the same room with) your router. If it's more convenient, you can place the new switch in another area of the house, like on another floor.





**Figure A-10:** A LAN expanded with one or more Ethernet switches offers a lot of connection capacity. This example uses one switch per floor. A wireless access point connected to the main floor switch serves wireless clients there.



Ethernet switches provide a good way to segment network traffic according to function or coverage area. For example, say you live in a two-story house with a basement and need LAN access on each floor. You could place your cable/DSL router with built-in four-port switch in the basement and then connect the router's switch to another switch on the main floor and a second switch on the second floor. This example uses two of the routers' four ports for switch connections on the other floors, and two left over for connection to LAN clients (or even other switches) in the basement (see Figure A-10).

Note that you can connect any type of Ethernet LAN client to any of the switches: desktop and notebook computers, Ethernet-equipped printers, print servers, and so on. If you want to set up wireless access in your home, you can connect a wireless access point (WAP) to any of the switches. Note, for example, that Figure A-10 also shows a WAP connected to the switch serving the main floor.

Switches are available in a variety of sizes, from small four- and five-port switches to models that support 24 or more connections. As a rule of thumb, always choose a switch with more connection capacity than you think you might need. That is, don't cut your connection needs too close; if you think you'll need to serve four LAN clients in a particular area of the house, use an eight-port switch to serve it. The larger switch may cost a bit more, but having the extra capacity more than pays for itself later on.

## **Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security**

Switches are available in a variety of sizes and configurations. You may also encounter the terms *managed* or *unmanaged* when shopping for a switch. Managed switches are for much larger and complex commercial networks. A residential-grade switch, on the other hand, is unmanaged, meaning it requires no configuration. From the point of view of the other elements in your network, like your cable/DSL router and LAN clients, the Ethernet switches are essentially "transparent," self-configuring traffic directors.

The basic network management, software configuration, and security functions for your switchexpanded network continue to be handled by the cable/DSL router that enables Internet connection sharing. To summarize, the router's LAN management and security features include the following:

- A DHCP server. For automatic network configuration of LAN clients, including IP address assignment.
- Network Address Translation (NAT). The standard for sharing a single Internet connection among all the computers on your LAN.
- **Firewall functionality.** For protecting the LAN against intrusion from the outside. The firewall may also include traffic control capability in which some traffic types can be completely disallowed.
- A built-in Web server. For checking or modifying router configuration settings (like NAT, DHCP, and firewall,) from any client on the LAN.

For full details on router management features, refer to the *Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway* section at the beginning of this appendix and to Chapter 3.



# **Expanded Wireless LAN**

A wireless LAN has many advantages: You don't have to run cables, it's easy to configure, and you can roam about the house with while staying online through your laptop. But there are limits to the range of a basic, single wireless access point LAN. Physical obstructions, distance, and even the characteristics of the spaces between a client and the access point can directly affect the quality of a wireless connection. You may find, for example, that the main floor of a two-story house gets good coverage, while access from upstairs is spotty or completely unavailable. Fortunately, extending coverage is easy and relatively inexpensive with the addition of a second wireless access point in the underserved area.

## What You'll Need

If you have a basic wireless network already installed, you need only add:

A wireless access point (*not* another router/WAP device combination, just an access point) with wireless *repeater* capability. The repeater feature does exactly what its name implies; it receives and retransmits signals received from the main access point, thereby increasing the effective range of the main access point.

or

A wireless access point connected to your existing network with an Ethernet cable.

You may also need:

- One wireless Ethernet adapter for each new computer (desktops and laptops) to be supported, if any
- One wireless Ethernet printer server for each additional printer to be directly networked (optional), if any

If you're just getting started with your wireless network installation, refer to the *All-Wireless LAN* with *Router/Gateway* or *Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN* section of this appendix for information on setting up a basic wireless network, and then return here when you're ready to expand.

## **Configuration Overview**

A second WAP extends your network over a much larger service area than is possible with just your router-based WAP. There are two ways to add a second AP to your existing wireless network.

The preferred method is to run an Ethernet cable from the main AP to the secondary AP. This approach offers the best performance, but it may be difficult (or impossible) to run the Ethernet cable to the second AP.

If you are using an AP with a *repeater* mode, the second AP can be located almost anywhere in your house as long as it's in a place where it gets a good signal from the main access point. The two APs work as a relay team, where LAN traffic is relayed from the main AP to the second one, and vice versa. To get this to work, you'll have to set up the secondary AP for repeater (sometimes called *relaying*) mode and you'll also need to tell the second AP how to find the main AP (usually through its MAC address or SSID, as explained later).



#### Note

In a repeater configuration, your second WAP gets its data connection wirelessly, so there's no need to run Ethernet cabling to it. Your router-based WAP sends wireless Ethernet data to the second access point, and the second WAP repeats (retransmits) the traffic to your more distant LAN clients. The whole thing works in reverse, too, of course; the second AP sends Ethernet traffic from your extended LAN clients back to the main AP, and to other parts of the network. This arrangement is very convenient and easy to install, but it decreases the available bandwidth on the entire wireless LAN.

An Ethernet-connected secondary AP works in much the same way, but it uses an Ethernet cable connection to provide communication between the two APs. In most cases, this is the better way to go because the secondary WAP communicates with the main WAP over the Ethernet cable, rather than over the wireless link. This conserves radio bandwidth, resulting in a faster connection while providing a broader wireless coverage area.

After set up, you'll have seamless roaming throughout the coverage area of the two access points. The additional wireless service range you'll get from a second AP depends on a variety of characteristics, but you can expect about a 50 percent increase in coverage area. Figure A-11 shows a LAN with two access points.

## **Physical Layout and Connections**

If your secondary AP has a repeater mode, the physical installation of the second WAP is a simple matter of identifying the best location for it and plugging it into a power outlet. This is an advantage because it's easy to experiment with its location until you find a spot that extends the best performance to the more remote LAN clients it serves. The physical location and connection setup of your main, router-based WAP need not change to support the second wireless AP, though you could experiment with its placement, too, to see if you can further improve overall network performance.

## Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security

Wireless access points can operate in a variety of modes. By default, the main access point for your wireless network, the one that's built into your cable or DSL router, operates in a plain *access point* mode. This role will not need to change in your expanded wireless network. An Ethernet-connected secondary AP works in exactly the same way.

Wireless secondary APs must be configured to operate in repeater (or *relaying*) mode. In most cases, this is done through the AP's Web interface. You'll need to know the MAC address or default SSID of the main access point (you can get this information through the main AP's Web interface) as well as the WEP or WPA password. When that's configured, the two access points should be able to communicate with each other and with the wireless clients within their respective ranges.

#### Note

Not all APs can operate in repeater mode. Check the product box or the manufacturer's Web site before you buy!





Figure A-11: Using two wireless access points greatly extends the coverage of your wireless LAN.

Note that your main WAP continues to provide network management and security functions to the entire network, including:

- **DHCP server service.** Automatic network configuration of LAN clients, including IP address assignment.
- Network Address Translation (NAT). For sharing a single Internet connection among all the computers within the LAN.
- **Firewall functionality.** For protecting the LAN against intrusion from the outside. The firewall may also include traffic control capability in which some traffic types can be completely disallowed.
- A built-in browser interface. For checking or modifying router configuration settings (like NAT, DHCP, and firewall,).



#### **Cross-Reference**

For more on the operation and configuration of these router features, refer to the section of this appendix that matches your existing network type (wired or wireless). See also Chapter 3.

#### **ABOUT WIRELESS SECURITY SETTINGS**

The security precautions taken for the first access point apply to the second. The same security features you've activated for the main AP should be implemented for the second AP. These include MAC address filtering—a scheme that lets only the wireless Ethernet hardware you designate connect to the wireless net—and Wired Equivalent Privacy (WEP) or WiFi Protected Access—two schemes for wireless data encryption/decryption.

You can further increase the security of your wireless network by adjusting several operational parameters within the router, including periodically changing the administrator's password and changing (or completely eliminating) the identifier broadcast by your router. These wireless security functions and recommendations are covered in detail in the *All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway* section of this appendix. You'll also find helpful information in Chapter 4's *Wireless Security* section.

# **Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension**

HomePlug networking technology offers an interesting alternative to conventional wired and wireless networks. Like wired networks, HomePlug uses cabling to carry Ethernet traffic. But unlike wired networks, HomePlug doesn't require you to run cables to create the network. There are no new cables to run and no new holes to drill. How can that be? It's because HomePlug devices use the existing power wiring within your home as the networking infrastructure.

You can build a home network from scratch using HomePlug devices, or you can use HomePlug devices to extend an existing network. This section presents HomePlug devices as an option for extending the LAN to computers that can't be reached with cabling or by using a wireless LAN, either because of distance constraints or because getting cable to them is impractical (or just plain impossible). While HomePlug offers an additional tool for connecting PCs into a LAN, it is relatively slow, even when compared to an 802.11g wireless LAN.

## What You'll Need

To extend an existing wired Ethernet network through HomePlug devices, you'll need the following:

- A HomePlug Ethernet bridge or USB adapter for each computer (zone) to be connected
- A HomePlug power line bridge for connection near the router
- One CAT5 interconnect cable between each power line adapter and computer
- An Ethernet adapter for each computer (desktops and laptops)
- One Ethernet printer server for each printer to be directly networked (optional)



## **Configuration Overview**

All HomePlug devices have two connections[md]a standard wall plug and a computer connection (either USB or Ethernet). Some HomePlug devices look something like the kind of power "brick" used by laptops, printers, and other electronic equipment. The difference here is that the computer side of the connection carries data (instead of power) to your LAN client.

Because HomePlug works over power lines, and you're going to have a power connection anywhere you have a computer to be networked, you'll automatically also have a ready LAN connection at a nearby power outlet. In fact, any power outlet in your home is a potential LAN connection when outfitted with a HomePlug unit.

When expanding an existing Ethernet network, a HomePlug bridging device is used to interconnect standard low-voltage Ethernet cable-based signals and power-line-level Ethernet levels, as shown in Figure A-12.

## **Physical Layout and Connections**

HomePlug devices have two types of connections: a power plug and a data connection, either Ethernet or USB (depending on the model). The power plug connects to any standard 110-volt AC outlet in your home; the data connection accepts a data cable (Ethernet or USB) for connection to a LAN client.

The physical layout and connection arrangement for the main section of your wired Ethernet LAN is essentially like that of the *Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway* section at the beginning of this appendix. To interconnect, or bridge, the conventional LAN and the power line networks, you need only add a HomePlug Ethernet bridge device.

To connect the bridge to the router's built-in switch (or to an external switch), note the following cable requirements:

- Use a *crossover* CAT5 cable to connect from the bridge to any of the regular (nonuplink) switch ports.
- Use a straight-through CAT5 cable to connect from the bridge to the uplink port (check for an uplink/normal switch, and set it to the uplink position).

Some device brands may have different requirements; check the device documentation to determine specific cabling needs. The power plug cable connects the bridge's power connector to any available standard AC power outlet. Note that you can not plug a HomePlug device into a standby power supply or a surge protector, since those devices will block the HomePlug signal.

To connect LAN clients to your HomePlug extended network, you'll need to install one HomePlug power line adapter per client. You can choose either an Ethernet or USB power line adapter, depending on the connection type available on the client system. You do have to run some cabling with HomePlug devices, but it's needed only here, between the HomePlug device and the PC to be connected to your extended LAN. The cable will be either a standard CAT5 Ethernet cable or USB cable, depending on the type of HomePlug device you're using.





**Figure A-12:** A wired Ethernet LAN is easily extended with HomePlug devices that use your home's power lines to carry Ethernet traffic. The technology is especially useful for serving systems that are hard to reach with cabled (or even wireless) Ethernet.

## **Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security**

A HomePlug network extension does not impact the administration of your existing wired Ethernet network. The cable/DSL router you're already using to share your Internet connection, manage the network, and provide a firewall continues to perform all management, configuration, and security functions.



Your HomePlug LAN extension devices, on the other hand, will need separate configuration. You'll have to individually configure each of the Ethernet and USB HomePlug devices on your power line network to select security options, an important step toward protecting the data on your power line network.

Your home is to some degree electrically interconnected with your neighbors' homes, so any data that travels over your power lines is conceivably accessible to other power customers on the same power distribution sub-grid. To address this, the HomePlug standard includes a 56-bit Data Encryption Standard (DES) that protects your data while it travels over your home's wiring with a unique key. This allows your HomePlug devices to encrypt data before putting it on the power line network and to decrypt it upon reception.

To enable password protection and data encryption, you'll have to select these features on each of the HomePlug devices you use. You should first change the password for each device, using the same password on all devices. You should also enable data encryption for each HomePlug device. To make this easier, the configuration software included with most HomePlug-compatible devices enables you to search for and configure all your power line adapters from one configuration utility. If this functionality isn't provided, you'll have to individually configure each LAN client supported by a HomePlug device for these and other applicable settings.

From the point of view of the wired part of your network (specifically, to your cable/DSL router), the HomePlug devices look like any other standard Ethernet network device; the fact that they're communicating over a power line is transparent to your router. HomePlug devices use the router's DHCP server to obtain their IP addresses, and each device is uniquely identifiable through a standard-format MAC address and is automatically configured upon power-up.

# **Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL**

At one time, getting DSL service set up in your home was a fairly involved task. A technician had to make a site visit, run cables, and carry out other time-consuming tasks. This could also take up a good part of your day, waiting for the installer to arrive (often sometime within an eight-hour window) and then waiting for the installation process to be completed.

All that changed with the advent of user-installable DSL. The service provider still has to do some work to set up the connection, but it all happens behind the scenes and without an on-site visit. Instead, the provider sends you a self-installation kit that consists of a DSL modem and multiple telephone line filters. Installation is very easy and offers a lot of placement flexibility. You need only to add a few networking elements, such as a router and some cables, to set up a complete home network.

## What You'll Need

For a wired Ethernet network, you'll need the following:

- DSL service with user-installable DSL modem and microfilters
- A cable or DSL router, with or without a built-in Ethernet switch
- An Ethernet switch (if using a router without a built-in switch)



- One CAT5 interconnect cable for each connection (length will vary)
- One Ethernet adapter for each computer (desktops and laptops)
- One Ethernet printer server for each printer to be directly networked (optional)

For a wireless Ethernet network, you'll need the following:

- DSL service with user-installable DSL modem and microfilters
- A cable or DSL wireless router (with or without a built-in Ethernet switch)
- One wireless Ethernet adapter for each computer (desktops and laptops)
- One wireless Ethernet printer server for each printer to be networked (optional)

## **Configuration Overview**

DSL service comes into your home on the same telephone line that carries your standard telephone service. The two services can coexist because voice service and DSL do not interfere with one another. Still, to make doubly sure there's no interference, every user-installable DSL kit includes a set of *microfilters*, small plastic-cased devices that are easily installed.

One microfilter plugs into each wall jack that has a telephone, fax machine, or other telephoneenabled device, and the filter completely blocks DSL signals from getting through. The standard telephone jack you choose for your DSL modem doesn't need a filter. The beauty is that you can put your modem anywhere you have a phone jack. Just make sure the other jacks you use have filters, and you're done with the DSL setup. And if you ever want to rearrange things, moving things around is a matter of unplugging the DSL modem from one jack and connecting it to another. See Figure A-13 for an example.

## **Physical Layout and Connections**

Conventional telephone service uses only a small portion of the frequency range that can be carried by the copper pair that delivers it. DSL capitalizes on this unused bandwidth capacity by communicating over a higher set of frequencies that do not overlap voice service. The microfilters included with your DSL kit are lowpass filters; they pass the lower voiceband frequencies used by your telephones, fax machines, and other telephone-enabled devices, like a TiVo digital video recorder. Connecting the DSL modem to an unfiltered jack enables it to pick up broadband data traffic, which operates at higher frequencies, and a highpass filter within the modem ensures that voiceband frequencies do not interfere with its data operation.

After you have DSL set up, extending your new high-speed connection is a matter of adding standard home networking components. Everything on the "home" side of the DSL modem, from the router on, is exactly the same as for other types of home networks. (The *What You'll Need* list for this section assumes a wired Ethernet network, but you could just as easily set up a wireless or mixed wired/wireless home network as described in detail in the early sections of this appendix.)




**Figure A-13:** User-installable DSL is easy to set up and lets you put the DSL modem where it's most convenient for you. The location then becomes the starting point for your home network, which can be wired, wireless, or a combination of the two.

For any Ethernet networking arrangement (wired or wireless), the DSL modem connects directly to your router. This is always a wired Ethernet connection using standard CAT5 cable, so you have up to about 300 feet of cable between the modem and the router. Keep in mind that the modem can be installed anywhere you have a (working) phone jack, so this means you have a lot of placement flexibility. Many installations have the DSL modem and the network router in the same place, but that need not be the case if a different arrangement is more convenient for you.

The rest of the network then connects to your router (by cable if you have a wired network), and the router is the central network management and security control point for the entire network. After the network is set up, you can connect any Ethernet-equipped computer or device to your network, including printers, print servers, dedicated file servers, and more.



### Network Management, Software Configuration, and Security

With one exception, all network management, software configuration, and security functions are exactly the same for this network matching network type described earlier in this appendix. For example, if you're using an all-wired network, these functions are exactly the same as described in the *Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway* section at the beginning of this appendix.

The one exception applies when only to DSL modems. Virtually all DSL service providers use an authentication method with the cumbersome name of Point to Point Protocol over Ethernet (PPPoE) to verify your DSL account name and password when you start a DSL connection. You will need to configure your router to use PPPoE, and you will need to enter your DSL account name and password in the appropriate configuration screen on your router.

To summarize, standard router-based network management and security features include the following:

- A DHCP server. For automatic network configuration of LAN clients, including IP address assignment.
- Network Address Translation (NAT). For sharing a single Internet connection among all the computers within the LAN.
- **Firewall functionality.** For protecting the LAN against intrusion from the outside. The firewall may also include traffic control capability in which some traffic types can be completely disallowed.
- A built-in Web server. For checking or modifying router configuration settings (like NAT, DHCP, firewall, and VPN) from any client on the LAN.

#### **Cross-Reference**

For more on the operation and configuration of these router features, refer to the section of this appendix that matches the network type you're setting up (wired, wireless, or combination). See also Chapter 3.

## Appendix B

# Troubleshooting Your LAN



rmed with the information presented in previous chapters plus a few bits of networking hardware, you should have your home network up and running pretty quickly. But what if something isn't working right off the bat? And what do you do if things are running smoothly for a while but one or more devices stop working sometime later?

Home networking equipment is pretty reliable and easy to set up, so you probably won't have to refer to this appendix very often. But when your network or a LAN client isn't working as expected, determining the source of the problem can be a bit tricky. If you are using equipment from multiple manufacturers, you need to at least be able to determine which component is causing the problem before you can call for tech support.

Fortunately, checking for and fixing problems on your home LAN isn't rocket science. You'll find that troubleshooting most of your LAN connection problems is easily accomplished by a simple process of elimination and a bit of investigative work, as described in this appendix.

The troubleshooting guidelines and checklists presented in this appendix necessarily make a few assumptions. These guidelines assume that:

- You're working with a router-based LAN configuration (wired, wireless, or combination) as described in earlier chapters and in most of the examples in Appendix A.
- You have the Ethernet adapters appropriate to the LAN type you're setting up; on a wired network, the adapter speed should be supported by the device to which it's connected (a 100 mbps Ethernet card, for example, can be connected to a 10/100 switch but not to a 10 mbps switch).
- For a wired network, all cables have been run and connected to their relative endpoints.
- For a wireless network, you know your wireless LAN SSID and WEP or WPA keys.
- You know the IP address of your LAN router and how to access router settings via a Web interface.



## **Checking the Hardware**

The first step in checking any LAN problem is to eliminate the possibility of a simple hardware or physical connection fault.

## **Power Connections**

As trivial as it sounds, checking for power to the device in question should be the first thing you do. Sometimes devices are accidentally turned off (or unplugged), and many problems are truly this simple to solve. If your router doesn't have power, for example, your LAN clients can't get IP addresses, and nothing on your LAN will work.

Check your outlet strips for power, make sure your devices aren't plugged into switched wall outlets (i.e., outlets controlled by a wall switch so that you can conveniently turn on a lamp when you walk in), and make sure the family's pet iguana hasn't chewed through the power cord. Check that all on/off switches are set to the on position.

## Cabling

Make sure all Ethernet cables are fully inserted into their jacks at every connection point, including at the LAN client's Ethernet adapter, at the LAN router, and on any intermediate connection points, such as switches and hubs. (Even if you have a wireless network setup, you'll have at least one cable connection, between the wireless access point and the cable or DSL modem.)

When inserting an RJ-45 cable connector into an Ethernet jack, it should slide in smoothly and click into position, similar to the way an ordinary modular telephone cord plugs into a wall jack. To double-check that a cable is properly seated in its jack, disconnect it by pressing the tab on the RJ-45 connector, slide it out, and reinsert it. If the locking tab is broken on any of the connectors, replace the defective connector or replace the cable.

## **Visual Indicators**

All Ethernet adapters include at least one hardware indicator to provide network connection status. On desktop PCs, for example, most Ethernet cards include one or more of the following:

- Link. Indicates a connection to another Ethernet device (but does not indicate proper network configuration)
- **10/100 LED.** On dual-speed cards, indicates the current operating speed
- Activity. Blinks to indicate network traffic activity

Wireless Ethernet adapters usually have only the Activity and Link indicators. They provide the same functions described in the preceding list for wired Ethernet cards.

Understand that the Link light indicates only that you have a good electrical connection to a corresponding Ethernet device, but it does not provide any guarantee that the device is properly configured. For a wired connection, the Link lights at each end of the cable indicate that the cable is properly connected and wired, and that it's connected to an Ethernet router, switch, or hub. In the case of a wireless connection, the Link light tells you that you're in the vicinity of a compatible wireless access point. The



Link light does *not* indicate proper software, TCP/IP, or router connection settings for the adapter. (I'll go into detail about checking settings in the *Software Tools for Network and Connection Testing* section later in this appendix.)

## **Plug-In Ethernet Adapters**

If you're using a CardBus, PC Card, USB, or other type of plug-in Ethernet adapter, make sure it's fully inserted into its slot. On a laptop computer, CardBus/PC Card and USB adapters in particular can pull out just enough to break a connection but still appear to be plugged in. For a CardBus/PC Card device, make sure that Windows knows the device is connected by clicking on the Safely Remove Hardware icon on the system task tray. This will tell you what's plugged in (and will also let you "stop" the card when you want to take it out). Of course, you should also know if the adapter in question is not fully connected by looking at its visual indicators (described previously); they will be off if the adapter is not fully inserted.

## **Hardware Diagnostics**

Many networking hardware components, such as Ethernet cards and routers, include some form of self-checking diagnostic software. If you suspect a problem with a specific device, running the diagnostic will help to isolate the problem. (Plus, in the event that you have to contact the manufacturer for support, you'll be able to provide a bit more information about the nature of the problem.)

Also, if you suspect a problem with hardware setup or configuration, consult the hardware documentation. Most manufacturers include a helpful troubleshooting guide; your LAN router's manual is probably the best place to start.

If you're unsure of the specific hardware model you have, or the software required to test it, check the manufacturer's Web site. Most manufacturers feature support sections that include helpful product identification guides, utilities for testing your networking devices, and downloadable manuals.

## Software Tools for Network and Connection Testing

After you've assessed the state of the physical connections for your networking devices, it's time to test your network configurations and connections with a few software tools.

Windows offers a number of software-based approaches to setting and checking network configurations. The Network Connections dialog box (described in the section that follows) is one way to do it, and this will offer everything you need for LAN client diagnostics.

The additional tools described here are included with Windows XP and most prior versions of Windows. (In fact, these tools are usually available on any TCP/IP network-enabled machine, including Apple and Linux-based systems.) These command-line tools run from the Windows command prompt. They're not pretty, but they're all you need to determine what's happening with your LAN clients, your home network, and even whether or not (or even to some degree, how well) you're getting to the outside world via the Internet.



#### Windows XP Network Properties

You can see how your network connections are set up by selecting Network Connections from Windows' Control Panel or by right-clicking the My Network Places or My Neighborhood icon and choosing Properties from the resulting menu. Here you'll see a list of all your LAN devices and other networking connections, including a couple of wizards for setting up the network and new connections. There are several ways to display this information. The Tiles and Details views (selectable via the View menu) include useful device status information. Figure B-1 shows the Tiles view.

You can right-click an individual item, like Wireless Network Connection in the following example, and then select Status to review connection and activity details in the resulting dialog box's General tab. The Support tab shows the most-relevant TCP/IP configuration information, including the IP address, subnet mask, and default gateway (see Figure B-2). The full details of this adapter, like its MAC address, can be displayed by clicking the Details button; this shows a new window with a Physical Address value that is your Ethernet card's unique hardware identifier.



Figure B-1: The Tiles display of connections and wizards in Windows' Network Connections window.



♥ Wireless Network Conne	ction Status 🛛 🕄 🖾
General Support	
Internet Protocol (TCP/IP)	
Address Type:	Assigned by DHCP
IP Address:	192.168.0.37
Subnet Mask:	255.255.255.0
Default Gateway:	192.168.0.100
	Details
Repair	

**Figure B-2:** The TCP/IP status details provided by Windows XP let you know if your PC has a valid IP address.

This dialog box is one place where you can see your Ethernet or WiFi adapter's IP address (labeled IP Address), as well as the IP address of your router (the Default Gateway). If values appear here, your adapter should be properly configured for the network, and you should be able to access the router, your file server, and other network resources. On the other hand, if this information isn't there, or if the values are incorrect, your computer won't be able to access the local network or the Internet. If you're using DHCP for dynamic addressing, you can click the Repair button to let Windows attempt to get a new IP address from the router.

If you need to change the adapter configuration (for example, if you want to use a fixed IP address rather than have one assigned by your router's DHCP server), right-click the device icon and select Properties. For more on setting the device properties, refer to Chapter 8.

Windows XP includes a fairly complete networking help and support center. To access the center, click the Start button, choose the Help and Support command, and choose Networking and the Web from the Help and Support Center window. For additional Windows-related help topics, consult the Microsoft Knowledge Base at support.microsoft.com.

## Your Utility Software Toolbox: IPCONFIG, PING, TRACERT

Each of the software tools described in this section is included with Windows XP (in fact, they're available in most versions of Windows and many other operating systems) and can be run from any client on your LAN. Each utility has particular advantages depending on what you need to know about your system or network.



#### **GETTING TO THE WINDOWS COMMAND PROMPT**

These very useful utilities don't use the Windows graphical user interface. Instead, they run in Windows' command prompt dialog box, a special command-line interface window that's similar to older text-only PC DOS system interfaces. To access Windows' command line, follow these simple steps:

- 1. Click on Windows' Start button.
- **2.** Select the Run command.
- **3.** Type **cmd** into the Open: text box.
- 4. Click OK.

The resulting window will look similar to the one in Figure B-3. You'll end up with a command prompt on drive *C*: and in the folder that contains your user configurations. Where you are in your folder system doesn't matter, however, because the utilities you'll be running should be accessible from anywhere in the system's file hierarchy.



**Figure B-3:** The Windows command prompt as it looks right after starting. (This is what computing looked like before Windows!)

To close the Command Prompt window when you're done with it, type **exit** and press Enter at the prompt, or click the close box in the top-right corner of the window.

#### **Note for Mac Users**

Two of the tools described in this section—PING and TRACERT—are also available in OS X. You'll need to open a Terminal window (similar to the DOS command prompt shown above) to use the tools. To do this, you use the Terminal program, found in the Applications->Utilities folder on your Mac. The Mac version of TRACERT is called traceroute. There is no direct Mac equivalent to IPCONFIG.



#### **CHECKING LOCAL ETHERNET DEVICE SETTINGS: IPCONFIG**

The IPCONFIG utility provides a status display of all IP devices installed on your system. As you'll see, IPCONFIG is sometimes a better alternative to checking network configuration information through Windows' Network Properties display. If you enter **IPCONFIG** and press Enter in the Command Prompt window, the program shows you results only for the device in use for the local area connection, as shown in Figure B-4.

🖾 C:\WINDOWS\System32\cmd.exe	_ 🗆 🗙					
Microsoft Windows XP [Version 5.1.2600] (C) Copyright 1985-2001 Microsoft Corp.						
C:\Documents and Settings\Les>ipconfig						
Windows IP Configuration						
Ethernet adapter Wireless Network Connection:						
Connection-specific DNS Suffix . : siestk01.fl.comcast.net IP Address 192.168.0.37 Subnet Mask 255.255.						
C:\Documents and Settings\Les>						
	-					

**Figure B-4:** The results of an IPCONFIG command without arguments. In this case, only the connection information for the current adapter is returned.

When used without arguments, IPCONFIG tells you the currently assigned domain name (DNS suffix), the IP address of the Ethernet adapter, the subnet mask, and the default gateway (router) address. To be able to communicate locally (intra-LAN), the last three settings must contain valid addresses. The DNS suffix setting affects only your ability to access other systems by "name" (like the URL you'd type into a Web browser) and is almost always provided by your ISP.

## Note

DNS stands for Domain Name Service. This is the service that translates the URLs and other network addresses you know as, for example, www.google.com, to the IP addresses used by the routers and other network devices. See Chapter 3 for more on DNS.

If the IP address and other settings are incorrect (or if the IP address field is blank), the client PC will be not be able to communicate on the LAN. If your router and LAN adapter are configured for DHCP, you'll be able to "refresh" your connection configurations by typing **IPCONFIG /refresh** at the command line, as described following.



You can list IPCONFIG options by specifying the **/?** argument on the command line. That is, in the Command Prompt window, enter **IPCONFIG** and press Enter. The result will look something like Figure B-5.

```
- 🗆 ×
C:\WINDOWS\System32\cmd.exe
C:\Documents and Settings\Les>ipconfig /?
USAGE:
         ipconfig [/? | /all | /renew [adapter] | /release [adapter] |
/flushdns | /displaydns | /registerdns |
/showclassid adapter |
/setclassid adapter [classid] ]
where
                                              Connection name
(wildcard characters * and ? allowed, see examples)
         adapter
          Options:

chons:
/? Display this help message
/all Display full configuration information.
/release Release the IP address for the specified adapter.
/renew Renew the IP address for the specified adapter.
/flushdns Purges the DNS Resolver cache.
/registerdns Refreshes all DHCP leases and re-registers DNS names
/displaydns Display the contents of the DNS Resolver Cache.
/showclassid Display all the dhcp class ID allowed for adapter.
/setclassid Modifies the dhcp class id.

The default is to display only the IP address, subnet mask and default gateway for each adapter bound to TCP/IP.
For Release and Renew, if no adapter name is specified, then the IP address
leases for all adapters bound to TCP/IP will be released or renewed.
For Setclassid, if no ClassId is specified, then the ClassId is removed.
Examples:

    Show information.
    Show detailed information
    renew all adapters
    renew any connection that has its name starting with EL
    release all matching connections, eg. "Local Area Connection 1" or "Local Area Connection 2"

             les:
ipconfig
ipconfig /all
ipconfig /renew
ipconfig /renew EL*
          >
          > ipconfig /release *Con*
C:\Documents and Settings\Les>_
```

**Figure B-5:** The IPCONFIG tool has many options. The list of options can be displayed with the ipconfig */*? command in the command prompt window. Commonly used options include /release, /renew, and /all.

There are a lot of features in IPCONFIG, and the /? option provides some help with option use and gives some command examples. For most home networking troubleshooting, however, you're likely to need only three of these command-line options (sometimes called *switches*), shown in Table B-1.





Command	Purpose
/a]]	Lists all networked devices on a given client, with detailed configuration information on each device. (See Figure B-6.)
/release[ <i>adapter</i> ]	Releases the IP address assigned to the networking device by the DHCP server (usually your LAN router). The [adapter] parameter specifies the networking adapter whose IP address you want to release. For example, IPCONFIG / release 1 will release the address used by adapter number 1.
/renew[ <i>adapter</i> ]	Attempts to renew (or obtain) an IP address lease for a given networking adapter. The [adapter] option specifies the networking adapter whose IP address you want to renew.

Table B-1 IPCONFIG Command Line Switches

You can use the /release and /renew options anytime you want to refresh your LAN adapter's TCP/IP settings. If you're running DHCP at the router, the adapter's network settings should be renewed automatically. There are times, however, when this isn't the case. This may happen, for example, when devices are disconnected from the network and later reconnected, as might happen with a laptop computer.

If you list LAN device settings with IPCONFIG and see an unusual or missing IP address for your LAN connection device (like 254.x.x.x and/or no subnet mask or gateway address), you'll know that the connection settings need to be refreshed.

You can force the network settings to refresh with the IPCONFIG /release and IPCONFIG /renew commands. (Incidentally, this is essentially the same thing that happens when you use Windows XP's connection Repair feature described earlier in the *Windows XP Network Properties* section.)

#### **CHECKING AN IP ADDRESS: PING**

The PING utility is useful for checking the validity of a specific IP address. It can also tell you how long traffic takes to reach that address and be reflected to you. In fact, it's very much like the idea of submarine sonar and the ever-present "pinging" you hear in submarine movie soundtracks: You send a signal, wait to see if it reflects back to you, and then make some determinations about the reflection source based on trip time and other factors.

Within your home network, you should be able to ping every device you have connected to the LAN: your router, wireless access points, and LAN clients (other computers, laptops, network-enabled printers, and so on). Getting a positive response to a ping means that at least the device in question is on the network and that both your local and remote network configurations are properly set up. For example, the result of pinging a LAN router is shown in Figure B-7.



**Figure B-6:** The /all option returns information about the system ("tweety" in this example) and all of the installed network adapters.



**Figure B-7:** An example of PING being used to check for the presence of a device at 192.168.0.100 (which happens to be the LAN's router, in this case). Note the aggregate ping statistics provided at the end of the standard four-ping cycle.



In this case, PING sends a message (a network traffic packet) four times (the default number of pings), provides statistics related to each message, and then shows a summary of the completed process.

In the case of your LAN's router (or for any other device on the LAN), round-trip times should be very short (the example in Figure B-7 shows 192.168.0.100). If you know the IP address or network name of devices on your LAN, this is always a good way to verify that they're on and properly attached to the network. Figure B-8 shows a similar example, using the computer's network name rather than its IP address. This is helpful if you know the computer's name but not its IP address (which is often the case).

#### Note

Within your LAN, the network name option works only for accessing other Windows and OS X-based systems. Linux systems and many other devices may not be accessible by name, only by IP address.



**Figure B-8:** You can ping LAN clients by name. In this case, PING is being used to ping a system named ELMER. Note that PING translates the name (ELMER) to an IP address (192.168.0.38).

You can generally also ping addresses outside your LAN, like the address of your employer's Web site, or the corporate network's VPN server. In this case, particularly if pinging a Web site, you can almost always use a domain name (the URL you'd type in a browser window) instead of an IP address to ping the system. PING gets the destination IP address from your DNS server. (Note, how-ever, that some Internet destinations won't echo your ping request, even if they're working perfectly. This is done to protect the systems against malicious ping-related attacks.)



PING accepts one or more arguments followed by the destination you want to test. You can see all ping options by typing **PING** at the Windows Command Prompt. For home networking purposes, however, you'll very rarely need to use the options, and they're not described here.

#### Tip

The command PING -t will run PING continuously until you type control-c to stop it. This is useful for troubleshooting.

#### **TRACING A CONNECTION PATH: TRACERT**

An abbreviation of "trace route," the TRACERT utility checks connection paths. You probably won't need to use it within your home network, but TRACERT is most useful when you need to check how network traffic packets from your LAN client get to another system or service over the Internet.

For example, if a Web site you visit is responding slowly (if, for example, the home page takes a long time to come up), you can trace the connection path for getting there with TRACERT to see if there's a networking problem along the way.

Figure B-9 shows a TRACERT session to the Google site and all the hops your test packet takes to get to this destination from one particular Internet connection (your trace will vary according to your location and Internet service provider). Traffic begins at the LAN's router (in this case, the router is at the 192.168.10.100 address) and hops through a long series of Internet routers before getting to its destination.

C:\WINDOWS\System32\cmd.exe							
C:\Documents and Settings\Les>tracert google.com							
Tracing route to google.com [216.239.37.100] over a maximum of 30 hops:							
1	<b>1</b> m	s 1	ms	<b>1</b> ms	interjak.siestk01.fl.comcast.net [192.168.0.100]		
2 3	16 m 10 m	s 25 s 11	MS MS	13 ms 12 ms	10.51.176.1 172.30.84.145		
4 5	13 m 11 m	s 10 s 17	MS MS	12 ms 14 ms	172.30.84.186 172.30.84.252		
6 7	19 m 13 m 15 m	s 11 s 12	ms ms	13 ms 14 ms 12 mo	68.56.0.50 12.119.95.53 who wild ownfl in att not [12, 122, 218, 24]		
9 10	19 m 29 m	s 19 s 27	ms ms	27 ms 28 ms	gbr4-p60.ormf1.ip.att.net [12.122.5.138] tbr1-p012302.attga.ip.att.net [12.122.2.18]		
11 12	27 m 27 m	s 27 s 27	MS MS	27 ms 27 ms	ggr1-p360.attga.ip.att.net [12.123.20.249] acr2-so-3-0-0.Atlanta.cw.net [208.172.65.121]		
13 14 15	28 m 28 m 41 m	s 29 s 39 s 41	ms ms ms	27 ms 27 ms 41 ms	agr3-100pback.HElanta.cw.net [208.172.bb.103] dcr1-so-0-2-0.Atlanta.cw.net [208.172.75.9] dcw1-loopback.Washington.cw.net [206.24.226.99]		
_16	46 m	s 43	ms	43 ms	bhr1-pos-10-0.Sterling2dc3.cw.net [206.24.238.38		
] 17	44 m	s 43	ms	<b>47</b> ms	csr11-ve240.Sterling1dc2.cw.net [216.33.98.146]		
18 19	44 m 47 m	s 43 s 50	MS MS	46 ms 53 ms	209.225.34.218 216.239.48.94		
20	44 m	s 43	MS	50 ms	www.google.com [216.239.37.100]		
Trace	compl	ete.					
C:/D0	G- ADDELMENTS AND SECTINGS (LES /						

**Figure B-9:** This sample TRACERT session shows the path taken by a trace from a home router (at 192.168.10.100) to www.google.com (at 216.239.37.100).



The trace shown here is good, and the response time is typical. If you see many *timeouts* in the path, you may be seeing a routing problem, such as a defective Internet service provider router, and this is probably what's causing a slow or broken connection. (Then again, it may be that the destination is not responding to traces, much like pings are sometimes not echoed. Note also that a working Web destination, like many popular news and search sites, may never respond to pings or to TRACERT sessions.)

If you look closely at the example in Figure B-9, you'll see that the TRACERT report is divided in to multiple columns. The first column is simply a count of the number of devices, or hops, in the path to that point. The second, third, and fourth columns show the average, maximum, and minimum response times for that device, and the last column shows the DNS name (if any) for the device. In the example, there is a 13 to 25 ms delay between my router and the ISP's gateway. This is a typical time for cable modems; DSL modems will show a similar but slightly longer delay, and dial-up connections will have a significantly longer delay.

Note that in many cases you won't see much of a hopping path change between one TRACERT session and another, but the nature of Internet connections means paths do change. In general, don't think too much about the specific addresses or number of hops between your LAN and a remote system; as long as you're able to reach the service by some path or another, that's the only thing that matters.

Note that if you're able to run a successful TRACERT session to a system or service outside your LAN, you can rest assured that at least your LAN router and the LAN client from which you're running TRACERT are properly configured to communicate with each other and with the outside world (at least in terms of TCP/IP settings anyway). E-mail, file transfer programs, and other applications will almost always require separate configuration for proper operation.

### **Wireless Considerations**

A mismatch in one or more settings between your wireless access point (WAP) and network clients will keep your wireless connection from working. The following list provides a checklist of key settings to check for wireless connection problems:

- **Check the SSID setting.** The SSID (Service Set Identifier) setting must be the same for all your devices, including the access point.
- Check WEP settings for all devices. If you've enabled data encryption through Wired Equivalent Privacy (WEP), make sure all devices are using the same WEP key(s), and the same level of WEP encryption (e.g., 64-bit, 128-bit, and so on).
- Verify that wireless operation is enabled. If your access point is built in to the router, make sure the wireless functionality is enabled.
- Check the mode setting. When using an access point, all devices should be configured for *infrastructure* mode. If you're not using an access point and are instead connecting devices in a peer-to-peer configuration, use *ad hoc* mode.
- Check the MAC address filtering table at the access point. If you've elected to use MAC address filtering, make sure each LAN client's MAC address is included in the access point's list of acceptable addresses.
- Check connection signal strength and link quality. Most wireless card drivers install a signal-monitoring utility for this purpose and display a signal indicator in the system tray.



Also check the documentation provided with your wireless access point. It may point you to specific tests, software, and settings you can use to further investigate wireless anomalies.

#### **Networked Printers**

If your printer isn't printing when you send documents to it, you'll need to check several things:

- Is the correct printer software installed on the client PC?
- Does the printer work from any of the PCs on the LAN, or is the problem isolated to a single client PC?
- Is the printer driver configured correctly?
- Do you have the TCP/IP configuration for your print server or networked printer?

## Note

These instructions assume you've checked the printer hardware to see that the power and cable connections are working.

All LAN clients must be configured for the networked printers they're going to use, even if the printer is not directly attached to the client. This includes both installing the printer's drivers and setting up the networked printer connection for each client. You can check all printer configurations and add printers by clicking Start  $\rightarrow$  Control Panel  $\rightarrow$  Printers to launch the Printer dialog box.

Most importantly, note that most Ethernet-connected printers, including network-ready printers and printers connected via an external print server, use a DHCP client for automatic configuration of network settings, including the IP address. If the printer's IP address changes after you have installed the printer driver on your client PCs, the clients will attempt to print to the old, and incorrect, IP address. You should use fixed IP addresses for your network printers whenever possible.

To check the printer's current IP address, many print servers (and printers with built-in servers) have a special button or menu selection for printing the configuration information. This is the easiest way to display the printer's settings.

If a printer is shared through a LAN client (a networked desktop or notebook computer), make sure the LAN client has a valid network connection and has printer sharing enabled.

For more information about sharing printers in your home network, see Chapter 11.

### **Internet Connection Performance and LAN Security Testing**

One of the best ways to test the performance and security of your Internet connections is through Web-based services designed for this purpose. Following are several of the most popular and useful test sites. Check with your Internet service provider too; many offer their own network connection testing services. Appendix C offers a list of some other useful sites.



#### **BROADBAND REPORTS**

The Broadband Reports (formerly called DSL Reports) site (www.broadbandreports.com) has been around a long time by Internet standards and provides a number of DSL and cable modem connection speed tests for site visitors. The tests are available free of charge and are easy to run.

You can choose your test from the Tools section of the site (www.broadbandreports.com/tools). For plain speed testing, choose the Speed Tests option. These tests benchmark your broadband service speed and display it in the context of typical connection speeds for a variety of services. Most of these tests do *not* require you to install software on your system.

Read the site's Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) page to learn more about it and what it provides. You'll find many other helpful tests here, including a port scanner (useful for checking your router firewall configuration) and IP address checker.

#### **PC PITSTOP**

Like DSL Reports, PC Pitstop (www.pcpitstop.com) offers a variety of speed and network security tests. The Internet Connection Test Center (www.pcpitstop.com/internet/default.asp) has separate upload and download tests, and ping and trace route tests. Note that many types of tests are offered on the site, ranging from a simple Internet speed test to a complete (and very thorough) computer checkup.

The site tends to steer you toward its automatic test sequence, but these require you to install a test component locally on the LAN client you're using to access the site. You can read more about how these work through the site's Our Technology link, and then decide if you want to run these tests. If you don't want to install the automatic software, seek out the site's manual tests.

#### **GRC RESEARCH**

Steve Gibson's interesting (and often controversial) Shields UP!! Web site (go to the main site at www.grc.com and then click on Shields UP!!) offers visitors a number of freeware utilities for checking the security of Internet connections, especially in terms of firewall vulnerabilities. Of particular value are the Common Ports and File Sharing tests, which check for potential vulnerabilities that result from improper configuration (or bad default settings). A list of all free utilities is available at http://grc.com/freepopular.htm.

There's a wealth of information at the Shields UP!! site. Run a few tests and read through some of the material to learn more about protecting your Internet-connected LAN and LAN clients.

# Appendix C Online Resources



The Web is a great source of information; however, much of it is wrong. The following is a directory of some of my favorite networking-related Web sites. I've included some equipment manufacturers, online testing and discussion resources, and a few watchdog sites that help keep the other sites honest.

## **Hardware Manufacturers**

Dozens of companies are competing for your business in the home networking market. I chose the companies on this list because they all offer a complete line of home networking products, and they all have interesting and informative Web sites.

## **3Com Corporation**

#### www.3com.com

**About the company:** 3Com Corporation was founded by Bob Metcalfe, the inventor of Ethernet, in 1979. Since then, the company has experienced a gut-wrenching series of ups and downs and shifts in corporate focus. Through all of this, 3Com has maintained a reputation for producing innovative, high-quality products for networks of all sizes.

The current 3Com product lineup includes a complete line of home and small-business networking equipment, including wired and wireless routers, access points, and network adapters. The company's NJ100 and NJ200 series of network jacks (see Chapter 6) are some of my favorite "sleeper" network products.

What's on the Web Site: In addition to the usual product information, 3Com provides several free online courses on the principles and practice of networking. You can view a complete listing of these free courses at www.3com.com/support/en\_US/learning\_center/catalog.html.

## Cisco Systems, Inc.

#### www.cisco.com

**About the company:** Cisco Systems is the world's largest network equipment maker. The majority of Cisco's products are designed for medium and large businesses, and Cisco has never been a major player in the home networking market. That changed in 2003 with Cisco's acquisition of Linksys, one of the market leaders in home networks.



What's on the Web Site: Like the company's products, the Cisco Web site is designed for business network customers, so you won't find much product information specific to home networks. In fact, the home networking link on the Cisco Web page will take you directly to Linksys.com. What you will find is an excellent, if somewhat technical, series of background articles on virtually every networking technology. From the main page, click Products and Solutions, and select Networking Solutions to see a list of topics and technologies.

## **D-Link Systems, Inc.**

#### www.dlink.com

**About the company:** Taiwan-based D-Link Systems is one of the two major players in the home networking market. D-Link has maintained a strong presence in the home- and small-office networking markets since the company's founding in 1986.

D-Link offers one of the most complete home networking product lines in the industry, including a full range of Ethernet adapters, Ethernet switches, wired and wireless Internet routers, and video-conferencing equipment.

What's on the Web Site: D-Link's site offers visitors a huge selection of downloadable drivers, firmware upgrades, and product manuals for just about every D-Link product ever produced. The searchable knowledge base is an excellent resource to turn to when you're having problems with a product.

If you haven't built your network yet, you might want to check out D-Link's Network Configurator. This online tool asks you a series of questions about your network needs and produces a list of the equipment you'll need (from D-Link, of course!) to build your network.

### Linksys

#### www.linksys.com

About the company: Linksys Corporation is one of the world's largest producers of equipment for networks of all sizes. Linksys, founded in 1988, originally focused on the small office/home office markets. In recent years, the Linksys product line has expanded to include large Ethernet switches and associated equipment for larger, enterprise-class networks.

Linksys was acquired by Cisco Systems in the summer of 2003, but Linksys continues to operate as an independent company. Linksys produces a huge range of home networking equipment, including wired Ethernet, wireless, HomePlug power line, and HomeLink phone line networking products. What's on the Web Site: The Linksys Web site contains drivers, documentation, and FAQs for all past and current Linksys products. An online configuration guide helps you determine what products you need to build a network. Each Linksys product has its own support page with links to the latest drivers and firmware updates.

Visitors can also take a series of short courses that provide an introduction and overview of networking technologies.

#### Microsoft

#### www.microsoft.com/hardware

About the company: The world's largest PC software company is also big in hardware. Microsoft's hardware division recently added home networking equipment to its existing product line. In addition



to mice, keyboards, and game controllers, Microsoft now offers a small but focused line of routers and network adapters designed specifically for home networks.

What's on the Web Site: Microsoft's massive online knowledge base contains answers to nearly every PC technical problem ever recorded. You'll also find a wealth of product information, software updates, downloadable manuals, and a few nice tutorials on Windows networking.

## NETGEAR

#### www.netgear.com

**About the company:** NETGEAR began life in 1996 as a subsidiary of Bay Networks. Bay was later acquired by Northern Telecom, and NETGEAR was spun off as a separate company in 2002. NETGEAR's focus on the small-business and home markets allowed the company to sidestep the tech downturn that hit many larger tech companies in 2001.

NETGEAR's networking product line is very complete and includes switches, routers, network adapters, and print servers. NETGEAR was one of the first companies to produce a range of Gigabit Ethernet products for the home- and small-office markets.

What's on the Web Site: In addition to the usual drivers, downloads, and product information, NETGEAR's site provides a nice overview of the benefits of home networking, with specific examples for home, travel gaming, and multimedia networks.

### **SMC Networks**

#### www.smc.com

**About the company:** SMC Networks isn't as well known as some of the other major players in the home network market, but it offers a very full line of wired and wireless home networking products. **What's on the Web Site:** SMC's Web site is heavy on product information but light on tutorials and how-to articles. Each major product category (routers, wireless adapters, and so on) features a thorough feature chart designed to help you locate the perfect product for your needs. After you've located the product with the features you need, you can click the product's link in the chart to go directly to that product's page.

## **Online Security and Performance Testing**

The sites listed here offer online security/performance testing for your system.

### Lavasoft

#### www.lavasoftusa.com

Lavasoft's Ad-aware software was one of the first spyware-removal programs, and it is still one of the best. Ad-aware is a simple, easy to use program that scans your computer for adware, spyware, and other malicious software.

Lavasoft provides several versions of Ad-Aware. Most home users will be perfectly happy with the basic version, which is free of charge The paid version is even better because it provides full-time protection against new spyware threats.



### **Broadband Reports**

#### www.broadbandreports.com

Broadband Reports (formerly DSL Reports) was born out of necessity. Founder Justin Beech had so much trouble locating DSL service for his home that he decided to start a Web site where users could exchange information about DSL. The site now includes coverage of cable modem providers as well, so Justin changed the name of the site to reflect the site's broader audience.

There's so much to see at this site that your first visit can be overwhelming. Some of the must-see items are as follows:

- An active discussion forum where you can exchange messages with other broadband users around the world
- Reviews of routers, switches, broadband service providers, and networking equipment
- Some of the best and most informative networking FAQs on the Web
- An excellent set of tools to test the speed and reliability of your Internet connection
- Tips and tools to help you tweak your computer's IP settings for maximum performance

### **Gibson Research Corporation**

#### www.grc.com

Former *InfoWorld* columnist and programmer extraordinaire Steve Gibson is on a one-man campaign to save the Internet—and I mean that in a good way. Gibson's site is full of great information, with a strong focus on security issues.

Don't miss the ShieldsUP!! page, where you can get a free online security checkup of your computer and router. I highly recommend that you visit this site to test your network's security settings. The test is very stringent, so don't be surprised if your system fails one or more of the tests—even if you are running a firewall.

#### **McAfee**

#### www.mcafee.com

As you might expect, antivirus vendor McAfee's site deals primarily with the detection and removal of viruses. If you look hard enough, you'll find some interesting free tools to scan your computer for viruses (even if you don't have McAfee's antivirus software!) From the McAfee home page, click Home and Home Office and then select one of the free tools at the bottom of the page.

Other free features include a real-time world virus map that shows the world's current virus hotspots, and a free program that assesses your computer's security vulnerabilities.

### **PC** Pitstop

#### www.pcpitstop.com

PC Pitstop is one of my favorite online test sites. This free site performs a complete performance test on your PC and includes tests of CPU speed, disk drive speed and health, Internet security settings, and Internet connection speed.



The full suite of tests takes about five minutes to run, and you can compare your system's test results to results from similar systems. You can also perform separate antivirus and spyware checks to ensure that your system is free of uninvited guests. The site features tips and programs that can help you tweak every bit of performance out of your PC.

## **Spybot Search & Destroy**

#### www.safer-networking.org

Patrick Kolla hates spyware. Kolla's Spybot Search & Destroy program is one of the best tools I've found for locating and removing unwanted spyware and adware programs from your computer. This excellent software is continually updated in an effort to keep up with the spyware makers.

Spybot S&D is a free program; Kolla requests a small donation if you use and like the program.

## **Symantec**

www.symantec.com

Unlike many of their competitors, Symantec doesn't offer much in the way of free online testing. But they do offer trial versions of most of their security software products. The trial versions are fully functional but time-limited, so you can only use them for 15 days. If you decide to continue using the software, you can purchase an unlock key online, so you won't have to remove the trial version and install the full version of the software.

## **General Technology Sites**

Check out these sites for useful and interesting tips and info.

## ExtremeTech

#### www.extremetech.com

ExtremeTech is the ultimate destination for hardcore technologists and do-it-yourself system builders. It features intense reviews, complete plans and parts lists for building systems and components, technical resources, and interactive discussions. Focused on work and personal PC technologies, along with a new concentration on building the ultimate home entertainment network, ExtremeTech is led by a team of hardcore, passionate technologists.

ExtremeTech features an active and lively discussion forum where readers can exchange ideas, information, and tips with one another.

## **PC Magazine**

www.pcmag.com

PCMag.com is the premier online destination for technology buyers making brand selections for their company and personal lives. Updated daily, PCMag.com offers all of the editorial content found in *PC Magazine*, plus original content from First Looks and *PC Magazine* columnists. Added features, such as Shop Now, allow visitors to compare prices from leading retailers, after they've made an informed brand decision.



#### **Practically Networked**

www.practicallynetworked.com

Practically Networked is a great site that provides advice, reviews, and practical (hence the name) how-to information on home networking.

The review archive contains concise, critical reviews of just about every home network product out there. Each review also contains links to reader comments, so it's easy to see what real users out in the real world think about each product.

## Tom's Hardware

#### www.tomshardware.com

Tom Pabst has never heard the question "So, Tom, tell us what you really think." Dr. Pabst is a medical doctor who decided he prefers poking around inside PCs to poking around inside people. Founded as a hobby in 1996, Dr. Tom's site has amassed a huge following worldwide thanks to the site's cut-to-the-chase, no-holds-barred reviews.

As you might have guessed from the name, the site's primary focus is on performance. You'll find lots of tips and discussions about the hottest new processors, chip sets, and graphics cards. The net-working section is heavy on product reviews and how-to articles.

## **Other Interesting Sites**

And finally . . .

## **The Internet Society**

www.isoc.org

If the Internet has a home, this is it. The ISOC is the main clearinghouse for Internet information and education. Subchapters of the ISOC are charged with defining and maintaining Internet standards and protocols.

Nearly every major computer, networking, and software vendor on the planet is involved in the ISOC or one of its auxiliary organizations. If you're looking for information on Internet standards or protocols, this is the place to start.

## **CIAC Hoaxbusters**

#### hoaxbusters.ciac.org

This is one government-sponsored page that makes me proud to be a taxpayer! The Computer Incident Advisory Capability (CIAC) is a division of the U.S. Department of Energy and is responsible for computer security at DOE. Someone at CIAC had the brilliant idea to create a public Web page to help debunk the torrent of chain letters, e-mail hoaxes, and false virus alerts that have plagued the Internet for years.

This isn't the prettiest site you'll ever visit, but it contains an excellent reference and cross-index of just about every hoax, prank, chain letter, and phony virus alert.



## **Dynamic DNS Services**

www.dyndns.com

DynDNS offers a wide range of dynamic DNS services for home and business users, including a free single-address account. When you create an account, you'll choose a name for your home system, using one of DynDNS's domain names. For example, you might choose the name pcmag.dyndns.org. After you've set up the account, you can connect to your home LAN using the name pcmag.dyndns.org instead of using your router's public IP address (which can change at any time).

To use this service, you'll need a router with a dynamic DNS feature, or you'll need to run a Dynamic DNS updater program on one of the computers on your LAN.

## **SNOPES**

snopes.com

Snopes Webmasters Barbara and David P. Mikkelson are on a mission to save the world from rumors, hoaxes, half-truths, and outright lies. Their site is a virtual encyclopedia of disinformation, and it covers everything from Coca-Cola myths to computer viruses.

Snopes' vast collection of myths, hoaxes, and urban legends is colorfully organized by category, making it easy to zero in on a topic area. They have plenty of simple, non-technical information about computer viruses and e-mail chain letter hoaxes.

## **Urban Legends**

urbanlegends.miningco.com

This site is prettier and more comprehensive than the CIAC site. As the name implies, it contains a database of urban legends, myths, folklore—and Internet hoaxes. This is the first place I go when I smell a hoax, and this site has never let me down.

The only problem with this site is that you can easily spend hours here, lost in a world of weird, wacky, and generally outlandish stuff that some folks actually believe to be true.

# Glossary



**10/100 Ethernet** Networking equipment that is compatible with both the 10Base-T and 100Base-T specifications. 10/100 Ethernet systems automatically switch speeds to maintain compatibility with both systems, allowing the use of 10 and 100 mbps devices on the same LAN.

**100Base-TX** An IEEE specification for running 100 mbps Ethernet signals over unshielded twisted pair cable. 100Base-TX is currently the most widely used local area networking specification. Also known as *Fast Ethernet*.

**10Base-2** An IEEE specification for running 10 mbps Ethernet over thin, shielded coaxial cable. Also known as "Cheapernet" because it was much less expensive to install than the original, thick-cable Ethernet. 10Base-2 is now obsolete, having been replaced by 10Base-T and 100Base-T networks.

**10Base-T** An IEEE specification for running 10 mbps Ethernet signals over unshielded twisted pair cable.

**802.11a** An IEEE specification for transmitting Ethernet signals at speeds up to 54 mbps over a radio signal in the 5 GHz radio band.

**802.11a/b/g** A wireless network compatible with all three wireless standards. Also called a *tri-mode* network.

**802.11b** An IEEE specification for transmitting Ethernet signals at speeds up to 11 mbps over a radio signal in the 2.4 GHz radio band.

**802.11g** An IEEE specification for transmitting Ethernet signals at speeds up to 54 mbps over a radio signal in the 2.4 GHz radio band. 802.11g wireless networks are backward-compatible with 802.11b devices.

**802.11g** A proposed IEEE specification for transmitting Ethernet signals at speeds up to 108 mbps using multiple radio signals in the 2.4 GHz radio band. 802.11n wireless networks will be backward-compatible with 802.11b and 802.11g devices.

**access point (AP)** A device that acts as a gateway between wired and wireless networks. APs act as a central connecting point for the wireless clients on a LAN.



**address** A unique numeric or alphanumeric identifier that identifies a specific device or connection on a network. See *IP address*.

Address Resolution Protocol (ARP) A network protocol that provides for the assignment of IP addresses based on a device's hardware MAC address.

adapter See network adapter.

administrator The person in charge of a computer, network, or group of computers.

**authentication** The process of verifying a user's identity, typically through the use of an account name and password.

**bandwidth** A measure of the traffic-carrying capacity of a communications channel, usually expressed in terms of the number of data bits the channel can carry in a second. For example, Fast Ethernet networks have a bandwidth of 100 megabits per second.

**broadband** A system that carries digital signals as a secondary service over a network built for a different purpose. For example, cable modems use the existing cable TV network to provide high-speed Internet service, and DSL modems carry data over ordinary voice-grade telephone lines.

browser Short for Web browser, a program used to view pages on a Web server.

cable modem A device that provides a high-speed, two-way data connection over a cable TV service.

**CardBus** An improved, 32-bit version of the original PC Card (also known as PCMCIA) standard for laptop expansion cards. PC Cards will work in a CardBus-compatible device, but CardBus cards will not operate in a PC Card–based computer.

**CAT5 and CAT5e** Short for Category 5, a high-grade UTP cable used for Fast Ethernet networks. CAT5e cable can be used with Gigabit Ethernet over short distances.

CAT6 An extremely high-grade UTP cable used for Gigabit Ethernet.

**client** A computer (or other device) that makes use of services provided by another device (typically a server) over a network.

**client-server network** A networking system where some computers (called servers) provide services that can be used by other (client) computers on the network.

**crossover cable** A specially wired patch cable used to connect two computers or two switches together.

**default gateway** On an IP network, the IP address of the router or other device that connects the LAN to the Internet.



**Digital Subscriber Line (DSL)** A service, available from many local telephone companies, that delivers a high-speed data service using ordinary voice-grade telephone lines.

**domain name** A name that identifies an organization and the organization's associated IP addresses. For example, pcmag.com identifies the block of IP addresses assigned to PC Magazine. Domain names are used in conjunction with a *host name* to identify individual computers (such as www.pcmag.com or mail.pcmag.com) on a network.

**Domain Name Service (DNS)** An Internet service that translates human-readable names (like pcmag.com) into IP addresses.

**driver** Software (usually provided with a hardware device) that allows a device to interact with a computer's operating system. Also called a *device driver*.

**Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP)** A LAN service that automatically provides IP address and routing information to LAN client computers on demand. DHCP servers are typically built into routers, wireless APs, and network servers.

**Ethernet** A local area network architecture developed by Digital Equipment Corporation, Intel, and Xerox in the 1970s. The original Ethernet specification operated at 10 mbps; subsequent improvements have increased the speed up to 1000 mbps (1 gigabit).

**Ethernet switch** A device that controls the flow of data among devices on an Ethernet LAN. Each device on the LAN connects to a connector (called a *port*) on the switch; the switch monitors incoming traffic on each port and sends the data on to the appropriate destination port. See *switch*.

Fast Ethernet A high-speed variant of Ethernet that operates at 100 mbps over CAT5 UTP wiring.

**file server** A network device that provides file storage space for use by other computers on the network. Windows XP includes a built-in file server feature that allows any Windows XP computer to share files with other computers.

**firewall** A device used to prevent unauthorized access to a LAN. A firewall typically connects between a private LAN and the public Internet. A firewall is essentially a special-purpose computer that monitors and regulates all traffic between the LAN and the Internet.

**FireWire** A high-speed data connection specification originally developed by Apple Computer and now an IEEE standard called IEEE 1394. FireWire connections operate at 400 and 800 mbps and are most often used to connect high-speed peripheral devices like video cameras and external hard drives.

**FTP** An acronym for *file transfer protocol*, an Internet standard for transporting files across the Internet. The term FTP is used to refer both to the protocol itself and the programs that implement the protocol.



**gateway** The device on a network that provides connectivity to another network, usually to the Internet.

**gateway address** The IP address of the gateway device on a local area network. On home networks, the gateway address is the address of the local router.

**Gigabit Ethernet** An IEEE specification for running 1000 mbps Ethernet signals over CAT5e and CAT6 unshielded twisted pair cable.

**home gateway** A device that provides a router, firewall, and Ethernet switch (and often a wireless access point as well) in a single, compact box. Home gateways provide a simple, inexpensive way to share an Internet connection among several computers.

**Home Phoneline Networking Alliance (HPNA)** An industry trade group that sets technical specifications for transmitting data over home telephone wiring. Also used to describe products compatible with the HPNA specification.

**host** A computer that is connected to the Internet. This term is a holdover from the days when most computers connected to the Internet allowed direct remote access to the computer's command-line interface. Today, the term is most often used to refer to Web, mail, and FTP servers.

**hub** A device that creates a local area network by combining the signals from several Ethernet devices. Unlike switches, hubs simply repeat the signal from each cable connected to the hub. See *Ethernet switch*.

Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (ICANN) A nonprofit corporation responsible for IP address space allocation, protocol assignment, and domain name system management.

IEEE 1394 See FireWire.

**Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF)** A large international community of network designers, operators, vendors, and researchers concerned with the evolution of the Internet architecture and the smooth operation of the Internet.

**Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers (IEEE)** Pronounced "Eye-triple-E," this is a global association of engineers. IEEE members and committees created many of the standards used in data networking today.

**Internet Connection Sharing (ICS)** A feature built into Windows Me, Windows 2000, and Windows XP that allows one PC on the network to operate as an Internet gateway for the other computers on the LAN.

**Internet Protocol (IP)** A communications protocol that defines rules for the addressing and transmission of data over a network. Each device on an IP network has a unique address, so any two devices on an IP network can communicate directly with one another. IP is the basis of the worldwide Internet.



**Internet Service Provider (ISP)** A company that provides access to the Internet, usually over a dial-up, DSL, or cable modem connection. ISPs typically charge a monthly or hourly fee for usage.

**intranet** A private wide area network often used by corporations, universities, and other large organizations to link several LANs together into a single, seamless network covering a large geographical area.

**IP address** A unique address assigned to each computer and other devices directly connected to the Internet. IP addresses consist of four numbers between 0 and 255, separated by periods, as in 10.1.2.3 or 192.168.0.202.

**latency** The amount of time (usually measured in milliseconds, or 1/1000 of a second) that it takes for a data packet to travel from the source (sending) computer to the destination (receiving) computer. Long latency times are certain death for online gaming because they increase the amount of time it takes to respond to an opponent's move. Also called *lag time* and *ping time*.

**local area network (LAN)** A network of computers contained in a relatively small area, usually within a building or a cluster of buildings. LANs provide a shared connection that allows for sharing of files, printers, and services (including an Internet connection) among the devices connected to the LAN. See *wide area network (WAN)*.

**mapping** A technique used to create an additional, virtual disk drive on one computer that provides a connection to a shared drive or directory on another computer. Also called *drive mapping*.

**Media Access Control (MAC) address** A 6-byte address (for example, 00-80-C8-1E-C8-83) that uniquely identifies an Ethernet device. The first 3 bytes of the MAC address identify the manufacturer of the device. The MAC address is not the same as the IP address. See *Address Resolution Protocol*.

**Multiple Input Multiple Output (MIMO)** A technique (used in 802.11n wireless networking) for combining the bandwidth of several 802.11g channels into a single, faster channel.

**network** A continuous connection between two or more computers that allows the sharing of files, printers, and other resources.

**Network Address Translation (NAT)** A technique commonly used in routers and firewalls that allows several computers to share a single public IP address. NAT routers are commonly used to provide Internet sharing and firewall protection for all the computers on a LAN.

**network adapter** A device that acts as the interface between a network and a computer. Network adapters come in a variety of form factors, including internal PCI and CardBus expansion cards and external USB devices.

network interface card (NIC) A network adapter built on a PCI or other removable expansion card.

network media The cable or wiring used to carry network signals.



**patch cable** A short cable used to connect an Ethernet device (such as a computer or printer) to an Ethernet wall plate or switch port.

**PC** Short for personal computer, this term was originally used to identify the original IBM Model 5150 Personal Computer. Today, the term is used to identify any desktop computer system, regardless of manufacturer or operating system.

**PC Card (also called PCMCIA)** A standard created by the Personal Computer Memory Card International Association that defines the physical and electrical characteristics for small expansion cards commonly used in laptop computers and other portable devices. Although originally designed as a specification for adding memory to portable computers, the PC Card specification has been expanded to include all types of expansion duties, including network adapters, USB, and FireWire interfaces. See *CardBus*.

**peer-to-peer network** A network that allows any computer to act as both a client and a server, often at the same time. The built-in file sharing in Windows XP creates a peer network when two or more computers are connected to the network.

**Peripheral Components Interconnect (PCI)** A specification that defines the size, shape, and electrical characteristics of internal expansion cards and slots for desktop PCs. Although originally developed by Intel, the PCI specification is not tied to any single computer architecture and is widely used in PC and Macintosh desktop PCs.

**ping** A method (and a utility program of the same name) to determine if a specific IP address is active. Most ping programs, including the one included with Windows XP, will also tell you how long it takes to send a data packet from your computer to another IP address and back again. Ping borrows its name from the sonar depth sounding system, which uses an audible "ping" to determine the depth of items below the surface of the water.

**plenum cable** Cable certified to be fire-resistant and to produce little or no toxic fumes in the event of a fire. Many local fire codes require the use of plenum cable in office and residential applications.

**Plug and Play (PnP)** A technical specification designed to simplify the process of adding expansion devices to a computer system. PC Card, CardBus, USB, and PCI are examples of PnP systems.

**Point-to-Point Protocol over Ethernet (PPPoE)** A standard for user authentication over a broadband cable modem or DSL connection. When a broadband device establishes a connection to the Internet, the ISP may request user authentication in the form of a user name and password. Most routers handle the PPPoE authentication automatically.

**Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol (PPTP)** A protocol used in virtual private networks. PPTP uses sophisticated data encryption techniques to securely send data over the public Internet. Although it is possible for someone to intercept the data packets as they travel over the Internet, it is very difficult (but not impossible) to decrypt the data back into readable form. See *virtual private network*.



**port** An interface connection (Ethernet, serial, parallel, USB, and so forth) on a computer or other electronic device that provides a connection to another device or network.

**print server** A device that connects a printer to a LAN, making the attached printer available to users on the LAN.

**protocol** A standardized format that describes the rules and procedures for transmitting data between two devices. There are hundreds of communications protocols in use today, including TCP/IP (Internet Protocol) and Hypertext Transfer Protocol (HTTP, the basis of the World Wide Web). Standardized protocols facilitate the exchange of information between devices made by different manufacturers or between computers running different operating systems.

**RJ-45** An eight-pin plastic connector used for telephone and data connections, usually in conjunction with CAT5 cable.

route The path taken by an IP packet as it travels over a LAN or the Internet.

**router** A device that monitors and manages the flow of data between two IP networks. Typically, a router connects between a LAN and a WAN. Most routers sold for the home networking market also include a firewall.

**sharing** The process of making a resource on one computer available to other computers on the network, usually on a LAN. Examples include file sharing, printer sharing, and Internet access sharing.

**server** A network device that provides services (such as file or printer sharing) that other computers can use.

**Stateful Packet Inspection (SPI)** A data filtering technique used in advanced network firewalls. Simple NAT firewalls examine the source and destination address of each data packet to determine the proper routing and disposition of the data. SPI firewalls go a step further by examining the contents of each data packet in order to determine the validity of the packet. See *Network Address Translation*.

**switch** In Ethernet networks, a device that examines and forwards data packets between two or more connections. Switches have all but replaced hubs as the central connecting point on Ethernet networks.

**Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol (TCP/IP)** A suite of communications protocols originally developed by the U.S. Department of Defense that forms the basis of the worldwide Internet.

**Uniform Resource Locator (URL)** A human-readable representation (such as http://www.pcmag.com) of an IP address and port number.

**Universal Serial Bus (USB)** A high-speed, short-range connection scheme commonly used to connect printers, keyboards, pointing devices, and other peripheral equipment to a personal computer.



**unshielded twisted pair (UTP)** A multiconductor cable composed of two or more pairs of wires. Each pair of wires is twisted together to form a single twisted pair. The twist prevents interference from other nearby cables and allows several pairs of wires to share a single outer jacket.

**virtual private network (VPN)** A private network of computers connected over the public Internet using a secure "tunneling" protocol. The tunneling protocol uses strong data encryption techniques to provide a secure, private connection among the computers on the VPN.

**wide area network (WAN)** A data network that connects computers over a large geographical area. The Internet is the best-known WAN, but many corporations operate their own private WANs using data connections leased from public data carriers.

**WiFi Alliance** A nonprofit trade association formed to certify interoperability of wireless local area network products based on the IEEE 802.11 specifications. Formerly known as the Wireless Ethernet Compatibility Association.

**WiFi Protected Access (WPA)** An improved security protocol for wireless networks that includes encryption and authentication.

Wired Equivalency Protocol (WEP) The original wireless security protocol for wireless networks.

**wireless access point (WAP)** The central connecting point on a wireless network. WAPs regulate the traffic on a wireless network and also provide a connection between the wireless network and a wired Ethernet LAN.

## Index

#### Numbers

2.4 GHz telephones, interference from, 53 3Com Corporation home networking products, 343 NJ100 Network Jack, 103–104 10.1. x.x address space, 152 10/100 Ethernet adapters defined, 351 LED indicator, 328 PCI adapter for, 74 switches for, 83 10Base-2 IEEE specification, 351 10Base-T IEEE specification, 55-56, 351 100Base-TX IEEE specification, 55-56, 351 192.168.x.x address space, 152 802.11a IEEE specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 pros and cons, 85 and USB wireless adapters, 72 802.11a/b/g IEEE specification combo card adapters, 73 defined, 351 802.11b IEEE specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 laptop wireless adapters, 81 security concerns, 129 802.11g IEEE specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 laptop wireless adapters, 81 pros and cons, 85 and USB wireless adapters, 72 802.11n IEEE specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 pros and cons, 85 1394 standard (FireWire), 353

#### A

AC electrical wiring, networking using, 54 Access Control (Windows XP Professional), 173 access doors, removing, 113 access point (AP) in all-in-one routers, 89 configuring, 86-87, 124-128 defined, 351 enabling WPA encryption, 129 function, 63-64 locating and connecting, 123-124 signal range, 65 site surveys for, 121-123 standalone, 83-86 wireless, 6, 63-65, 351 Activity indicator (Ethernet adapters), 328-329 ad hoc mode (wireless LAN) configuration in All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 302 in Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 309 versus infrastructure mode configuration, 63-64 when to use, 339 adapters defined, 355 Ethernet configuring in Mac OS X, 107-109 configuring in Windows XP, 106-107 internal adapter card, 4 PC Card, 4 troubleshooting visual indicators, 328 types and features, 72–73 role of, 4 for TiVo Series2 DVR connections, 224 wireless CardBus, PC Card and USB installations, 116-117 for gaming consoles, 238 PCI wireless adapter installation, 113–116 Ad-Aware (Lavasoft), 256, 345



Add Printer Wizard (Windows XP) adding a shared printer using, 196-200 adding server-connected or network-ready printers, 200-207 Add Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard, 202-203 Additional Port Information Required window (Add Standard TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard), 203 address, defined, 352. See also IP address; MAC (Media Access Control) address Address Resolution Protocol (ARP), 352 administrator, 352 adware how it works, 248, 255 removal tools, 256 AirPlus XtremeG wireless access point (D-Link), configuring, 124-128 AirPort Extreme (Apple) router, 15 AirPort wireless connections (Mac OS X), 107-109, 120 all-in-one routers, 89-91 Allow Network Users to Change My Files setting (Windows XP), 174-175 All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway configuration overview, 284, 301-302 network management, software configuration, and security, 304-306 physical layout and connections, 302-303 tools and equipment, 301 when to use, 300-301 Alternate DNS Server settings, 38 Alternate IP Configuration feature (Windows XP), 144-146 antennas access point, positioning, 124 PCI wireless adapters, 76 antivirus software backdoor protection, 248, 250 for browser hijacking, 248 and computer viruses, 248 importance of, 40 McAfee, 346

Symantec, 255 types and features, 252-255 AP (access point) all-in-one routers, 89 configuring, 86-87, 124-128 defined, 351 enabling WPA encryption, 129 function, 63-64 locating and connecting, 123-124 signal range, 65 site surveys for, 121-123 standalone, 83-86 wireless, 6, 63-65, 351 Apple Computer. See also Mac OS X networks AirPort Extreme router, 15 iPod, 24 Mac OS X computers, 36-37 ARP (Address Resolution Protocol), 352 ARPANET, 32 artist-based MP3 selection (Linksys Media adapter), 217 attachments (e-mail), viruses in, 253 authentication, 352 automatic discovery option (Windows XP), 178-179 Automatic Private IP Addressing (Windows XP), 144 autosensing (Ethernet switches), 83, 105

#### B

backdoor programs, 248, 250 backing up files dedicated file servers for, 269 file sharing for, 17 bandwidth, 352 Beech, Justin (Broadband Reports), 346 Before You Continue screen (Network Setup Wizard), 136–137 BitTorrent (file sharing network), 43 bridges, Ethernet, printer sharing using, 195 broadband connections broadband envy, 12 defined, 352 and security risks, 249


Broadband Reports security testing, 341, 346 Browse for Printer window (Add Printer Wizard), 198 browser defined, 352 hijacking, 40, 248 repair tools, 248 browser-based setup. *See also* interfaces access points, 86–87, 124–125 NSLU2, 273 print servers, 192–194 routers, 90, 154, 159

# C

cable modem defined, 352 firewalls with, 6 cable staplers, 99-100 cabling, Ethernet. See also crossover cable cable system components, 97-99 CAT5, CAT5e, 4, 56, 352 CAT6, 56, 83, 352 installation tools, 99-101 in-wall or surface mount wall jacks, 101-103 limitations on, 53 Network Jack (3Com), 103–104 planning network, 96–97 self-installation, cautions, 95-96, 101 troubleshooting, 328 twisted-pair Ethernet cable, 4 caches, for DNS requests, 154 cameras, Internet, 239-241 CardBus adapter defined, 352 Ethernet adapters features, 78-79 pros and cons, 72 wireless adapters features, 80-81 installing, 116-117 pros and cons, 73 troubleshooting, 329

cases, computer, removing, 113 CAT5 and CAT5e Ethernet cable, 4, 56, 352 CAT6 Ethernet cable, 56, 83, 352 channel settings (access points), 126 CIAC Hoaxbusters hoax information, 348 Cisco Systems, Inc., home networking products, 343-344 client on client-server networks, 42 defined, 5, 352 examples, 133 client-server networks defined, 352 examples, 42 IP addressing, 35-36 set up and uses for, 41-43 versus peer-to-peer network, 40-41 Clone MAC Address button (D-Link router setup), 166 closed-circuit monitoring cameras, 239-241 combo card adapters, 73 Command Prompt window (Windows XP), 332 command-line options IPCONFIG utility, 334–335 PING utility, 336, 338 communications protocols, 31-32, 39. See also TCP/IP (Transmission Control Protocol/ **Internet Protocol**) Completing the Network Setup Wizard screen (Network Setup Wizard), 141–142 computer gaming, network-based, 29-30 computer viruses how they work, 248 protecting against, 252-255 computers, naming, 44 configurable firewalls, 29-30 configurations for specific network types All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 284, 300-306 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 285, 319-322

continued



configurations for specific network types continued Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 284, 292-296 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 284, 288-292 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 284, 296-300 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 285, 322-325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 285, 313-315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 316–319 Expanded Wireless LAN with Two Access Points, 285 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall, 284, 286-288 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 285, 306-312 Secure Remote Access to Your Ethernet LAN, 285 Configure IPv4 pull-down menu (Mac OS X), 108 configuring D-Link access point, 124-128 D-Link router, 131-132, 162-168 firewalls, 263-268 IP addresses, 36, 37-38 Linksys Media Adapter, 215–216 Linksys router, 159-162 Mac OS X networks, 120 print servers, 192-194 Windows XP networks, 117-120, 135-142 Windows XP routers, 155-156 WPA encryption, 129-130 Connect on Demand setting (Linksys router setup), 160 Connect to Printer window (Add Printer Wizard), 198 Connect to Server option (Mac OS X Finder), 184 Connection Properties screen (Windows XP), 144–146 Connection Status screen (Windows XP), 155–156 connections, network All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 302–304 communications protocols, 31-32 connection requests, 250 electrical wiring for, 54

Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 320-321 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 295 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 291 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 298-299 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 323-324 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 313-315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 317–318 Individual Internet Access with Router/ Firewall, 287 IP addressing, 32-40 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 309-310 network protocol, 31 performance issues, 16, 340-341 pros and cons, 55 telephone wiring for, 54 troubleshooting, 339 control panel Mac OS X configuring AirPort connection, 120 viewing network connections, 36-37 WindowsXP alternate IP configuration, 144 configuring network adapter, 106-107 enabling automatic updates, 254 launching Printers dialog box, 188, 196, 200, 340 viewing network connections, 18, 155, 330 controllerless printers, 21 costs, installation, wired versus wireless networks, 53 cracker, 40 Create a New Port option (Add Printer Wizard), 201 crimping tool, 100 crossover cable. See also cabling, Ethernet defined, 15, 352 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 320 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 293.295 when to use, 106



# D

data encryption, enabling, 127, 129. See also WEP (Wired Equivalent Privacy) encryption; WPA (WiFi Protected Access) encryption Date and Time settings screen (Linksvs NSLU2), 274-275 dedicated file servers advantages of, 269 backup and protection options, 270-271 setup, 270 default gateway defined, 352 in Windows XP, settings for, 38 Default Printer window (Add Printer Wizard), 199 demilitarized zone (DMZ) Host feature (routers), 265-266 denial of service (DoS) attacks how they work, 248 protecting against, 249 desktop, adding My Network Places to, 18 Desktop, TiVo, 225-226 desktop adapters PCI adapters, 72, 73-74 USB adapters, 74-75 wireless adapters, 76-77 desktop computers adapter types, pros and cons, 72 PCI Ethernet adapters, 73–74 USB Ethernet adapters, 74-75 wireless adapters, 76–77 destination address, IP, 39 device ports, 106 device sharing, NetBIOS protocol for, 8 DHCP (Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol) on client-server networks, 43 defined, 353 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL networks, 325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches networks, 315 Expanded Wireless LAN networks, 318

information needed by, 152 IP addressing options, 34, 36 with NAT routers, 88 obtaining temporary IP addresses using, 34 print server IP addresses, 192-193 router as DHCP client, 35 router as DHCP server, 36 DI-624 Wireless Broadband Router (D-link), 7, 8 dial-up connections, routers with, 15 digital cameras, 24 digital photographs viewing on television screens, 212 viewing using Linksys Media Adapters, 218-220 viewing using TiVo, 228-229 digital subscriber line (DSL) benefits and limits of, 11-12, 54, 55 defined, 353 importance of firewalls with, 6 indirect LAN connections, 5 IP address, 34 user-installable service, 285 digital television, Media Center Extender limitations, 236 digital video recorders (DVRs). See also Tivo Series2 DVR systems in home entertainment centers, 25-27 uses for, 220 D-Link Systems, Inc. AirPlus XtremeG wireless access point, 124–128 DI-624 Wireless Broadband Router, 7, 8 home networking products, 344 i2eye Video Phone, 241-244 router configuring, 162-168 Internet access filters, 268 status screen, 168 WEP settings screen, 131 Wireless Ethernet Bridge, 195 Wireless Internet Camera, 239-241 DMZ (demilitarized zone) Host feature (routers), 265-266



DNS (Domain Name Service) defined, 333, 353 dynamic DNS service providers, 266, 349 host name conversions, 33 identifying in Linksys router setup, 160 proxy server technique, 154 server address, 152 server settings in Mac OS X, 38 domain name, defined, 353 DoS (denial of service) attacks how they work, 248 protecting against, 249 drive mapping defined, 355 mapping process, 45, 180-182 uses for, 43-44 drive sharing, enabling in Windows XP, 175-177 drivers defined, 353 printer, copying for network sharing, 199 shared, accessing, 177-179 USB device, 117 DSL (digital subscriber line) benefits and limits of, 11-12, 54, 55 defined, 353 importance of firewalls with, 6 indirect LAN connections, 5 IP address, 34 user-installable service, 285 DSL Reports. See Broadband Reports security testing DVRs (digital video recorders). See also Tivo Series2 DVR systems in home entertainment centers, 25-27 uses for, 220 dynamic DNS service providers, 266, 349 Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol (DHCP) on client-server networks, 43 defined, 353 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL networks, 325

Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches networks, 315 Expanded Wireless LAN networks, 318 information needed by, 152 IP addressing options, 34, 36 with NAT routers, 88 obtaining temporary IP addresses using, 34 print server IP addresses, 192–193 router as DHCP client, 35 router as DHCP server, 36 dynamic IP addresses, 164–166 DynDNS dynamic DNS services, 266, 349

## Ε

802.11a IEEE specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 pros and cons, 85 and USB wireless adapters, 72 802.11a/b/g IEEE specification combo card adapters, 73 defined, 351 802.11b IEEE specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61–62 laptop wireless adapters, 81 security concerns, 129 802.11g IEEE specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 laptop wireless adapters, 81 pros and cons, 85 and USB wireless adapters, 72 802.11n IEEE specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 pros and cons, 85 electrical (in-home) wiring, networking using, 54, 67-68

Index **365** 



e-mail as client-server network, 42 hoaxes, 260 phishing scams, 257-261 virus risks, 253 e-mail level virus protection, 254 encryption. See also WEP (Wired Equivalent Privacy) encryption; WPA (WiFi Protected Access) encryption enabling for access points, 127 encryption key settings and configuration, 131–132 types and features, 129–130 entertainment systems, multimedia, 23-27 equipment needs All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 301 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 319 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 293 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 288–289 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 296-297 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 322-323 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 313 Expanded Wireless LAN, 316 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall, 286-287 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 306-307 Ethernet adapters built-in, desktop versus wireless, 72 configuring in Mac OS X, 107-109 configuring in Windows XP, 106–107 plug-in, troubleshooting, 329 troubleshooting visual indicators, 328 Ethernet bridges HomePlug Ethernet Bridge, 67-68 printer sharing using, 195 Ethernet connections cable system components, 4, 97-99 cabling installation tools, 99-101 for TiVo Series2 DVRs, 26 wired, as solution for wireless problems, 53

Ethernet, defined, 4, 353 Ethernet hub versus Ethernet switch, 58 Ethernet interface for printer connections, 21 Ethernet LANs CardBus adapters, 78-79 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension configuration, 285, 320 network management, software configuration, and security, 321-322 physical layout and connections, 320-321 tools and equipment, 319 when to use, 319 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing configuration overview, 284, 293-294 network management, software configuration, and security, 295-296 physical layout and connections, 295 tools and equipment, 293 when to use, 292 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway configuration overview, 284, 289-290 network management, software configuration, and security, 291-292 physical layout and connections, 291 tools and equipment, 288-289 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem configuration overview, 284, 297-298 network management, software configuration, and security, 300 physical layout and connections, 298-299 tools and equipment, 296-297 when to use, 296 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL configuration overview, 285, 323 network management, software configuration, and security, 325 physical layout and connections, 323-324 tools and equipment, 322-323 when to use, 322



Ethernet LANs Ethernet switches, 4, 6, 104-106 example configuration, 6 **Gigabit Ethernet**, 56 marking cables, 101 Network Jack (3Com), 103-104 network protocol for, 32 100Base-T networks, 56 one-switch configuration, 57 PCI or built-in adapters for desktops, 73-74 planning network, 96-97 pros and cons, 51-52, 55 self-installation, cautions, 95-96 10Base-T networks, 55-56 two-computer configuration, 4 two-switch configuration, 58 USB adapters for desktops, 74-75 USB adapters for laptops, 79-80 wireless Ethernet, 4 Ethernet settings, testing using IPCONFIG utility, 332 Ethernet switch in all-in-one routers, 89 choosing and purchasing, 82-83 defined, 353, 357 installing, 104-106 locating, 58 ports, 6 sharing Internet connections using, 12, 13 types and features, 57 uses for, 4, 5 versus Ethernet hub, 58 wireless access point connections, 6 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches configuration overview, 285, 313 network management, software configuration, and security, 315 physical layout and connections, 313-315 tools and equipment, 313 when to use, 313

Expanded Wireless LAN configuration overview, 316–318 network management, software configuration, and security, 317–319 physical layout and connections, 317–318 tools and equipment, 316 when to use, 316 Expanded Wireless LAN with Two Access Points, 285 expansion slots for PCI adapters, 73–74 ExtremeTech informational Web site, 347

#### F

fake Web pages, cautions about, 259-260 Fast Ethernet, 56, 353 file formats and file sharing, 45 file server dedicated advantages, 269 backup and protection options, 270-271 setting up, 270 defined, 353 file sharing drive mapping for, 180-182 Ethernet LANs, 5 and file formats, 45 how it works, 171–172 Mac OS X networks, 45-46, 142-143 Mac-to-Mac file sharing, 182-184 Mac-to-Windows file sharing, 185 NetBIOS protocol for, 8 peer-to-peer networks, 134 reasons for, 16-17 security concerns, 19, 175 Windows Shared Documents folder, 173 and Windows versions, 172-173 Windows XP networks, 18, 43-45, 175, 177-179 file transfer protocol (FTP), 32, 353 file-level virus protection, 254 file-swapping services, 24 Finder (Mac OS X), 183-184



firewalls. See also router/firewalls adjusting software for, 168 and backdoor/Trojan horse programs, 248 and computer viruses, 253 configurable, for computer gaming, 29–30 customized configuration, 263-268 defined, 249, 353 D-Link Wireless Internet camera, 240 and DoS (denial of service) attacks, 248, 249 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL 325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 318 and file sharing, 19 function, 7 importance of, 6 Internet connection sharing, 15-16 and IP addressing security, 40 and port scans, 248, 250 FireWire, 353 firmware, 88 Folder Options window (Windows XP), 178–180 folder sharing locating shared folders in Windows, 18, 180-181 Mac-to-Mac sharing, 182-183 Mac-to-Windows sharing, 185 forged Web pages, cautions about, 259-260 formats, file, and file sharing, 45 Forwarding screen (Linksys router), 265 FTP (file transfer protocol), 32, 353 fully routable IP addresses, 12

# G

GameCube (Nintendo), network gaming using, 237 gaming, network, 237–238 gateway defined, 354 gateway address defined, 354 for LAN, in shared Internet access, 152, 153 for WAN, 153 genre-based MP3 selection (Linksys Media adapter), 217 Gibson Research Corporation security testing tools, 346 Gibson, Steve (security specialist), 341 Gigabit Ethernet defined, 354 features and speed, 56 speed advantages, 60 switches for, 83 Give This Computer a Description and Name screen (Network Setup Wizard), 139

### Η

hackers. See also security concerns and precautions defined, 40 DoS (denial of service) attacks, 248 threats from, 176 hardware diagnostics, 329 hardware manufacturers Cisco Systems, Inc., 343 D-Link Systems, Inc., 344 Linksys Corporation, 343, 344 Microsoft, 344-345 NETGEAR, 345 SMC Networks, 345 3Com Corporation, 343 header, IP, 39 hoaxes, e-mail, 260, 348, 349 home entertainment systems connecting PCs to, 23 linking networks to, 211–212 Linksvs Media Adapter, 214–220 Media Center PCs, 231-234 and media convergence, 236-237 Media Hubs, 24–25 TiVo Series2 DVR systems, 25-27, 220-231 home gateway, 354 Home Media option (TiVo Series2), 26 home networks IP address ranges, 35 peer-to-peer network advantages, 43 Home Phoneline Networking Alliance (HPNA), 354



Home screen (Linksys NSLU2), 276 Home version (Windows XP), networking limitations, 172 home wiring networking using, 54, 67-68 structured, 61 HomePlug networks configuring, 67-68 Ethernet Bridge, 68 pros and cons, 54-55 host, defined, 354 host name, 33 Host Name option (Linksys router setup), 160 hot pluggable cards, 78 hot swapping, 276 hotspots, phony, 251-252 HPNA (Home Phoneline Networking Alliance), 354 HTTP (Hypertext Transfer Protocol), 32 hub, 354

# I

**ICANN** (Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers), 34, 354 ICS Host defined, 13 installing, 14 ICS (Internet Connection Sharing) choosing computer for, 135 defined, 354 DHCP client/server approach, 152-154 Ethernet switch approach, 12, 13 features, 5, 151 installing, 14 ISP-assigned IP address, 152 port filtering restrictions, 267-268 proxy server approach, 12-14 reasons for, 11-12 router configuration overview, 154 router/firewall approach, 15-16 Windows 2000 servers for, 8

IEEE (Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers) defined. 354 802.11a specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 pros and cons, 85 and USB wireless adapters, 72 802.11a/b/g IEEE specification combo card adapters, 73 defined, 351 802.11b specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 laptop wireless adapters, 81 security concerns, 129 802.11g specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 laptop wireless adapters, 81 pros and cons, 85 and USB wireless adapters, 72 802.11n specification defined, 351 features and speed, 61-62 pros and cons, 85 10Base-T IEEE specification, 55-56, 351 10Base-2 IEEE specification, 351 100Base-TX IEEE specification, 55-56, 351 1394 standard (FireWire), 353 IETF (Internet Engineering Task Force), 32, 354 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall configuration overview, 284, 286 network management, software configuration, and security, 287-288 physical layout and connections, 287 tools and equipment, 286-287 infrastructure mode (wireless LANs) configuration versus ad hoc mode configuration, 63-64, 309 when to use, 339



input and output connections (Media Center PCs), 231 Install Printer Software window (Add Printer Wizard), 204 installation costs, wired versus wireless networks, 53 installing all-in-one router access point, 123–124 CardBus, PC Card and USB adapters, 116–117 Ethernet adapters, 106-109 Ethernet cabling, 53, 95–104 Ethernet switches, 104-106 ICS (Internet Connection Sharing) Host, 14 Linksys Media Adapter, 214–216 Linksys NSLU2, 273-279 Media Folder Manager (Linksys Media Adapter), 214-216 PCI cards, 73-74 PCI wireless adapter, 113-116 printer-sharing software, 204-205 routers, 90 wireless adapters, 116-117 Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers. See IEEE interfaces. See also browser-based setup Ethernet, for printer connections, 21 Media Center Extender, 28 Windows Explorer, 17 wired Ethernet, 4 wireless Ethernet, 4 International Standards Organization (ISO) Web site, 24 Internet Camera (D-Link), 239-241 Internet connection sharing (ICS) choosing computer for, 135 defined, 354 DHCP client/server approach, 152-154 Ethernet switch approach, 12, 13 features, 5, 151 installing, 14 ISP-assigned IP address, 152

port filtering restrictions, 267-268 proxy server approach, 12-14 reasons for. 11-12 router configuration overview, 154 router/firewall approach, 15-16 Windows 2000 servers for, 8 Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (ICANN), 34, 354 Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF), 32, 354 internet Ethernet adapter card, 4 Internet Protocol (IP) defined. 354 security concerns, 39-40 uses for, 32 Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties screen (Windows XP), automatic and manual IP addressing, 145-146 Internet Relay Chat (IRC), 43 Internet Service Provider (ISP) assigned IP address, 152 defined, 355 The Internet Society, 32, 348 intranet, 355 intra-network traffic, 39 intruders. See security concerns and precautions in-wall wall jacks (Ethernet cable), 101-103 IP address Alternate IP Configuration feature (Windows XP), 144-146 automatic IP addressing, 144 changing in Mac OS X, 108 configuring, 36-38 default, on home network routers, 35 defined, 355 DHCP Internet access sharing, 152-154 D-Link router setup, 164-166 fully routable, 12 ISP-assigned address, 152 Linksys NSLU2, 274 multiple, managing through a firewall, 7 multiple, sharing Internet connections using, 12 continued



IP address continued for network gaming, 237 for network-ready printers, 195 and port forwarding, 264 print server, 192–193 private addresses, 34-39 public addresses, 33-34 router/firewall Internet connections, 15-16 static, 154 temporary, 34 uses for, 32-33 IP destination address, 39 IP header, 39 IP (Internet Protocol) defined, 354 security concerns, 39-40 uses for, 32 IP routing process, 39 IP source address, 39 IP Surveillance Software, 241 **IPCONFIG** utility command-line options, 335 when to use, 333-334 iPod (Apple), playing MP3 files using, 24 IPv4 (IP Version 4), 33 IPv6 (IP Version 6), 33, 36 IRC (Internet Relay Chat), 43 ISO (International Standards Organization) Web site, 24 ISP (Internet Service Provider) assigned IP address, 152 defined, 355 i2eye VideoPhone (D-Link), 241-244

# J

jacks built-in, in CardBus adapters, 79 in-wall or surface mount wall jacks, 101–103 3Com NJ100 Network Jack, 103–104, 343

# K

Kazaa (file sharing network), 43 Keep Alive setting (Linksys router setup), 160 keychain flash drives, NSLU2 with, 276 Kolla, Patrick (Spybot Search & Destroy), 347

# L

LAN IP address (Linksys router setup), 160 LANs (local area networks). See also Ethernet LANs All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 284, 300-306 cabling for, installing, 95-104 connecting Linksys Media Adapter to, 214 connecting TiVo to, 224-225 connecting using existing electric or telephone wiring, 54 defined, 3-4, 355 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 285, 319-322 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing. 284, 292-296 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 284, 288-292 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 284, 296-300 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 285, 322-325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 285, 313-315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 316-319 Expanded Wireless LAN with Two Access Points, 285 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall. 284, 286-288 IP addressing capacity, 15-16 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 285, 306-312 network protocol for, 31 on- and off-LAN traffic, 39 Secure Remote Access to Your Ethernet LAN. 285 video applications, 239-244



viewing status and IP addresses, 38-39 wired versus wired Ethernet, 4 wireless, security precautions, 128–129, 251–252 laptop computers adapter types, pros and cons, 72 CardBus Ethernet adapters, 78–79 CardBus wireless adapters, 80-81 Ethernet connection problems, 78 outdoor use, 52 USB Ethernet adapters, 79-80 latency, 355 Lavasoft Ad-Aware, 256, 345 layout and configuration All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 301-303 D-Link i2eye Video Phone, 242 D-Link Wireless Internet camera, 240 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 320–321 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 293-294 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 289–290 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 297-298 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 323-324 Ethernet LANs, overview, 97 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 313-315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 316-318 file sharing, 172 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall. 286-287 Linksys Media Adapter, 212 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 307-310 peer-to-peer networks, 134 printer sharing, 188 TiVo networking, 222 Let Me Choose the Connections button (Network Setup Wizard), 138 Leviton Manufacturing structured wiring how-to, 61 wall jacks, 102-103

Link indicator (Ethernet adapters), 328 Linksvs Corporation Ethernet switch, 58 home networking products, 344 Media Adapter, 212–220 Media Center extender, 236-237 Media Hub, 24-25 NSI U2 features and speed, 271-273 file structure, 276 formatting and configuring, 277-279 installing, 273-279 source code, 272 using, 279-280 purchase of by Cisco Systems, 343 router configuring, 159-162 Forwarding screen, 265 status screen, 38–39, 162 Wireless Security Screen, 130 Wireless-B and Wireless-G network gaming adapters, 238 Linux systems, 272, 276. See also Linksys Corporation, NSLU2 Local Area Connection Properties screen (Windows XP), 145, 201 Local Area Connection Status screen (Windows XP), 155-156 local area networks. See LANs Local or Network Printer window (Add Printer Wizard), 197

#### Μ

MAC (Media Access Control) address authenticating, 305 defined, 355 filtering with Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 312 function, 166 troubleshooting filtering settings, 339



Mac OS X networks configuring network adapters in, 107-109 file sharing, 45-46 IP address configuration settings, 36, 37 IP address settings, 37-38 Mac-to-Mac file sharing, 182-184 network setup, 142-143 PING and TRACERT tools, 332 printer sharing, 190-191 using Linksys NSLU2 in, 280 using shared printers, 207-209 verifying router connections and IP address, 156-158 Windows file and printer sharing capabilities, 8 wireless adapter configuration, 120 Mac-to-Mac file and folder sharing, 182-184 Mac-to-Windows file and folder sharing, 185 Map Network Drive dialog box (Windows), 45, 180-182 mapping drives defined, 355 process for, 45, 180-182 uses for, 43-44 McAfee antivirus software, 346 MCE (Media Center Extender), 28, 234–237 Media Access Control (MAC) address authenticating, 305 defined, 355 filtering with Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 312 function, 166 troubleshooting filtering settings, 339 Media Adapter Utility software (Linksys), 214 Media Center PCs (Microsoft) features, 27-28 input and output connections, 231 Media Center Extender (MCE) for, 28, 234-237 menu operation, 233 versus TiVo Series2 DVR systems, 235 Windows XP Media Center Edition, 232

media convergence importance of home LANs to, 3 Linksys Media Adapter connections, 212-220 Media Center PCs, 27-28 overview, 211-212 TiVo Series2 DVR systems, 220-231 Media Folder Manager (Linksys Media Adapter), 214-216 Media Hubs, 24-25 Metcalfe, Bob (Ethernet inventor), 343 Microsoft. See also Media Center PCs (Microsoft): Windows XP networks home networking products, 344-345 Knowledge Base Web site, 331 Windows Explorer backups using, 17 tree view, 19 viewing shared files and folders, 18 Windows Found New Hardware Wizard, 121 Windows Me networks, 354 Windows 2000 server function. 5 Internet Connection Sharing, 354 storing files on, 17 support for Appletalk-based files, 8 Xbox network gaming, 237 microwave ovens, radio interference from, 53 Mikkelson, Barbara and David P. (SNOPES Webmasters), 349 MIMO (Multiple Input Multiple Output) wireless technology defined, 355 features and speed, 61-62, 85 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN configuration overview, 285, 307-308 network management, software configuration, and security, 310-312 physical layout and connections, 309-310 tools and equipment, 306-307 when to use, 306

Index 373



mode settings, troubleshooting, 339 modems. See also DSL (digital subscriber line) cable modem defined, 352 firewalls with, 6 standalone, 284 MPEG (Motion Picture Experts Group) files, 24 MP3 files accessing and playing using TiVo, 226-228 defined, 24 listening to on home stereos, 212 playing using Linksys Media Adapter, 216-218 multifunction printers and print servers, 192 multimedia convergence defined, 23 digital file sharing, 24 Media Hubs for, 24–25 network computer gaming, 29-30 TiVo Series2, 25-27 multiplayer games, 43 multiple computer networks, 138 Multiple Input Multiple Output (MIMO) technique defined, 355 features and speed, 61-62, 85 multiple-switch networks, 105 Music Navigator screens (Linksys Media Adapter), 216-218 My Documents folder (Windows XP), enabling sharing for, 174, 175 My Network Places (Windows XP) accessing shared drives, 177-179 enabling and adding to desktop, 18 peer-to-peer networking using, 43-44

#### Ν

Name Your Network screen (Network Setup Wizard), 140 Name Your Printer screen (Add Printer Wizard), 205 naming computers, 44 networks and workgroups, 140, 251 printers, 189, 205 NAS (Network Attached Storage) Linksys NSLU2, 271-280 uses for, 271 NAT (Network Address Translation) defined, 355 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL 325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 318 security features, 7, 40 use of, by home routers, 35, 88 NetBIOS protocol, sharing files and devices using, 8 NETGEAR (hardware manufacturer), 345 network adapter configuring in Mac OS X, 107-109 configuring in Windows XP, 106-107 defined, 355 role of, 4 for TiVo Series2 DVR connections, 224 Network Address Translation. See NAT (Network Address Translation) Network Attached Storage (NAS) servers Linksys NSLU2, 271-280 uses for, 271 Network Browser (Windows), locating shared folders using, 180-181 network components. See also firewalls; router/ firewalls; routers access points, 83-89 adapters, 4, 72-82, 106-109, 224, 355 interface, 4 print servers, 22, 90-91, 193 routers and firewalls, 88-90 switches, 82-83, 104-106 network computer gaming, 29-30



network configuration All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 284, 300-306 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 285, 319-322 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 284, 292-296 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 284, 288-292 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 284, 296-300 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 285, 322-325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 285, 313-315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 316–319 Expanded Wireless LAN with Two Access Points, 285 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall, 284.286-288 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 285, 306-312 Secure Remote Access to Your Ethernet LAN, 285 in Windows XP. 135-142 network connections communications protocols, 31-32 Ethernet LANs, 55-60 IP addressing, 32-40 self-installation, cautions, 96-97 viewing status of, 106-107, 144-146 network, defined, 3, 355 Network dialog box (Mac OS X), 108, 109 network gaming, 237-238 network interface card (NIC), 355 Network Jack (3Com), 103-104 network management All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 304 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 321–322 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 295-296 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 291–292

Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 300 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL 325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 317-319 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall, 287-288 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 310-311 network media, 355 Network Neighborhood (Windows) shared Mac files in, 185 viewing Linksys NSLU2 in, 279-280 network protocol, 31 Network section (Mac OS X), 36, 37 Network Setup Wizard (Windows XP) Before You Continue screen, 136, 137 Completing the Network Setup Wizard screen, 141-142 Give This Computer a Description and Name screen, 139 Let Me Choose the Connections button, 138 Name Your Network screen, 140 Ready to Apply Network Settings screen, 140-141 saving network configuration, 141 Select a Connection Method screen, 136–138 Selection the Connections to Bridge screen, 138-139 startup screen, 136 network-aware software, 44 network-connected electronic devices, 24 networked files and folders, aliases for in Mac OS X, 184. See also file sharing; folder sharing networking technologies, overview Ethernet networks, 51–52 HomePlug networks, 54, 67-68 wireless LANs, 52, 55, 60-66 wireless security, 87 networking-testing tools, 330-331 network-ready printers, 21, 194, 200-207



NIC (network interface card), 355 Nintendo GameCube, network gaming using, 237 NJ100/NJ200 Network Jacks (3Com), 103–104, 343 Norton AntiVirus (Symantec), 255 NSLU2 (Linksys) features and speed, 271–273 file structure, 276 formatting and configuring, 277–279 installing, 273–279 source code, 272 using, 279–280

# 0

100Base-TX IEEE specification, 55–56, 351 192.168.x.x address space, 152 online virus checking, 254 Open dialog box, My Network Places in, 179 opening networked files, 177–179 operating systems, 5 optical storage, 270 outgoing connections, firewall behavior, 7 Ownership & Permissions settings (Mac OS X), 182

# Ρ

Pabst, Tom (Tom's Hardware Web site), 348 packets defined, 32 in IP routing process, 39 parallel ports (print servers), 91 password changing frequently, 305, 312 for D-Link router, 163, 167 strong, 251 patch cable, 356 PC Card (PCMCIA) defined, 356 Ethernet adapter, 4 troubleshooting, 329 wireless adapter, 116-117 PC Magazine Web site, 347 PC Pitstop security testing, 341, 346-347

PCI (Peripheral Components Interconnect) specification defined, 356 desktop Ethernet adapters, 72, 73-74 desktop wireless adapters, 72, 76-77 expansion slots, 113-116 wireless adapters, installing, 113-116 PCMCIA (PC Card) defined, 356 Ethernet adapter, 4 troubleshooting, 329 wireless adapter, 116-117 PCs (personal computers) antivirus software, 252-255 defined, 356 file and printer sharing with Mac systems, 143 Media Center PCs, 27-28 naming, 44 peer-to-peer networks advantages of for home networks, 43 Alternate IP Configuration, 144–146 Automatic Private IP Addressing, 144 clients and servers, 133 dedicated file servers, 269-271 defined, 356 Mac OS X setup, 142-143 versus client-server network, 40-41 versus peer file sharing, 43 on Windows systems, 43-44 Windows XP setup, 135-142 performance and broadband Internet connections, 16 and desktop USB wireless adapters, 72 downloading recorded TV programs, 230 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 296 and ICS Host use, 14 and print servers, 192 troubleshooting tips, 340-341 and USB connections, 74 wireless LANs, 53



Peripheral Components Interconnect (PCI) specification defined, 356 desktop Ethernet adapters, 72, 73-74 desktop wireless adapters, 72, 76-77 expansion slots, 113-116 wireless adapters, installing, 113-116 personal computers (PCs) antivirus software, 252-255 defined, 356 file and printer sharing with Mac systems, 143 Media Center PCs, 27-28 naming, 44 Personal File Sharing option (Mac OS X), 46, 143 personal files, cautions about sharing, 175 phishing scams, 257-261 Phone & Network Setup screen (TiVo Series), 224 phone line networking technology, 54-55 phony hotspots, 251-252 photographs, digital, viewing Linksys Media Adapters, 218–220 TiVo, 228-229 physical layout All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 302-304 D-Link i2eye Video Phone, 242 D-Link Wireless Internet camera, 240 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 320-321 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 294-295 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 290-291 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 297-299 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 323-324 Ethernet LANs, overview, 97 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 313-315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 317–318 file sharing, 172 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall, 287

Linksys Media Adapter, 212 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 307-310 peer-to-peer network, 134 printer sharing, 188 TiVo networking, 222 Pictures Navigator screens (Linksys Media Adapter), 218-220 PING utility command-line options, 336, 338 LAN uses, 335, 356 in Mac OS X. 332 non-LAN uses, 337 PlayStation (Sony), network gaming using, 237 plenum cable, 56, 356 Plug and Play (PnP) drivers defined, 356 print server limitations, 22 plug-in Ethernet adapters, troubleshooting, 329 Point-to-Point Protocol over Ethernet (PPPoE) defined, 356 selecting during Linksys router setup, 160 setting during D-Link router setup, 167 Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol (PPTP), 356 port filtering, 250, 267–268 port forwarding, 264 port number assignments, viewing, 268 port scans how they work, 248, 249-250 preventing, 250 ports connecting wired devices to, 6 defined, 357 device versus switch ports, 106 on Ethernet switches, 57 power connections, troubleshooting, 328 power protection, 271 PPPoE (Point-to-Point Protocol over Ethernet) defined, 356 selecting during Linksys router setup, 160 setting during D-Link router setup, 167



PPTP (Point-to-Point Tunneling Protocol), 356 Practically Networked Web site, 348 Preferred DNS Server (Windows) settings, 38 Print & Fax Preferences window (Mac System Preferences window), 207 print servers configuring, 192-193 defined, 357 limitations, 192 printer sharing using, 188, 191-193 printer status monitors with, 22 types and features, 90–91 Print Test Page window (Add Printer Wizard), 206 Printer List (Mac OS X), 208-209 printer sharing dedicated file servers for, 269 Ethernet interface connections, 21 how it works, 187–188 in Mac OS X, 142-143, 190-191, 207-209 NetBIOS protocol for, 8 peer-to-peer networks, 45, 134 server-connected printers, 21-23 troubleshooting tips, 340 USB connections, 20 using network-ready printers, 194–195 using print servers, 191–193 when to use, 23 in Windows XP, 188-190, 196-200 Printer Sharing option (Max OS X), 143 Printer Sharing window (Add Printer Wizard), 205 Printers and Faxes window (Windows XP) Add Printer Wizard, 196-200 adding server-connected or network-ready printers, 200-207 enabling printer sharing using, 188-189 printers, network-ready, 21, 194 private IP addresses address ranges, 34-35 uses for, 88 versus public addresses, 33

Professional Version (Windows XP), networking features, 172 program guides (Media Center PCs), 233 protocols defined, 357 types of, pros and cons, 250 proxy server, Internet connection sharing using, 12–13, 154 Public folder (Mac OS X), enabling file sharing in, 182–183 public IP addresses uses for, 88 versus private addresses, 33 public server setup, 264–266

## R

radio signals, wireless LANs, 53 Ready to Apply Network Settings screen (Network Setup Wizard), 140-141 Reconnect at Logon option (Map Network Drive dialog box), 182 recorded programs, accessing from network, 230 recording television programs, 234 remote connections, 264 remote control Linksys Media Adapter, 213 TiVo, 221 Repair Connection feature (Windows XP), 156 repeater configuration, 317 restricting Internet access, 267-268 retaining screws, cautions about, 113 RJ11 (telephone) connector, 98 RJ-45 crimping tool, 100 RJ-45 (Ethernet) connector, 98-99, 357 Router (Mac OS X) settings, 38 router/firewalls all-in-one routers, 89-90, 91, 123 overview, 88



#### routers

connecting to dial-up, 15 customized firewall configuration, 263-268 default IP settings, 35 defined, 39, 357 D-Link DI-624 Wireless Broadband Router, 8 D-Link router, configuring, 162-168 DMZ feature, 265-266 enabling WPA encryption, 130 function, 7 how they work, 88 Internet access filters, 267-268 Internet connection sharing using, 15–16 IP addresses, 7, 38-39 IP routing process, 39 Linksys router, configuring, 159–162 port forwarding, 264-265 preassigned address space, 152 role in providing shared Internet access, 152-154 verifying connection status and IP addresses, 155-158

#### S

saving network configuration (Windows XP), 141 scams, phishing, 257–261 Secure Remote Access to Your Ethernet LAN, configuration overview, 285 security concerns and precautions. *See also* WEP (Wired Equivalent Privacy) encryption; WPA (WiFi Protected Access) encryption All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 304–306 antivirus software, 40, 248, 250 backdoor and Trojan horse programs, 248 and broadband Internet connections, 249 data encryption, 127 denial of service (DoS) attacks, 248 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 321–322

Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 295-296 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 291–292 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 300 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 318-319 firewalls, 248-250 hacker threats, 176 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall, 287-288 and IP routing, 39-40 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 311-312 port scans, 248 for preventing browser hijacking, 248 router/firewall Internet connections, 16 security testing, 340-341 shared files and drives, 175 spyware removal tools, 248 WEP encryption, 129 Windows XP file sharing restrictions, 19 wireless LANs, 65, 128-129, 251, 319 WPA encryption, 129-130 security software and Web sites Broadband Reports, 346 Gibson Research Corporation, 346 Lavasoft Ad-Aware, 345 McAfee, 346 PC Pitstop, 346-347 Symantec, 347 Select a Connection Method screen (Network Setup Wizard), 136-138 Select a Printer Port option (Add Printer Wizard), 201 Select Connection Type (WAN) screen (D-Link router setup), 164-165 Select the Connections to Bridge screen (Network Setup Wizard), 138-139



server-based LANs versus peer-to-peer networks, 40-41 server-connected printers adding to Windows networks, 200-207 limitations, 22-23 uses, 21-22 servers dedicated file servers, 269-271 defined, 5, 133, 357 DHCP, 315, 325 print servers, 21-23, 90-91, 191-193 public server setup, 264-266 storing files on, 17 Web, built-in, 315, 325 Service Name type option (Linksys router setup), 160 Service Set Identifier (SSID) name changing, 306, 312 setting for access point, 126-128 troubleshooting settings for, 339 Set Dynamic IP Address screen (D-Link router setup), 164-165 Set PPoE window (D-Link router setup), 167 Set Static IP Address window (D-Link router setup), 166 Set Up Printers option (Print & Fax Preferences window), 208 Setup Wizard (D-Link router) access point configuration, 125-126 accessing, 163 setting password and time zone, 163-164 share privileges (Mac OS X), 182 Share This Printer button (Windows XP Printers properties box), 190 Shared Documents (Windows XP), 173-174 shared drives, accessing, 177-179 Shared folder (Mac OS X), 182 sharing, defined, 357 sharing drives, 175-177

sharing files and folders accessing shared files, 177-179 drive mapping for, 180-182 Ethernet LANs, 5 and file formats, 45 how it works, 171–172 Mac OS X networks, 45-46, 142-143 Mac-to-Mac. 182-184 Mac-to-Windows, 185 MP3 files, 228 NetBIOS protocol for, 8 peer-to-peer networks, 134 reasons for, 16-17 security concerns, 19, 175 viewing files and folders, 18 Windows Shared Documents folder, 173–175 and Windows versions, 172-173 Windows XP networks, 18, 43-45, 175, 177-179 sharing Internet connections DHCP client/server approach, 152-154 Ethernet switch approach, 12 ISP-assigned IP address, 152 proxy server approach, 12-14 router configuration overview, 154 router/firewall approach, 15-16 sharing printers Ethernet interface connections, 21 how it works, 187–188 in Mac OS X networks, 142-143, 190-193, 207-209 peer-to-peer networks, 45, 134 server-connected printers, 21-23 troubleshooting, 340 USB connection approach, 20 uses for, 22-23 using network-ready printers, 194 using print servers, 191-193 when to use, 23 in Windows XP networks, 188-190, 196-200



Sharing tab (Windows XP Printers properties box), 188-190 Sharing window (Mac OS X), 190-191 Shields UP!! security testing, 341 signal range expanding, 53, 285 factors that affect, 21, 121, 303 wireless access points, 65 slots, expansion, 73 SMC Networks (hardware manufacturer), 345 SMTP (Simple Message Transfer Protocol), 32, 39-40 SNOPES hoax information, 349 software for printer sharing, 204-205 security- and performance-testing, 345-347 upgrades, automatic, 254 software configuration All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 304 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 321–322 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 295-296 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 291-292 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 300 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 315 Expanded Wireless LAN, 317–319 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall. 287-288 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 310-311 Sony PlayStation, network gaming using, 237 source address, IP, 39 source code for NSLU2, 272 Specify a Printer window (Add Printer Wizard), 197 speed, connection Gigabit Ethernet, 56, 60 HomePlug, 67 Mixed Wired/Wireless LANs, 285 and multiple users, 16

overview, 55 physical factors, 123, 303 phone line networks, 54 testing Web sites, 341, 346 troubleshooting tips, 340–341 and USB adapters, 72-74, 79 WiFi devices, 4 wired versus wireless LANs, 51-53, 284 wireless network standards, 61-62, 85 SPI (Stateful Packet Inspection), 357 Spybot Search & Destroy (Kolla), 256, 347 spyware how it works, 248, 255 removal tools, 248, 256, 347 SSID (Service Set Identifier) name changing, 306, 312 setting for access point, 126-128 troubleshooting settings for, 339 standalone hardware access points, 84-86, 112, 124 firewall, 14 modems, 284 staplers, cable, 99-100 Stateful Packet Inspection (SPI), 357 static IP addresses entering during D-Link router setup, 166 entering during Linksys router setup, 161 and port forwarding, 264 when used, 154 status monitors with print servers, 193 storing data dedicated file servers, 42, 269-270 digital media, 24 TiVo system, 221 straight-through cables, 320 streaming video, 240 structured wiring, 61 subfolders, 173 subnet mask setting, 36-37, 160, 330 surface mount wall jacks (Ethernet cable), 101-103



surveillance software, 241 switch ports, 106 switches. Ethernet in all-in-one routers, 89 choosing and purchasing, 82-83 defined, 357 installing, 104-106 ports on, 6 types and features, 57 uses for. 5 wireless access point connections, 6 Symantec security tools Norton AntiVirus, 255 types and features, 347 System Preferences window (Mac OS X) Print & Fax Preferences screen, 207 Sharing options, 190-191

# T

tang, 98 TCP/IP Printer Port Wizard, 201-203 TCP/IP (Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol) changing settings, 144 defined, 357 DHCP extension to, 34 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 295 how it works, 39 uses for, 32, 283 viewing configuration and status in Windows XP, 36, 330-31, 335 technology Web sites Extreme Tech, 347 PC Magazine, 347 Practically Networked, 348 telephone lines disconnecting from TiVo, 225 home networking using, 54 temporary IP addresses, 34

10Base-T IEEE specification, 55-56, 351 10Base-2 IEEE specification, 351 10/100 Ethernet adapters defined, 351 LED indicator, 328 PCI adapter for, 74 switches for, 83 10.1.x.x address space, 152 **3Com Corporation** home networking products, 343 NJ100 Network Jack, 103–104 thumbnail display (Linksys Media Adapter), 220 time zone, setting during D-Link router setup, 163-164 TiVo Series2 DVR systems download times, 230 features, 25-27, 60 how it works, 221-222 networking features, 222-223 purchasing, 231 TiVo Central screen, 221, 226-228 TiVo Desktop, 225-226, 230 TiVo ToGo, 26 uses for, 220 versus Media Center PCs, 235 viewing digital photographs, 228-229 Tom's Hardware Web site, 348 tool needs All-Wireless LAN with Router/Gateway, 301 Ethernet LAN with HomePlug Extension, 319 **Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection** Sharing, 293 Ethernet LAN with Router/Gateway, 288-289 Ethernet LAN with Separately Located Router and Modem, 296-297 Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 322-323 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 313 Expanded Wireless LAN, 316 Individual Internet Access with Router/Firewall, 286-287 Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 306-307



**TRACERT** utility in Mac OS X. 332 uses for. 338-339 traffic, IP routing for, 39 Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) changing settings, 144 defined, 357 DHCP extension to, 34 Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 295 how it works, 39 uses for, 32, 283 viewing configuration and status in Windows XP, 36, 330-331, 335 tri-mode adapter cards (wireless), 81 Trojan horse programs, 248, 250 troubleshooting and troubleshooting tools Ethernet LAN with Internet Connection Sharing, 296 hardward, 329 IPCONFIG utility, 333-335 networked printers, 340 networking and connection-testing tools, 329-339 overview, 327 performance issues, 340-341 PING utility, 332, 335-338 plug-in Ethernet adapters, 329 power connections, 328 security issues, 340-341 TRACERT utility, 338-339 wireless networks, 339-340 twisted-pair Ethernet cable, 98 two-access point infrastructure mode configuration, 85 2.4 GHz telephones, interference from, 53

## U

Uniform Resource Locator (URL), 357 uninterruptible power supply (UPS), 271 universal serial bus. See USB (universal serial bus) connection unshielded twisted pair (UTP), 358 uplink feature (Ethernet switches), 83, 106 UPS (uninterruptible power supply), 271 Urban Legends hoax information, 349 URL (Uniform Resource Locator), 357 USB (universal serial bus) connection adapters, troubleshooting, 329 for connecting TiVo Series2 DVRs, 26 defined, 357 desktop Ethernet adapters, 72, 74-75 desktop wireless adapters, 72, 77 device drivers, 117 hubs, 75 laptop Ethernet adapters, 72, 79-80 laptop wireless adapters, 73, 80-82 for MP3 players, 24 print servers, 22, 91 printer sharing using, 20 USB disk drives, NSLU2 with, 276 **USB 2.0 products** and laptop adapters, 79 versus USB 1.1 products, 72, 74 wireless adapter installation, 116-117 **USENET** discussion groups, 42 user name entering during D-Link router setup, 167 entering during Linksys router setup, 160 Users folder (Mac OS X), 182 UTP (unshielded twisted pair), 358

# V

video applications, 239–241 video cameras, 24 video telephones, 241–244 videoconferencing D-Link Wireless Internet camera for, 239–241 limits of, 243 virtual private network (VPN), 264, 358



viruses, computer how they work, 248 protecting against, 252–255 and software upgrades, 254 visual indicators (Ethernet adapters) troubleshooting, 328–329 VPN (virtual private network), 264, 358

#### W

wall-mounted access point, 124 WAN Connection Type option (Linksys router setup), 160 WAN (wide area network) defined, 358 gateway, 153 viewing status and IP addresses, 38-39 WAP (wireless point access), 358 Web pages, forged and fake, cautions about, 259-260 Web server, built-in Ethernet LAN with User-Installable DSL, 325 Expanded LAN with Two Ethernet Switches, 315 Web sites Broadband Reports, 341, 346 Cisco Systems, Inc., 344 D-Link Systems, Inc., 344 DynDNS, 349 Extreme Tech, 347 Gibson Research Corporation, 346 **ICANN** (Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers), 34 IETF (Internet Engineering Task Force), 32 Internet Society, 32, 348 ISO (International Standards Organization), 24 Kolla (Spybot Search and Destroy), 347 Lavasoft, 345 Leviton Manufacturing structured wiring how-to, 61 Linksys Corporation, 344 McAfee, 346 Microsoft, 345

Microsoft Knowledge Base, 331 NETGEAR, 345 NSLU2 source code, 272 online virus checking, 254 PC Magazine, 347 PC Pitstop, 341, 346 port assignments, 268 Practically Networked, 348 Shields UP!!, 341 SMC Networks, 345 **SNOPES**, 349 Symantec, 347 3Com Corporation, 343 Tom's Hardware, 348 Urban Legends, 349 Workgroup Computers list update, 279 WEP (Wired Equivalent Privacy) encryption configuring, 131 defined, 358 enabling, 251 with Linksys Media Adapter, 215-216 with Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 312 purpose, 305 troubleshooting settings for, 339 uses for, 65, 87 vulnerabilities, 129 wide area network (WAN) defined, 358 gateway, 153 viewing status and IP addresses, 38-39 WiFi Alliance, 358 WiFi Protected Access (WPA) encryption authentication using, 129-130 defined, 358 enabling, 251 with Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 312 purpose, 305 uses for, 65, 87 WiFi wireless networks defined, 52-53 WiFi certification, 60



Windows operating system (Microsoft) Windows Explorer backups using, 17 tree view, 19 viewing shared files and folders, 18 Windows Found New Hardware Wizard, 121 Windows Me networks, 354 Windows 2000 server function. 5 Internet Connection Sharing, 354 storing files on. 17 support for Appletalk files, 8 Windows XP networks accessing command prompt, 332 accessing shared drives and files, 177-179 adding a shared printer, 196-200 Alternate IP Configuration feature (Windows XP), 144-146 Automatic Private IP Addressing, 144 built-in peer-to-peer networking features, 133-135 choosing ICS computer, 135 choosing workgroup name, 135 drive mapping, 44-45, 180-182 enabling My Network Places, 18 Ethernet adapter configuration, 106–107 file sharing features, 142–143, 172 Folder Options window, 178–180 Home version limits, 172 Internet Connection Sharing feature, 12-14 IP address settings, 37-38 Media Center Edition, 232 network configuration tasks, 135 Network Connections control panel tools, 330-331 Network Setup Wizard, 135–142 network-ready printer support, 194 printer sharing, 188-190 Shared Documents folder, 173–174 TCP/IP Properties screen, 36 using Linksys NSLU2 in, 279–280

verifying router connections and IP address, 155-156 wireless adapter configuration, 117-120 Wireless Network Connection dialog box, 122 Windows Sharing (Mac OS X), 46, 185 wire cutters, 100, 101 Wired Equivalent Privacy (WEP) encryption configuring, 131-132 defined, 358 enabling, 251 with Linksvs Media Adapter, 215-216 with Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 312 purpose, 305 troubleshooting settings for, 339 uses for, 65, 87, 305 vulnerabilities, 129 wired Ethernet DHCP with, 152-154 Media Center Extender, 28 pros and cons, 51-52 wireless access points all-in-one routers, 89 site surveys, 121-123 wireless adapters CardBus, PC Card and USB installations, 116-117 configuring for Mac OS X, 107-109, 120 configuring for Windows XP, 117-120 for gaming consoles, 238 PCI adapters, installing, 113-116 types of, pros and cons, 72–73 wireless bridges, 195 wireless LANs access point, 6 ad-hoc mode configuration, 63-64 configuring adapters, 117-120 coverage area, 65 defined, 52-53 DHCP with, 152-154 installing adapters, 113-117 interfaces, 4 Media Center Extender, 28



one-access point infrastructure mode configuration, 63-64 pros and cons, 52-53, 55 radio signal interference, 53 security precautions and tools, 65, 87, 128, 251-252, 319 site surveys, 120, 121-123 troubleshooting tips, 339-340 two-access point infrastructure mode configuration, 66 wireless architecture, 62-63 Wireless Network Connection dialog box (Windows XP), 122-123, 331 wireless point access (WAP), 358 wireless print servers, 22, 90, 91, 193 Wireless Zero Configuration (WZC), 120

Workgroup Computers list, updating, 279 workgroup name (Windows XP) entering during configuration, 135 security precautions, 251 World Wide Web, as client-server network, 42 WPA (WiFi Protected Access) encryption authentication using, 129–130 defined, 358 enabling, 251 with Mixed Wired/Wireless LAN, 312 purpose, 305 uses for, 65, 87 WZC (Wireless Zero Configuration), 120

## X

Xbox (Microsoft), network gaming using, 5, 211, 237